City Hall, PO Box 708, Garibaldi, OR 97118

)
@M'!ALD'! Office: (503) 322-3327 | Fax: (503) 322-3737

Oregors Autherdtic Fistirng \(itlage City Email: city@ci.garibaldi.or.us

GARIBALDI CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING
and JOINT MEETING WITH LOCAL CONTRACT REVIEW BOARD

Via Zoom https://usO2web.zoom.us/j/89382238229 | Meeting ID: 893 8223 8229

Via Phone 253-215-8782 Password: 061160

FRIDAY, JANUARY 17, 2024: 12:00 PM

AGENDA SESSION — Informal question and answer session. Members of the public are invited to
attend and participate. (A quorum of the City Council may or may not be present, but no votes
or decisions will be made at this meeting.)

TUESDAY, JANUARY 21, 2024: 5:30 PM

A.

CONVENING OF MEETING/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

PRESENTATIONS
1. Elected Council Member Oaths of Office

ITEMS TO BE ADDED TO THE AGENDA

PUBLIC HEARINGS — None scheduled

CONSENT CALENDAR
1. City Council Meeting Minutes
a. October 19, 2020, Regular City Council Meeting
b. May 20, 2024, Regular City Council Meeting
c. December 16, 2024, Regular City Council meeting
2. Checks issued.
3. Purchases over $5,000 (December 2024) — None

PUBLIC COMMENTS ON AGENDA ITEMS — Members of the public will each get up to three
minutes (maximum may be lowered with Council approval) to comment on items on this agenda
(except for public hearing items, which may only receive comment at that public hearing). The
Council will not engage in back-and-forth conversation during this meeting. If you wish to speak,
please sign up on the provided roster.

. OLD BUSINESS

1. Election of Council Officers
2. Authorization of Check Signers


https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89382238229

3.
4.

Planning Commission Update
R-Sanitary Rate Adjustment

H. JOINT MEETING WITH LOCAL CONTRACT REVIEW BOARD

1.

Resolution Opting Out of the Attorney General’s Model Public Contracting Rules
and Amending Public Contracting Rules for the City of Garibaldi

I. NEW BUSINESS

1.

Nouvhsw

Ordinance Allowing for Adoption of Public Contracting Rules, Exemptions and Staff
Spending Delegations by Resolution; and Repealing City Municipal Code Chapter
3.10, Public Contracts

Resolution Establishing Purchasing Authority and Spending Limits for City of
Garibaldi Staff

Oregon Savings Growth Plan Authorization

Facilities Tour Scheduling

Goal-Setting Workshop Scheduling

Council Rules Workshop Scheduling

Municipal League Conferences

J. ITEMS REMOVED FROM CONSENT AGENDA

K. CITY MANAGER'’S REPORT

Nou,s,wnNe

City Manager
Finance
Sheriff

Public Works
Fire

Planning
Library

L. COUNCIL REPORTS AND COMMENTS

M. PUBLIC COMMENTS ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS — Members of the public will each get up to three
minutes (maximum may be lowered with Council approval) to comment on items not appearing
on this agenda (except for public hearing items, which may only receive comment at that public
hearing). The Council will not engage in back-and-forth conversation during this meeting. If you
wish to speak, please sign up on the provided roster.

N. EXECUTIVE SESSIONS — None scheduled

O. ADJOURNMENT

The City of Garibaldi is an equal opportunity employer and provider



City Hall, PO Box 708, Garibaldi, OR 97118

GARIBALDPI Office (503) 3223327 | Fax (503) 3223737
City Email: city@garibaldi.gov

Orzegorcs Autierctic Fisluing Vitlage

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES
Monday, October 19, 2020 — Zoom Conference 6:30 p.m.

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

CONVENING OF MEETING

Mayor Judy Riggs called the meeting to order at 6:33 p.m. Present were Council members
Melissa Elmore, Tim Hall, Amanda Cavitt, Whitey Forsman, and Judy Riggs. City Attorney
Christy Monson was also present along with City Staff Admin Il Laura Schmidt and Fire Chief
Jay Marugg.

PUBLIC HEARING — NONE

CONSENT CALENDAR
A. Meeting Minutes September 21, 2020
B. September 2020 Financials — emailed to Council

MOTION made by Cn Hall to approve the consent calendar. Seconded by Cn Cavitt. Motion
passed unanimously 5-0.

PUBLIC COMMENT
Cheryl Gierga-Hamilton expressed concern regarding the installation of a trash can off Hwy 101
by her shop.

Maighread Thomas commented on the mailer sent regarding TRT taxes and that the conditional
use permit originally approved for Miami Cove RV Park was for short term use only. She also
commented on the mailer that was sent out by Cn Hall, his residency, and other subjects
included in the mailer he sent.

Mayor Riggs asked Cn Hall if he would like to make public comment and speak on the subjects
that had been brought up. Mayor Riggs then commented on a comment Cn Hall had made
about her.

Nathan Findling then commented that he checks on Cn Hall twice a night because of the
recent things that have been going on. He also stated he wished Mayor Rigg had stood up for
his wife and noted his wife had no idea what the state seal record was about. Mayor Riggs said
there is an Oregon statute against distributing a letter with the state seal on it.

Mayor Hall then called for order, informed everyone they had there three minutes of public
comment, and now the meeting was moving on. It was then pointed out that two people had
not been able to make public comments and Carolee North spoke about the Miami Cove RV

Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 10/19/2020 Page 1 of 4



VII.

VIII.

Park and TRT/TLT rules and payments.

Paul Daniels commented on whether Cn Hall met the requirements for being a councilman and
Miami Cove RV Park.

PRESENTATIONS — NONE

CORRESPONDENCE
A. Tim and Maighread Thomas letter
B. Paula Tucker letter

COMMUNITY REPORT — NONE

OLD BUSINESS
A. Planning Commission Appointment

MOTION made by Cn Forsman to appoint Roy Hamilton to the Planning Committee.
Seconded by Cn Cavitt. Motion passed unanimously 5-0.

NEW BUSINESS

A. Tillamook PUD Francise

Cn Elmore asked if anyone from the PUD was available to answer questions, there was none.
The City Attorney asked if the City had received legal advice on the agreement and if not, she
recommends it is sent to them for review. Discussion followed and Mayor Riggs said she would
forward the agreement to the City Attorney for review.

Cn Elmore made a motion to table the Franchise Agreement but the motion failed for lack of
a second. Discussion followed on what changed between the old and new agreement and
whether there were revisions. Cn Elmore withdrew her previous motion.

MOTION made by Cn Elmore to table the franchise agreement for further clarification.
Seconded by Cn Hall. Motion passed unanimously 5-0.

B. Conditional Use Miami Cove RV Park

Discussion was had regarding the conditional use permit in the file and Mayor Riggs noted that
it stated there will be no trailer or RV allowed on a permanent basis. Cn Cavitt asked for
clarification on what was needed by the council. Mayor Riggs stated it is about the tax
payments and about the conditional use permit saying no one will be living there on a perm-
anent basis and there are people living there on a permanent basis. Discussion followed.
Mayor Riggs said the regulations will be looked into, along with the rest of the parks, and next
month they will come back with a report.

C. Fire Department — Use of Apartment

Discussion was had regarding the use of the apartment. Fire Chief Marugg gave a brief history
and Mayor Riggs requested that he provide a copy of the agreement. Chief Marugg said he
would.

Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 10/19/2020 Page 2 of 4



XI.

XII.

Cn Elsmore asked in the donated land was a separate tax lot, Chief Marugg did not know.
Cn Elsmore asked Chief Marugg on the training level of the volunteers living in the
apartment and at what level they could help. Chief Marugg answered the questions.

Chief Marugg noted the association is a 501(c)3 and it is their own entity, that he is a member
of but cannot be the president, nor does he want to be. The association collects rent for the
apartment and then the money goes back into the apartment, as far as broken stoves,
replacements, refrigerators, water heaters, carpet, and it has been remodeled many times.

D. Senator Johnson’s - statement regarding the process for lowering a speed limit on a state
highway.

A recording of Senator Johnson’s statement was played. Mayor Riggs explained that is in
response to her request about how to get the speed limit lowered. Additionally, Mayor Riggs
read an email she received October 19, 2020, from Tony Snyder. Cn Hall commented and
referred back to his statement. Cn Elmore asked if this was something the council needed to
make a motion on, or if it was a personal issue that needed to be discussed outside of session.
Mayor Riggs noted it needed to be clarified.

E. City Manager duties/staffing discussion

Discussion was held regarding the Interim Manager Position and the potential hiring of Kevin
Greenwood. Discussion was held on whether he would be an employee or an independent
contractor and what his role would be. City Attorney Christy Monson suggested putting aside
the contract decision and discussing specifically what the City needs during this time. Mayor
Riggs suggested a three-way conversation with herself, Lori, and Kevin to figure out what the
needs are and how to move forward.

Mayor Riggs added the invoice from Tillamook County Clerk to new business discussions. The
invoice is in excess of the $5,000 spending limit and will need Council approval. Discussion
followed.

MOTION made by Cn Hall to pay the invoice. Seconded by Cn Riggs. AYES: Riggs, Hall,
Forsman; NAYS: Elmore, Absent: Cavitt. Motion Passed 3-1-1.

STAFF REPORTS
Mayor Riggs read Officer Reeves public safety report.

COUNCIL REPORTS
Cn Elmore reminded everyone about the national prescription take-back on October 24" from

10amto 2 pm.

Cn Hall stated he has been spending a lot of time addressing misinformation circulating about
him and gave correct information.

Cn Forman offered his wisdom for the evening by stating, “a house divided cannot stand”.

Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 10/19/2020 Page 3 of 4



Mayor Riggs did not have a report to give.
XIl.  EXECUTIVE SESSION — NONE
XIV.  ADJOURMENT

Mayor Riggs adjourned the meeting at 9:14 p.m.

Katie Findling, Mayor

ATTEST:

Jake Boone, City Manager

Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 10/19/2020 Page 4 of 4



City Hall, PO Box 708, Garibaldi, OR 97118

GM'BALD“ Office (503) 322-3327 | Fax (503) 322-3737
City Email: city@garibaldi.gov

Orzegorcs Autierctic Fisluing Vitlage

GARIBALDI CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES
Monday, May 20, 2024

Meeting Hall, Garibaldi City Hall, 107 6™ Street, Garibaldi OR 97118 and via Zoom

A.

CONVENING OF MEETING / PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE / ROLL CALL

Mayor Findling called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. Present were Mayor Findling, Cn Shattuck, Cn Bade, Cn
Kandle and Cn Gierga. Staff present were City Manager Pro-Tem Liane Welch, Interim Public Works Lead Nick
Theoharis, Fire Chief Jay Marugg, and Finance Officer Becca Harth.

CONSENT CALENDAR

1. City Council Regular Meeting Minutes

November 20, 2023

December 4, 2023

December 18, 2023

January 17, 2024

January 29, 2024

February 12, 2024

g. April 15,2024

City Council Budget Committee Workshop Minutes — April 15, 2024
The Revenue and Expenditure Report

Checks issued

Purchases over $5,000

a. Hurliman CPA - $5,920

b. Tillamook County Sheriff’s Department - $6,973.86

S0 o0 oo

ukhwnN

Mayor Findling asked for comments on the Consent Calendar. She and Cn Bade said they had a couple of minor
edits to be made. Cn Bade emailed her edits to the City Manager Pro-Tem. Mayor Findling had a correction to a
who made a comment on page 17. Cn Kandle asked a question on checks that had been issued to individuals
rather than vendors. Cn Bade said she understood that purchases over $5,000 and under contract didn’t have to
be approved each month.

MOTION made by Cn Gierge to approve the consent calendar with minor edits. Seconded by Cn Kandle. Motion
passed unanimously.

PUBLIC COMMENT

Mr. Laine commented that he noticed that the agenda items have a page number next to them as to where the
item can be found in the packet and that is very handy. He made a comment on the April 15" meeting and asked if
they would be reporting on the ethics commission final ruling.

OLD BUSINESS
1. Kubota Tractor with Loader & Mower purchase

Interim Public Works Lead Nick Theoharis said there is an analysis included in the packet breaking down
the inventory and listing the most relevant pieces of equipment based on priority and told the council
which mower he is looking to replace. Mayor Findling asked if they had explored government purchasing
or more agreements. Gary Owen thought that Fire Chief Marugg bought a machine to do all that. It was
through a grant for the Fire Department fire mitigation, but this mower would be for other areas and
steep hills which cannot be done with what they now have. Mr. Owen asked if this would be better to sub
the work out.

Page 10of 4

The City of Garibaldi is an equal opportunity employer and provider



Cn Bade asked if this would come out of the public works’ equipment fund and was told yes and there will
be money left to carry over to next year’s budget.

MOTION made by Cn Gierga to approve the purchase of the Kubota Tractor with Loader and Mower.
Seconded by Cn Bade. Motion passed unanimously.

NEW BUSINESS

1.

Budget Calendar
City Manager Pro-Tem Welch told the Council she has sent the budget calendar for both the city budget
and the Gura Budget Committees to them.

Discussion of Garibaldi Days Parade

ODOT has awarded the contract for the highway rehabilitation project, but a schedule has not been given
out at this time. In their contract it states they have to keep the highway open for Garibaldi Days, but we
do not know if the sidewalks will be in deconstruction or demolition. There are concerns about having a
parade if this is happening. They have considered a variety of options that they could do if they cannot
have a parade. The council discussed their concerns and options.

Public Works Superintendent Promotion offer letter

City Manager Pro-Tem said Nick Theoharis has been working as an operator for the wastewater treatment
plant for years and since the Public Works Director left, he has also been spending several hours a day
doing that. She is recommending that Mr. Theoharis be promoted to be the Public Works Director.

MOTION made by Cn Kandle to offer the promotion to Mr. Theoharis to be the Public Works
Superintendent. Second by Cn Bade. Motion carried unanimously.

Planning Commission Application for Alina Jensen
MOTION made by Cn Gierga to approve Alina Jensen for the Planning Commission. Seconded by Cn
Kandle. Motion passed unanimously.

Resolution 2024-09. A Resolution Exempting a Bid for Emergency Sewer Repair Contract from Competitive
Bidding of ORS 279 for a Sole Source Contract with Advanced Excavation

CMPT Welch said there is a partially collapsed sewer line on Highway 101. It would be best to do this
before the multimillion-dollar project and there is not time to do competitive bidding for this. There is a
Contractor that is experienced in this type of work and he is willing to do the work before ODOT starts
their project. This resolution would allow council to allow staff to procure a contractor without going
through the bidding process due to the time constraints to get the sewer fixed.

MOTION made by Cn Gierga to approve Resolution 2024-09 exempting for emergency sewer repair
contract from competitive bidding requirements of ORS 279 for a sole source contract. Seconded
by Cn Bade. Motion carried unanimously.

Public Improvement Contract with Advanced Excavation for Emergency Sewer Repair Hwy 101 between
6™ and 7t Street. $179,128.50.

CMPT Welch said this is a public improvement contract between the City of Garibaldi and Advanced
Excavation to do this work for $179,128.50 and it will come out of this year’s fiscal budget.

MOTION made by Cn Kandle to approve the public improvement contract. Seconded by Cn Bade.
Motion passed unanimously.

Personal Services Contract for Janitorial Services with Chrissy’s Cleaning Service
Cn Kandle stated there is a typo, we have window sills not window seals.
Page 2 of 4

The City of Garibaldi is an equal opportunity employer and provider



MOTION made by Cn Gierga to approve the contract janitorial contract as amended. Seconded by Cn
Kandle. Motion passed unanimously.

8 Resolution 2024-04. A resolution of the City Council of Garibaldi setting Rates and Charges relating to
Water Service Effective July 1, 2024, and Repealing Resolution 2023-07
Interim City Manager Welch explained the Resolution and discussion followed.
MOTION made by Cn Bade to approve Resolution 2024-04 setting the Rates and Charges relating to
Water Service and repealing Resolution 2023-07. Seconded by Cn Gierga. Motion passed

unanimously.

9. Resolution 2024-05. A Resolution Establishing Residential, Commercial Rates, and other Charges effective
July 1, 2024, and repealing Garibaldi Resolution 2023-08

Interim City Manager Welch explained the Resolution and discussion followed.
MOTION made by Cn Gierga to approve Resolution 2024-05 Establishing Residential, Commercial rates
and other Charges and repealing Resolution 2023-05. Seconded by Cn Kandle. Motion passed

unanimously.

10. Resolution 2024-06. A Resolution Establishing A Waiver Program for Sewer Utility Fees during the
Summer months

Interim City Manager Welch explained the Resolution and discussion followed.
MOTION made by Cn Gierga to approve Resolution 2024-06 A Resolution Establishing a Waiver
Program for Sewer Utility Fees during the summer months. Seconded by Cn Kandle. Motion passed
unanimously.

11. Resolution 2024-08. A Resolution Authorizing Check Signers and Credit Card Holders

Interim City Manager Welch explained the Resolution and discussion followed.

MOTION made by Cn 2024-08 to approve Resolution 2024-08 with the amendment of adding
Cn Terry Kandle to the list of check signers. Seconded by Cn Bade. Motion passed unanimously.

DEPARTMENT REPORTS
1. City Manager — Interim City Manager Welch went over her written report included in the Council packet.

2. Financial Officer — Spoke with the auditor today and he sent a report from the end of 2020 and she is
confirming the ending numbers are what is in our system.

3. Library — Included in packet.
4. Sheriff — Included in packet.
5. Public Works — Public Works Superintendent Theoharis went over report included in packet.

6. Fire — EMS Director Letty Buchanan has been doing training in the community. Chief Marugg went over his
report included in packet.

7. Planning — Included in packet
COUNCIL REPORTS AND COMMENTS
Cn Gierga — None

Page 3 0of 4

The City of Garibaldi is an equal opportunity employer and provider



Cn Kandle — Commented on anticipated 101 lane closure schedules. He would like to see someone responsible for
City flag.

Cn Shattuck — None
Cn Bade — None

Mayor Findling — Thanked the employees for everything they do.

H. ADJOURNMENT

The meeting was adjourned at 7:45 p.m.

Katie Findling, Mayor

ATTEST:

Jake Boone, City Manager

Page 4 of 4

The City of Garibaldi is an equal opportunity employer and provider



City Hall, PO Box 708, Garibaldi, OR 97118

GM'BALD“ Office (503) 322-3327 | Fax (503) 322-3737

City Email: city@garibaldi.gov
Orzegorcs Autierctic Fisluing Vitlage

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES
Monday, December 16, 2024 — 6:30 p.m.

A. CONVENING OF MEETING / PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
Mayor Katie Findling called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. Present were Councilors Norman
“Bud” Shattuck, Linda Bade, Katie Findling, Cheryl Gierga and Terry Kandle. Staff in attendance
were City Manager Jake Boone, Finance Officer Becca Harth, Public Works Director Nick Theoharis,
Fire Chief Jay Marugg and Water System Operator Joe Hittner.

B. ITEMS TO BE ADDED TO THE AGENDA - None
C. PUBLIC HEARINGS — None scheduled
D. PRESENTATION

1. R-SANITARY SERVICE
R-Sanitary is asking for a raise in rates to provide a federal curbside recycling program beginning
in January with pickups of the 96-gallon container to be the second and fourth week of each
month. The councilors were given the opportunity to ask questions. Discussion followed.
Signing up for this service will not be required but optional.

E. CONSENT CALENDAR

1. CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES

A. NOVEMBER 18, 2024, REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING
2. CHECKS ISSUED
3. PURCHASES OVER $5,000 (NOVEMBER 2024) — None

MOTION made by Cn Bade to approve the consent calendar as presented. Second by Cn
Shattuck. Motion passed unanimously.

F. PUBLIC COMMENTS ON AENDA ITEMS - None

G. OLD BUSINESS
1. FEMA BIOLOGICAL OPINION RESPONSE
CM Boone said the clear local majority was to go with Tillamook County’s option 4 which is not
one of the 3 FEMA options offered but Tillamook County’s choice of Option 4 also follows all the
laws. CM Boone believes it is the least expensive and most doable option for Garibaldi. Scott
Fregonese, our planner, sent FEMA an email the day before the deadline.

Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 12/16/20i24 Page 1 of 3



2. COUNCIL MEETING TIMES
CM Boone offered ideas how the meeting could be handled on the months that GURA also

has their meetings. Discussion followed.

MOTION made by Cn Gierga to change the Council meeting times to 5:30. Seconded by Cn
Bade. Motion passed unanimously.

H. NEW BUSINESS
1. JANUARY AND FEBRUARY COUNCIL MEETING DATES
CM Boone said meeting dates in January and February both fall on holidays. Discussion

followed.

MOTION made by Cn Bade to allow the City Manager to determine the January meeting date
and move the February meeting to February 11%. Seconded by Cn Gierga. Motion passed
unanimously.

2. WATER LINE MATERIAL INVENTORY
CM Boone explained the letter that was sent to many residents. Discussion followed.

3. PLANNING COMMISSION VACANCIES
CM Boone stated that Commissioner Sheldon has resigned from the Planning Commission and
in going through the rules, he found we are not in compliance with the requirement of how
many of the Committee reside in Garibaldi. We do not have any applicants at this time. There
are three Commissioners that do not live in Garibaldi. It is up to the Council to decide which
Commissioner will be able to remain on the Planning Commission. Discussion followed on what

criteria to use to make the decision.

MOTION made by Cn Bade to request the City Manager to call the three individuals to see if
he can get voluntary resignations. Second by Cn Kandle. Motion passed 4 — 1 with Cn Findling

voting in opposition.
I. ITEMS REMOVED FROM CONCENT CALENDAR - None

J. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT
1. CITY MANAGER

CM Boone said the City will be closed December 24, 25, and 26. Game Squall is scheduled for
noon in the Community Hall on New Year’s Eve. Last week at LOC meeting found out there has
been movement on property tax reform, measures 5 and 50. The league has been working on
this for a decade and there is some cautious optimism that we may start seeing some move-
ment now. There will be a goal setting workshop scheduled at the January meeting. Tree lighting
went well, kudos to the fire department and public works for making it happen. Minutes are all

caught up.
2. FINANCE - None

3. SHERIFF — None

Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 12/16/20i24 Page 2 of 3



4. PUBLIC WORKS
ODOT project has shifted to the south side. Final PFAS testing will be done on the 19%". Joe
Hittner, the new Water Operator was introduced. He is reviewing the Wastewater Mater Plan

now.

5. FIRE
At the County level they are revising the localization plan, 1%t alarm, 2" alarm, 3™ alarm, 4"
alarm, along with the Coastal Response Action Plan (CRAP). Chief Marugg said there have been
several responses and he is very proud of the crew and all the training really pays off. Tomorrow
is the annual Christmas Fire Truck Parade.

6. PLANNING — None
7. LIBRARY - None
K. COUNCIL REPORTS AND COMMENTS
Shattuck — There is a pothole at 3™ and Acacia that had been filled with rock, but the rock has

vacated the pothole. He would like to see a written procedure for Council to be given to new
and existing Council members. There are two lights that are not working properly.

Bade — Thanked Cn Kandle for his time on the Council. Talked about transparency in Government.

Gierga — Tree lighting was awesome. She was very impressed with the Fire Department at the car
fire.

Kandle — None

Findling — Wanted to echo what Cn Bade said and thanked Cn Kandle stepping up to fill the vacancy
on the council and bringing an impartial and balanced view to the Council. She has signed up for
legislative LOC stuff and told the OMA she would be happy to help.

L. PUBLIC COMMENTS ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS
Someone from the audience spoke on how it is still hard to hear people speaking when they turn
their head.

M. EXECUTIVE SESSION — None scheduled

N. ADJOURNMENT
Mayor Findling adjourned the meeting at 7:42.

Mayor Katie Findling
ATTEST:

City Manager Jake Boone
Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 12/16/20i24 Page 3 of 3



1/14/2025 General Fund, GURA Debt Service Fund, GURA General Fund, Parks SDC Fund,

:0
Hi04AM Payments Journal
12/1/2024 to 12/31/2024

Account Number Account Amount

1010 City Umpqua Checking
12/5/2024 Check / Ref #: Payee: Pace Payment Systems

6250 Bank Charges & 481.56
Fees
Check Amount $481.56
12/6/2024 Check / Ref #: EFT Payee: CIS Trust
CIS Payable 12,440.62
Check Amount $12,440.62
12/20/2024 Check / Ref #: Payee: Umpqua Bank
6250 Bank Charges & 69.11
Fees
Check Amount $69.11
12/30/2024 Check / Ref #: Payee: OR PERS
PERS Payable 16,845.16
Check Amount $16,845.16
12/31/2024 Check / Ref #: 19188 Payee: OR State Transit Tax
OR State Transit 71.59
Tax
Check Amount $71.59
Check Amount $61.34
12/31/2024 Check / Ref #: GJ-00015 Payee: Interfund Payroll Entries
2050 Payroll Due to 25,069.04
General Fund
Check Amount $25,069.04
12/31/2024 Check / Ref #: G]-00015 Payee: Interfund Payroll Entries
2050 Payroll Due to 12,448.77
General Fund
Check Amount $12,448.77
12/31/2024 Check / Ref #: GJ-00017 Payee: Interfund Payroll Entries
2050 Payroll Due to 22,893.95
General Fund
Check Amount $22,893.95
12/31/2024 Check / Ref #: G]-00018 Payee: Interfund Payroll Entries
2050 Payroll Due to 7,578.32
General Fund
Check Amount $7,578.32
1010 City Umpqua Checking Totals $148,250.69
1020 City LGIP Savings
12/31/2024 Check / Ref #: Payee: Oregon Treasury
6250 Bank Charges & 0.10
Fees
Check Amount $0.10
1020 City LGIP Savings Totals $0.10

1050 1st Security Checking
12/3/2024 Check / Ref #: 20087 Payee: Tillamook Farmers Co-Op

6610 Supplies & Services 106.19
Check Amount $106.19
12/3/2024 Check / Ref #: 20088 Payee: Rosenberg Builders Supply
6260 Building & Grounds 636.65
Maint.
6610 Supplies & Services 260.25
Check Amount $896.90
12/3/2024 Check / Ref #: 20089 Payee: NAPA-Davison Auto Parts
6260 Building & Grounds (54.28)

Maint.



1/14/2025
11:04 AM

6380

12/3/2024
6240

12/3/2024
6990

6980

12/3/2024
7130

7140

12/3/2024
6330

12/3/2024
6400

12/3/2024
6455

12/3/2024
6680

12/3/2024
6660

12/3/2024
6620

12/3/2024
6640

12/3/2024
6320

12/3/2024
6320

12/3/2024
6320

12/3/2024
6320

12/3/2024

General Fund, GURA Debt Service Fund, GURA General Fund, Parks SDC Fund,

Payments Journal

12/1/2024 to 12/31/2024

Fuel & Oil 1,022.10
Check Amount $967.82
Check / Ref #: 20090 Payee: Koontz, Blasquez & Associates, P.C.
Auditing & 8,500.00
Accountina Services
Check Amount $8,500.00
Check / Ref #: 20091 Payee: Business Oregon IFA
IFA Loan - Principal 5,368.61
IFA-Loan Interest 1,305.98
Check Amount $6,674.59
Check / Ref #: 20092 Payee: Business Oregon IFA
WWTP-OECDD 3,660.75
| oan -- Tnterest
WWTP-OECDD 30,625.00
| oan -- Princinal
Check Amount $34,285.75
Check / Ref #: 20093 Payee: Tillamook Diesel Repair
Equipment Repair 348.88
Check Amount $348.88
Check / Ref #: 20094 Payee: Oregon Coast Wireless
IT Services 65.00
Check Amount $65.00
Check / Ref #: 20095 Payee: Mikael Hesse
Janitorial Services 1,896.26
Check Amount $1,896.26
Check / Ref #: 20096 Payee: Ferrellgas
Utilities 603.60
Check Amount $603.60
Check / Ref #: 20097 Payee: Northstar Chemical
Treatment 2,448.60
Chemicals
Check Amount $2,448.60
Check / Ref #: 20098 Payee: Consolidated Supply Co.
System 982.60
Maintenance &
Ranair
Check Amount $982.60
Check / Ref #: 20099 Payee: USA BlueBook
Testing & Sampling 133.15
Check Amount $133.15
Check / Ref #: 20100 Payee: Port of Tillamook Bay
Dues, Licenses & 623.68
Subscrintions
Check Amount $623.68
Check / Ref #: 20101 Payee: Department of Environmental Quality
Dues, Licenses & 3,286.00
Subscrintions
Check Amount $3,286.00
Check / Ref #: 20102 Payee: Oregon Department of Revenue
Dues, Licenses & 143.00
Subscrintions
Check Amount $143.00
Check / Ref #: 20103 Payee: One Call Concepts
Dues, Licenses & 32.78
Subscrintions
Check Amount $32.78

Check / Ref #: 20104 Payee:

Dillon Pierce



1/14/2025
11:04 AM

6610

12/9/2024 Check / Ref #:

6250

12/10/2024
6650

12/12/2024
6630

12/12/2024
6320

12/12/2024
6520

12/12/2024
6315

12/12/2024
6500

12/12/2024
6400

12/12/2024
6260

12/12/2024
6470

12/12/2024
6330
6470

12/12/2024
6400

12/12/2024
6330

12/12/2024
6550

12/12/2024
6260

12/12/2024
6330

General Fund, GURA Debt Service Fund, GURA General Fund, Parks SDC Fund,

Payments Journal

12/1/2024 to 12/31/2024

Supplies & Services 53.97
Check Amount $53.97
Payee: 1st Security Bank
Bank Charges & 10.00
Fees
Check Amount $10.00
Check / Ref #: Payee: 1st Security Bank
Travel & Training 1,000.00
Check Amount $1,000.00
Check / Ref #: 20105 Payee: Verizon
Telephone/VOIP 251.78
Check Amount $251.78
Check / Ref #: 20106 Payee: One Call Concepts
Dues, Licenses & 14.90
Stihscrintions
Check Amount $14.90
Check / Ref #: 20107 Payee: Country Media
Printing, Advertising 421.60
& Notice
Check Amount $421.60
Check / Ref #: 20108 Payee: Tillamook County Sheriff
Contracted Services 10,900.50
POI TCF
Check Amount $10,900.50
Check / Ref #: 20109 Payee: Pacific Office Automation
Office Supplies 10.89
Check Amount $10.89
Check / Ref #: 20110 Payee: Wave
IT Services 100.00
Check Amount $100.00
Check / Ref #: 20111 Payee: Sherwin - Williams
Building & Grounds 160.33
Maint.
Check Amount $160.33
Check / Ref #: 20112 Payee: L.N. Curtis and Sons
Minor Equipment 1,230.50
Check Amount $1,230.50
Check / Ref #: 20113 Payee: Tillamook Tire
Equipment Repair 1,134.00
Minor Equipment 10.00
Check Amount $1,144.00
Check / Ref #: 20114 Payee: Centerlogic, Inc.
IT Services 1,082.35
Check Amount $1,082.35
Check / Ref #: 20115 Payee: Tillamook Diesel Repair
Equipment Repair 266.90
Check Amount $266.90
Check / Ref #: 20116 Payee: Yamhill County Fire Defense Board
Protective Clothing 50.00
Check Amount $50.00
Check / Ref #: 20117 Payee: Orkin
Building & Grounds 165.00
Maint.
Check Amount $165.00
Check / Ref #: 20118 Payee: O'Reilly Auto Parts
Equipment Repair 15.28



1/14/2025
11:04 AM

12/12/2024
6300
6330
6470

12/12/2024
6620

12/12/2024
6320

12/12/2024
6530

12/12/2024
6380

12/12/2024
6680

12/12/2024
6690
6500
6610

12/15/2024
6010

12/16/2024
6300
6320

6610

12/17/2024
6470

12/17/2024
6640

12/17/2024
6590
6680

12/17/2024
6620

12/17/2024
6330

General Fund, GURA Debt Service Fund, GURA General Fund, Parks SDC Fund,

Payments Journal

12/1/2024 to 12/31/2024

Check Amount

Check / Ref #: 20119 Payee:

Contracted Services
Equipment Repair
Minor Equipment

$15.28
Tillamook Diesel Repair
324.08
324.07
324.07

Check Amount

Check / Ref #: 20120 Payee:

System
Maintenance &

Ranair

$972.22

Consolidated Supply Co.
529.43

Check Amount $529.43
Check / Ref #: 20121 Payee: OHA Cashier
Dues, Licenses & 150.00
Subscrintions
Check Amount $150.00
Check / Ref #: 20122 Payee: Garibaldi Charters
Promotional Media 4,931.25
Reimh. Pram.
Check Amount $4,931.25
Check / Ref #: 20123 Payee: HASCO Stations, LLC
Fuel & Qil 358.96
Check Amount $358.96
Check / Ref #: 20124 Payee: Tillamook PUD
Utilities 591.54
Check Amount $591.54
Check / Ref #: 20125 Payee: Melora Hitchman
Event Expenses 56.99
Office Supplies 249.94
Supplies & Services 19.99
Check Amount $326.92
Check / Ref #: Payee: Meritain Health, Inc.
Personnel Costs 2,475.00
Check Amount $2,475.00
Check / Ref #: Payee: Umpqua Bank Cardmember Service
Contracted Services 378.12
Dues, Licenses & 306.95
Subscrintions
Supplies & Services 669.06
Check Amount $1,354.13
Check / Ref #: 20126 Payee: Pacific Office Automation
Minor Equipment 1,033.62
Check Amount $1,033.62
Check / Ref #: 20127 Payee: IDEXX Distribution, Inc
Testing & Sampling 2,928.92
Check Amount $2,928.92
Check / Ref #: 20128 Payee: Tillamook PUD
Street Lighting 727.32
Utilities 4,530.27
Check Amount $5,257.59
Check / Ref #: 20129 Payee: USA BlueBook
System 4,015.68
Maintenance &
Dnr‘Ellr1eck Amount $4,015.68
Check / Ref #: 20130 Payee: O'Reilly Auto Parts
Equipment Repair 53.66



1/14/2025 General Fund, GURA Debt Service Fund, GURA General Fund, Parks SDC Fund,

104 A Payments Journal
12/1/2024 to 12/31/2024
Check Amount $53.66
12/17/2024 Check / Ref #: 20131 Payee: Ferrellgas
6680 Utilities 313.13
Check Amount $313.13
12/17/2024 Check / Ref #: 20132 Payee: SeaWestern Fire Fighting Equipment
6550 Protective Clothing 406.70
Check Amount $406.70
12/17/2024 Check / Ref #: 20133 Payee: P&L Heating & Sheet Metal
6260 Building & Grounds 476.66
Maint.
6610 Supplies & Services 238.34
Check Amount $715.00
12/17/2024 Check / Ref #: 20134 Payee: O'Reilly Auto Parts
6330 Equipment Repair 247.26
Check Amount $247.26
12/19/2024 Check / Ref #: Payee: OR Unemployment Department
6010 Personnel Costs 269.56
Check Amount $269.56
12/19/2024 Check / Ref #: Payee: 1st Security Bank
6500 Office Supplies 20.90
6650 Travel & Training 269.01
Check Amount $289.91
12/19/2024 Check / Ref #: Payee: 1st Security Bank
6280 Community 158.83
Fxnenses
6320 Dues, Licenses & 65.83
Subscrintions
6500 Office Supplies 401.97
Check Amount $626.63
12/19/2024 Check / Ref #: Payee: 1st Security Bank
6610 Supplies & Services 584.20
Check Amount $584.20
12/19/2024 Check / Ref #: Payee: 1st Security Bank
6650 Travel & Training 100.75
Check Amount $100.75
12/19/2024 Check / Ref #: Payee: 1st Security Bank
6300 Contracted Services 522.47
Check Amount $522.47
12/31/2024 Check / Ref #: Payee: 1st Security Bank
6250 Bank Charges & 110.00
Fees
Check Amount $110.00
12/31/2024 Check / Ref #: Payee: CIS Trust
CIS Payable 20,848.90
Check Amount $20,848.90
12/31/2024 Check / Ref #: Payee: OR Unemployment Department
OR SUTA Taxes 1,066.58
Check Amount $1,066.58
12/31/2024 Check / Ref #: Payee: OR State Workers Comp
OR State Work 3.40
Comn
Workers Benefit 664.82
Fund Pavable
Check Amount $668.22
12/31/2024 Check / Ref #: Payee: OR State Withholding Tax Divisioon
OR State Taxes 5,436.37




1/14/2025 General Fund, GURA Debt Service Fund, GURA General Fund, Parks SDC Fund,

11:04 AM
Payments Journal
12/1/2024 to 12/31/2024
Check Amount $5,436.37
12/31/2024 Check / Ref #: Payee: EFTPS
EFTPS Payable 18,842.52
Check Amount $18,842.52
1050 1st Security Checking Totals $155,831.30
Report Totals $329,082.19
Records included in total = 113
Report Options

Check Date: 12/1/2024 to 12/31/2024
Display Notation: No



@M'! ﬂ |L|D|! City Hall, PO Box 708, Garibaldi, OR 97118
. Office: (503) 322-3327 | Fax: (503) 322-3737

Oregors Autherdtic Fistirng \(itlage City Email: city@ci.garibaldi.or.us
AGENDA ITEM

TO: Mayor and City Council

FROM: Jake Boone, City Manager

SUBJECT: Election of Council Officers

DATE: 15 January 2025

BACKGROUND

Section 17 of the Garibaldi Charter states:

Section 17. Council President and Vice President.
[1] At its first meeting after this charter takes effect and at its first meeting of each year,
the council shall appoint a president and vice president from its councilors.
[2] Except in voting on questions before the council the president shall function as mayor
when the mayor is:
(a) Absent from a council meeting, or
(b) Unable to function as mayor.
[3] The vice president shall function as mayor when the mayor and council president are:
(a) Absent from a council meeting, or
(b) Unable to function as mayor.

Any member of the Council aside from the Mayor may be nominated as President. Any member
of the Council aside from the Mayor and President may be nominated as Vice President.
Nominations do not require a second.

RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends that Council first hold the election for Council President, and then the election
for Council Vice President.

COST

None.

f
Jak& Boone, City Manager




@M'! ﬂ |L|D|! City Hall, PO Box 708, Garibaldi, OR 97118
. Office: (503) 322-3327 | Fax: (503) 322-3737

Oregors Autherdtic Fistirng \(itlage City Email: city@ci.garibaldi.or.us
AGENDA ITEM

TO: Mayor and City Council

FROM: Jake Boone, City Manager

SUBJECT: Authorization of Check Signers

DATE: 15 January 2025

BACKGROUND

The Council will have just elected a Council President and Council Vice President. Traditionally,
the holders of both of those positions are authorized check signers for the City’s bank accounts.
The attached resolution will update the check signers list with First Security Bank to include the
new holders of those positions, and will continue the authorization of lines of credit for selected
members of staff as per standard practice.

RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends that Council, by motion, adopt Resolution 2025-01, with [name of President]
inserted as “President” and [name of Vice President] inserted as Vice President.

COST

None.

J&ke Boone, City Manager



CITY OF GARIBALDI
RESOLUTION 2025-01

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CHECK SIGNERS AND CREDIT CARD HOLDERS WITH 15T SECURITY
BANK

WHEREAS, Resolution No. 2007-18 requires certain appointed officers to sign checks and other financial
documents on behalf of the City; and

WHEREAS, Resolution No. 2020-03, 2021-10, 2022-02, 2022-03, 2023-01, 2023-19, 2023-22, 2024-08, and
2024-13 authorizes the use of credit cards for certain appointed officers; and

WHEREAS, Resolution No. 2008-24 establishes policies and procedures for purchases under $5,000;
and

WHEREAS, for ease of transitions the city council feels acknowledging check signers and credit card
holders via resolution is prudent,

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GARIBALDI RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1. The Garibaldi City Council hereby authorizes the following as check signers:
A. Katie Findling, Mayor
B. , Council President
C. , Vice President
D. Jake Boone, City Manager

Section 2. Pursuant to the rules of Resolution No. 2007-18, 2008-24, 2023-22, 2024-08 and
2024-13 the Garibaldi City Council hereby authorizes the following the use of a $15,000 line of
credit at

1t Security Bank:

Becca Harth, Finance Officer
Jake Boone, City Manager

Nicholas Theoharis, Public Works Superintendent
Jay Marugg, Fire Chief

moowm»

Blake Paulsen, Division Chief



Section 3. Upon change of the authorized users, the City Council willamend this resolution through
separate resolution and notify 15t Security Bank of the change.

Section 4. Resolution No. 2021-03, 2021-10, 2022-02, 2022-03, 2023-01, 2023-19, 2023-22, 2024-08
and 2024-13 are hereby repealed.

Section 5. This resolution shall be in effect as of January 21, 2024

PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL AND APPROVED BY THE MAYOR, This 21% day of January 2025.

Kathryn Findling, Mayor
ATTEST:

Jake Boone, City Manager



@M'! ﬂ |L|D|! City Hall, PO Box 708, Garibaldi, OR 97118
. Office: (503) 322-3327 | Fax: (503) 322-3737

Oregors Autherdtic Fistirng \(itlage City Email: city@ci.garibaldi.or.us
AGENDA ITEM

TO: Mayor and City Council

FROM: Jake Boone, City Manager

SUBJECT: Planning Commission Update

DATE: 15 January 2025

BACKGROUND

At the last City Council meeting, Council learned that the Planning Commission had three
members residing outside of the City of Garibaldi, where only one is permitted. Consequently,
the Council instructed the City Manager to see if any of those three Planning Commission
members would be willing to resign to bring the makeup of the Planning Commission into
compliance. Since that meeting, one member (Nathan Findling) has resigned, one (Alina Jensen)
has indicated that she will not resign, and a third (Dennis Cavitt) has not yet responded.

RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends that Council, by motion, decide which of the remaining two outside Planning
Commissioners will be retained on the Commission. Staff also recommends that Council, by
motion, select a new Commission Chair.

COST

None.

7 A

Ja‘% Boone, City Manager




@M'! ﬂ |L|D|! City Hall, PO Box 708, Garibaldi, OR 97118
. Office: (503) 322-3327 | Fax: (503) 322-3737

Oregors Autherdtic Fistirng \(itlage City Email: city@ci.garibaldi.or.us
AGENDA ITEM

TO: Mayor and City Council

FROM: Jake Boone, City Manager

SUBJECT: R-Sanitary Rate Adjustment

DATE: 15 January 2025

BACKGROUND

At the December 2024 City Council meeting, a representative from R-Sanitary Service presented
a request for approval of a curbside recycling program and its associated rates, as per the
attached documentation from R-Sanitary. The Council may approve or reject this request.

RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends that Council consider the request from R-Sanitary and if found favorable, by
motion, authorize the new program and rates as found in the attached documentation.

COST

None.

f
JaKe Boone, City Manager




R-Sanitary service is asking for the approval of curbside recycling route and rates.

Service will begin January 6 2025.

Service will be every 2™ and 4™ week and service will be on the same day as your garbage pickup.
Carts will be 96 gallon in size and only be available for roadside service.

The cost of curbside recycling will be $11.00 a month for residential service.

The cost of business cardboard service will be $38.00 a month for weekly 2yard service.

If approved we will be sending out a mass letter to all our customers informing them of the new service
and all the opportunitys they have to recycle.

Below is a small breakdown of what it will cost us for the first year to start this service.

Purchase of truck $46,500

Purchase of carts $74.00 X 500 =$37,000
Salary for employee $45,000

Insurance for the year $3,000

Fuel per month S$450 X 12 = $5400
Yearly average truck maintenance $10,000

Commingle dump fee $18.00 a ton

Year 1 cost of service $146,900 + dump fee

Projected 1 year revenue with 500 customers

Residential customers 500 X $11.00 =$5,500 X 12 = $66,000

Commercial cardboard 35X $38.00=51,330X 12 = $15,960

With those projected numbers would give us a revenue of $81,960, and a year profit loss of $64,960.

That number seems drastic, but it always costs a little more to get something going up front. After year
one we would have less initial costs and that number would be a lot less.

Year 2 projections

Labor $45,000



Fuel

Insurance

Dump fee

Truck maintenance

Carts

Total projected cost

Year 2 projected revenue
Residential curbside
Commercial cardboard
Total projected

Total projected profit

$450 X 12 = $5,400
$3,000

$18.00 a ton

$10,000

$74.00 X 100 = $7,400

$70,800

$11.00 X 600 = $6,600 X 12 = $79,200
$38.00 X 40 =51,520 X 12 = $18,240
$97,440

$26,640



@M'! ﬂ |L|D|! City Hall, PO Box 708, Garibaldi, OR 97118
. Office: (503) 322-3327 | Fax: (503) 322-3737

Oregors Autherdtic Fistirng \(itlage City Email: city@ci.garibaldi.or.us
AGENDA ITEM

TO: Mayor, City Council, and Local Contract Review Board Members

FROM: Jake Boone, City Manager

SUBJECT: Resolution Opting Out of the Attorney General’s Model Public Contracting Rules

and Amending Public Contracting Rules for the City of Garibaldi
DATE: 15 January 2025

BACKGROUND

This joint meeting of the Garibaldi City Council and Local Contract Review Board has been called
to consider a change to the public contracting rules for the City of Garibaldi. The Resolution
before the Council today would continue the City’s preexisting opting-out of the state default
rules, and would amend the City’s existing rules to include the more comprehensive rules
developed and maintained by Local Government Law Group.

This Resolution would be the first step in a three-step process to adopt the new rules.

RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends that the Council and Local Contract Review Board, by motion, adopt
Resolution 2025-02.

COST

None.

7

é(e Boone, City Manager




RESOLUTION NO. 2025-02

JOINT RESOLUTION OF THE COUNCIL AND
LOCAL CONTRACT REVIEW BOARD OPTING OUT OF THE
ATTORNEY GENERAL’S MODEL PUBLIC CONTRACTING RULES
AND AMENDING PUBLIC CONTRACTING RULES
FOR THE CITY OF GARIBALDI

WHEREAS, it is the policy of the City of Garibaldi (City) that a sound and
responsive public contracting system should allow impartial, meaningful, and open
competition, preserving formal competitive selection as the standard for public contracts
unless otherwise specifically exempted herein, by state law, or by subsequent
ordinance or resolutions; and

WHEREAS, the Oregon Legislature adopted HB 2341 (2003 Oregon Laws,
Chapter 794), which was signed by the Governor with an operative date of March 1,
2005. This Act repealed Oregon Revised Statutes (“ORS”) Chapter 279 (with minor
exceptions) and replaced it with three new subchapters: ORS 279A, 279B, and 279C.
These three subchapters, together, constitute the Public Contracting Code (or Code).
Any City rules and exemptions previously adopted under ORS Chapter 279 expired on
March 1, 2005; and

WHEREAS, absent any action by the Local Contract Review Board on or after
March 1, 2005, the City has operated under the Public Contracting Model Rules
adopted by the Attorney General under ORS subchapters 279A, 279B, and 279C, as
set forth in Oregon Administrative Rules Chapter 137, Divisions 46, 47, 48 and 49 (the
“‘Model Rules”); and

WHEREAS, in order to adopt new public contracting rules that differ from the
Model Rules, under ORS 279A.065(5), the City Council must specifically state that the
Model Rules adopted by the Attorney General do not apply to City and prescribe its own
public contracting rules, which may include portions of the Attorney General’s Model
Rules. The Local Contract Review Board may also adopt rules for public contracting
not covered by the Model Rules, as long as they do not conflict with the Public
Contracting Code; and

WHEREAS, the Public Contracting Code divides powers and duties for
contracting into two categories: those that must be performed by the “Local Contract
Review Board”; and those that must be performed by the “Contracting Agency”; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to ORS 279A.060, the City Council is the Local Contract
Review Board for City and, as such, is authorized to act on all such matters on behalf of
the City, adopt Public Contracting Rules, and establish procedures for amendment of
such rules; and

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-02 PAGE 1 OF 3



WHEREAS, the Local Contract Review Board may designate certain personal
service contracts or classes of service contracts as personal service contracts, which
are not subject to the procedural requirements of the Public Contracting Code or the
Model Rules; and

WHEREAS, City recognizes it may exempt certain public improvement contracts
or classes of such contracts under ORS 279C.335; and

WHEREAS, the City Council additionally requests that the City’s Local Contract
Review Board approve the classes of special procurements set forth in the attached
rules, based upon the findings set forth in Exhibit A to this Resolution.

NOW, THEREFORE, it is resolved as follows:

1. The City Council (Council) is hereby designated to continue as the Local
Contract Review Board of the City and shall have all of the rights, powers and authority
necessary to carry out the provisions of Chapters 279A, 279B, and 279C (the “Public
Contracting Code”) and attached Rules. Except as otherwise provided in this
Resolution, the definitions established in the attached Rules apply herein. The term
“Contracting Agency” as used in the attached Rules includes Contracting Agency’s chief
administrative officer, his or her designee, or any other purchasing agent designated by
City policy. Those individuals are hereby designated as City’s Contracting Agency and
may exercise all authorities, powers and duties granted to a Contracting Agency under
the Public Contracting Code and attached Rules, unless otherwise established by City

policy.

2. The above recitals and Exhibit A are hereby adopted by the Council,
sitting as the Local Contract Review Board, as findings of fact supporting approval of
the Council’s request for classes of special procurement and public improvement
contract exemptions.

3. The Model Rules adopted by the Attorney General pursuant to ORS
279A.065, including any implementing Oregon public contracting amendments from the
2023 legislative session, do not and will not apply to City. Instead, the City hereby
prescribes the following Rules, which include portions of the Attorney General’s Model
Rules, as the Rules of Procedure that the City will use for its public contracting: Public
Contracting Rules Chapter 137, Divisions 46, 47, 48 and 49. While the numbering of
these Rules reflects the numbering system of the Attorney General’s Model Rules, they
incorporate City changes to the Model Rules, and, therefore, are not the Attorney
General’s promulgated administrative rules. City exemptions are also set forth in these
Rules, as numbered Exemptions 1 through 18 (E-1 through E-18). All above-referenced
Rules are attached to this Resolution as Exhibit B, and incorporated herein by this
reference.

4. In accordance with ORS 279A.065(6)(b), the City shall review its Public
Contracting Rules, adopted herein, each time the Attorney General modifies its Model

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-02 PAGE 2 OF 3



Rules in order to determine whether amendments are required to ensure statutory
compliance.

5. Amendments to these Rules and new rules shall be adopted in
accordance with this Resolution and the Public Contracting Code. Special procurement
requests and approvals shall be made in accordance with Division 47 of the attached
Rules and ORS 279B.085. Public improvement contract exemption procedures,
including notice and public hearing requirements, shall be made in accordance with
Division 49 of the attached Rules and ORS 279C.335.

6. The Model Cost Accounting Guidelines developed by the Oregon
Department of Administrative Services pursuant to Section 3, Chapter 869, Oregon
Laws 1979 are hereby adopted as the City’s Cost Accounting System to apply to public
improvement projects exceeding $5,000 and constructed with City’s own equipment or
personnel. ORS 279C.310. For such public improvement projects estimated to cost
more than $200,000, or for certain road maintenance projects exceeding $125,000, City
shall also comply with the requirements of ORS 279C.305.

7. All previously adopted resolutions establishing public contracting rules for
City are hereby repealed.

8. Effective Date. This Resolution shall take effect upon the effective date of
Ordinance No. 336.

DATED this day of , 2024.
Katie Findling, Mayor Katie Findling, Mayor, as President,
City Council for the Local Contract Review Board
ATTEST: ATTEST:
Jake Boone, City Manager Jake Boone, City Manager,

as Secretary for the
Local Contract Review Board

F:\1Clients\Muni\Garibaldi, City of\General-Administration\2023 Public Contracting Rules\RES City Resolution Opting Out of AG Model (First Packet).docx

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-02 PAGE 3 OF 3



EXHIBIT A

FINDINGS IN SUPPORT OF RESOLUTION NO.
ADOPTING PUBLIC CONTRACTING CODE RULES

ORS 279B.085 and 279C.335 authorize City of Garibaldi’s (City) Council, sitting as
City’s Local Contract Review Board, to approve findings submitted and exemptions
requested by City’s Council upon adoption of appropriate findings, to establish special
selection, evaluation and award procedures for, or exempt from competition, the award
of a specific contract or classes of contracts.

Pursuant to that authority, the Council makes the following findings in support of
Resolution No. , which establishes exempt classes of contracts and the
solicitation methods for their award:

No Findings Required

Pursuant to ORS 279A.025 and 279A.055, the Council is not required to adopt findings
with respect to the solicitation methods and awards of the following classes of contracts
identified in City’s Public Contracting Rules 2023, Class Exemptions:

E-4 Contracts for Price Regulated Items
E-6 Investment Contracts

E-12 Insurance, Employee Benefit

E-17 Personal Service Contracts

E-18 Liability Insurance Contracts

The above Rules govern subjects specifically authorized by state law and, therefore,
require no local exemption.

Specific Findings for Public Improvement Class Exemption

The Council approves the following specific findings for the use of a Request for
Proposal alternative contracting method for public improvement contracts estimated to
cost over $100,000 and also finds that the establishment of this class of contracts and
the method approved for their award:

1. Is unlikely to encourage favoritism in the awarding of public improvement
contracts or substantially diminish competition for public improvement
contracts; and

2. The awarding of public improvement contracts under each exemption will
result in substantial cost savings to City.

EXHIBIT A - FINDINGS PAGE 1 OF 8



These conclusions are based on the following general findings:

A. Operational, budget, and financial data. Where various criteria, which
may or may not include cost, must be weighed in order to select an
appropriate contractor for the desired project, the formal competitive
bidding process costs of up to $7,000 are a significant budgetary waste in
that the most qualified contractor for the project may not be the lowest
responsible bidder;

B. Public benefits. Exempting contracts from competitive bidding
requirements and instead utilizing statutory competitive proposal
procedures will protect and preserve public funds, enable greater
competition between the most qualified contractors, and result in a better
product which meets the public’s and City’s needs;

C. Value engineering, Specialized expertise required, Technical complexity.
Only through a competitive proposal process can City weigh, evaluate and
select the type of expertise needed to address the technical complexities
of a particular public improvement project. Competitive proposals allow
the City to determine which contractor may best provide such services.
These are qualities not reflected in cost, where a determination on cost
alone could forfeit these valuable and essential attributes;

D. Public safety. Utilizing a competitive proposal process as opposed to
competitive bidding can ensure high quality, more safely constructed
facilities through the construction period, and after completion.
Capitalizing upon design and construction planning and compatibility can
also allow earlier use of public facilities even while construction continues;

E. Market conditions. The increased availability of and need for technical
expertise, value engineering, or other types of specialized expertise, as
well as a need to investigate the compatibility, experience and availability
of contractors require that certain public improvement contracts be
awarded based upon an evaluation of a number of criteria, rather than
simply cost.

Specific Findings for Special Classes and Methods of Award for Contracts Other
Than Public Improvements.

The Council approves the specific findings for the establishment of special solicitation
methods for the classes of public contracts described below and also finds that the
establishment of each class of contracts and methods approved for their award:

1. Is unlikely to encourage favoritism in the awarding of public contracts or

substantially diminish competition for public contracts because such
exemptions still require alternative contracting procedures, ensuring:

EXHIBIT A - FINDINGS PAGE 2 OF 8



(1) reasonable competition; (2) the best contract price for the public; and (3) a
cost-effective process for both contractors and City;

2. The awarding of public contracts under these exemptions will result in
substantial cost savings to City because City will avoid costs associated with
unnecessary documentation and procedures, where it is unmerited by the
type and/or relatively low cost of the contracts; and

3. The awarding of public contracts pursuant to any of the requested exemptions
substantially promotes the public interest in a manner that could not
practicably be realized by formal competitive solicitation procedures, given
the fact that such exemptions facilitate smooth operation of City’s
administration and operations, include procedures and mechanisms to ensure
the best product, service or outcome is obtained at the least cost to the public
and City, and identified classes address areas of public contracting left
unresolved by state statute which are essential for City’s operations, such as
awarding personal service contracts, purchasing used personal property, and
disposing of surplus personal property.

Specifically, the Council finds:
E-2 — Advertising Contracts.

Alternate Award Process. In City’s discretion. The process selected may be
competitive or non-competitive.

Cost Savings and Other Benefits. Size of and frequency of average
advertisement (including all notices required to be published by City) does not
justify the cost of solicitation. Period of time from recognition of need to advertise
until advertising date is too short to issue solicitation.

Effect on Competition. The potential market is limited because not all
advertisers work in every market. Choice of advertising medium is somewhat
price sensitive, but primarily driven by location and size of circulation in
comparison with City’s target audience.
No Favoritism. Not applicable due to the lack of competitors and specialized
contracting needs.

E-3 — Equipment Repair and Overhaul.

Alternate Award Process. As needed, in City’s discretion.

Cost Savings and Other Benefits.
1. Pre-contract pricing is difficult to obtain and cannot be relied upon.

EXHIBIT A - FINDINGS PAGE 3 OF 8



2. City has discretion to decide whether costs of solicitation are justified in
relationship to size of contract and availability of skilled technicians to
repair the specific equipment.

3. Delay required for solicitation would impair City’s ability to respond to
equipment breakdown and be injurious to the public interest.

4. Experience with contractor is crucial because reliability over the course
of several projects is important.

Effect on Competition. Allows contractor to be selected based on ability to
provide accurate, reliable and fast service.

Effect on Favoritism. Favoritism will not be greater than if statutory request for
proposals process is used.

E-5 - Copyrighted Materials.
Alternate Award Process. As needed, in City’s discretion.

Cost Savings and Other Benefits. Necessary to allow City to acquire special
needs products that are unique.

Effect on Competition. None. There is no competitive market for a unique
product. Copyrighted materials are generally acquired from a sole-source
copyright holder, as used property, or by donation.

No Favoritism. Not applicable due to the lack of competitors and specialized
contracting needs.

E-7 — Requirements Contracts.

Alternate Award Process. Original contract must be based on a competitive
process.

Cost Savings and Other Benefits. Size and frequency of procurements does
not justify the cost of solicitation. Period of time from recognition of need until
good or service required too short to issue solicitation.

Effect on Competition. Minimal, due to underlying competitive process and
requirement to renew contract via formal solicitation at least every five years.

Effect on Favoritism. Minimal, due to underlying competitive process and
requirement to renew contract via formal solicitation at least every five years.

EXHIBIT A - FINDINGS PAGE 4 OF 8



E-8 — Office Copier Purchases.

Alternate Award Process. Original contract must be based on a competitive
process.

Cost Savings and Other Benefits. Size and frequency of procurements does
not justify the cost of solicitation. Period of time from recognition of need until
good or service required too short to issue solicitation.

Effect on Competition. Minimal, due to underlying competitive process and
requirement to renew contract via formal solicitation at least every five years. In
addition, rule requires evaluation and award based upon multiple factors, not just
cost.

Effect on Favoritism. Minimal, due to underlying competitive process and
requirement to renew contract via formal solicitation at least every five years. In
addition, rule requires evaluation and award based upon set factors, in addition
to cost.

Other Factors. Allows Contracting Agency to address emergency
circumstances. Cannot anticipate when immediate replacement or repairs will be
needed to ensure normal operations.

E-9 - Manufacturer Direct Supplies.
Alternate Award Process. Subject to cost saving analysis.
Cost Savings and Other Benefits. Allowed only after a formal solicitation is
completed and manufacturer’s price is less than offers received. Cost of formal
solicitation, therefore not merited.
Effect on Competition. None. Allowed only after assessment of manufacturer’'s
costs to distributer within the same pool of potential contractors that would be
qualified to respond to an invitation to bid.
Effect on Favoritism. None. Allowed only after assessment of manufacturer’s
costs to distributer within the same pool of potential contractors that would be
qualified to respond to an invitation to bid.
Other Factors. Allowed on a contract-by-contract basis and shall not result in an
ongoing price agreement, further fostering competition.

E-10 — Gasoline, Diesel Fuel, Heating Oil, Lubricants and Asphalit.

Alternate Award Process. Intermediate procurement process.

EXHIBIT A - FINDINGS PAGE 5 OF 8



Cost Savings and Other Benefits. Frequency and amount of exempt item
purchases do not justify the cost of solicitation. Period of time from recognition of
need through contract award too long for needed purchases of exempt fungible
goods.

Effect on Competition. Minimal. Intermediate procurement process surveys
market and ensures level of competition appropriate for these frequently
purchased goods.

Effect on Favoritism. Purchase based on cost. Intermediate procurement
process sufficiently avoids any favoritism.

E-11 — Hazardous Material Removal; Oil Cleanup.

Alternate Award Process. Rule encourages competitive procedures to the
extent reasonable under the circumstances.

Cost Savings and Other Benefits. Avoids unnecessary cost and delay
associated with procurement procedures when most qualified available
contractor required for immediate performance. Primary consideration is public
safety and compliance with hazardous material laws.

Effect on Competition. Minimal, given competitive procedures encouraged by
Rule and supporting findings describing circumstance requiring clean up.

Effect on Favoritism. Minimal, given competitive procedures encouraged by
Rule and supporting findings describing circumstance requiring clean up.

Other Factors. Exemption necessary to ensure City’s ability to comply with
State law governing hazardous materials.

E-13 — Medical and Laboratory Supplies.

Alternate Award Process. Direct award to different vendors allowed, following
initial competitive solicitation process.

Cost Savings and Other Benefits. Frequency and amount of exempt item
purchases do not justify the cost of solicitation. Period of time from recognition of
need through contract award too long for needed purchases of exempt fungible
goods.

Effect on Competition. Minimal. Intermediate procurement process surveys

market and ensures level of competition appropriate for these frequently
purchased goods.

EXHIBIT A - FINDINGS PAGE 6 OF 8



Effect on Favoritism. Purchase based on cost. Intermediate procurement
process sufficiently avoids any favoritism.
E-14 — Concession Agreements.

Alternate Award Process. When in City’s best interest, a competitive proposal
solicitation will be used.

Cost Savings and Other Benefits. Allows City to take advantage of unique
revenue opportunities.

Effect on Competition. Responds to unique opportunities for which the number
of competitors may range from none to many.

Effect on Favoritism. No impact. Responds to unique opportunities.
Other Factors. Not a contract for the acquisition or disposal of goods, or
services or public improvements. Most similar to personal services contract
because the quality of the concession may be more important than price factors.
Variation in types and sizes of concession opportunities is too great to provide a
single method of solicitation. Statutory public contracting requirements may not
apply. May not be a public contract. Most similar to personal services contract.
Findings may not be required.

E-15 — Used Personal Property, Purchase of.

Alternate Award Process. Rule requires individualized ORS 279B.085 findings
and an intermediate procurement process, where feasible.

Cost Savings and Other Benefits. Allows City to take advantage of unique
opportunity to acquire needed goods and services for discounted prices.

Effect on Competition. No impact. Responds to unique opportunities.

Effect on Favoritism. No impact. Responds to unique opportunities.

E-16 — Surplus Personal Property, Disposition of.
Alternate Award Process. Any means in City’s best interest, after making

individualized ORS 279B.085 findings. Items with a residual value of more than
$10,000 require Local Contract Review Board prior authorization.

EXHIBIT A - FINDINGS PAGE 7 OF 8



Cost Savings and Other Benefits.
1. Avoids unnecessary solicitation expense by allowing City to determine
whether cost of solicitation is justified by value of surplus property.
2. Allows City to establish programs for donation to charitable
organizations.

Effect on Competition. No impact. Responds to unique opportunities.
Effect on Favoritism. No impact. Responds to unique opportunities.
Other Factors. Variations in the type, quantity, quality and opportunities for

recycling of surplus property are too large to have this class of contracts
governed by a single solicitation method.

EXHIBIT A - FINDINGS PAGE 8 OF 8



PUBLIC CONTRACTING
RULES

2023

Copyright © 2005, 2006, 2010, 2012, 2014, 2016, 2020, 2022, and 2023
by Local Government Law Group P.C.
All rights reserved.



TABLE OF CONTENTS
PUBLIC CONTRACTING RULES - 2023

DIVISION 46

GENERAL PROVISIONS RELATED TO PUBLIC CONTRACTING

137-046-0100 Application; Federal LAW SUPFEIMACY ........ccciiriiieiiiieeeiiiite e ettt e e st et e s s st e e s snbe e e s e snbee e e s anbeeeeenneee
137-046-0110 Definitions fOr the RUIES ..........eiiiiiiie e e e b e e
1370460120 PONCY ...ttt ettt ettt b e h e sh e sa e a bkt e bt ekt e ket e b bt e a bt ekt e ehe e she e she e sab e e n b e ke e beenbeennne s
137-046-0130 Application of the Code and RUIES; EXCEPLIONS ........cceiiiiiiiee i
MINORITIES, WOMEN AND EMERGING SMALL BUSINESSES

137-046-0200 Affirmative Action; Limited Competition Permitted ............ccceeiiiiiiiiiiie e

137-046-0210 Subcontracting to and Contracting with Emerging Small Businesses;
(D] =] =R BT To U= 111 o%= 11 o] o ST UP PP PP PPPRPPPI

CONTRACT PREFERENCES

137-046-0300 Preference for Oregon Goods and Services; Nonresident Bidders ............ccccce oo,
137-046-0310 RECIPrOCAl PrefErENCES ......c i
137-046-0320 Preference for Recycled MaterialS .........c..oiiiiiiiiiiiiie e
COOPERATIVE PROCUREMENT

137-046-0400 Authority for Cooperative PrOCUIEIMENTS .........uuiiiiiiiiee ittt ettt ettt e e e anbae e e nneee

137-046-0410 Responsibilities of Administering Contracting Agencies and
PUrchasing CONraCting AQEINCIES ......uuuuuuuuuurururuiututureueterararerareree ... ————————a—e—.—.—.—a—a—.—e—aterererererararnsnsnnnsnsnsnsnnnrnnns

137-046-0420 Joint COOPErative PrOCUIEIMENTS ... ...ci i i i ie i e e et e e e e e e a e s e e e e e s e a e aaaaaeaeaaaas
137-046-0430 Permissive COOPErative PrOCUIEIMENTS .......coiuiiiiiiiiie et ettt ettt e st e e et e e e e sibe e e e s aibeeeeenees

137-046-0440 Advertisements of Intent to Establish Contracts or Price Agreements through a
Permissive COOPErative PrOCUIEIMENT ........oiiuiiiiiiiiiit ettt ettt et et e e s bbbt e e s bt et e e s bba e e e sebb e e e s anbbeeeennnneeas

137-046-0450 Interstate CoOperative PrOCUIEMENTS ... ....cciiiiiiie ittt ettt e ettt e e e st e e e st e e e e snbeeeeenees
137-046-0460 Advertisements of Interstate Cooperative ProCUremMENS........cooiiuiiiiiiieiiiiiiiiee e
137-046-0470 Protests and DISPULES ........coiiiiiiiiiiiiiieee ettt e et e e e e e e s s bbbt e et e e e s e e aab e et e eaaeesaaannbbaeeeaaeesaasnneees

137-046-0480 CONLraCt AMENAMENES .....uuiiiiet it ee et e et e e e e e e e et e e s et e e eeaaa e s eaaasess b e e eeaba e essaasesebaneeeeernsns



DIVISION 47

PUBLIC PROCUREMENTS FOR GOODS OR SERVICES GENERAL PROVISIONS

137-047-0100 APPHCALION ..ccetiieeiiieee ettt ettt e et e e e e s be et e e st e e e e e sab et e e e st e e e e e aabeeeeeanbbeeeeanbbeeeeanbneeaean 10
137-047-0110 DEFINILIONS .....eeiutieitite ittt ettt ettt e et e et e e e e bt e e bt e e sbbe e s be e e oabe e embe e et eeeaabe e e abseeembeeebeeesmbeeeaneeennne 10

SOURCE SELECTION

137-047-0250 Methods Of SOUICE SEIBCHON........uiiiiiiiiieesiie it e e snne e e nnn e 10
137-047-0255 Competitive Sealed BiAAING .........cccuiiiiieeee it e et e e e e e s st e e e e e e e s s sabe e e e e e e e s s snnnrnreeeeaeeaeaanns 10
137-047-0257 Multistep Sealed BidaiNg .. ..uuieeeiiiiiiiieiie e et e s e e e e e e s e e e e e e e e s st e aeeeeeaeeesnnrnraneeeeeaeaanns 12
137-047-0260 Competitive Sealed ProPOSEAIS ..........eiiiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt e et e e e sbb e e e s sbaeeeeans 12
137-047-0261 Procedures for Competitive Range, Multi-tiered and Multistep Proposals...........ccccceeeviieeeiiiieeeens 14
137-047-0262 Competitive Range, Discussions and NegotiatioNS...........ccoooeieieie e 15
137-047-0263 Multistep Sealed ProPOSAIS ......ccccoiiii ittt 16
137-047-0265 SMall PrOCUIEIMENTS ....cuiiiieiiiiieee ittt et e e e st e s st e e e e an e e e s aan e e e s srne e e e snnre e e e sanneeeesnnneeeean 17
137-047-0270 Intermediate PrOCUMEIMENES .......ooiiiiiiieiitieee ettt ettt ettt et e e e st e e e e sabb e e e e sbbe e e e snbbeeeeaabbeeeesnbneeaean 17
137-047-0275 SOle-SOUICE PrOCUIEIMENTS ......iiiiiiiiieeeitieee ettt e ettt e et et e e e st e e e e sabe e e e e sabb e e e e sbaeeeesnbbeeeeabreeeeanbneeaeans 17
137-047-0280 EMEIgENCY PrOCUIEIMENTS ....oiiiiiiiitiieiit et e ettt e e e et e e e e s e e e e e e e e s b r e e et e e e s e sanrnrneeeeeenennes 18
137-047-0285 SPECIAl PrOCUIEIMENTS ...t et e e e e e e e e e e et e a e a e a e e e e e e e r et e a e e e s e e e e e e e aaaeaeaaaas 18
137-047-0290 COOPEIAtIVE PrOCUIEIMENTS .. ... i i e ettt e e e e e et e e e e e e a e e e e e a e a e a e a e e e a e e e e e aeaeaaaeaas 18

PROCUREMENT PROCESS

137-047-0300 Public Notice of SoliCitation DOCUMENTS ........ouuiiiiiiiieie ittt e e sbaeee e 19
137-047-0310 Bids Or Proposals are OffErS ......ccoiuiiii ittt ettt st e e s abaeeaean 19
137-047-0320 Facsimile BidS and PrOPOSEAUS ..........ueiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee ittt et e et e e sba e e s sbaeeeeans 20
137-047-0330 EIECIrONIC PrOCUIMEIMEINT .....eeiiiiiiiieiiteiee ittt e st e e ettt et e s st e e e st et e s aan e e e s sana e e e e sarn e e e e snneeeesanneeeean 21

BID AND PROPOSAL PREPARATION

137-047-0400 OFfer PrEPAIALION .....ccoi ittt e ettt e e e e et b ettt e e e e e s e e bbbt e et e e e e e aaanbsbeeeeaaeseaannbabeeeeaaeaaann 22
137-047-0410 Offer SUDMISSION ... .eiiiiiiiiiiie ittt ettt e e sttt e e e sabe et e e sabee e e e aabaeeeesnbeeeesanbbeeessnbaeeaens 22
137-047-0420 Pre-Offer CONTEIENCES ......oiiiiiiiiei ittt ettt e ettt e e sbb e e e e snbeeeeesabbeeeesnbaeeeeans 22
137-047-0430 Addenda to SolICItation DOCUMENT .........uuiiiiiiiiie ettt e e et e e et ee s snbaeeeeans 23
137-047-0440 Pre-Closing Modification or Withdrawal of Offers..........c.uuueiiiiiiii e 23
137-047-0450 Receipt, Opening, and Recording of Offers; Confidentiality of Offers. ... 24



137-047-0460 Late Offers, Late Withdrawals and Late ModifiCatioNS ...........ceueeiiiiiiiiiiiie e 24

L137-047-0470 MISTAKES.....ceeiittiiie i iieiee ittt ettt ettt e e st e e e sabe e e e e sabaeeeeaabee e e e asbaeee e anbaeeeeanbbeeeeantaeeeesnbeeeeesnbbeeeeanbbeeaeans 24
137-047-0480 Time fOr AQENCY ACCEPIANCE.........ccueieeiieeeeeieittiee e e e e e e s ss et eeeeeesssastaaeeeeeaeasssastsseeeeeaesssnsraseneeeeeessanns 25
137-047-0490 Extension of Time for Acceptance Of Offer..........eevii i 25

QUALIFICATIONS AND DUTIES

137-047-0500 Responsibility of Bidders and PrOPOSEIS...........uiiiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt ettt e b ee e 26
137-047-0525 QUAlIfied PrOGUCES LISES .....ueiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiit ettt e e e ettt e e e e e e st e e e eaeaesesantnreeeeaeeeananns 26
137-047-0550 Prequalification of ProSpective OffErOrS ........cc.uvieiiiiiii it e s e e e stnrae e e e e e e 26
137-047-0575 Debarment Of ProSpective OffErOrS ......cccccceiiii i 26

OFFER EVALUATION AND AWARD

137-047-0600 Offer EVAluation and AWEAIT. ...........uuieiiiiiiie ittt et e e e sbb e e e sbr e e e e abbeeeesnbneeeeans 26
137-047-0610 NOtICE Of INTENETO AWEAIT ....cooiuiiiiiiiiiiee ettt e e st e e e e sabe e e e e abbe e e e sbbeeaeans 28
137-047-0620 DOCUMENTALION OF AWEAIT ....ccoiriiiiiiiieee ittt et e s s e e s s e e e e sree e e e snre e e s snnneeeean 28
137-047-0630 Availability of AWAIrd DECISIONS ......ccii i 28
137-047-0640 REJECION OFf AN OFf@I ... .. i 29
137-047-0650 ReJECLION OF All OFfEIS ...ttt e et e e e s bbe e e e abaeeeeans 30
137-047-0660 Cancellation of Procurement or SOICITAION ..........ocuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 30
137-047-0670 Disposition of Offers if Procurement or Solicitation Canceled.............ccccccoviiiiiiiiiiie e 30

LEGAL REMEDIES

137-047-0700 Protests and Judicial Review of Special ProCurements .........ccooooviiiiii e, 31
137-047-0710 Protests and Judicial Review of Sole-Source ProCUremMENts ..........ccceeerrreeeiiirieeesinneeeennieeeesnnneeeens 31
137-047-0720 Protests and Judicial Review of Multi-Tiered and Multistep Solicitations...........cccoccveiiiiieeiiiiiienens 32
137-047-0730 Protests and Judicial Review Of SOICItAtIONS .........c..eiiiiiiiiiiiiiie et 32
137-047-0740 Protests and Judicial Review Of CONraCt AWArd............ccueiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie et 33
137-047-0745 Protests and Judicial Review of Qualified Products List DeCISIiONS.............ccoooeeeee e, 33
137-047-0750 Judicial Review of Other VIOIAtIONS ...........cooiiiiiiiiiiieee ittt e e 34
137-047-0760 Review of Prequalification and Debarment DECISIONS .........ccocoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeee e 34
137-047-0800 Amendments to Contracts and PriCe AQrEEMENLS ........ccuuiiiiiiiiiei it stiee e stree e sbree e sneeeee e 34
137-047-0810 Termination Of PriCE& AQIEEIMENTS .......oiiiiiiiii ittt ettt ettt e e e sbb e e e snbeee e e sbbeeessbaeeeean 35



DIVISION 48

CONSULTANT SELECTION: ARCHITECTURAL, ENGINEERING, PHOTOGRAMMETRIST,
TRANSPORTATION PLANNING AND LAND SURVEYING SERVICES AND RELATED SERVICES
CONTRACTS

137-048-0100 APPHCALION .cietiieeiiiiee ettt ettt et e e e st e e e e s b et e e sk e e e e e sk e et e e aab b e e e e aabeeeeeanbbeeeeanbneeeeanbreeeean 36
137-048-0110 DEFINILIONS ...ccietieeeiiiiiie ettt e et e e st e e e e e sab e e e e aab et e e e aab b e e e e aabeeeeeanbbeeeeanbbeeeeanbnneaean 36
137-048-0120 [RESEIVEA.] ..reeureeitiieiiiie ettt e ettt s e st e et e e ekt e s s et e sh s e e e b e e bt e saE e e e asn e e nnne e e neeennneeenneennns 37

137-048-0130 Applicable Selection Procedures; Pricing Information; Disclosure of
Proposals; CONlICIS Of INTEIEST ... e e e e e s e s e e e e e e s s enba e e e e eeessannrnaaeeeeeesenanns 37

SELECTION PROCEDURES

137-048-0200 Direct APPOINtMENT PrOCEAUIE .........viiiiiiiiiee ittt ettt ettt ettt e e e st e e e e sbe e e e e sbbeeessbneeaeans 38
137-048-0210 Informal Selection PrOCEAUIE ............eiiiiiiiie ettt e et e e et e e e s sbreeeeans 39
137-048-0220 Formal SeleCtion PrOCEAUIE ...........curiiiiirieeeeieeee ettt e e s s e e s s rn e e e e snne e e s snnneeeean 41
137-048-0230 TIES AMONQ PrOPOSEIS ...ui i i e ettt e e e e e e a e e e e a e a e a e a e a e a e s aaaa e a e e a e e e e e e e e e e e aaeaeaaaas 45
137-048-0240 ProteSt PrOCEUUIES ......coiuiiiieiiiiiiee sttt e et e e st e s st e e e e san et e s sr e e e e sarne e e s snreeeeaanneeeesnnneeeean 45

137-048-0250 Solicitation Cancellation, Delay or Suspension; Rejection of All
Proposals or Responses; Consultant Responsibility for COSES........ocuviiiiiiii i 46

137-048-0260 Two-Tiered Selection Procedure when State Agency is Lead
(Ofe] g1 = odn oo [N [T o Tox PP TP PP PP 46

R 00 Dy O o 1ot o [ = T=T 1= ] £ 47

POST-SELECTION CONSIDERATIONS

137-048-0300 Prohibited Payment Methodology; Purchase ReStHCHONS ..........occuuviiiiiiiiiiiiiiee e 48
137-048-0310 Expired or Terminated Contracts; ReiNStatemMENt .............veiiiiiiiiiiiie e 48
137-048-0320 CONLraCt AMENAMIENTS ... ..uuiiiieieeeieiiiieiieeee e e eset et e e e eeessasteteeeeeaesesaasteraeereeeasaaansssereaeaesssaasnseneeaeesssanns 49

DIVISION 49

GENERAL PROVISIONS RELATED TO PUBLIC CONTRACTS FOR CONSTRUCTION SERVICES

Ry 07 e T Ol (010 Y o] ] Tox= 1 1T o PP 50
137-049-0110 POICIES ..eeeiiiittieiee ettt e e oottt et e e e e e o et e ettt e e e e e s s bbbt e et e e e e e aaanbbbeeeeaeeaesnnbnbeneeaaeaaaanns 50
137-049-0120 DEFINILIONS ...t ettt e ettt e e e e e o e s bbb ettt e e e e e o s bbbe e et e e e e e aannbbbeeeeaaeeeaannbnbneeeaaaaeaanns 50
137-049-0130 Competitive BiddiNg REGQUIFEMIENT .......ciiii ittt e e e e et b e e e e e e e e snnbebeeeaaaeaaanns 50
137-049-0140 Contracts for Construction Other than Public IMProvements ..........cccco e 50
137-049-0150 Emergency Contracts; Bidding and Bonding EXEMPLIONS..........ccoiiiiiiiiiiiieiiiiiee e 51

\"



137-049-0160 Intermediate Procurements; Competitive Quotes and AmMendments ..........occvvveeeiieeiniiiiiiieeneeeeeene 51

FORMAL PROCUREMENT RULES

137-049-0200 Solicitation Documents; Required Provisions; Assignment or Transfer..........ccccccceviiiiiiiiene e, 52
137-049-0210 Notice and Advertising RequiremMents; POSHING .......coiiiiiiiiiiiiee st e e e e e s st e e e e e e ssnrnran e e e e e e e enns 54
137-049-0220 Prequalification OF OFfEIOIS .........oi ittt ettt e et e e e st e e e e e abb e e e e sabreeeean 55
137-049-0230 Eligibility to Bid or Propose; Registration Or LICENSE ..........ccoiiiiiiiiiiiee et 55
137-049-0240 Pre-Offer CONTEIENCES ......ciiiiiiiiii ittt ettt et e e st et e e st e e e e e abaeeeeanbeeeeeaabbeeeeaabneeeean 55
137-049-0250 Addenda to SoliCitation DOCUMENTS .........ccivieirireriie et e et ne e s e nneeennes 56
137-049-0260 Request for Clarification or Change; Solicitation Protests............ccccee e, 56
137-049-0270 Cancellation of SoliCitation DOCUMENT...........ocuiiiiiiiiiee ittt e e e srre e e s snreeeeans 57
137-049-0280 Offer SUDMISSIONS .....eeeiiitiiieiiiiiie e ettt e bt e e sbe e e e sttt e e e st bt e e e aabaeeeesnbbeeeeabbeeeesnbneeaean 57
137-049-0290 Bid OF PropOSal SECUIILY ....eeiiiureieeiiiiiee ettt e ittt ettt ettt et e e s sttt e e e sabbe e e e sbeeeeesnbeeeeesabbeeeesnbneeeeans 58
137-049-0300 Facsimile Bids and PropoSalS ......cccocieioiiiiiiie ettt 59
137-049-0310 EIECIrONIC PIrOCUIEIMEINT .....eeiiiiriieeiireieeeriteeee st e e e e e e st e s ssnee e e e san e e e s aanre e e s snne e e e snrne e e e aanreeeeannnneeean 59
137-049-0320 Pre-Closing Modification or Withdrawal of Offers..........ccooooiiii i, 60
137-049-0330 Receipt, Opening and Recording of Offers; Confidentiality of Offers..........ccccoovvviiiiiiccee 60
137-049-0340 Late Bids, Late Withdrawals and Late ModifiCatioNS............cocuviiiiiiiiiiiiieeiiee e 61
137-049-0350 MISTAKES .....ceeiiutiieeiiitiie ettt ettt ettt et e e e st et e e e sa b et e e e oabe et e e aabe e e e e aa ket e e e aabbe e e e aabeeeeeanbaeeeeaabbeeeesbbeeaeans 61
137-049-0360 First-Tier Subcontractors; Disclosure and SUDSHIULION ...........c.ceoiiiiiiiiiiec e 62
137-049-0370 Disqualification Of PEISONS .......ccooiiiiie e 63
137-049-0380 Bid or Proposal EValuation CrHtEIIa.......cccieie ittt 64
137-049-0390 Offer Evaluation and Award; Determination of ReSpoNnSibility...........cccoovieiiiiiiiiiiiiiieee e 64
137-049-0395 NOtICE Of INTENTT0 AWEAIT ....cooiiiiiiiiiiiee ettt e et e e e st e e e e s bbe e e e sabaeeeeans 66
137-049-0400 Documentation of Award; Availability of Award DECISIONS ..........ccocuiiiiiiiiieiiiiiee e 66
137-049-0410 Time for Contracting Agency ACCeptance; EXIENSION .........cciiiiiiiiiiiiiiiaaa et 67
137-049-0420 Negotiation With Bidders Prohibited............oouuiiiiiiioi e 67
137-049-0430 Negotiation When Bids Exceed COSt ESHIMALE ........cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiic e 67
137-049-0440 REJECHION Of OFfEIS ....eiiiiiiiiiie ittt ettt ettt e e sttt e e e snbb e e e e anbbeeessnbaeeeeans 68
137-049-0450 Protest of Contractor Selection, CONraCt AWAId............cueieiiiiiiiiiiiiie e 69



137-049-0460 Performance and Payment SECUNILY; WAIVET .........cooui ittt e e e e e 70
137-049-0470 SUDSHLULE CONTACION ......ctvieiieeireeesiiie et ettt et ss e re e s e s bt e sare e e ssneessne e e nnneesnneeennneennns 71
137-049-0490 FOreign CONTIACTON ... ...t cuetieeieeee e e i eittie e e e e e e e e sss e e e e e eeessastataeeeeaeessaaststaeeeeeessssssesaeeeeaesesastnsnneeaeesesnnns 71

ALTERNATIVE CONTRACTING METHODS

137-049-0600 PUIMPOSE ....ciiiiiieiiiee e ettt e ettt e e e e ettt e e e e e e 1 e e ettt e e e e et e e ettt e e e e e s s e b e e ettt e e e e e sanrnnneeeaeenennes 71
137-049-0610 Definitions for Alternative Contracting MethodS ...........oociiiiiiiiiiiiii e 71
137-049-0620 Use of Alternative Contracting MetNOUS ............oeiiiiiiiiiiiiiie et 72
137-049-0630 Findings, NOtICE and HEAING .......cuvuiiiiiie et e e e e e e e e e e e e s s st e e e e e e e e snnstnreeeeaeeaeaanns 72
137-049-0640 General Alternative Contracting PrOCEAUIES .......uuiiieiiiiiiiiieiie e e e e cec e e e e e s ssrare e e e e e e e s ssrnraeeeeeeeeannns 73
137-049-0650 Requests for PropoSals (RFP) ... 74
137-049-0660 RFP Pricing MECRANISIMS ........viiiiiiiiiie ittt ettt e st e e e st e e e e sabb e e e e aabbeeeesnbneeeeans 76
137-049-0670 DeSIgN-BUIld CONIACES ......cciiiiiiiiiiiiiee ittt ettt et e e e sbe e e e e snbe e e e e sbbeeeesnbbeeeeans 77
137-049-0680 Energy Savings Performance Contracts (ESPC) ........cooouiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiec et 78
137-049-0690 Construction Manager/General Contractor (CM/GC) .....ccooeieii i 80

CONTRACT PROVISIONS

137-049-0800 Required CONLFACE ClIAUSES ......cccoieie i a e a e r e r e s e e e aeaeaeeas 80
137-049-0810 Waiver of Delay Damages Against PUDIIC POICY ...........cciiiiiiiiiiiii e 80
137-049-0815 BOLI PUDIIC WOIKS BONG ...ttt ettt e et e e e s bbe e e e sbaeeeean 80
137-049-0820 RELAINAGE ...eeevteeeeiiittieeiitteee ettt e ettt e e e s bt e e e s be e e e e sabb et e e aabe et e e aabee e e e aabbeeeeaabbeeeeaabbeeeeanbaeeeeanbbeeeesnbaeeaeans 80
137-049-0830 CoNntractor ProgreSS PAYMENTS ........couuuiiiiiiiiieiieiiiiis e s et e et ee et e s e e e s eea b s s e e e s e eeaabaneeaaeeeees 81
137-049-0840 INTEIEST . ...ueeiteeitieeiteeteete e ettt et e e te e s teesbeesheesaeesabeaa bt e be e ke e et et eb e e es s e e be e ebeesheeaRbeambeembe e beenbeeabeeenbeenneenbee e 82
137-049-0850 FINaAI INSPECTION. .......viiiiiiiiiiee ittt ettt et e ettt e e sttt e e sabe e e e e st bt e e e aabbeeeeanbbeeeeanbbeeesanbaeeaeans 82
137-049-0860 PUDIIC WOIKS CONLIACES .....eeiiiiiiiiiiiitiiee ettt ettt ettt ettt e e st e e e saba e e e e sabbee e e abbeeeeanbbeeeean 82
137-049-0870 Specifications; Brand Name ProQUCES ..........ccuuiiiiiieees e e e s st er e e e s s ssieeeeea e e e s s snnnnneeeeeeesennns 83
137-049-0880 Records Maintenance; Right t0 AUdit RECOITS .......cooiiiiiiiiiiiiie e 83
137-049-0890 Contracting Agency Payment for Unpaid Labor or SUPPIIES .......cccuuiiiiiiiiiiiie e 84
137-049-0900 Contract Suspension; Termination ProCEAUIES.........ooii ittt e e e e 84
137-049-0910 Changes to the Work and Contract AMENAMENTS..........c.uuviiiieeeii e e e e e s er e e e e e ennes 84

vi



CLASS EXEMPTIONS

E-1 Purpose and StatUtOry AULNOTIEY .........eeiiiiiiiiiiiiiie et e e e e e e s e s e e e e e e s ssntrre e e e e e e s e ssnnnnaneeeaeanaanns 86
S o AV 4 ] g To [ O] ] = Tox £ U PP O PP PPPPPPPPPPPP 86
E-3 Equipment Repair and OVEINAUI ..........oouiiiiiiiie ettt e et e e e bb e e e sbbeeaean 86
E-4 Contracts for Price ReQUIALED ITEIMIS ... ...iiiiiiiiii ittt et e e e st e e s st e e e e sbneeaeans 86
| I OT0] o) VA qTo [ 1 (=0 N1V F= 1 1= =1 SRR PEERRR 86
E-6 INVESIMENT CONIIACES........uiiiiiiiiiiiiii e e e r e r e e s s e e e e a e e e s e naes 86
| = =T 01T =T g =T ) ST O 0] g1 = o3 £ SRR PESRR 86
E-8 OffiCe COPIEI PUICRASES ...ttt ettt ettt sttt e e st bt e e e sabe e e e e snbb e e e e anbbeeeesnbneeeeans 87
E-9 Manufacturer DIFECE SUPPIIES ....ceeiiuiieeeiiiiiie ettt ettt et e e sttt e e st bt e e e sabb e e e e abbeeeeebbeeeesbbeeaean 87
E-10 Gasoline, Diesel Fuel, Heating Oil, Lubricants and Asphalt.............cccoooiiiii i, 87
E-11 Hazardous Material Removal; Oil CIEANUP ......ccooiiiie it 87
E-12 Insurance, EMPIOYEE BENETIL ... —— 87
E-13 Medical and Laboratory SUPPHES .......oouiiiiiiiiiee ittt et e st e e e sabe e e e e sbbe e e e sbbeeeeans 88
E-14 CONCESSION AGIEEIMEIES ....uitiieeiiiteeee ettt e e ettt e e st et e e e sttt e e e s bee e e e aabe e e e e aabee e e e aabe e e e e aabeeeeeaabeeeeeanbneeeeanbbeeessnbeeeaeans 88

USED PERSONAL PROPERTY

E-15 Used Personal Property, PUICHASE Of ......cccoo oot 88
E-16 Surplus Personal Property, DISPOSItION OF .......cccoiiiiiiiiii e 89
PERSONAL SERVICES

E-17 Personal Services for Other than Architect, Engineer, Photogrammetrist, Transportation Planner
AN LANA SUINVEYING SEIVICES .....ceiiiiiieii ittt ettt et e ettt et et e e e s bb e e e e sbe e e e e aabb e e e e anbbeeeeabbeeeeaabneeaean 89

E-18 Liability INSUFANCE COMNIFACES ....cciiutriiiiiiiieeiiiteie ettt e ettt e et e e st e e e e sabe e e e sttt e e e sabb e e e e aabbeeeeabbeeeeabbeeeeanbbeeaean 90

Vii



PUBLIC CONTRACTING RULES 2023
DIVISION 46

GENERAL PROVISIONS RELATED TO PUBLIC CONTRACTING

137-046-0100

Application; Federal Law Supremacy

(1) These Public Contracting Rules (Rules) set forth the rules of procedure for Public Contracting of
Contracting Agencies subject to these Rules. These Rules consist of the following four divisions:

(a) This division 46, which is applicable to all Public Contracting;

(b) Division 47, which describes procedures for Public Contracting for Goods or Services, as defined in ORS
279B.005;

(c) Division 48, which describes procedures for Public Contracting for Architectural, Engineering and Land
Surveying Services and Related Services; and

(d) Division 49, which describes procedures for Public Contracting for Construction Services.

(2) In the event of conflict between rules in this division 46 and rules in divisions 47, 48 and 49, the rules in
divisions 47, 48 and 49 take precedence over the rules in this division 46.

(3) Except as otherwise expressly provided in ORS 279C.800 through ORS 279C.870, and notwithstanding
ORS chapters 279A, 279B, and ORS 279C.005 through 279C.670, applicable federal statutes and
regulations govern when federal funds are involved and the federal statutes or regulations conflict with any
provision of ORS chapters 279A, 279B, and ORS 279C.005 through 279C.670 or these rules, or require
additional conditions in Public Contracts not authorized by ORS chapters 279A, 279B, and ORS 279C.005
through 279C.670 or these Rules.

(4) These division 46 rules become effective upon adoption, and apply to Public Contracts first advertised,
but if not advertised then entered into, on or after that date.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.030 & ORS 279A.065

137-046-0110

Definitions for the Rules

Unless the context of a specifically applicable definition in the Code requires otherwise, capitalized terms
used in the Rules will have the meaning set forth in the division of the Rules in which they appear, and if not
defined there, the meaning set forth in these division 46 rules, and if not defined there, the meaning set forth
in the Code. The following terms, when capitalized in these Rules, shall have the meaning set forth below:
(1) “Addendum” or “Addenda” means an addition or deletion to, a material change in, or general interest
explanation of a Solicitation Document.

(2) “Award” means, as the context requires, either the act or occurrence of the Contracting Agency’s
identification of the Person with whom the Contracting Agency will enter into a Contract following the
resolution of any protest of the Contracting Agency’s selection of that Person, and the completion of all
Contract negotiations.

(3) “Bid” means a written response to an Invitation to Bid.

(4) “Closing” means the date and time announced in a Solicitation Document as the deadline for submitting
Offers.

(5) “Code” means the Public Contracting Code, as defined in ORS 279A.010.

(6) “Competitive Range” means the Proposers with whom the Contracting Agency will conduct discussions
or negotiations if the Contracting Agency intends to conduct discussions or negotiations in accordance with
Rules 137-047-0262 or 137-049-0650.

(7) “Contract” means a contract for sale or other disposal, or a purchase, lease, or other acquisition, by a
Contracting Agency of personal property, services, including personal services, public improvements, public
works, minor alterations, or ordinary repair or maintenance necessary to preserve a public improvement.
“Contract” does not include grants.

(8) “Contract Price” means, as the context requires, the maximum monetary obligation that a Contracting
Agency either will or may incur under a Contract, including bonuses, incentives and contingency amounts, if
the Contractor fully performs under the Contract.

(9) “Contracting Agency” means a public body authorized by law to conduct a procurement. “Contracting
Agency” includes any person authorized by a Contracting Agency to conduct procurements on the
Contracting Agency’s behalf.

(10) “Contract Review Authority” means the Local Contracting Agency's Local Contract Review Board
determined as set forth in ORS 279A.060.



(11) “Contractor” means the Person with whom a Contracting Agency enters into a Contract.

(12) “DBE Disqualification” means a disqualification, suspension or debarment pursuant to ORS 200.065,
200.075 or 279A.110.

(13) “Descriptive Literature” means the Offeror's materials submitted to provide information concerning the
products or services available in response to a Solicitation Document.

(14) “Electronic Advertisement” means notice of a Contracting Agency’s request for Offers, request for
quotes, request for information or other document inviting participation in the Contracting Agency’s
Procurements available over the Internet via (a) the World Wide Web or some other Internet protocol; or (b)
a Contracting Agency’s Electronic Procurement System. An Electronic Advertisement may include a
Solicitation Document.

(15) “Electronic Offer” means a response to a Contracting Agency’s request for Offers or request for quotes
submitted to a Contracting Agency via email or through the Contracting Agency’s Electronic Procurement
System.

(16) “Electronic Procurement System” means an information system that Persons may access through the
Internet, using the World Wide Web or some other Internet protocol, or that Persons may otherwise remotely
access using a computer, that enables a Contracting Agency to post Electronic Advertisements, receive
Electronic Offers, and conduct other activities related to a Procurement.

(17) “Goods and Services” or “Goods or Services” has the meaning set forth in ORS 279A.010(1)(j).

(18) “Invitation to Bid” or “ITB” means all documents used for soliciting Bids in accordance with either ORS
279B.055, or 279C.335.

(19) “Offer” means a written response to a Solicitation Document.

(20) “Offeror” means a Person who submits an Offer.

(21) “Opening” means the date, time and place announced in the Solicitation Document for the public
opening of Written sealed Offers.

(22) “Person” means an individual, corporation, business trust, estate, trust, partnership, limited liability
company, association, joint venture, governmental agency, public corporation or any other legal or
commercial entity that has the legal capacity to enter into a contract.

(23) “Personal Services” means the services or type of services performed under a Personal Services
Contract.

(24) “Personal Services Contract” or “Contract for Personal Services” means a contract primarily for the
provision of services that require specialized technical, creative, professional, or communication skills or
talents, unique and specialized knowledge, or the exercise of discretionary judgment skills, and for which the
quality of the service depends on attributes that are unique to the service provider. Such services include,
but are not limited to, the services of architects, engineers, auditors and other licensed professionals, artists,
designers, computer programmers, performers, consultants and property managers, unless specifically
exempt from the Code. For any single contract or class of contracts, the Contracting Agency shall have the
discretion to determine whether additional types of services not specifically mentioned in this definition are
personal services.

(25) “Product Sample” means a representative specimen of the item offered by the Offeror in response to
the Solicitation Document. Unless otherwise provided in the Solicitation Document, the Product Sample shall
be the exact product or a representative portion of that product offered by the Offeror.

(26) “Proposal” means a written response to a Request for Proposals.

(27) “Request for Proposals” or “RFP” means all documents used for soliciting Proposals in accordance
with ORS.279B.060, 279C.110 or Rule 137-049-0650.

(28) “Responsible Offeror” (also, “Responsible Bidder” or “Responsible Proposer,” as applicable)
means a Person that has submitted an Offer and meets the standards set forth in Rules 137-047-0640 or
137-049-0390(2), and that has not been debarred or disqualified by the Contracting Agency under Rules
137-047-0575 or 137-049-0370. When used alone, “Responsible” means meeting the aforementioned
standards.

(29) “Responsive Offer” (also, “Responsive Bid” or “Responsive Proposal,” as applicable) means an
Offer that substantially complies in all material respects with applicable solicitation requirements. When used
alone, “Responsive” means having the characteristic of substantially complying in all material respects with
applicable solicitation requirements.

(30) “Signed” or “Signature” means any mark, word or symbol attached to or logically associated with a
document and executed or adopted by a Person with the intent to be bound.

(31) “Solicitation Document” means an Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals or other document issued
to invite Offers from prospective Contractors pursuant to ORS Chapter 279B or ORS Chapter 279C.

(32) “Specification” means any description of the physical or functional characteristics, or of the nature of a
supply, service or construction item, including any requirement for inspecting, testing or preparing a supply,
service or construction item for delivery and the quantities or qualities of materials to be furnished under a
Contract. Specifications generally will state the result to be obtained and may, on occasion, describe the
method and manner of doing the Work to be performed.



(33) “Work” means the furnishing of all materials, equipment, labor and incidentals necessary to
successfully complete any individual item in a Contract and successful completion of all duties and
obligations imposed by the Contract.

(34) “Written” or “Writing” means conventional paper documents, whether handwritten, typewritten or
printed, in contrast to spoken words. It also includes electronic transmissions or facsimile documents when
required by applicable law or permitted by a Solicitation Document or Contract.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065

137-046-0120

Policy

Contracting Agencies subject to the Code shall conduct Public Contracting to further the policies set forth in
ORS 279A.015, elsewhere in the Code, and in these Rules.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.015 & ORS 279A.065

137-046-0130

Application of the Code and Rules; Exceptions

(1) Except as set forth in this section, a Contracting Agency shall exercise all rights, powers and authority
related to Public Contracting in accordance with the Code and these Rules.

(2) Neither the Code nor these Rules apply to the contracts or the classes of contracts described in ORS
279A.025(2).

(3) Contracting Agencies otherwise subject to the Code and these Rules may enter into Public Contracts
under a federal program pursuant to ORS 279A.180 without following the procedures set forth in ORS
279B.050 through ORS 279B.085.

(4) Contracting Agencies otherwise subject to the Code and these Rules may enter into contracts for Goods
or Services with non-profit agencies providing employment opportunities for disabled individuals pursuant to
ORS 279.835 through 279.855 without following the source selection procedures set forth in either ORS
279A.200 through ORS 279A.225, or ORS 279B.050 through ORS 279B.085. However, Contracting
Agencies must enter into such contracts in accordance with any applicable administrative rules promulgated
by the Department of Administrative Services.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.050, ORS 279A.055, ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279A.180

MINORITIES, WOMEN AND EMERGING SMALL BUSINESSES

137-046-0200

Affirmative Action; Limited Competition Permitted

(1) Pursuant to ORS 279A.100, a Contracting Agency may limit competition on Public Contracts for Goods
and Services, or on other Public Contracts with an estimated cost of $50,000 or less to carry out affirmative
action policies, in accordance with policies and procedures established by the Public Contracting Agency.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279A.100

137-046-0210

Subcontracting to and Contracting with Emerging Small Businesses; DBE Disqualification

(1) As set forth in ORS 279A.105, a Contracting Agency may require a contractor to subcontract some part
of a Contract to, or to obtain materials to be used in performing the Contract from:

(a) A business enterprise that is certified under ORS 200.055 as an emerging small business; or

(b) A business enterprise that is:

(A) Certified under ORS 200.055 as an emerging small business; and

(B) Is located in or draws its workforce from economically distressed areas, as designated by the Oregon
Economic and Community Development Department.

(2) A subcontractor certified under ORS 200.055 as an emerging small business is located in or draws its
workforce from economically distressed areas if:



(a) Its principal place of business is located in an area designated as economically distressed by the Oregon
Economic and Community Development Department pursuant to administrative rules adopted by the
Oregon Economic and Community Development Department; or

(b) The contractor certifies in writing to the Contracting Agency that a substantial number of the
subcontractor’'s employees or subcontractors that will manufacture the goods or complete the services under
the contract reside in an area designated as economically distressed by the Oregon Economic and
Community Development Department pursuant to administrative rules adopted by the Oregon Economic
and Community Development Department. For the purposes of making the foregoing determination, the
Contracting Agency shall determine in each particular instance what proportion of a contractor’s
subcontractor’s employees or subcontractors constitute a substantial number.

(3) Contracting Agencies shall include in each Solicitation Document a requirement that Offerors certify in
their Offers in a form prescribed by the Contracting Agency, that the Offeror has not discriminated and will
not discriminate against a subcontractor in the awarding of a subcontract because the subcontractor is
certified under ORS 200.055 as a disadvantaged business enterprise, a minority-owned business, a woman-
owned business, an emerging small business, or a business that a veteran, as defined in ORS 200.005,
owns.

(4) DBE Disqualification.

(a) A Contracting Agency may disqualify a Person from consideration of Award of the Contracting Agency's
Contracts under ORS 200.065(5), or suspend a Person’s right to bid on or participate in any public contract
pursuant to ORS 200.075(1) after providing the Person with notice and a reasonable opportunity to be heard
in accordance with sections (d) and (e) of this section.

(b) The Contracting Agency shall provide Written notice to the Person of a proposed Disqualification. The
Contracting Agency shall deliver the Written notice by personal service or by registered or certified mail,
return receipt requested. This notice shall:

(A) State that the Contracting Agency intends to disqualify or suspend the Person;

(B) Set forth the reasons for the DBE Disqualification;

(C) Include a statement of the Person's right to a hearing if requested in Writing within the time stated in the
notice and that if the Contracting Agency does not receive the Person's Written request for a hearing within
the time stated, the Person shall have waived its right to a hearing;

(D) Include a statement of the authority and jurisdiction under which the hearing will be held;

(E) Include a reference to the particular sections of the statutes and rules involved;

(F) State the proposed DBE Disqualification period; and

(G) State that the Person may be represented by legal counsel.

(c) Hearing. The Contracting Agency shall schedule a hearing upon the Contracting Agency’s receipt of the
Person's timely request. The Contracting Agency shall notify the Person of the time and place of the hearing
and provide information on the procedures, right of representation and other rights related to the conduct of
the hearing prior to hearing.

(d) Notice of Disqualification. The Contracting Agency shall provide Written notice of the Disqualification to
the Person. The Contracting Agency shall deliver the Written notice by personal service, or by registered or
certified malil, return receipt requested. The notice shall contain:

(A) The effective date and period of DBE Disqualification;

(B) The grounds for DBE Disqualification; and

(C) A statement of the Person's appeal rights and applicable appeal deadlines.

(5) Contract and Subcontract Conditions. If a Contracting Agency awards a Contract to an Offeror that
has been determined to be responsible under ORS 200.005(8) and 200.045(3), or awards a Contract under
ORS 279A.100:

(a) The Contracting Agency must provide, as a material condition of the Contract:

(A) That the Contractor must maintain its certification under ORS 200.055 throughout the term of the
Contract and any extensions (if the Contracting Agency used the certification as a factor in or as a basis for
the Award of the Contract);

(B) That the Contractor must promptly pay each subcontractor that is certified under ORS 200.055 in
accordance with ORS 279B.220, or 279C.570 and ORS 279C.580, whichever apply to the Contract;

(C) That the Contractor must include, in any subcontract the Contractor establishes in connection with the
Contract, a provision that requires the subcontractor to maintain the subcontractor’s certification under ORS
200.055 throughout the term of the subcontract and any extensions (if the Contractor used the certification
as a factor in or as a basis for the Award of the subcontract);

(D) That the Contracting Agency may require the Contractor to terminate a subcontract with a subcontractor
that fails to maintain its certification under ORS 200.055 throughout the term of the subcontract and any
extensions.

(b) In the administration of Contracts that are subject to section (5) of this rule, the Contracting Agency must
verify the Contractor’s and any subcontractor’s compliance with subsection (5)(a) of this rule.




(c) Subparagraph (5)(a)(A) of this section does not apply to an emerging small business that ceases to
qualify as a tier one firm or a tier two firm (as ORS 200.005 defines those terms) due to the growth in the
business’s number of full-time equivalent employees or in average annual gross receipts during the term of
the Contract. This section (5) does not apply to an emerging small business for which a certification under
ORS 200.055 expires during the term of the Contract or any extensions.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 200.065, ORS 200.075, ORS 279A.065, ORS 279A.105, ORS 279A.107 &
ORS 279A.110

CONTRACT PREFERENCES

137-046-0300

Preference for Oregon Goods and Services; Nonresident Bidders

(1) Award When Offers Identical. When a Contracting Agency receives Offers identical in price, fitness,
availability and quality, and chooses to award a Contract, the Contracting Agency shall award the Contract
based on the following order of precedence:

(a) The Agency shall award the Contract to the Offeror among those submitting identical offers that is
offering Goods or Services or Personal Services that have been manufactured or produced in Oregon.

(b) If two or more Offerors submit identical Offers, and both offer Goods or Services or Personal Services
manufactured or produced in Oregon, the Contracting Agency shall award the Contract by drawing lots
among the identical Offers offering Goods or Services or Personal Services that have been manufactured or
produced in Oregon. The Offerors that submitted the identical Offers subject to the drawing of lots shall be
given notice and an opportunity to be present when the lots are drawn.

(c) If the Contracting Agency receives identical Offers, and none of the identical Offers offer Goods or
Services or Personal Services manufactured or produced in Oregon, then the Contracting Agency shall
award the Contract by drawing lots among the identical Offers. The Offerors that submitted the identical
Offers subject to the drawing of lots shall be given notice and an opportunity to be present when the lots are
drawn.

(2) Determining if Offers are Identical. A Contracting Agency shall consider Offers identical in price,
fitness, availability and quality as follows:

(a) Bids received in response to an Invitation to Bid are identical in price, fitness, availability and quality if the
Bids are Responsive, and offer the Goods or Services or Personal Services described in the Invitation to Bid
at the same price.

(b) Proposals received in response to a Request for Proposals are identical in price, fithess, availability and
quality if they are Responsive and achieve equal scores when scored in accordance with the evaluation
criteria set forth in the Request for Proposals.

(c) Proposals received in response to a Special Procurement conducted pursuant to ORS 279B.085 are
identical in price, fithess, availability and quality if, after completing the contracting procedure approved by
the Contract Review Authority, the Contracting Agency determines, in writing, that two or more Proposals
are equally advantageous to the Contracting Agency.

(d) Offers received in response to an intermediate Procurement conducted pursuant to ORS 279B.070 are
identical if the Offers equally best serve the interests of the Contracting Agency in accordance with ORS
279B.070(4).

(3) Determining if Goods or Services or Personal Services are Manufactured or Produced in Oregon.
For the purposes of complying with section 1 of this Rule, Contracting Agencies may request, either in a
Solicitation Document, following Closing, or at any other time determined appropriate by the Contracting
Agency, any information the Contracting Agency determines is appropriate and necessary to allow the
Contracting Agency to determine if the Goods or Services or Personal Services are manufactured or
produced in Oregon. A Contracting Agency may use any reasonable criteria to determine if Goods or
Services or Personal Services are manufactured or produced in Oregon, provided that the criteria
reasonably relate to that determination, and provided that the Contracting Agency applies those criteria
equally to each Bidder or Proposer.

(4) Procedure for Drawing Lots. In any instance when this Section calls for the drawing of lots, the
Contracting Agency shall draw lots by a procedure that affords each Offeror subject to the drawing a
substantially equal probability of being selected, and that does not allow the person making the selection the
opportunity to manipulate the drawing of lots to increase the probability of selecting one Offeror over
another.

(5) Discretionary Preference and Award.

(a) Under ORS 279A.128, a Contracting Agency may provide, in a Solicitation Document for Goods,
Services or Personal Services, a specified percentage preference of not more than: (i) ten percent for



Goods fabricated or processed entirely in Oregon or Services or Personal Services performed entirely in
Oregon; or (ii) five percent for Goods or Services provided by a benefit company that is incorporated,
organized, formed or created under ORS 60.754, that submits with a bid or proposal a certificate of
existence issued under ORS 60.027 and has the majority of the benefit company’s regular, full-time
workforce located in Oregon at the time the benefit company submits the bid or proposal.

(b) When the Contracting Agency provides for a preference under this Section, and more than one Offeror
qualifies for the preference, the Contracting Agency may give a further preference to a qualifying Offeror that
resides in or is headquartered in Oregon.

(c) A Contracting Agency may establish a preference percentage higher than the percentages authorized in
(5)(a) of this Rule by written order that finds good cause to establish the higher percentage and which
explains the Contracting Agency’s reasons and evidence for finding good cause to establish a higher
percentage and which explains the Contracting Agency’s reasons and evidence for finding good cause to
establish a higher percentage.

(d) The Contracting Agency may not apply the preferences described in this Section in a Procurement for
emergency work, minor alterations, ordinary repairs or maintenance of public improvements, or construction
work that is described in ORS 297C.320.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279A.128
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065, ORS 279A.120 & ORS 279A.128

137-046-0310

Reciprocal Preferences

(1) When evaluating Bids pursuant to Rules 137-047-0255, 137-047-0257 or 137-049-0390, Contracting
Agencies shall add a percentage increase to the Bid of a Nonresident Bidder equal to the percentage, if any,
of the preference that would be given to that Bidder in the state in which the Bidder resides. A Contracting
Agency may rely on the list prepared and maintained by the Department of Administrative Services pursuant
to ORS 279A.120(4) to determine both (i) whether the Nonresident Bidder's state gives preference to in-
state bidders, and (ii) the amount of such preference.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279A.120

137-046-0320

Preference for Recycled Materials

(1) In comparing goods from two or more Offerors, if at least one Offeror offers goods manufactured from
recycled materials, and at least one Offeror does not, a Contracting Agency shall select the Offeror offering
goods manufactured from recycled materials if each of the conditions specified in ORS 279A.125(2) exists.
When making the determination under ORS 279A.125(2)(d), the Contracting Agency shall consider the
costs of the goods following any adjustments the Contracting Agency makes to the price of the goods after
evaluation pursuant to Rule 137-046-0310.

(2) For the purposes of this Section, a Contracting Agency shall determine if goods are manufactured from
recycled materials in accordance with standards established by the Contracting Agency.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279A.125

COOPERATIVE PROCUREMENT

137-046-0400

Authority for Cooperative Procurements

(1) Contracting Agencies may participate in, sponsor, conduct or administer Joint Cooperative
Procurements, Permissive Cooperative Procurements and Interstate Cooperative Procurements in
accordance with ORS 279A.200 through 279A.225.

(2) Each Purchasing Contracting Agency shall determine, in Writing, whether the solicitation and award
process for an Original Contract arising out of a Cooperative Procurement is substantially equivalent to
those identified in ORS 279B.055, ORS 279B.060 or ORS 279B.085 consistent with ORS 279A.200(2).

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279A.205



137-046-0410

Responsibilities of Administering Contracting Agencies and Purchasing Contracting Agencies

(1) If a Contracting Agency is an Administering Contracting Agency of a Cooperative Procurement, the
Contracting Agency may establish the conditions under which Persons may participate in the Cooperative
Procurements administered by the Administering Contracting Agency. Such conditions may include, without
limitation, whether each Person that participates in the Cooperative Procurement must pay administrative
fees to the Administering Contracting Agency, whether the participants must enter into a written agreement
with the Administering Contracting Agency, or any other matters related to the administration of the
Cooperative Procurement and the resulting Original Contract. A Contracting Agency that acts as an
Administering Contracting Agency may, but is not required to, include provisions in the Solicitation
Document for a Cooperative Procurement or advertise the Solicitation Document in a manner to assist
Purchasing Contracting Agencies’ compliance with the Code or these Rules.

(2) If a Contracting Agency, acting as a Purchasing Contracting Agency, enters into a Contract or Price
Agreement based on a Cooperative Procurement, the Contracting Agency shall comply with the Code and
these Rules, including without limitation those sections of the Code and these Rules that govern:

(a) The extent to which the Purchasing Contracting Agency may participate in the Cooperative Procurement,
(b) The advertisement of the solicitation document related to the Cooperative Procurement, and

(c) Public notice of the Purchasing Contracting Agency’s intent to establish Contracts or Price Agreements
based on a Cooperative Procurement.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279A.205

137-046-0420

Joint Cooperative Procurements

A Contracting Agency that chooses to participate in, sponsor, conduct or administer a Joint Cooperative
Procurement may do so only in accordance with ORS 279A.210.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279A.210

137-046-0430

Permissive Cooperative Procurements

A Contracting Agency that chooses to participate in, sponsor, conduct or administer a Permissive
Cooperative Procurement may do so only in accordance with ORS 279A.215.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279A.215

137-046-0440

Advertisements of Intent to Establish Contracts or Price Agreements through a Permissive
Cooperative Procurement

(1) A Purchasing Contracting Agency that wishes to enter into a Contract or Price Agreement arising out of a
Permissive Cooperative Procurement must publish notice of its intent to do so if the Purchasing Contracting
Agency estimates that it will spend in excess of $250,000 on Goods and Services or Personal Services
acquired under the Contract or Price Agreement.

(2) For purposes of determining whether a Purchasing Contracting Agency must give the notice required by
Rule 137-046-0440(1), a Purchasing Contracting Agency will spend in excess of $250,000 for Goods and
Services acquired under a Contract or Price Agreement arising out of a Permissive Cooperative
Procurement if:

(a) The Purchasing Contracting Agency’s Contract or Price Agreement arising out of the Permissive
Cooperative Procurement expressly provides that the Purchasing Contracting Agency will make payments
over the term of the Contract or Price Agreement that will, in aggregate, exceed $250,000, whether or not
the total amount or value of the payments is expressly stated;

(b) The Purchasing Contracting Agency’s Contract or Price Agreement arising out of the Permissive
Cooperative Procurement expressly provides for a guaranteed maximum price, or a maximum not to exceed
amount in excess of $250,000; or

(c) At the time the Purchasing Contracting Agency enters into the Contract or Price Agreement, the
Purchasing Contracting Agency reasonably contemplates, based on historical or other data available to the
Purchasing Contracting Agency, that the total payments it will make for Goods or Services or Personal
Services under the Contract or Price Agreement will, in aggregate, exceed $250,000 over the anticipated
duration of the Contract or Price Agreement.



(3) The notice of intent required by Rule 137-046-0440(1) shall contain the information required by ORS
279A.215(2)(b), and Agency shall advertise the notice in the same manner as provided in ORS
279B.055(4)(b) and (c). Unless the Purchasing Contracting Agency sets forth a different time period in the
notice, the Purchasing Contracting Agency shall give the notice required by this Section no fewer than 7
days before the deadline for submitting comments regarding the Purchasing Contracting Agency’s intent to
establish a Contract or Price Agreement through a Permissive Cooperative Procurement.

(4) An Administering Contracting Agency that intends to establish a Contract or Price Agreement arising out
of the Permissive Cooperative Procurement it administers may satisfy the notice requirements set forth in
Rules 137-046-0440(1) and (3) by including the information required by ORS 279A.215(2)(b) in the
Solicitation Document related to the Permissive Cooperative Procurement, and including instructions in the
Solicitation Document to potential Offerors describing how they may submit comments in response to the
Administering Contracting Agency’s intent to establish a Contract or Price Agreement through the
Permissive Cooperative Procurement. The content and timing of such notice shall comply in all respects with
ORS 279A.215(2), ORS 279A.215(3) and these Rules.

(5) The Purchasing Contracting Agency shall respond to any comments on its intent to establish a Contract
or Price Agreement through a Permissive Cooperative Procurement as set forth in ORS 279A.215(3)(c).

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279A.215

137-046-0450

Interstate Cooperative Procurements

A Contracting Agency that chooses to participate in, sponsor, conduct or administer an Interstate
Cooperative Procurement may do so only in accordance with ORS 279A.220.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279A.220

137-046-0460

Advertisements of Interstate Cooperative Procurements

(1) The Solicitation Document for an Interstate Cooperative Procurement is advertised in Oregon for
purposes of ORS 279A.220(2)(a) if it is advertised in Oregon in compliance with ORS 279B.055(4) or ORS
279B.060(4) by:

(a) The Administering Contracting Agency;

(b) The Purchasing Contracting Agency;

(c) The Cooperative Procurement Group, or a member of the Cooperative Procurement Group, of which the
Purchasing Contracting Agency is a member; or

(d) Another Purchasing Contracting Agency that is subject to the Code, so long as such advertisement
would, if given by the Purchasing Contracting Agency, comply with ORS 279B.055(4) or ORS 279B.060(4)
with respect to the Purchasing Contracting Agency; or

(2) A Purchasing Contracting Agency or the Cooperative Procurement Group of which the Purchasing
Contracting Agency is a member satisfies the advertisement requirement under ORS 279A.220(2)(b) if the
notice is advertised in the same manner as provided in 279B.055(4)(b) and (c).

(3) The Purchasing Contracting Agency shall respond to any comments on its intent to establish a contract
or price agreement through an Interstate Cooperative Procurement as set forth in ORS 279A.220(3)(c).

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279A.220

137-046-0470

Protests and Disputes

(1) If a bidder or proposer wishes to protest the procurement process, the contents of a solicitation
document related to a Cooperative Procurement, or the award or proposed award of an Original Contract,
the bidder or proposer shall direct the protest to the Administering Contracting Agency, and the bidder or
proposer shall make such protest in accordance with ORS 279B.400 through ORS 279B.425. If the
Administering Contracting Agency is not subject to the Code, then bidders or proposers shall make such
protests in accordance with the processes and procedures established by the Administering Contracting
Agency.

(2) The failure of a Purchasing Contracting Agency to exercise any rights or remedies it has under a
Contract or Price Agreement entered into through a Cooperative Procurement shall not affect the rights or
remedies of any other Contracting Agency that participates in the Cooperative Procurement, including the
Administering Contracting Agency, and shall not prevent any other Purchasing Contracting Agency from



exercising any rights or seeking any remedies that may be available to it under its own Contract or Price
Agreement arising out of the Cooperative Procurement.

(3) Any other protests related to a Cooperative Procurement, or disputes related to a Contract or Price
Agreement arising out of a Cooperative Procurement, shall be made and resolved as set forth in ORS
279A.225.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279A.225

137-046-0480

Contract Amendments

A purchasing Contracting Agency may amend a Contract entered into pursuant to a Cooperative
Procurement as set forth in Rule 137-047-0800 for Goods and Service Contracts and Rule 137-049-0910 for
Public Improvement Contracts.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065



PUBLIC CONTRACTING RULES 2023
DIVISION 47

PUBLIC PROCUREMENTS FOR GOODS OR SERVICES
GENERAL PROVISIONS

137-047-0100

Application

These division 47 rules implement ORS chapter 279B, Public Procurements and apply to the Procurement
of Goods or Services. These division 47 rules become effective upon adoption, and apply to Contracts first
advertised, but if not advertised then entered into, on or after that date.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.015

137-047-0110

Definitions

(1) “Advantageous” means in the Contracting Agency's best interests, as assessed according to the
judgment of the Contracting Agency.

(2) “Affected Person” or “Affected Offeror” means a Person whose ability to participate in a Procurement is
adversely affected by a Contracting Agency decision. See ORS 279B.410.

(3) “Scope” means the range and attributes of the Goods or Services described in the applicable
Procurement document.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065

SOURCE SELECTION

137-047-0250

Methods of Source Selection

Except as permitted by ORS 279B.065 through 279B.085 and ORS 279A.200 through 279A.225, a
Contracting Agency shall Award a Public Contract for Goods or Services based on Offers received in
response to either competitive sealed Bids pursuant to ORS 279B.055 or competitive sealed Proposals
pursuant to ORS 279B.060

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.050

137-047-0255

Competitive Sealed Bidding

(1) Generally. A Contracting Agency may procure Goods or Services by competitive sealed bidding as set
forth in ORS 279B.055. An Invitation to Bid is used to initiate a competitive sealed bidding solicitation and
shall contain the information required by ORS 279B.055(2) and by section 2 of this rule. The Contracting
Agency shall provide public notice of the competitive sealed bidding solicitation as set forth in 137-047-0300.
(2) Invitation to Bid. In addition to the provisions required by ORS 279B.055(2), the Invitation to Bid shall
include the following:

(a) General Information.

(A) Notice of any pre-Offer conference as follows:

(i) The time, date and location of any pre-Offer conference;

(ii) Whether attendance at the conference will be mandatory or voluntary; and

(iii) A provision that provides that statements made by the Contracting Agency’s representatives at the
conference are not binding upon the Contracting Agency unless confirmed by Written Addendum.

(B) The form and instructions for submission of Bids and any other special information, e.g., whether Bids
may be submitted by electronic means (See Rule 137-047-0330 for required provisions of electronic Bids);
(C) The time, date and place of Opening;

(D) The office where the Solicitation Document may be reviewed;

10



(E) A statement that each Bidder must identify whether the Bidder is a “resident Bidder,” as defined in ORS
279A.120(1);

(F) Bidder’s certification of nondiscrimination in obtaining required subcontractors in accordance with ORS
279A.110(4). (See Rule 137-046-0210(3));

(G) How the Contracting Agency will notify Bidders of Addenda and how the Contracting Agency will make
Addenda available (See Rule 137-047-0430);

(b) Contracting Agency Need. The character of the Goods or Services the Contracting Agency is purchasing
including, if applicable, a description of the acquisition, Specifications, delivery or performance schedule,
inspection and acceptance requirements. Pursuant to ORS 279B.055, the Contracting Agency’s description
of its need to purchase must:

(A) Identify the scope of the work to be performed under the resulting Contract, if the Contracting Agency
awards one;

(B) Outline the anticipated duties of the Contractor under any resulting Contract;

(C) Establish the expectations for the Contractor’s performance of any resulting Contract; and

(D) Unless the Contracting Agency for good cause specifies otherwise, the scope of work must require the
Contractor to meet the highest standards prevalent in the industry or business most closely involved in
providing the goods or services that the Contracting Agency is purchasing.

(c) Bidding and Evaluation Process.

(A) The anticipated solicitation schedule, deadlines, protest process, and evaluation process;

(B) The Contracting Agency shall set forth objective evaluation criteria in the Solicitation Document in
accordance with the requirements of ORS 279B.055(6)(a). Evaluation criteria need not be precise
predictors of actual future costs, but to the extent possible, such evaluation factors shall be reasonable
estimates of actual future costs based on information the Contracting Agency has available concerning
future use; and

(C) If the Contracting Agency intends to Award Contracts to more than one Bidder pursuant to Rule 137-
047-0600(4)(c), the Contracting Agency shall identify in the Solicitation Document the manner in which it will
determine the number of Contracts it will Award.

(d) Applicable preferences pursuant to ORS 279B.055(6)(b).

(e) Contractor's certification of compliance with the Oregon tax laws in accordance with ORS 305.385 and
ORS 279B.110(2)(e). See, Rule 137-047-0640(1)(c)(F)(v).

(f) All Contract terms and conditions, including a provision indicating whether the Contractor can assign the
Contract, delegate its duties, or subcontract the delivery of the Goods or Services without prior written
approval from the Contracting Agency. Pursuant to ORS 279B.055, the Contract terms and conditions must
specify the consequences of the Contractor’s failure to perform the scope of work or to meet the
performance standards established by the resulting Contract. Those consequences may include, but are
not limited to:

(A) The Contracting Agency’s reduction or withholding of payment under the Contract;

(B) The Contracting Agency’s right to require the Contractor to perform, at the Contractor’'s expense, any
additional work necessary to perform the statement of work or to meet the performance standards
established by the resulting Contract; and

(C) The Contracting Agency’s rights, which the Contracting Agency may assert individually or in
combination, to declare a default of the resulting Contract, to terminate the resulting Contract, and to seek
damages and other relief available under the resulting Contract or applicable law.

(3) Good Cause. For the purposes of this rule, “Good Cause” means a reasonable explanation for not
requiring Contractor to meet the highest standards, and may include an explanation of circumstances that
support a finding that the requirement would unreasonably limit competition or is not in the best interest of
the Contracting Agency. The Contracting Agency shall document in the Procurement file the basis for the
determination of Good Cause for specification otherwise. A Contracting Agency will have Good Cause to
specify otherwise under the following circumstances:

(a) The use or purpose to which the Goods or Services will be put does not justify a requirement that the
Contractor meet the highest prevalent standards in performing the Contract;

(b) Imposing express technical, standard, dimensional or mathematical specifications will better ensure that
the Goods or Services will be compatible with or will operate efficiently or effectively with components,
equipment, parts, Services or information technology including hardware, Services or software with which
the Goods or Services will be used, integrated, or coordinated;

(c) The circumstances of the industry or business that provides the Goods or Services are sufficiently
volatile in terms of innovation or evolution of products, performance, techniques, scientific developments,
that a reliable highest prevalent standard does not exist or has not been developed;

(d) Any other circumstances in which Contracting Agency’s interest in achieving economy, efficiency,
compatibility or availability in the Procurement of the Goods or Services reasonably outweighs the

11



Contracting Agency’s practical need for the highest prevalent standard in the applicable or closest industry
or business that supplies the Goods or Services to be delivered under the resulting Contract.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.055

137-047-0257

Multistep Sealed Bidding

(1) Generally. A Contracting Agency may procure Goods or Services by using multistep sealed bidding
under ORS 279B.055(12).

(2) Phased Process. Multistep sealed bidding is a phased Procurement process that seeks information or
unpriced submittals in the first phase combined with regular competitive sealed bidding, inviting Bidders who
submitted technically eligible submittals in the first phase to submit competitive sealed price Bids in the
second phase. The Contract must be Awarded to the lowest Responsible Bidder.

(3) Public Notice. When a Contracting Agency uses multistep sealed bidding, the Contracting Agency shall
give public notice for the first phase in accordance with Rule 137-047-0300. Public notice is not required for
the second phase. However, a Contracting Agency shall give notice of the second phase to all Bidders,
inform Bidders of the right to protest Addenda issued after the initial Closing under Rule 137-047-430, and
inform Bidders excluded from the second phase of the right, if any, to protest their exclusion under Rule 137-
047-0720.

(4) Procedures Generally. In addition to the procedures set forth in Rules 137-047-0300 through 137-047-
0490, a Contracting Agency shall employ the procedures set forth in this rule for multistep sealed bidding
and in the Invitation to Bid.

(5) Procedure for Phase One of Multistep Sealed Bidding.

(a) Form. A Contracting Agency shall initiate multistep sealed bidding by issuing an Invitation to Bid in the
form and manner required for competitive sealed Bids except as provided in this Rule. In addition to the
requirements set forth in Rule 137-047-0255(2), the multistep Invitation to Bid must state:

(A) That the solicitation is a multistep sealed Bid Procurement and describe the process the Contracting
Agency will use to conduct the Procurement;

(B) That the Contracting Agency requests unpriced submittals and that the Contracting Agency will consider
price Bids only in the second phase and only from those Bidders whose unpriced submittals are found
eligible in the first phase;

(C) Whether Bidders must submit price Bids at the same time as unpriced submittals and, if so, that Bidders
must submit the price Bids in a separate sealed envelope;

(D) The criteria to be used in the evaluation of unpriced submittals;

(b) Evaluation. The Contracting Agency shall evaluate unpriced submittals in accordance with the criteria
set forth in the Invitation to Bid.

(6) Procedure for Phase Two of Multistep Sealed Bidding.

(a) After the completion of phase one, if the Contracting Agency does not cancel the Solicitation, the
Contracting Agency shall invite each eligible Bidder to submit a price Bid.

(b) A Contracting Agency shall conduct phase two as any other competitive sealed Bid Procurement except:
(A) As specifically set forth in this Rule or the Invitation to Bid;

(B) No public notice need be given of the invitation to submit price Bids because such notice was previously
given.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.055

137-047-0260

Competitive Sealed Proposals

(1) Generally. A Contracting Agency may procure Goods or Services by competitive sealed Proposals as
set forth in ORS 279B.060. A Request for Proposal is used to initiate a competitive sealed Proposal
solicitation and shall contain the information required by ORS 279B.060(2) and by section 2 of this rule. The
Contracting Agency shall provide public notice of the competitive sealed Proposal as set forth in Rule 137-
047-0300.

(2) Request for Proposal. In addition to the provisions required by ORS 279B.060(2), the Request for
Proposal shall include the following:

(a) General Information.

(A) Notice of any pre-Offer conference as follows:

(i) The time, date and location of any pre-Offer conference;

(ii) Whether attendance at the conference will be mandatory or voluntary; and

12



(iif) A provision that provides that statements made by the Contracting Agency’s representatives at the
conference are not binding upon the Contracting Agency unless confirmed by Written Addendum.

(B) The form and instructions for submission of Proposals and any other special information, e.g., whether
Proposals may be submitted by electronic means (See Rule 137-047-0330 for required provisions of
electronic Proposals);

(C) The time, date and place of Opening;

(D) The office where the Solicitation Document may be reviewed;

(E) Proposer’s certification of nondiscrimination in obtaining required subcontractors in accordance with
ORS 279A.110(4). (See Rule 137-046-0210(3)); and

(F) How the Contracting Agency will notify Proposers of Addenda and how the Contracting Agency will make
Addenda available. (See Rule 137-047-0430).

(b) Contracting Agency Need. The character of the Goods or Services the Contracting Agency is
purchasing including, if applicable, a description of the acquisition, Specifications, delivery or performance
schedule, inspection and acceptance requirements. Pursuant to ORS 279B.060(2)(c), the Contracting
Agency'’s description of its need to purchase must:

(A) Identify the scope of the work to be performed under the resulting Contract, if the Contracting Agency
awards one;

(B) Outline the anticipated duties of the Contractor under any resulting Contract;

(C) Establish the expectations for the Contractor’s performance of any resulting Contract; and

(D) Unless the Contractor under any resulting Contract will provide architectural, engineering,
photogrammetric mapping, transportation planning and land surveying services or related services that are
subject to ORS 279C.100 to 279C.125, or the Contracting Agency for Good Cause specifies otherwise, the
scope of work must require the Contractor to meet the highest standards prevalent in the industry or
business most closely involved in providing the Goods or Services that the Contracting Agency is
purchasing.

(c) Proposal and Evaluation Process.

(A) The anticipated solicitation schedule, deadlines, protest process, and evaluation process.

(B) The Contracting Agency may set forth selection criteria in the Solicitation Document per ORS
279B.060(3)(e). Evaluation criteria need not be precise predictors of actual future costs and performance,
but to the extent possible, such factors shall:

(i) Afford the Contracting Agency the ability to compare the Proposals and Proposers, applying the same
standards of comparison to all Proposers;

(ii) Rationally reflect Proposers’ abilities to perform the resulting Contract in compliance with the Contract’s
requirements; and

(iii) Permit the Contracting Agency to determine the relative pricing offered by the Proposers, and to
reasonably estimate the costs to the Contracting Agency of entering into a Contract based on each
Proposal, considering information available to the Contracting Agency and subject to the understanding that
the actual Contract costs may vary as a result of the Statement of Work ultimately negotiated or the quantity
of Goods or Services for which the Contracting Agency contracts.

(C) If the Contracting Agency intends to Award Contracts to more than one Proposer pursuant to Rule 137-
047-0600(4)(d), the Contracting Agency must identify in the Solicitation Document the manner in which it will
determine the number of Contracts it will Award.

(d) Applicable Preferences, including those described in ORS 279A.120, 279A.125(2), 282.210, and Rules
137-046-0300 through 137-046-0330.

(e) For Contracting Agencies subject to ORS 305.385, Proposer’s certification of compliance with the
Oregon tax laws in accordance with ORS 305.385, as applicable and ORS 279B.110(2)(e). See, Rule 137-
047-0640(1)(c)(F)(v).

(f) All contractual terms and conditions the Contracting Agency determines are applicable to the
Procurement. The Contracting Agency’s determination of contractual terms and conditions that are
applicable to the Procurement may take into consideration, as authorized by ORS 279B.060(3), those
contractual terms and conditions the Contracting Agency will not include in the Request for Proposal
because the Contracting Agency either will reserve them for negotiation, or will request Proposers to offer or
suggest those terms or conditions. (See Rule 137-047-0262.)

(g) As required by ORS 279B.060(2)(h), the Contract terms and conditions must specify the consequences
of the Contractor’s failure to perform the scope of work or to meet the performance standards established by
the resulting Contract. Those consequences may include, but are not limited to:

(A) The Contracting Agency’s reduction or withholding of payment under the Contract;

(B) The Contracting Agency’s right to require the Contractor to perform, at the Contractor’'s expense, any
additional work necessary to perform the scope of work or to meet the performance standards established
by the resulting Contract; and

13



(C) The Contracting Agency’s rights, which the Contracting Agency may assert individually or in
combination, to declare a default of the resulting Contract, to terminate the resulting Contract, and to seek
damages and other relief available under the resulting Contract or applicable law.

(3) The Contracting Agency may include the applicable contractual terms and conditions in the form of
Contract provisions, or legal concepts to be included in the resulting Contract, and identify those contractual
terms and conditions, if any, subject to negotiation per Rule 137-047-0262(3). Further, the Contracting
Agency may specify that it will include or use Proposer’s terms and conditions that have been pre-negotiated
under Rule 137-047-0550, but the Contracting Agency may only include or use a Proposer’s pre-negotiated
terms and conditions in the resulting Contract to the extent those terms and conditions do not materially
conflict with the applicable Contract terms and conditions. The Contracting Agency shall not agree to any
Proposer’s terms and conditions that were expressly rejected in a solicitation protest under Rule 137-047-
0420.

(4) For multiple Award Contracts, the Contracting Agency may enter into Contracts with different terms and
conditions with each Contractor to the extent those terms and conditions do not materially conflict with the
applicable contractual terms and conditions. The Contracting Agency shall not agree to any Proposer’s
terms and conditions that were expressly rejected in a solicitation protest under Rule 137-047-0420.

(5) Good Cause. For the purposes of this rule, “Good Cause” means a reasonable explanation for not
requiring Contractor to meet the highest standards, and may include an explanation of circumstances that
support a finding that the requirement would unreasonably limit competition or is not in the best interest of
the Contracting Agency will have Good Cause to specify otherwise under the following circumstances:

(a) The use or purpose to which the Goods or Services will be put does not justify a requirement that the
Contractor meet the highest prevalent standards in performing the Contract;

(b) Imposing express technical, standard, dimensional or mathematical specifications will better ensure that
the Goods or Services will be compatible with, or will operate efficiently or effectively with, associated
information technology, hardware, software, components, equipment, parts, or on-going Services with which
the Goods or Services will be used, integrated, or coordinated;

(c) The circumstances of the industry or business that provides the Goods or Services are sufficiently
volatile in terms of innovation or evolution of products, performance techniques, or scientific developments,
that a reliable highest prevalent standard does not exist or has not been developed;

(d) Any other circumstances in which the Contracting Agency'’s interest in achieving economy, efficiency,
compatibility or availability in the Procurement of the Goods or Services reasonably outweighs the
Contracting Agency’s practical need for the highest standard prevalent in the applicable or closest industry
or business that supplies the Goods and Services to be delivered under the resulting Contract.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.060, ORS 279A.107 & ORS 279B.130

137-047-0261

Procedures for Competitive Range, Multi-tiered and Multistep Proposals

(1) Generally. A Contracting Agency may procure Goods or Services employing any combination of the
methods of Contractor selection as set forth in ORS 279B.060(6)(b). In addition to the procedures set forth
in Rules 137-047-0300 through 137-047-0490 for methods of Contractor selection, a Contracting Agency
may provide for a multi-tiered or multi-step selection process that permits awards to the highest ranked
proposer at any tier or step, calls for the establishment of a competitive range, or permits either serial or
competitive simultaneous discussions or negotiations with one or more proposers. A Contracting Agency
may employ one or more or any combination of the procedures set forth in this rule for competitive range,
multi-tiered and multi-step proposals.

(2) When a Contracting Agency's Request for Proposals prescribes a multi-tiered or multistep Contractor
selection process, a Contracting Agency nevertheless may, at the completion of any stage in the competition
and on determining the Most Advantageous Proposer (or, in multiple-award situations, on determining the
awardees of the Public Contracts), award a Contract (or Contracts) and conclude the Procurement without
proceeding to subsequent stages. The Contracting Agency also may, at any time, cancel the Procurement
under ORS 279B.100.

(3) Exclusion Protest. A Contracting Agency may provide before the notice of an intent to Award an
opportunity for a Proposer to protest exclusion from the Competitive Range or from subsequent phases of
multi-tiered or multistep sealed Proposals as set forth in Rule 137-047-0720.

(4) Award Protest. A Contracting Agency shall provide an opportunity to protest its intent to Award a
Contract pursuant to ORS 279B.410 and Rule 137-047-0740. An Affected Offeror may protest, for any of
the bases set forth in Rule 137-047-0720(2), its exclusion from the Competitive Range or from any phase of
a multi-tiered or multistep sealed Proposal process, or may protest an Addendum issued following initial
Closing, if the Contracting Agency did not previously provide Proposers the opportunity to protest the

14



exclusion or Addendum. The failure to protest shall be considered the Proposer's failure to pursue an
administrative remedy made available to the Proposer by the Contracting Agency.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.060

137-047-0262

Competitive Range, Discussions and Negotiations

(1) When a Contracting Agency’s solicitation process conducted under ORS 279B.060(8) calls for the
Contracting Agency to establish a Competitive Range at any stage in the Procurement process, the
Contracting Agency may do so as follows:

(a) Determining Competitive Range.

(A) The Contracting Agency may establish a Competitive Range after evaluating all Responsive Proposals
in accordance with the evaluation criteria in the Request for Proposals. After evaluation of all Proposals in
accordance with the criteria in the Request for Proposals, the Contracting Agency may determine and rank
the Proposers in the Competitive Range. Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, in instances in which the
Contracting Agency determines that a single Proposer has a reasonable chance of being determined the
most Advantageous Proposer, the Contracting Agency need not determine or rank Proposers in the
Competitive Range. In addition, notwithstanding the foregoing, a Contracting Agency may establish a
Competitive Range of all Proposers to enter into discussions to correct deficiencies in Proposals.

(B) The Contracting Agency may establish the number of Proposers in the Competitive Range in light of
whether the Contracting Agency's evaluation of Proposals identifies a number of Proposers who have a
reasonable chance of being determined the most Advantageous Proposer, or whether the evaluation
establishes a natural break in the scores of Proposers that indicates that a particular number of Proposers
are closely competitive or have a reasonable chance of being determined the most Advantageous Proposer.
(b) Protesting Competitive Range. The Contracting Agency must provide Written notice to all Proposers
identifying Proposers in the Competitive Range. A Contracting Agency may provide an opportunity for
Proposers excluded from the Competitive Range to protest the Contracting Agency's evaluation and
determination of the Competitive Range in accordance with Rule 137-047-0720.

(2) Discussions. The Contracting Agency may initiate oral or written discussions with all “eligible
Proposers” on subject matter within the general scope of the Request for Proposals. In conducting
discussions, the Contracting Agency:

(a) Shall treat all eligible Proposers fairly and shall not favor any eligible Proposer over another;

(b) May disclose other eligible Proposer’s Proposals or discussions only in accordance with ORS
279B.060(8)(b) or (c);

(c) May adjust the evaluation of a Proposal as a result of discussions. The conditions, terms, or price of the
Proposal may be changed during the course of the discussions provided the changes are within the scope of
the Request for Proposals.

(d) At any time during the time allowed for discussions, the Contracting Agency may:

(A) Continue discussions with a particular eligible Proposer;

(B) Terminate discussions with a particular eligible Proposer and continue discussions with other eligible
Proposers; or

(C) Conclude discussions with all remaining eligible Proposers and provide to the then-eligible Proposers,
notice requesting best and final Offers.

(3) Negotiations. Contracting Agency may commence serial negotiations with the highest-ranked eligible
Proposer or commence simultaneous negotiations with all eligible Proposers.

(a) The Contracting Agency may negotiate:

(A) The statement of Work;

(B) The Contract Price as it is affected by negotiating the statement of Work and other terms and conditions
authorized for negotiation in the Request for Proposals or Addenda thereto; and

(C) Any other terms and conditions reasonably related to those authorized for negotiation in the Request for
Proposals or Addenda thereto. Proposers shall not submit for negotiation, and a Contracting Agency shall
not accept, alternative terms and conditions that are not reasonably related to those authorized for
negotiation in the Request for Proposals or any Addendum.

(4) Terminating Negotiations. At any time during discussions or negotiations a Contracting Agency
conducts under this rule, the Contracting Agency may terminate discussions or negotiations with the
highest-ranked Proposer, or the eligible Proposer with whom it is currently discussing or negotiating, if the
Contracting Agency reasonably believes that:

(a) The eligible Proposer is not discussing or negotiating in good faith; or

(b) Further discussions or negotiations with the eligible Proposer will not result in the parties agreeing to the
terms and conditions of a Contract in a timely manner.

15



(c) Continuing Serial Negotiations. If the Contracting Agency is conducting serial negotiations and the
Contracting Agency terminates negotiations with an eligible Proposer, the Contracting Agency may then
commence negotiations with the next highest scoring eligible Proposer, and continue the sequential process
until the Contracting Agency has either:

(A) Determined to Award the Contract to the eligible Proposer with whom it is currently discussing or
negotiating; or

(B) Decided to cancel the Procurement under ORS 279B.100.

(d) Competitive Simultaneous Negotiations. If the Contracting Agency chooses to conduct competitive
negotiations, the Contracting Agency may negotiate simultaneously with competing eligible Proposers. The
Contracting Agency:

(A) Shall treat all eligible Proposers fairly and shall not favor any eligible Proposer over another;

(B) May disclose other eligible Proposers’ Proposals or the substance of negotiations with other eligible
Proposers only if the Contracting Agency notifies all of the eligible Proposers with whom the Contracting
Agency will engage in negotiations of the Contracting Agency’s intent to disclose before engaging in
negotiations with any eligible Proposer.

(e) Any oral modification of a Proposal resulting from negotiations must be reduced to Writing.

(5) Best and Final Offers. If a Contracting Agency requires best and final Offers, a Contracting Agency
must establish a common date and time by which eligible Proposers must submit best and final Offers. If a
Contracting Agency is dissatisfied with the best and final Offers, the Contracting Agency may make a written
determination that it is in the Contracting Agency’s best interest to conduct additional discussions,
negotiations or change the Contracting Agency’s requirements and require another submission of best and
final Offers. A Contracting Agency must inform all eligible Proposers that if they do not submit notice of
withdrawal or another best and final Offer, their immediately previous Offers will be considered their best
and final Offers. The Contracting Agency shall evaluate Offers as modified by the best and final Offer. The
Contracting Agency shall conduct the evaluations as described in Rule 137-047-0600. The Contracting
Agency may not modify evaluation factors or their relative importance after the date and time that best and
final Offers are due.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.060

137-047-0263

Multistep Sealed Proposals

(1) Generally. A Contracting Agency may procure Goods or Services by using multistep competitive sealed
Proposals pursuant to ORS 279.060(6)(b)(G).

(2) Phased Process. Multistep sealed Proposals is a phased Procurement process that seeks necessary
information or un-priced technical Proposals in the initial phase and invites Proposers who submitted
technically qualified Proposals in the initial phase to submit competitive sealed price Proposals on the
technical Proposers in the final phase. The Contract shall be Awarded to the Responsible Proposer
submitting the most Advantageous Proposal in accordance with the terms of the Solicitation Document
applicable to the final phase. If time is a factor, the Contracting Agency may require Proposers to submit a
separate sealed price Proposal during the initial phase to be opened after the technical evaluation.

(3) Public Notice. Whenever multistep sealed Proposals are used, public notice for the first phase shall be
given in accordance with Rule 137-047-0300. Public notice is not required for the subsequent phases.
However, a Contracting Agency shall give notice of the subsequent phases to all Proposers and inform any
Proposers excluded from the subsequent phases of the right, if any, to protest exclusion pursuant to Rule
137-047-0720.

(4) Procedure for Phase One of Multistep Sealed Proposals.

(a) Form. Multistep sealed Proposals shall be initiated by the issuance of a Request for Proposal in the form
and manner required for competitive sealed Proposals except as provided in this rule. In addition to the
requirements set forth in Rule 137-047-0260(2), the multistep Request for Proposal shall state:

(A) That un-priced technical Proposals are requested;

(B) Whether price Proposals are to be submitted at the same time as un-priced technical Proposals; that if
they are, such price Proposals shall be submitted in a separate sealed envelope;

(C) That the solicitation is a multistep sealed Proposal Procurement, and that priced Proposals will be
considered only in the subsequent phases from those Proposers whose un-priced technical Proposals are
found qualified in the first phase;

(D) The criteria to be used in the evaluation of un-priced technical Proposals;

(E) That the Contracting Agency, to the extent that it finds necessary, may conduct oral or written
discussions of the un-priced technical Proposals;

16



(F) That the Goods or Services being procured shall be furnished generally in accordance with the
Proposer’s technical Proposal as found to be finally qualified and shall meet the requirements of the
Request for Proposal.

(G) Whether Proposers excluded from subsequent phases have a right to protest the exclusion. Such
information can be given or changed through Addenda.

(b) Addenda to the Request for Proposal. After receipt of un-priced technical Proposals, Addenda to the
Request for Proposal shall be distributed only to Proposers who submitted un-priced technical Proposals.
(c) Receipt and Handling of Un-priced Technical Proposals. Un-priced technical Proposals need not be
opened publicly.

(d) Evaluation of Un-Priced Technical Proposals. Un-priced technical Proposals shall be evaluated solely in
accordance with the criteria set forth in the Request for Proposal.

(e) Discussion of Un-priced Technical Proposals. The Contracting Agency may seek clarification of a
technical Proposal of any Proposer who submits a qualified, or potentially qualified technical Proposal.
During the course of such discussions, the Contracting Agency shall not disclose any information derived
from one un-priced technical Proposal to any other Proposer.

(f) Methods of Contractor Selection for Phase One. In conducting phase one, a Contracting Agency may
employ any combination of the methods of Contractor selection that call for establishment of a Competitive
Range or include discussions, negotiations, or best and final Offers as set forth in this rule.

(9) Procedure for Phase Two. On the completion of phase one, the Contracting Agency shall invite each
qualified Proposer to submit price Proposals. A Contracting Agency shall conduct phase two as any other
competitive sealed Proposal Procurement except as set forth in this rule. No public notice need be given of
the request to submit price Proposals because such notice was previously given.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.060

137-047-0265

Small Procurements

(1) Generally. For Procurements of Goods or Services less than or equal to $25,000 a Contracting Agency
may Award a Contract as a small Procurement pursuant to ORS 279B.065 by direct selection or award
without any competitive or solicitation process.

(2) Amendments. A Contracting Agency may amend a Public Contract Awarded as a small Procurement in
accordance Rule 137-047-0800, but the cumulative amendments may not increase the total Contract Price
to greater than one hundred twenty-five percent (125%) of the small procurement threshold stated in
subsection (1) of this Rule.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279B.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.065

137-047-0270

Intermediate Procurements

(1) Generally. For Procurements of Goods or Services greater than $25,000 and less than or equal to
$250,000, a Contracting Agency may Award a Contract as an intermediate Procurement pursuant to ORS
279B.070.

(2) Written Solicitations. For any intermediate Procurements, a Contracting Agency may use a Written
solicitation to obtain quotes.

(3) Negotiations. A Contracting Agency may negotiate with a Proposer to clarify its quote or offer or to
effect modifications that will make the quote or offer acceptable or make the quote or offer more
Advantageous to the Contracting Agency.

(4) Amendments. A Contracting Agency may amend a Public Contract Awarded as an intermediate
Procurement in accordance with Rule 137-047-0800, but the cumulative amendments may not increase the
total Contract Price to a sum that exceeds one hundred twenty-five percent (125%) of the intermediate
procurement threshold stated in subsection (1) of this Rule.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279B.070
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.070

137-047-0275

Sole-Source Procurements

(1) Generally. A Contracting Agency may Award a Public Contract without competition as a sole-source
Procurement, after documenting the procurement file with findings of current market research to support the

17



determination that the Goods or Services are available from only one seller or source. The findings shall
also include:

(a) a brief description of the contract or contracts to be covered including contemplated future purchases;
(b) a description of the product or service to be purchased; and

(c) the reasons the Contracting Agency is seeking this procurement method, which shall include any of the
following: (i) efficient utilization of existing equipment or supplies requires the acquisition of compatible
equipment, supplies, or services; or (ii) that the Goods or Services required for the exchange of software or
data with other public or private agencies are available from only one source; or (iii) the particular product is
for use in a pilot or an experimental project; or (iv) other findings that support the conclusion that the Goods
or Services are available from only one source. ORS 279B.075(2)(d).

(2) Public Notice. If, but for the Contracting Agency’s determination that it may enter into a Contract as a
sole-source, a Contracting Agency would be required to select a Contractor using source selection methods
set forth in either ORS 279B.055 or ORS 279B.060, a Contracting Agency shall give public notice of the
Contracting Agency’s determination that the Goods or Services or class of Goods or Services are available
from only one source in a manner similar to public notice of competitive sealed Bids under ORS 279B.055(4)
and Rule 137-047-0300. The public notice shall describe the Goods or Services to be acquired by a sole-
source Procurement, identify the prospective Contractor and include the date, time and place that protests
are due. The Contracting Agency shall give such public notice at least seven (7) Days before Award of the
Contract, unless otherwise set forth in the notice.

(3) Protest. An Affected Person may protest the Contract Review Authority’s determination that the Goods
or Services or class of Goods or Services are available from only one source in accordance with Rule 137-
047-0710.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279B.075
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.075

137-047-0280

Emergency Procurements

A Contracting Agency may Award a Public Contract as an Emergency Procurement pursuant to the
requirements of ORS 279B.080. For an Emergency Procurement of construction services that are not public
improvements, the Procurement shall be made with competition that is reasonable and appropriate under
the circumstances, in conformance with ORS 279B.080(2).

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.080

137-047-0285

Special Procurements

(1) Generally. A Contracting Agency may Award a Public Contract as a Special Procurement pursuant to
the requirements of ORS 279B.085.

(2) Public Notice. A Contracting Agency shall give public notice of the Contract Review Authority’s
approval of a Special Procurement in the same manner as public notice of competitive sealed Bids under
ORS 279B.055(4) and Rule 137-047-0300. The public notice shall describe the Goods or Services or class
of Goods or Services to be acquired through the Special Procurement. The Contracting Agency shall give
public notice of the approval of a Special Procurement at least seven (7) Days before Award of the Contract,
unless a different time period is stated in the request for approval notice. Award may be made at the time of
approval, contingent upon expiration of the protest period or issuance of a written disposition of any protest
received.

(3) Protest. An Affected Person may protest the approval of a Special Procurement in accordance with
ORS 279B.400 and Rule 137-047-0700.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.085

137-047-0290

Cooperative Procurements

A Contracting Agency may participate in, sponsor, conduct, or administer Cooperative Procurements as set
forth in ORS 279A.200 through 279A.225 and Rules 137-046-0400 through 137-046-0480.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.205

18



PROCUREMENT PROCESS

137-047-0300

Public Notice of Solicitation Documents

(1) Notice of Solicitation Documents; Fee. A Contracting Agency shall provide public notice of every
Solicitation Document in accordance with section (2) of this rule, unless exempt pursuant to Rules 137-047-
0265 through 137-047-0285. The Contracting Agency may give additional notice using any method it
determines appropriate to foster and promote competition, including:

(a) Mailing notice of the availability of the Solicitation Document to Persons that have expressed an interest
in the Contracting Agency’s Procurements; or

(b) Placing notice on the Contracting Agency’s Electronic Procurement System; or

(c) Placing notice on the Contracting Agency'’s Internet World Wide Web site.

(2) Advertising. A Contracting Agency shall advertise every notice of a Solicitation Document as follows:
(a) The Contracting Agency shall publish the advertisement for Offers in accordance with the requirements
of ORS 279B.055(4) and 279B.060(5); or

(b) A Contracting Agency may publish the advertisement for Offers on the Contracting Agency’s Electronic
Procurement System pursuant to Rule 137-047-0330 instead of publishing notice in a newspaper of general
circulation as required by ORS 279B.055(4)(b).

(3) Content of Advertisement. All advertisements for Offers shall set forth:

(a) Where, when, how, and for how long the Solicitation Document may be obtained;

(b) A general description of the Goods or Services to be acquired;

(c) The interval between the first date of notice of the Solicitation Document given in accordance with
subsection 2(a) or (b) above and Closing, which shall not be less than fourteen (14) Days for an Invitation to
Bid and thirty (30) Days for a Request for Proposals, unless the Contracting Agency determines that a
shorter interval is in the public's interest, and that a shorter interval will not substantially affect competition.
However, in no event shall the interval between the first date of notice of the Solicitation Document given in
accordance with subsection 2(a) or (b) above and Closing be less than seven (7) Days as set forth in ORS
279B.055(4)(f). The Contracting Agency shall document the specific reasons for the shorter public notice
period in the Procurement file;

(d) The date that Persons must file applications for prequalification if prequalification is a requirement and
the class or classes of Goods or Services for which Persons must be prequalified;

(e) The office where Contract terms, conditions and Specifications may be reviewed;

(f) The name, title and address of the individual authorized by the Contracting Agency to receive Offers;

(9) The scheduled Opening; and

(h) Any other information the Contracting Agency deems appropriate.

(4) Posting Advertisement for Offers. The Contracting Agency may post a copy of each advertisement for
Offers at the principal business office of the Contracting Agency. An Offeror may obtain a copy of the
advertisement for Offers upon request.

(5) Fees. The Contracting Agency may charge a fee or require a deposit for the Solicitation Document.

(6) Notice of Addenda. The Contracting Agency shall provide potential Offerors notice of any Addenda to a
Solicitation Document in accordance with Rule 137-047-0430.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065, ORS 279B.055 & ORS 279B.060
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.055 & ORS 279B.060

137-047-0310

Bids or Proposals are Offers

(1) Offer and Acceptance. The Bid or Proposal is the Bidder’'s or Proposer’s Offer to enter into a Contract.
The Offer is a “Firm Offer,” i.e., the Offer shall be held open by the Offeror for the Contracting Agency’s
acceptance for the period specified in Rule 137-047-0480. The Contracting Agency’s Award of the Contract
constitutes acceptance of the Offer and binds the Offeror to the Contract.

(a) In competitive bidding and competitive Proposals, the Offer is always a “Firm Offer,” i.e. the Offer shall
be held open by the Offeror for the Contracting Agency’s acceptance for the period specified in Rule 137-
047-0480. The Contracting Agency may elect to accept the Offer at any time during the specified period,
and the Contracting Agency’s Award of the Contract constitutes acceptance of the Offer and binds the
Offeror to the Contract.

(b) Notwithstanding the fact that a competitive Proposal is a “Firm Offer” for the period specified in Rule 137-
047-0480, the Contracting Agency may elect to discuss or negotiate certain contractual provisions, as
identified in these rules or in the Solicitation Document, with the Proposer. Where negotiation is permitted
by the rules or in the Solicitation Document, Proposers are obligated to negotiate in good faith and only on
those terms or conditions that the rules or the Solicitation Document have reserved for negotiation.

19



(2) Contingent Offers. Except to the extent the Proposer is authorized to propose certain terms and
conditions pursuant to Rule 137-047-0262, a Proposer shall not make its Offer contingent upon the
Contracting Agency’s acceptance of any terms or conditions (including Specifications) other than those
contained in the Solicitation Document.

(3) Offeror's Acknowledgment. By Signing and returning the Offer, the Offeror acknowledges it has read
and understands the terms and conditions contained in the Solicitation Document and that it accepts and
agrees to be bound by the terms and conditions of the Solicitation Document. If the Request for Proposals
permits proposal of alternative terms under Rule 137-047-0262, the Offeror's Offer includes the
nonnegotiable terms and conditions and any proposed terms and conditions offered for negotiation upon
and to the extent accepted by the Contracting Agency in Writing, and Offeror’s agreement to perform the
scope of work and meet the performance standards set forth in the final negotiated scope of work.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065, ORS 279B.055 & ORS 279B.60

137-047-0320

Facsimile Bids and Proposals

(1) Contracting Agency Authorization. A Contracting Agency may authorize Offerors to submit facsimile
Offers. If the Contracting Agency determines that Bid or Proposal security is or will be required, the
Contracting Agency should not authorize facsimile Offers unless the Contracting Agency has another
method for receipt of such security. Prior to authorizing the submission of facsimile Offers, the Contracting
Agency shall determine that the Contracting Agency's equipment and personnel are capable of receiving the
size and volume of anticipated Offers within a short period of time. In addition, the Contracting Agency shall
establish administrative procedures and controls:

(a) To receive, identify, record, and safeguard facsimile Offers;

(b) To ensure timely delivery of Offers to the location of Opening; and

(c) To preserve the Offers as sealed.

(2) Provisions To Be Included in Solicitation Document. In addition to all other requirements, if the
Contracting Agency authorizes a facsimile Offer, the Contracting Agency will include in the Solicitation
Document the following:

(a) A provision substantially in the form of the following: “A ‘facsimile Offer,” as used in this Solicitation
Document, means an Offer, modification of an Offer, or withdrawal of an Offer that is transmitted to and
received by the Contracting Agency via a facsimile machine”;

(b) A provision substantially in the form of the following: “Offerors may submit facsimile Offers in response
to this Solicitation Document. The entire response must arrive at the place and by the time specified in this
Solicitation Document”;

(c) A provision that requires Offerors to Sign their facsimile Offers;

(d) A provision substantially in the form of the following: “The Contracting Agency reserves the right to
Award the Contract solely on the basis of a facsimile Offer. However, upon the Contracting Agency's
request the apparent successful Offeror shall promptly submit its complete original Signed Offer”;

(e) The data and compatibility characteristics of the Contracting Agency's receiving facsimile machine as
follows:

(A) Telephone number; and

(B) Compatibility characteristics, e.g. make and model number, receiving speed, communications protocol;
and

(f) A provision that the Contracting Agency is not responsible for any failure attributable to the transmission
or receipt of the facsimile Offer including, but not limited to the following:

(A) Receipt of garbled or incomplete documents;

(B) Availability or condition of the receiving facsimile machine;

(C) Incompatibility between the sending and receiving facsimile machine;

(D) Delay in transmission or receipt of documents;

(E) Failure of the Offeror to properly identify the Offer documents;

(F) llegibility of Offer documents; and

(G) Security and confidentiality of data.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065

20



137-047-0330

Electronic Procurement

(1) Electronic Procurement Authorized.

(a) A Contracting Agency may conduct all phases of a Procurement, including without limitation the posting
of Electronic Advertisements and the receipt of Electronic Offers, by electronic methods if and to the extent
the Contracting Agency specifies in a Solicitation Document, a request for quotes, or any other Written
instructions on how to participate in the Procurement.

(b) The Contracting Agency shall open an Electronic Offer in accordance with electronic security measures
in effect at the Contracting Agency at the time of its receipt of the Electronic Offer. Unless the Contracting
Agency provides procedures for the secure receipt of Electronic Offers, the Person submitting the Electronic
Offer assumes the risk of premature disclosure due to submission in unsealed form.

(c) The Contracting Agency’s use of electronic Signatures shall be consistent with applicable statutes and
rules. A Contracting Agency may limit the use of electronic methods of conducting a Procurement as
Advantageous to the Contracting Agency.

(d) If the Contracting Agency determines that Bid or Proposal security is or will be required, the Contracting
Agency should not authorize Electronic Offers unless the Contracting Agency has another method for
receipt of such security.

(2) Rules Governing Electronic Procurements. The Contracting Agency shall conduct all portions of an
electronic Procurement in accordance with these division 47 rules, unless otherwise set forth in this rule.
(3) Preliminary Matters. As a condition of participation in an electronic Procurement the Contracting
Agency may require potential Contractors to register with the Contracting Agency before the date and time
on which the Contracting Agency will first accept Offers, to agree to the terms, conditions, or other
requirements of a Solicitation Document, or to agree to terms and conditions governing the Procurement,
such as procedures that the Contracting Agency may use to attribute, authenticate or verify the accuracy of
an Electronic Offer, or the actions that constitute an electronic Signature.

(4) Offer Process. A Contracting Agency may specify that Persons must submit an Electronic Offer by a
particular date and time, or that Persons may submit multiple Electronic Offers during a period of time
established in the Electronic Advertisement. When the Contracting Agency specifies that Persons may
submit multiple Electronic Offers during a specified period of time, the Contracting Agency must designate a
time and date on which Persons may begin to submit Electronic Offers, and a time and date after which
Persons may no longer submit Electronic Offers. The date and time after which Persons may no longer
submit Electronic Offers need not be specified by a particular date and time, but may be specified by a
description of the conditions that, when they occur, will establish the date and time after which Persons may
no longer submit Electronic Offers. When the Contracting Agency will accept Electronic Offers for a period
of time, then at the designated date and time that the Contracting Agency will first receive Electronic Offers,
the Contracting Agency must begin to accept real time Electronic Offers on the Contracting Agency’s
Electronic Procurement System, and shall continue to accept Electronic Offers in accordance with
subsection 5(b) of this rule until the date and time specified by the Contracting Agency, after which the
Contracting Agency will no longer accept Electronic Offers.

(5) Receipt of Electronic Offers.

(a) When a Contracting Agency conducts an electronic Procurement that provides that all Electronic Offers
must be submitted by a particular date and time, the Contracting Agency shall receive the Electronic Offers
in accordance with these division 47 rules.

(b) When the Contracting Agency specifies that Persons may submit multiple Offers during a period of time,
the Contracting Agency shall accept Electronic Offers, and Persons may submit Electronic Offers, in
accordance with the following:

(A) Following receipt of the first Electronic Offer after the day and time the Contracting Agency first receives
Electronic Offers the Contracting Agency shall post on the Contracting Agency’s Electronic Procurement
System, and updated on a real time basis, the lowest Electronic Offer price or the highest-ranking Electronic
Offer. At any time before the date and time after which the Contracting Agency will no longer receive
Electronic Offers, a Person may revise its Electronic Offer, except that a Person may not lower its price
unless that price is below the then lowest Electronic Offer.

(B) A Person may not increase the price set forth in an Electronic Offer after the day and time that the
Contracting Agency first accepts Electronic Offers.

(C) A Person may withdraw an Electronic Offer only in compliance with these division 47 rules. If a Person
withdraws an Electronic Offer, it may not later submit an Electronic Offer at a price higher than that set forth
in the withdrawn Electronic Offer.

(6) Failure of the E-Procurement System. In the event of a failure of the Contracting Agency’s Electronic
Procurement System that interferes with the ability of Persons to submit Electronic Offers, protest or to
otherwise participate in the Procurement, the Contracting Agency may cancel the Procurement in

21



accordance with Rule 137-047-0660, or may extend the date and time for receipt of Electronic Offers by
providing notice of the extension immediately after the Electronic Procurement System becomes available.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279B.055
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065

BID AND PROPOSAL PREPARATION

137-047-0400

Offer Preparation

(1) Instructions. An Offeror shall submit and Sign its Offer in accordance with the instructions set forth in
the Solicitation Document. An Offeror shall initial and submit any correction or erasure to its Offer prior to
Opening in accordance with the requirements for submitting an Offer set forth in the Solicitation Document.
(2) Forms. An Offeror shall submit its Offer on the form(s) provided in the Solicitation Document, unless an
Offeror is otherwise instructed in the Solicitation Document.

(3) Documents. An Offeror shall provide the Contracting Agency with all documents and descriptive
literature required by the Solicitation Document.

(4) Electronic Submissions. If the Solicitation Document permitted Electronic Offers under Rule 137-047-
0330, an Offeror may submit its Offer electronically. The Contracting Agency shall not consider Electronic
Offers unless authorized by the Solicitation Document.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065

137-047-0410

Offer Submission

(1) Product Samples and Descriptive Literature. A Contracting Agency may require product samples or
descriptive literature if the Contracting Agency determines either is necessary or desirable to evaluate the
quality, features or characteristics of an Offer. The Contracting Agency will dispose of product samples, or
make them available for the Offeror to retrieve in accordance with the Solicitation Document.

(2) Identification of Offers.

(a) To ensure proper identification and handling, Offers shall be submitted in a sealed envelope
appropriately marked or in the envelope provided by the Contracting Agency, whichever is applicable. If the
Contracting Agency permits Electronic Offers or facsimile Offers in the Solicitation Document, the Offeror
may submit and identify Electronic Offers or facsimile Offers in accordance with these division 47 rules and
the instructions set forth in the Solicitation Document.

(b) The Contracting Agency is not responsible for Offers submitted in any manner, format or to any delivery
point other than as required in the Solicitation Document.

(3) Receipt of Offers. The Offeror is responsible for ensuring the Contracting Agency receives its Offer at
the required delivery point prior to the Closing, regardless of the method used to submit or transmit the
Offer.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065

137-047-0420

Pre-Offer Conferences

(1) Purpose. A Contracting Agency may hold pre-Offer conferences with prospective Offerors prior to
Closing, to explain the Procurement requirements, obtain information, or to conduct site inspections.

(2) Required Attendance. The Contracting Agency may require attendance at the pre-Offer conference as
a condition for making an Offer.

(3) Scheduled Time. If a Contracting Agency holds a pre-Offer conference, it shall be held within a
reasonable time after the Solicitation Document has been issued, but sufficiently before the Closing to allow
Offerors to consider information provided at that conference.

(4) Statements Not Binding. Statements made by a Contracting Agency’s representative at the pre-Offer
conference do not change the Solicitation Document unless the Contracting Agency confirms such
statements with a Written Addendum to the Solicitation Document.

22



(5) Agency Announcement. The Contracting Agency must set forth notice of any pre-Offer conference in
the Solicitation Document in accordance with Rules 137-047-0255(2) or 137-047-0260(2).

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065

137-047-0430

Addenda to Solicitation Document

(1) Issuance; Receipt. The Contracting Agency may change a Solicitation Document only by Written
Addenda. An Offeror shall provide Written acknowledgment of receipt of all issued Addenda with its Offer,
unless the Contracting Agency otherwise specifies in the Addenda.

(2) Notice and Distribution. The Contracting Agency shall notify prospective Offerors of Addenda in a
manner intended to foster competition and to make prospective Offerors aware of the Addenda. The
Solicitation Document shall specify how the Contracting Agency will provide notice of Addenda and how the
Contracting Agency will make the Addenda available before Closing, and at each subsequent step or tier of
evaluation if the Contracting Agency will engage in a multistep competitive sealed Bid process in
accordance with Rule 137-047-0257, or a multi-tiered or multistep competitive sealed Proposal process in
accordance with Rules 137-047-0261 through 137-047-0263. The following is an example of how a
Contracting Agency may specify how it will provide notice of Addenda: “Contracting Agency will not mail
notice of Addenda, but will publish notice of any Addenda on Contracting Agency's web site. Addenda may
be downloaded off the Contracting Agency's web site. Offerors should frequently check the Contracting
Agency's web site until Closing, i.e., at least once weekly until the week of Closing and at least once daily
the week of the Closing.”

(3) Timelines; Extensions.

(a) The Contracting Agency shall issue Addenda within a reasonable time to allow prospective Offerors to
consider the Addenda in preparing their Offers. The Contracting Agency may extend the Closing if the
Contracting Agency determines prospective Offerors need additional time to review and respond to
Addenda. Except to the extent required by a countervailing public interest, the Contracting Agency shall not
issue Addenda less than 72 hours before the Closing unless the Addendum also extends the Closing.

(b) Notwithstanding subsection 3(a) of this rule, an Addendum that modifies the evaluation criteria, selection
process or procedure for any tier of competition under a multistep sealed Bid or a multi-tiered or multistep
sealed Proposal issued in accordance with ORS 279B.060(6)(d) and Rules 137-047-0261 through 137-047-
0263 must be issued no fewer than five (5) Days before the beginning of that tier or step of competition,
unless the Contracting Agency determines that a shorter period is sufficient to allow Offerors to prepare for
that tier or step of competition. The Contracting Agency shall document the factors it considered in making
that determination, which may include, without limitation, the scope of the changes to the Solicitation
Document, the location of the remaining eligible Proposers, or whether shortening the period between
issuing an Addendum and the beginning of the next tier or step of competition favors or disfavors any
particular Proposer or Proposers.

(4) Request for Change or Protest. Unless a different deadline is set forth in the Addendum, an Offeror
may submit a Written request for change or protest to the Addendum, as provided in Rule 137-047-0730, by
the close of the Contracting Agency's next business day after issuance of the Addendum, or up to the last
day allowed to submit a request for change or protest under Rule 137-047-0730, whichever date is later. If
the date established in the previous sentence falls after the deadline for receiving protests to the Solicitation
Document in accordance with Rule 137-047-0730, then the Contracting Agency may consider an Offeror's
request for change or protest to the Addendum only, and the Contracting Agency shall not consider a
request for change or protest to matters not added or modified by the Addendum. Notwithstanding any
provision of this section (4) of this rule, a Contracting Agency is not required to provide a protest period for
Addenda issued after initial Closing during a multi-tier or multistep Procurement process conducted pursuant
to ORS 279B.055 or ORS 279B.060.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279B.060
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.060

137-047-0440

Pre-Closing Modification or Withdrawal of Offers

(1) Modifications. An Offeror may modify its Offer in Writing prior to the Closing. An Offeror shall prepare
and submit any modification to its Offer to the Contracting Agency in accordance with Rules 137-047-0400
and 137-047-0410, unless otherwise specified in the Solicitation Document. The Offeror shall mark the
submitted modification as follows:

(a) Bid (or Proposal) Modification; and

(b) Solicitation Document Number (or other identification as specified in the Solicitation Document).

23



(2) Withdrawals.

(a) An Offeror may withdraw its Offer by Written notice submitted on the Offeror's letterhead, Signed by an
authorized representative of the Offeror, delivered to the individual and location specified in the Solicitation
Document (or the place of Closing if no location is specified), and received by the Contracting Agency prior
to the Closing. The Offeror or authorized representative of the Offeror may also withdraw its Offer in person
prior to the Closing, upon presentation of appropriate identification and evidence of authority satisfactory to
the Contracting Agency.

(b) The Contracting Agency may release an unopened Offer withdrawn under subsection 2(a) of this rule to
the Offeror or its authorized representative, after voiding any date and time stamp mark.

(c) The Offeror shall mark the Written request to withdraw an Offer as follows:

(A) Bid (or Proposal) Withdrawal; and

(B) Solicitation Document Number (or Other Identification as specified in the Solicitation Document).

(3) Documentation. The Contracting Agency shall include all documents relating to the modification or
withdrawal of Offers in the appropriate Procurement file.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279B.055
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.055

137-047-0450

Receipt, Opening, and Recording of Offers; Confidentiality of Offers.

(1) Receipt. A Contracting Agency shall electronically or mechanically time-stamp or hand-mark each Offer
and any modification upon receipt. The Contracting Agency shall not open the Offer or modification upon
receipt, but shall maintain it as confidential and secure until Opening. If the Contracting Agency
inadvertently opens an Offer or a modification prior to the Opening, the Contracting Agency shall return the
Offer or modification to its secure and confidential state until Opening. The Contracting Agency shall
document the resealing for the Procurement file (e.g. “Contracting Agency inadvertently opened the Offer
due to improper identification of the Offer.”).

(2) Opening and Recording. A Contracting Agency shall publicly open Offers including any modifications
made to the Offer pursuant to Rule 137-047-0440(1). In the case of Invitations to Bid, to the extent
practicable, the Contracting Agency shall read aloud the name of each Bidder, and such other information
as the Contracting Agency considers appropriate. However, the Contracting Agency may withhold from
disclosure information in accordance with ORS 279B.055(5)(c) and 279B.060(6). In the case of Requests
for Proposals or voluminous Bids, if the Solicitation Document so provides, the Contracting Agency will not
read Offers aloud.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279B.055
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.055

137-047-0460

Late Offers, Late Withdrawals and Late Modifications

Any Offer received after Closing is late. An Offeror's request for withdrawal or modification of an Offer
received after Closing is late. An Agency shall not consider late Offers, withdrawals or modifications except
as permitted in Rules 137-047-0470 or 137-047-0262.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279B.055
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.055

137-047-0470

Mistakes

(1) Generally. To protect the integrity of the competitive Procurement process and to assure fair treatment
of Offerors, a Contracting Agency should carefully consider whether to permit waiver, correction or
withdrawal of Offers for certain mistakes.

(2) Contracting Agency Treatment of Mistakes. A Contracting Agency shall not allow an Offeror to
correct or withdraw an Offer for an error in judgment. If the Contracting Agency discovers certain mistakes
in an Offer after Opening, but before Award of the Contract, the Contracting Agency may take the following
action:

(a) A Contracting Agency may waive, or permit an Offeror to correct, a minor informality. A minor informality
is a matter of form rather than substance that is evident on the face of the Offer, or an insignificant mistake
that can be waived or corrected without prejudice to other Offerors. Examples of minor informalities include
an Offeror’s failure to:

(A) Return the correct number of Signed Offers or the correct number of other documents required by the
Solicitation Document;

24



(B) Sign the Offer in the designated block, provided a Signature appears elsewhere in the Offer, evidencing
an intent to be bound; and

(C) Acknowledge receipt of an Addendum to the Solicitation Document, provided that it is clear on the face
of the Offer that the Offeror received the Addendum and intended to be bound by its terms; or the
Addendum involved did not affect price, quality or delivery.

(b) A Contracting Agency may correct a clerical error if the error is evident on the face of the Offer or other
documents submitted with the Offer, and the Offeror confirms the Contracting Agency's correction in Writing.
A clerical error is an Offeror's error in transcribing its Offer. Examples include typographical mistakes, errors
in extending unit prices, transposition errors, arithmetical errors, instances in which the intended correct unit
or amount is evident by simple arithmetic calculations (for example a missing unit price may be established
by dividing the total price for the units by the quantity of units for that item or a missing, or incorrect total
price for an item may be established by multiplying the unit price by the quantity when those figures are
available in the Offer). In the event of a discrepancy, unit prices shall prevail over extended prices.

(c) A Contracting Agency may permit an Offeror to withdraw an Offer based on one or more clerical errors in
the Offer only if the Offeror shows with objective proof and by clear and convincing evidence:

(A) The nature of the error;

(B) That the error is not a minor informality under this subsection or an error in judgment;

(C) That the error cannot be corrected or waived under subsection (b) of this section;

(D) That the Offeror acted in good faith in submitting an Offer that contained the claimed error and in
claiming that the alleged error in the Offer exists;

(E) That the Offeror acted without gross negligence in submitting an Offer that contained a claimed error;
(F) That the Offeror will suffer substantial detriment if the Contracting Agency does not grant the Offeror
permission to withdraw the Offer;

(G) That the Contracting Agency's or the public's status has not changed so significantly that relief from the
forfeiture will work a substantial hardship on the Contracting Agency or the public it represents; and

(H) That the Offeror promptly gave notice of the claimed error to the Contracting Agency.

(d) The criteria in subsection (2)(c) of this rule shall determine whether a Contracting Agency will permit an
Offeror to withdraw its Offer after Closing. These criteria also shall apply to the question of whether a
Contracting Agency will permit an Offeror to withdraw its Offer without forfeiture of its Bid bond (or other Bid
or Proposal security), or without liability to the Contracting Agency based on the difference between the
amount of the Offeror's Offer and the amount of the Contract actually awarded by the Contracting Agency,
whether by Award to the next lowest Responsive and Responsible Bidder or the most Advantageous
Responsive and Responsible Proposer, or by resort to a new solicitation.

(3) Rejection for Mistakes. The Contracting Agency shall reject any Offer in which a mistake is evident on
the face of the Offer and the intended correct Offer is not evident or cannot be substantiated from
documents submitted with the Offer.

(4) Identification of Mistakes after Award. The procedures and criteria set forth above are Offeror’s only
opportunity to correct mistakes or withdraw Offers because of a mistake. Following Award, an Offeror is
bound by its Offer, and may withdraw its Offer or rescind a Contract entered into pursuant to this division 47
only to the extent permitted by applicable law.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279B.055
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.055

137-047-0480

Time for Agency Acceptance

An Offeror's Offer is a Firm Offer, irrevocable, valid and binding on the Offeror for not less than thirty (30)
Days following Closing unless otherwise specified in the Solicitation Document.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065

137-047-0490

Extension of Time for Acceptance of Offer

A Contracting Agency may request, orally or in Writing, that Offerors extend, in Writing, the time during
which the Contracting Agency may consider their Offer(s). If an Offeror agrees to such extension, the Offer
shall continue as a Firm Offer, irrevocable, valid and binding on the Offeror for the agreed-upon extension
period.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065

25



QUALIFICATIONS AND DUTIES

137-047-0500

Responsibility of Bidders and Proposers

Before Awarding a Contract, the Contracting Agency shall determine that the Bidder submitting the lowest
Bid or Proposer submitting the most Advantageous Proposal is Responsible. The Contracting Agency shall
use the standards set forth in ORS 279B.110 and Rule 137-047-0640(1)(c)(F) to determine if a Bidder or
Proposer is Responsible. In the event a Contracting Agency determines a Bidder or Proposer is not
Responsible it shall prepare a Written determination of non-Responsibility as required by ORS 279B.110
and shall reject the Offer.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.110

137-047-0525
Qualified Products Lists
A Contracting Agency may develop and maintain a qualified products list pursuant to ORS 279B.115.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.115

137-047-0550

Prequalification of Prospective Offerors

(1) A Contracting Agency may prequalify prospective Offerors pursuant to ORS 279B.120 and 279B.125.
(2) Notwithstanding the prohibition against revocation of prequalification in ORS 279B.120(3), a Contracting
Agency may determine that a prequalified Offeror is not Responsible prior to Contract Award.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.120

137-047-0575

Debarment of Prospective Offerors

(1) Generally. A Contracting Agency may Debar prospective Offerors for the reasons set for the in ORS
279A.110 or after providing notice and the opportunity for hearing as set forth in ORS 279B.130.

(2) Responsibility. Notwithstanding the limitation on the term for Debarment in ORS 279B.130(1)(b), a
Contracting Agency may determine that a previously Debarred Offeror is not Responsible prior to Contract
Award.

(3) Imputed Knowledge. A Contracting Agency may attribute improper conduct of a Person or its affiliate
or affiliates having a contract with a prospective Offeror to the prospective Offeror for purposes of
Debarment where the impropriety occurred in connection with the Person’s duty for or on behalf of, or with
the knowledge, approval, or acquiescence of, the prospective Offeror.

(4) Limited Participation. A Contracting Agency may allow a Debarred Person to participate in solicitations
and Contracts on a limited basis during the Debarment period upon Written determination that participation
is Advantageous to a Contracting Agency. The determination shall specify the factors on which it is based
and define the extent of the limits imposed.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.130

OFFER EVALUATION AND AWARD

137-047-0600

Offer Evaluation and Award

(1) Contracting Agency Evaluation. The Contracting Agency shall evaluate Offers only as set forth in the
Solicitation Document, pursuant to ORS 279B.055(6)(a) and 279B.060(6)(b), and in accordance with
applicable law. The Contracting Agency shall not evaluate Offers using any other requirement or criterion.
(a) Evaluation of Bids.

(A) Nonresident Bidders. In determining the lowest Responsive Bid, the Contracting Agency shall apply the
reciprocal preference set forth in ORS 279A.120(2)(b) and Rule 137-046-0310 for Nonresident Bidders.

26



(B) Public Printing. The Contracting Agency shall for the purpose of evaluating Bids apply the public printing
preference set forth in ORS 282.210.

(C) Award When Bids are Identical. If the Contracting Agency determines that one or more Bids are
identical under Rule 137-046-0300, the Contracting Agency shall Award a Contract in accordance with the
procedures set forth in Rule 137-046-0300.

(b) Evaluation of Proposals.

(A) Award When Proposals are Identical. If the Contracting Agency determines that one or more Proposals
are identical under Rule 137-046-0300, the Contracting Agency shall Award a Contract in accordance with
the procedures set forth in Rule 137-046-0300.

(B) Public Printing. The Contracting Agency shall for the purpose of evaluating Proposals apply the public
printing preference set forth in ORS 282.210.

(c) Recycled Materials. When procuring Goods, the Contracting Agency shall give preference for recycled
materials as set forth in ORS 279A.125 and Rule 137-046-0320.

(2) Clarification of Bids or Proposals. After Opening, a Contracting Agency may conduct discussions with
apparent Responsive Offerors for the purpose of clarification to assure full understanding of the Offer. All
Offers, in the Contracting Agency’s sole discretion, needing clarification shall be accorded such an
opportunity. The Contracting Agency shall document clarification of any Offer in the Procurement file.

(3) Negotiations.

(a) Bids. Except as permitted by section 2 of this rule, a Contracting Agency shall not negotiate with any
Bidder. After Award of the Contract, the Contracting Agency and Contractor may only modify the Contract in
accordance with Rule 137-047-0800.

(b) Requests for Proposals. A Contracting Agency may conduct discussions or negotiate with Proposers
only in accordance with ORS 279B.060(6)(b) and Rule 137-047-0262. After Award of the Contract, the
Contracting Agency and Contractor may only modify the Contract in accordance with Rule 137-047-0800.
(4) Award.

(a) General. If Awarded, the Contracting Agency shall Award the Contract to the Responsible Bidder
submitting the lowest, Responsive Bid or the Responsible Proposer submitting the most Advantageous,
Responsive Proposal. The Contracting Agency may Award by item, groups of items or the entire Offer
provided such Award is consistent with the Solicitation Document and in the public interest.

(b) Multiple ltems. An Invitation to Bid or Request for Proposals may call for pricing of multiple items of
similar or related type with Award based on individual line item, group total of certain items, a “market
basket” of items representative of the Contracting Agency’s expected purchases, or grand total of all items.
(c) Multiple Awards - Bids.

(A) Notwithstanding subsection 4(a) of this rule, a Contracting Agency may Award multiple Contracts under
an Invitation to Bid in accordance with the criteria set forth in the Invitation to Bid. Multiple Awards shall not
be made if a single Award will meet the Contracting Agency’s needs, including but not limited to adequate
availability, delivery, service, or product compatibility. A multiple Award may be made if Award to two or
more Bidders of similar Goods or Services is necessary for adequate availability, delivery, service or product
compatibility. Multiple Awards may not be made for the purpose of dividing the Procurement into multiple
solicitations, or to allow for user preference unrelated to utility or economy. A notice to prospective Bidders
that multiple Contracts may be Awarded for any Invitation to Bid shall not preclude the Contracting Agency
from Awarding a single Contract for such Invitation to Bid.

(B) If an Invitation to Bid permits the Award of multiple Contracts, the Contracting Agency shall specify in the
Invitation to Bid the criteria it will use to choose from the multiple Contracts when purchasing Goods or
Services.

(d) Multiple Awards — Proposals.

(A) Notwithstanding subsection 4(a) of this rule, a Contracting Agency may Award multiple Contracts under
a Request for Proposals in accordance with the criteria set forth in the Request for Proposals. Multiple
Awards shall not be made if a single Award will meet the Contracting Agency’s needs, including but not
limited to adequate availability, delivery, service or product compatibility. A multiple Award may be made if
Award to two or more Proposers of similar Goods or Services is necessary for adequate availability,
delivery, service or product compatibility. Multiple Awards may not be made for the purpose of dividing the
Procurement into multiple solicitations, or to allow for user preference unrelated to obtaining the most
Advantageous Contract. A notice to prospective Proposers that multiple Contracts may be Awarded for any
Request for Proposals shall not preclude the Contracting Agency from Awarding a single Contract for such
Request for Proposals.

(B) If a Request for Proposals permits the Award of multiple Contracts, the Contracting Agency shall specify
in the Request for Proposals the criteria it will use to choose from the multiple Contracts when purchasing
Goods or Services.

(e) Partial Awards. If after evaluation of Offers, the Contracting Agency determines that an acceptable Offer
has been received for only parts of the requirements of the Solicitation Document:

27



(A) The Contracting Agency may Award a Contract for the parts of the Solicitation Document for which
acceptable Offers have been received; or

(B) The Contracting Agency may reject all Offers and may issue a new Solicitation Document on the same
or revised terms, conditions and Specifications.

(f) All or none Offers. A Contracting Agency may Award all or none Offers if the evaluation shows an all or
none Award to be the lowest cost for Bids or the most Advantageous for Proposals of those submitted.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279B.060
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.055 & ORS 279B.060

137-047-0610

Notice of Intent to Award

(1) Notice of Intent to Award. The Contracting Agency shall provide Written notice of its intent to Award to
all Bidders and Proposers pursuant to ORS 279B.135 at least seven (7) Days before the Award of a
Contract, unless the Contracting Agency determines that circumstances require prompt execution of the
Contract, in which case the Contracting Agency may provide a shorter notice period in the Solicitation
documents. The Contracting Agency shall document the specific reasons for the shorter notice period in the
Procurement file.

(2) Finality. The Contracting Agency’s Award shall not be final until the later of the following:

(a) The expiration of the protest period provided pursuant to Rule 137-047-0740; or

(b) The Contracting Agency provides Written responses to all timely-filed protests denying the protests and
affirming the Award.

(3) If so provided in the Solicitation documents, said notice of intent to Award may be issued via facsimile or
electronic data exchange.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279B.135
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.135

137-047-0620

Documentation of Award

(1) Basis of Award. After Award, the Contracting Agency shall make a record showing the basis for
determining the successful Offeror part of the Contracting Agency's Procurement file.

(2) Contents of Award Record. The Contracting Agency's record shall include:

(a) For Bids:

(A) Bids;

(B) Completed Bid tabulation sheet; and

(C) Written justification for any rejection of lower Bids.

(b) For Proposals:

(A) Proposals;

(B) The completed evaluation of the Proposals;

(C) Written justification for any rejection of higher scoring Proposals; and

(D) If the Contracting Agency engaged in any of the methods of Contractor selection described in ORS
279B.060(6)(b) and Rules 137-047-0261 through 137-047-0263, written documentation of the content of any
discussions, negotiations, best and final Offers, or any other procedures the Contracting Agency used to
select a Proposer to which the Contracting Agency Awarded a Contract.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065

137-047-0630

Availability of Award Decisions

(1) Contract Documents. To the extent required by the Solicitation Document, the Contracting Agency
shall deliver to the successful Offeror a Contract, Signed purchase order, Price Agreement, or other
Contract documents as applicable.

(2) Availability of Award Decisions. A Person may obtain tabulations of Awarded Bids or evaluation
summaries of Proposals for a minimal charge, in person or by submitting to the Contracting Agency a
Written request accompanied by payment. The requesting Person shall provide the Solicitation Document
number and enclose a self-addressed, stamped envelope. In addition, the Contracting Agency may make
available tabulations of Bids and Proposals through the Electronic Procurement System of the Contracting
Agency or the Contracting Agency’s website.

28



(3) Availability of Procurement Files. After notice of intent to Award, the Contracting Agency shall make
Procurement files available in accordance with applicable law.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.055 & ORS 279B.060

137-047-0640

Rejection of an Offer

(1) Rejection of an Offer.

(a) A Contracting Agency may reject any Offer as set forth in ORS 279B.100.

(b) The Contracting Agency shall reject an Offer upon the Contracting Agency's finding that the Offer:

(A) Is contingent upon the Contracting Agency's acceptance of terms and conditions (including
Specifications) that differ from the Solicitation Document;

(B) Takes exception to terms and conditions (including Specifications) set forth in the Solicitation Document;
(C) Attempts to prevent public disclosure of matters in contravention of the terms and conditions of the
Solicitation Document or in contravention of applicable law;

(D) Offers Goods or Services that fail to meet the Specifications of the Solicitation Document;

(E) Is late;

(F) Is not in substantial compliance with the Solicitation Document; or

(G) Is not in substantial compliance with all prescribed public Procurement procedures.

(c) The Contracting Agency shall reject an Offer upon the Contracting Agency's finding that the Offeror:

(A) Has not been prequalified under ORS 279B.120 and the Contracting Agency required mandatory
prequalification;

(B) Has been Debarred as set forth in ORS 279B.130 or has been disqualified pursuant to Rule 137-046-
0210(4) (DBE Disqualification);

(C) Has not met the requirements of ORS 279A.105, if required by the Solicitation Document;

(D) Has not submitted properly executed Bid or Proposal security as required by the Solicitation Document;
(E) Has failed to provide the certification of non-discrimination required under ORS 279A.110(4); or

(F) Is non-Responsible. Offerors are required to demonstrate their ability to perform satisfactorily under a
Contract. Before Awarding a Contract, the Contracting Agency must have information that indicates that the
Offeror meets the applicable standards of Responsibility. To be a Responsible Offeror, the Contracting
Agency must determine pursuant to ORS 279B.110 that the Offeror:

(i) Has available the appropriate financial, material, equipment, facility and personnel resources and
expertise, or ability to obtain the resources and expertise, necessary to meet all contractual responsibilities;
and

(ii) Has completed previous contracts of a similar nature with a satisfactory record of performance. A
satisfactory record of performance means that to the extent the costs associated with and time available to
perform a previous contract were within the Offeror’s control, the Offeror stayed within the time and budget
allotted for the Procurement and otherwise performed the contract in a satisfactory manner. A Contracting
Agency should carefully scrutinize an Offeror's record of contract performance if the Offeror is or recently
has been materially deficient in contract performance. In reviewing the Offeror's performance, the
Contracting Agency should determine whether the Offeror's deficient performance was expressly excused
under the terms of the contract, or whether the Offeror took appropriate corrective action. The Contracting
Agency may review the Offeror's performance on both private and public contracts in determining the
Offeror's record of contract performance. The Contracting Agency shall make its basis for determining an
Offeror non-Responsible under this subparagraph part of the Procurement file pursuant to ORS
279B.110(2)(b);

(iii) Has a satisfactory record of integrity. An Offeror may lack integrity if a Contracting Agency determines
the Offeror demonstrates a lack of business ethics such as violation of state environmental laws or false
certifications made to a Contracting Agency. A Contracting Agency may find an Offeror non-Responsible
based on the lack of integrity of any Person having influence or control over the Offeror (such as a key
employee of the Offeror that has the authority to significantly influence the Offeror's performance of the
Contract or a parent company, predecessor or successor Person). The standards for Debarment under
ORS 279B.130 may be used to determine an Offeror's integrity. A Contracting Agency may find an Offeror
non-responsible based on previous convictions of offenses related to obtaining or attempting to obtain a
contract or subcontract or in connection with the Offeror’s performance of a contract or subcontract. The
Contracting Agency shall make its basis for determining that an Offeror is non-Responsible under this
subparagraph part of the Procurement file pursuant to ORS 279B.110(2)(c);

(iv) Is legally qualified to contract with the Contracting Agency;

(v) Has attested in Writing that the Offeror complied with the tax laws of this state and of political
subdivisions of this state. Such certification demonstrates Offeror's compliance with such law in a credible
and convenient way; and

29



(vi) Has supplied all necessary information in connection with the inquiry concerning Responsibility. If the
Offeror fails to promptly supply information requested by the Contracting Agency concerning Responsibility,
the Contracting Agency shall base the determination of Responsibility upon any available information, or
may find the Offeror non-Responsible.

(2) Form of Business Entity. For purposes of this rule, the Contracting Agency may investigate any
Person submitting an Offer. The investigation may include that Person's officers, directors, owners,
affiliates, or any other Person acquiring ownership of the Person to determine application of this rule or to
apply the Debarment provisions of ORS 279B.130.

(3) Notice. Contracting Agency need not provide an Offeror with any notice in the event that its Offer is
rejected. However, Contracting Agency will provide all Offerors with a Notice of Intent to Award, as required,
pursuant to Rule 137-047-0610.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.100, ORS 279B.110 & ORS 279B.130

137-047-0650

Rejection of All Offers

(1) Rejection. A Contracting Agency may reject all Offers as set forth in ORS 279B.100. The Contracting
Agency shall notify all Offerors of the rejection of all Offers, along with the reasons for rejection of all Offers.
(2) Criteria. The Contracting Agency may reject all Offers based upon the following criteria:

(a) The content of or an error in the Solicitation Document, or the Procurement process unnecessarily
restricted competition for the Contract;

(b) The price, quality or performance presented by the Offerors are too costly or of insufficient quality to
justify acceptance of any Offer;

(c) Misconduct, error, or ambiguous or misleading provisions in the Solicitation Document threaten the
fairness and integrity of the competitive process;

(d) Causes other than legitimate market forces threaten the integrity of the competitive process. These
causes may include, without limitation, those that tend to limit competition, such as restrictions on
competition, collusion, corruption, unlawful anti-competitive conduct, and inadvertent or intentional errors in
the Solicitation Document;

(e) The Contracting Agency cancels the Procurement or solicitation in accordance with Rule 137-047-0660;
or

(f) Any other circumstance indicating that Awarding the Contract would not be in the public interest.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.100

137-047-0660

Cancellation of Procurement or Solicitation

(1) Cancellation in the Public Interest. A Contracting Agency may cancel a Procurement or solicitation as
set forth in ORS 279B.100.

(2) Notice of Cancellation Before Opening. If the Contracting Agency cancels a Procurement or
solicitation prior to Opening, the Contracting Agency shall provide Written notice of cancellation in the same
manner that the Contracting Agency initially provided notice of the solicitation. Such notice of cancellation
shall:

(a) Identify the Solicitation Document;

(b) Briefly explain the reason for cancellation; and

(c) If appropriate, explain that an opportunity will be given to compete on any resolicitation.

(3) Notice of Cancellation After Opening. If the Contracting Agency cancels a Procurement or solicitation
after Opening, the Contracting Agency shall provide Written notice of cancellation to all Offerors who
submitted Offers.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.100

137-047-0670

Disposition of Offers if Procurement or Solicitation Canceled

(1) Prior to Opening. If the Contracting Agency cancels a Procurement or solicitation prior to Opening, the
Contracting Agency shall return all Offers it received to Offerors unopened, provided the Offeror submitted
its Offer in a hard copy format with a clearly visible return address. If there is no return address on the
envelope, the Contracting Agency shall open the Offer to determine the source and then return it to the

30



Offeror. For Electronic Offers, the Contracting Agency shall delete the Offers from the Contracting Agency’s
Electronic Procurement System or information technology system.

(2) After Opening. If the Contracting Agency cancels a Procurement or solicitation after Opening, the
Contracting Agency:

(a) May return Proposals in accordance with ORS 279B.060(6)(c); and.

(b) Shall keep Bids in the Procurement file.

(3) Rejection of All Offers. If the Contracting Agency rejects all Offers, the Contracting Agency shall keep
all Proposals and Bids in the Procurement file.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.100

LEGAL REMEDIES

137-047-0700

Protests and Judicial Review of Special Procurements

(1) Purpose. An Affected Person may protest the approval of a Special Procurement. Pursuant to ORS
279B.400(1), before seeking judicial review of the approval of a Special Procurement, an Affected Person
must file a Written protest with the Contract Review Authority for the Contracting Agency and exhaust all
administrative remedies.

(2) Delivery. Notwithstanding the requirements for filing a writ of review under ORS chapter 34 pursuant to
ORS 279B.400(4)(a), an Affected Person must deliver a Written protest to the Contract Review Authority for
the Contracting Agency within seven (7) Days after the first date of public notice of the approval of a Special
Procurement by the Contract Review Authority for the Contracting Agency, unless a different protest period
is provided in the public notice of the approval of a Special Procurement.

(3) Content of Protest. The Written protest must include:

(a) A detailed statement of the legal and factual grounds for the protest;

(b) A description of the resulting harm to the Affected Person; and

(c) The relief requested.

(4) Contract Review Authority Response. The Contract Review Authority shall not consider an Affected
Person’s protest of the approval of a Special Procurement submitted after the timeline established for
submitting such protest under this rule or such different time period as may be provided in the public notice
of the approval of a Special Procurement. The Contract Review Authority shall issue a Written disposition of
the protest in a timely manner. If the Contract Review Authority upholds the protest, in whole or in part, it
may in its sole discretion implement the sustained protest in the approval of the Special Procurement, or
revoke the approval of the Special Procurement.

(5) Judicial Review. An Affected Person may seek judicial review of the Contract Review Authority’s
decision relating to a protest of the approval of a Special Procurement in accordance with ORS 279B.400.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279B.400
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.400

137-047-0710

Protests and Judicial Review of Sole-Source Procurements

(1) Purpose. For sole-source Procurements requiring public notice under Rule 137-047-0275, an Affected
Person may protest the determination of the Contract Review Authority or designee that the Goods or
Services or class of Goods or Services are available from only one source. Pursuant to ORS
279B.420(3)(f), before seeking judicial review, an Affected Person must file a Written protest with the
Contract Review Authority or designee and exhaust all administrative remedies.

(2) Delivery. Unless otherwise specified in the public notice of the sole-source Procurement, an Affected
Person must deliver a Written protest to the Contract Review Authority or designee within seven (7) Days
after the first date of public notice of the sole-source Procurement, unless a different protest period is
provided in the public notice of a sole-source Procurement.

(3) Content of Protest. The Written protest must include:

(a) A detailed statement of the legal and factual grounds for the protest;

(b) A description of the resulting harm to the Affected Person; and

(c) The relief requested.

(4) Contract Review Authority Response. The Contract Review Authority or designee shall not consider
an Affected Person’s sole-source Procurement protest submitted after the timeline established for submitting
such protest under this rule, or such different time period as may be provided in the public notice of the sole-
source Procurement. The Contract Review Authority or designee shall issue a Written disposition of the

31



protest in a timely manner. If the Contract Review Authority or designee upholds the protest, in whole or in
part, the Contracting Agency shall not enter into a sole-source Contract.
(5) Judicial Review. Judicial review of the Contract Review Authority’s or designee’s disposition of a sole-
source Procurement protest shall be in accordance with ORS 279B.420.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.075

137-047-0720

Protests and Judicial Review of Multi-Tiered and Multistep Solicitations

(1) Purpose. An Affected Offeror may protest exclusion from the Competitive Range or from subsequent
tiers or steps of a solicitation in accordance with the applicable Solicitation Document. When such a protest
is permitted by the Solicitation Document, then pursuant to ORS 279B.420(3)(f), before seeking judicial
review, an Affected Offeror must file a Written protest with the Contracting Agency and exhaust all
administrative remedies.

(2) Basis for Protest. An Affected Offeror may protest its exclusion from a tier or step of competition only if
the Offeror is Responsible and submitted a Responsive Offer and but for the Contracting Agency’s mistake
in evaluating the Offeror’s or other Offerors’ Offers, the protesting Offeror would have been eligible to
participate in the next tier or step of competition. (For example, the protesting Offeror must claim it is eligible
for inclusion in the Competitive Range if all ineligible higher-scoring Offerors are removed from
consideration, and that those ineligible Offerors are ineligible for inclusion in the Competitive Range
because: their Proposals were not Responsive, or the Contracting Agency committed a substantial violation
of a provision in the Solicitation Document or of an applicable Procurement statute or administrative rule,
and the protesting Offeror was unfairly evaluated and would have, but for such substantial violation, been
included in the Competitive Range.)

(3) Delivery. Unless otherwise specified in the Solicitation Document, an Affected Offeror must deliver a
Written protest to the Contracting Agency within seven (7) Days after issuance of the notice of the
Competitive Range or notice of subsequent tiers or steps.

(4) Content of Protest. The Affected Offeror's protest shall be in Writing and must specify the grounds
upon which the protest is based.

(5) Contracting Agency Response. The Contracting Agency shall not consider an Affected Offeror's multi-
tiered or multistep solicitation protest submitted after the timeline established for submitting such protest
under this rule, or such different time period as may be provided in the Solicitation Document. The
Contracting Agency shall issue a Written disposition of the protest in a timely manner. If the Contracting
Agency upholds the protest, in whole or in part, the Contracting Agency may in its sole discretion either
issue an Addendum under Rule 137-047-0430 reflecting its disposition or cancel the Procurement or
solicitation under Rule 137-047-0660.

(6) Judicial Review. Judicial review of the Contracting Agency’s decision relating to a multi-tiered or
multistep solicitation protest shall be in accordance with ORS 279B.420.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.060

137-047-0730

Protests and Judicial Review of Solicitations

(1) Purpose.

(a) A prospective Offeror may protest the Procurement process or the Solicitation Document for a Contract
solicited under ORS 279B.055, 279B.060 and 279B.085 as set forth in ORS 279B.405(2). Pursuant to ORS
279B.405(3), before seeking judicial review, a prospective Offeror must file a Written protest with the
Contracting Agency and exhaust all administrative remedies.

(b) Specific Special Procurements. Notwithstanding section 1(a) of this rule, a Person may not protest,
challenge, or review approval of a Special Procurement except in conformance with ORS 279B.400.

(2) Delivery. Unless otherwise specified in the Solicitation Document, a prospective Offeror must deliver a
Written protest to the Contracting Agency not less than ten (10) Days prior to Closing.

(3) Content of Protest. In addition to the information required by ORS 279B.405(4), a prospective Offeror's
Written protest shall include a statement of the desired changes to the Procurement process or the
Solicitation Document that the prospective Offeror believes will remedy the conditions upon which the
prospective Offeror based its protest.

(4) Contracting Agency Response. The Contracting Agency shall not consider a Prospective Offeror's
solicitation protest submitted after the timeline established for submitting such protest under this rule, or
such different time period as may be provided in the Solicitation Document. The Contracting Agency shall
consider the protest if it is timely filed and meets the conditions set forth in ORS 279B.405(4). The

32



Contracting Agency shall issue a Written disposition of the protest in accordance with the timeline set forth in
ORS 279B.405(6). If the Contracting Agency upholds the protest, in whole or in part, the Contracting
Agency may in its sole discretion either issue an Addendum reflecting its disposition under Rule 137-047-
0430 or cancel the Procurement or solicitation under Rule 137-047-0660.

(5) Extension of Closing. If the Contracting Agency receives a protest from a prospective Offeror in
accordance with this rule, the Contracting Agency may extend Closing if the Contracting Agency determines
an extension is necessary to consider and respond to the protest.

(6) Clarification. Prior to the deadline for submitting a protest, a prospective Offeror may request that the
Contracting Agency clarify any provision of the Solicitation Document. The Contracting Agency's
clarification to an Offeror, whether orally or in Writing, does not change the Solicitation Document and is not
binding on the Contracting Agency unless the Contracting Agency amends the Solicitation Document by
Addendum.

(7) Judicial Review. Judicial review of the Contracting Agency’s decision relating to a solicitation protest
shall be in accordance with ORS 279B.405.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279B.405
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.405

137-047-0740

Protests and Judicial Review of Contract Award

(1) Purpose. An Offeror may protest the Award of a Contract, or the intent to Award of a Contract,
whichever occurs first, if the conditions set forth in ORS 279B.410(1) are satisfied. An Offeror must file a
Written protest with the Contracting Agency and exhaust all administrative remedies before seeking judicial
review of the Contracting Agency's Contract Award decision. These administrative remedies apply to all
public contracts awarded by Contracting Agency, including those awarded pursuant to an intermediate
procurement.

(2) Delivery. Unless otherwise specified in the Solicitation Document, an Offeror must deliver a Written
protest to the Contracting Agency within seven (7) Days after issuance of the notice of intent to Award the
Contract, or Award of a Contract, whichever occurs first.

(3) Content of Protest. An Offeror's Written protest shall specify the grounds for the protest to be
considered by the Contracting Agency pursuant to ORS 279B.410(2).

(4) Contracting Agency Response. The Contracting Agency shall not consider an Offeror’s Contract
Award protest submitted after the timeline established for submitting such protest under this rule, or such
different time period as may be provided in the Solicitation Document. The Contracting Agency shall issue a
Written disposition of the protest in a timely manner as set forth in ORS 279B.410(4). If the Contracting
Agency upholds the protest, in whole or in part, the Contracting Agency may in its sole discretion either
Award the Contract to the successful protestor or cancel the Procurement or solicitation.

(5) Judicial Review. Judicial review of the Contracting Agency’s decision relating to a Contract Award
protest shall be in accordance with ORS 279B.415.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279B.410
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.410 & ORS 279B.415.

137-047-0745

Protests and Judicial Review of Qualified Products List Decisions

(1) Purpose. A prospective Offeror may protest the Contracting Agency’s decision to exclude the
prospective Offeror's Goods from the Contracting Agency’s qualified products list under ORS 279B.115. A
prospective Offeror must file a Written protest and exhaust all administrative remedies before seeking
judicial review of the Contracting Agency’s qualified products list decision.

(2) Delivery. Unless otherwise stated in the Contracting Agency’s notice to prospective Offerors of the
opportunity to submit Goods for inclusion on the qualified products list, a prospective Offeror must deliver a
Written protest to the Contracting Agency within seven (7) Days after issuance of the Contracting Agency’s
decision to exclude the prospective Offeror's Goods from the qualified products list.

(3) Content of Protest. The prospective Offeror’s protest shall be in Writing and must specify the grounds
upon which the protest is based.

(4) Contracting Agency Response. The Contracting Agency shall not consider a prospective Offeror's
qualified products list protest submitted after the timeline established for submitting such protest under this
rule, or such different time period as may be provided in the Contracting Agency’s notice to prospective
Offerors of the opportunity to submit Goods for inclusion on the qualified products list. The Contracting
Agency shall issue a Written disposition of the protest in a timely manner. If the Contracting Agency upholds
the protest, it shall include the successful protestor's Goods on the qualified products list.

33



(5) Judicial Review. Judicial review of the Contracting Agency’s decision relating to a qualified products list
protest shall be in accordance with ORS 279B.425.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.115

137-047-0750

Judicial Review of Other Violations

Any violation of ORS chapter 279A or 279B by a Contracting Agency for which no judicial remedy is
otherwise provided in the Public Contracting Code is subject to judicial review as set forth in ORS 279B.420.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.420

137-047-0760

Review of Prequalification and Debarment Decisions

Review of the Contracting Agency’s prequalification and Debarment decisions shall be as set forth in ORS
279B.425.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.425

137-047-0800

Amendments to Contracts and Price Agreements

(1) Generally. A Contracting Agency may amend a Contract without additional competition in any of the
following circumstances:

(a) The amendment is within the scope of the Procurement as described in the Solicitation Documents, if
any, or if no Solicitation Documents, as described in the sole source notice or the approved Special
Procurement, if any. An amendment is not within the scope of the Procurement if the Agency determines
that if it had described in the Procurement the changes to be made by the amendment, it would likely have
increased competition or affected award of the Contract.;

(b) These Rules otherwise permit the Contracting Agency to Award a Contract without competition for the
goods or services to be procured under the Amendment.

(c) The amendment is necessary to comply with a change in law that affects performance of the Contract.
(d) The amendment results from renegotiation of the terms and conditions, including the Contract Price, of a
Contract and the amendment is Advantageous to the Contracting Agency, subject to all of the following
conditions:

(A) The Goods or Services to be provided under the amended Contract are the same as the Goods or
Services to be provided under the unamended Contract.

(B) The Contracting Agency determines that, with all things considered, the amended Contract is at least as
favorable to the Contracting Agency as the unamended Contract; and

(C) The renegotiated Contract will not increase or extend the total term of the original contract by more than
one (1) year. Also, if multiple contracts with a single Contractor are restated as a single Contract, the term
of the single Contract may not have a total term greater than one (1) year longer than the longest term of
any of the prior Contracts.

(e) If the Contract is the result of a Cooperative Procurement, the amended Contract may not materially
change the terms, conditions, and prices of the Original Contract.

(2) Small or Intermediate Contract. A Contracting Agency may amend a Contract Awarded as a small or
intermediate Procurement pursuant to Section 1 of this rule, provided also that the total increased Contract
Price does not exceed amendment allowances set forth in Rule 137-047-0265(2) for small Procurements
and Rule 137-047-0270(4) for intermediate Procurements.

(3) Emergency Contract. A Contracting Agency may amend a Contract Awarded as an emergency
Procurement if the emergency justification for entering into the Contract still exists, and the amendment is
necessary to address the continuing emergency.

(4) Price Agreements. A Contracting Agency may amend or terminate a Price Agreement as follows:

(a) As permitted by the Price Agreement;

(b) As permitted by this rule;

(c) If the circumstances set forth in ORS 279B.140(2) exist; or

(d) As permitted by applicable law.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065

34



137-047-0810

Termination of Price Agreements

(1) A Contracting Agency may terminate a Price Agreement as follows:
(a) As permitted by the Price Agreement.

(b) If the circumstances set forth in ORS 279B.140(2) exist; or

(c) As permitted by applicable law.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279B.140

35



PUBLIC CONTRACTING RULES 2023
DIVISION 48

CONSULTANT SELECTION: ARCHITECTURAL, ENGINEERING, PHOTOGRAMMETRIST, TRANSPORTATION
PLANNING AND LAND SURVEYING SERVICES AND RELATED SERVICES CONTRACTS

137-048-0100

Application

These division 48 rules apply to the screening and selection of Architects, Engineers, Photogrammetrists,
Transportation Planners, Land Surveyors and providers of Related Services under Contracts, and set forth the
following procedures:

(a) Procedures through which Contracting Agency selects Consultants to perform Architectural, Engineering,
Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services, or Related Services; and

(b) Two-tiered procedures for selection of Architects, Engineers, Photogrammetrists, Transportation Planners, Land
Surveyors and providers of Related Services for certain public improvements owned and maintained by a Local
Government.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279C.105
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279C.105

137-048-0110

Definitions

In addition to the definitions set forth in ORS 279A.010, 279C.100, and Rule 137-046-0110, the following definitions
apply to these division 48 rules:

(1) "Consultant" means an Architect, Engineer, Photogrammetrist, Transportation Planner, Land Surveyor or
provider of Related Services. A Consultant includes a business entity that employs Architects, Engineers,
Photogrammetrists, Transportation Planners, Land Surveyors or providers of Related Services, or any combination of
the foregoing.

(2) "Estimated Fee" means Contracting Agency's reasonably projected fee to be paid for a Consultant's services
under the anticipated Contract, excluding all anticipated reimbursable or other non-professional fee expenses. The
Estimated Fee is used solely to determine the applicable Contract solicitation method and is distinct from the total
amount payable under the Contract.

(3) "Price Agreement," for purposes of this Division 48, is limited to mean an agreement related to the procurement
of Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services, or
Related Services, under agreed-upon terms and conditions, including, but not limited to terms and conditions of later
work orders or task orders for Project-specific Services, and which may include price or Consultant compensation
information, with:

(a) No guarantee of a minimum or maximum purchase; or

(b) An initial work order, task order or minimum purchase, combined with a continuing Consultant obligation to
provide Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services
or Related Services in which the Contracting Agency does not guarantee a minimum or maximum additional
purchase.

(4) "Project" means all components of a Contracting Agency's planned undertaking that gives rise to the need for a
Consultant's Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying
Services, or Related Services, under a Contract.

(5) "Transportation Planning Services" are defined in ORS 279C.100. Transportation Planning Services include
only Project-specific transportation planning involved in the preparation of categorical exclusions, environmental
assessments, environmental impact statements and other documents required for compliance with the National
Environmental Policy Act, 42 USC 4321 et. seq. Transportation Planning Services do not include transportation
planning for corridor plans, transportation system plans, interchange area management plans, refinement plans and
other transportation plans not directly associated with an individual Project that will require compliance with the
National Environmental Policy Act, 42 USC 4321 et. seq. Transportation Planning Services also do not include
transportation planning for Projects not subject to the National Environmental Policy Act, 42 USC 4321 et. seq.

(6) “Related Services” means personal services, other than architectural, engineering, photogrammetric, mapping,
Transportation Planning or land surveying services, that are related to planning, designing, engineering or overseeing
public improvement projects or components of public improvements, including, but not limited to, landscape
architectural services, facilities planning services, energy planning services, space planning services, hazardous
substances or hazardous waste or toxic substances testing services, cost estimating services, appraising services,

36



material testing services, mechanical system balancing services, commissioning services, project management
services, construction management services, and owner’s representation services or land-use planning services.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279C.105
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279C.105

137-048-0120
[Reserved.]

137-048-0130

Applicable Selection Procedures; Pricing Information; Disclosure of Proposals; Conflicts of Interest

(1) When selecting the most qualified Consultant to perform Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping,
Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services, Contracting Agency shall follow the applicable selection
procedure under either Rule 137-048-0200 (Direct Appointment Procedure), 137-048-0210 (Informal Selection
Procedure) or 137-048-0220 (Formal Selection Procedure). In following the Direct Appointment Procedure under
Rule 137-048-0200, Contracting Agency may base its selection of a consultant on any information available to
Agency.

(2) When selecting Consultants to perform Related Services, Contracting Agency shall follow either its Division 47 or
Division 48 rules, as determined in its sole discretion.

(3) A Contracting Agency is not required to follow the procedures in Section (1) or Section (2) of this rule, when the
Contracting Agency has established Price Agreements with more than one Consultant and is selecting a single
Consultant to perform Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land
Surveying Services or Related Services under an individual work order or task order. Provided, however, the criteria
and procedures the Contracting Agency uses to select a single Consultant, when the Contracting Agency has
established Price Agreements with more than one Consultant, must meet the requirements of Rule 137-048-0270
(Price Agreements).

(4) Contracting Agency may use electronic methods to screen and select a Consultant in accordance with the
procedures described in Rule 137-047-0330 (Electronic Procurement).

(5) For purposes of these division 48 rules, a "mixed" Contract is one requiring the Consultant to perform
Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services, and also
provide Related Services, other Services or other related Goods under the Contract. A Contracting Agency's
classification of a procurement that will involve a "mixed" Contract will be determined by the predominant purpose of
the Contract. A Contracting Agency will determine the predominant purpose of the Contract by determining which of
the Services involves the majority of the total Estimated Fee to be paid under the Contract. If the majority of the total
Estimated Fee to be paid under the Contract is for Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping,
Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services, the Contracting Agency shall comply with the requirements of
ORS 279C.110 and Section (1) of this rule. If the majority of the total Estimated Fee to be paid under the Contract is
for Related Services, the Contracting Agency shall comply with the requirements of ORS 279C.120 and Section (2) of
this rule. If the majority of the total Estimated Fee to be paid under the Contract is for some other Services or Goods
under the Public Contracting Code, the Contracting Agency shall comply with the applicable provisions of the Public
Contracting Code and Divisions 46, 47 and 49 of these Rules that match the predominant purpose of the Contract.
(6) Consistent with the requirements of ORS 279C.107 and the remaining requirements of ORS 279C.100, 279C.105
and 279C.110 through 279C.125, the following provisions apply to proposals received by a Contracting Agency for
Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or
Related Services:

(a) The term "competitive proposal,” for purposes of ORS 279C.107, includes proposals submitted under these
Division 48 Rules.

(b) In the limited circumstances permitted by ORS 279C.110, 279C.115 and 279C.120, where the Contracting
Agency is conducting discussions or negotiations with proposers who submit proposals that the Contracting Agency
has determined to be closely competitive or to have a reasonable chance of being selected for award, the Contracting
Agency may open proposals so as to avoid disclosure of proposal contents to competing Proposers, consistent with
the requirements of ORS 279C.107. Otherwise, Contracting Agency may open proposals in such a way as to avoid
disclosure of the contents until after the Contracting Agency executes a Contract with the selected Consultant. If the
Contracting Agency determines that it is in the best interest of the Contracting Agency to do so, the Contracting
Agency may make proposals available for public inspection following the Contracting Agency's issuance of a notice of
intent to award a Contract to a Consultant.

(c) Disclosure of proposals and proposal information is otherwise governed by ORS 279C.107.

(7) Per ORS 279C.307, pertaining to requirements to ensure the objectivity and independence of providers of certain
Personal Services which are procured under ORS chapter 279C, and unless permitted by ORS 279C.307(3),
Contracting Agency may not:

(a) Procure services for the purpose of administering, managing, monitoring, inspecting, evaluating compliance with
or otherwise overseeing a public contract from a Contractor or an affiliate of a Contractor who is a party to the Public

37



Contract that is subject to administration, management, monitoring, inspection, evaluation or oversight by means of
the Services; or

(b) Procure services for the purpose of administering, managing, monitoring, inspecting, evaluating compliance with
or otherwise overseeing a public contract through the Public Contract that is subject to administration, management,
monitoring, inspection, evaluation or oversight by means of the Services.

(8) The requirements of ORS 279C.307 and Section (7) of this rule apply in the following circumstances, except as
provided in Section (9) of this rule:

(a) A Contracting Agency requires the Procurement of Personal Services for the purpose of administering, managing,
monitoring, inspecting, evaluating compliance with or otherwise overseeing a Public Contract or performance under a
Public Contract that is subject to ORS chapter 279C. A Public Contract that is "subject to ORS chapter 279C"
includes a Public Contract for Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land
Surveying Services, a Public Contract for Related Services or a Public Contract for construction services under ORS
chapter 279C.

(b) The Procurements of Personal Services subject to the restrictions of ORS 279C.307 include, but are not limited
to, the following:

(A) Procurements for Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land
Surveying Services, which involve overseeing or monitoring the performance of a construction Contractor under a
Public Contract for construction services subject to ORS chapter 279C;

(B) Procurements for commissioning services, which involve monitoring, inspecting, evaluating or otherwise
overseeing the performance of a Contractor providing Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping,
Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or the performance of a construction Contractor under a Public
Contract for construction services subject to ORS chapter 279C;

(C) Procurements for project management services, which involve administration, management, monitoring,
inspecting, evaluating compliance with or otherwise overseeing the performance of a Contractor providing
Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services,
construction services subject to ORS chapter 279C, commissioning services or other Related Services for a Project;
(D) Procurements for special inspections and testing services, which involve inspecting, testing or otherwise
overseeing the performance of a construction Contractor under a Public Contract for construction services subject to
ORS chapter 279C; and

(E) Procurements for other Related Services or Personal Services, which involve administering, managing,
monitoring, inspecting, evaluating compliance with or otherwise overseeing the Public Contracts described in Section
(8)(a) of this rule.

(9) The restrictions of ORS 279C.307 do not apply in the following circumstances, except as further specified below:
(a) To a Contracting Agency's Procurement of both design services and construction services through a single
"Design-Build" Procurement, as that term is defined in Rule 137-049-0610. Such a Design-Build Procurement
includes a Procurement under an Energy Savings Performance Contract, as defined in ORS 279A.010. Provided,
however, the restrictions of ORS 279C.307 do apply to a Contracting Agency's Procurement of Personal Services for
the purpose of administering, managing, monitoring, inspecting, evaluating compliance with or otherwise overseeing
a Design-Build Contract or performance under such a Contract resulting from a Design-Build Procurement; and

(b) To a Contracting Agency's Procurement of both pre-construction services and construction services through a
single "Construction Manager/General Contractor" Procurement, as defined in Rule 137-049-0610. Provided,
however, the restrictions of ORS 279C.307 do apply to a Contracting Agency's Procurement of Personal Services for
the purpose of administering, managing, monitoring, inspecting, evaluating compliance with or otherwise overseeing
a Construction Manager/General Contractor Contract or performance under such a Contract resulting from a
Construction Manager/General Contractor Procurement.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279C.105
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279C.100-279C.125

SELECTION PROCEDURES

137-048-0200

Direct Appointment Procedure

(1) Contracting Agency may enter into a Contract directly with a Consultant without following the selection procedures
set forth elsewhere in these rules if:

(a) Contracting Agency finds that an Emergency exists; or

(b) The Estimated Fee to be paid under the Contract does not exceed $100,000; or

(c) The following requirements are met:

(A) The services consist of or are related to Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation
Planning or Land Surveying Services or Related Services that have been substantially described, planned or
otherwise previously studied in an earlier Contract with the same Consultant and are rendered for the same Project

38



as the Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or
Related Services rendered under the earlier Contract; and

(B) Contracting Agency used either the formal selection procedure under Rule 137-048-0220 (Formal Selection
Procedure) or the formal selection procedure applicable to selection of the Consultant at the time of original selection
to select the Consultant for the earlier Contract.

(d) Continuation of Project With Extensive Estimated Fee. Where a Project is being continued under subsection 1(c)
of this rule, and the Estimated Fee is expected to exceed $250,000, the Contracting Agency must make written
findings that entering into a Contract with the Consultant, whether in the form of an amendment to an existing
Contract or a separate Contract for the additional scope of services, will:

(A) Promote efficient use of public funds and resources and result in substantial cost savings to the Contracting
Agency; and,

(B) Protect the integrity of the Public Contracting process and the competitive nature of the Procurement by not
encouraging favoritism or substantially diminishing competition in the award of the Contract.

(2) Contracting Agency may select a Consultant for a Contract under this rule from any and all Consultants offering
the required Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying
Services or Related Services that the Contracting Agency reasonably can identify under the circumstances.

(3) The Contracting Agency shall direct negotiations with a Consultant selected under this rule toward obtaining
written agreement on:

(a) The Consultant's performance obligations and performance schedule;

(b) Payment methodology, Consultant’s rates and number of hours, and a maximum amount payable to the
Consultant for the Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying
Services or Related Services required under the Contract that is fair and reasonable to the Contracting Agency as
determined solely by the Contracting Agency, taking into account the value, scope, complexity and nature of the
Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or
Related Services; and

(c) Any other provisions the Contracting Agency believes to be in the Contracting Agency's best interest to negotiate.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279C.105
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C110 & ORS 279C.115

137-048-0210

Informal Selection Procedure

(1) Contracting Agency may use the informal selection procedure described in this rule to obtain a Contract if the
Estimated Fee is expected not to exceed $250,000.

(2) If using the informal selection procedure on the basis of qualifications alone or, for Related Services, on the basis
of price and/or qualifications, Contracting Agency shall:

(a) Create a Request for Proposals that includes at a minimum the following:

(A) A description of the Project for which a Consultant's Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping,
Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or Related Services are needed and a description of the
Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or
Related Services that will be required under the resulting Contract;

(B) The anticipated Contract performance schedule;

(C) Conditions or limitations, if any, that may constrain or prohibit the selected Consultant's ability to provide
additional services related to the Project, including construction services;

(D) The date and time Proposals are due and other directions for submitting Proposals;

(E) Criteria upon which the most qualified Consultant will be selected. Selection criteria may include, but are not
limited to, the following:

(i) Consultant’s specialized experience, capabilities and technical competence, which may be demonstrated with
Consultant’s proposed approach and methodology to meet the project requirements;

(i) The amount and type of resources and number of experienced staff the Consultant has committed to perform the
Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or
Related Services described in the Request for Proposals within the applicable time limits, including the current and
projected workloads of such staff and the proportion of time such staff would have available for the Architectural,
Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or Related Services;
(iii) Proposed management techniques for the Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation
Planning or Land Surveying Services or Related Services described in the Request for Proposals;

(iv) A Consultant's capability, experience and past performance history and record in providing similar Architectural,
Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or Related Services,
including but not limited to quality of work, ability to meet schedules, cost control methods and Contract
administration practices;

39



(v) A Consultant's approach to Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or
Land Surveying Services or Related Services described in the Request for Proposals and design philosophy, if
applicable;

(vi) A Consultant's geographic proximity to and familiarity with the physical location of the Project;

(vii) Volume of work, if any, previously awarded to a Consultant, with the objective of effecting equitable distribution of
Contracts among qualified Consultants, provided such distribution does not violate the principle of selecting the most
qualified Consultant for the type of professional services required;

(viii) A Consultant's ownership status and employment practices regarding women, minorities and emerging small
businesses or historically underutilized businesses;

(ix) If the Contracting Agency complies with the additional requirements of Section (3) of this Rule or is selecting a
Consultant to provide Related Services, pricing policies and pricing proposals or other pricing information, including
the number of hours proposed for the services required, expenses, hourly rates and overhead.

(F) A Statement that Proposers responding to the RFP do so solely at their expense, and Contracting Agency is not
responsible for any Proposer expenses associated with the RFP;

(G) A statement directing Proposers to the protest procedures set forth in these Division 48 rules; and

(H) A sample form of the Contract.

(b) Provide a Request for Proposals to a minimum of three (3) prospective Consultants drawn from any and all
Consultants that the Contracting Agency reasonably can locate that offer the desired Architectural, Engineering,
Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or Related Services, or any
combination of the foregoing. If three (3) prospective Consultants cannot reasonably be located, Contracting Agency
shall document its efforts in writing and provide the RFP to those Consultants that were located.

(c) Review and rank all Proposals received according to the criteria set forth in the Request for Proposals.

(3) Pricing policies, proposals or other pricing information may be used as part of the Contracting Agency’s screening
and selection process, if Contracting Agency:

(a) States in the RFP:

(A) That the Contracting Agency will screen and select Consultants as provided in ORS 279C.110(5);

(B) How the Contracting Agency will rank proposals from Consultants, with a specific focus on:

(i) Which factors the Contracting Agency will consider in evaluating proposals, including pricing policies, proposals, or
other pricing information; and

(ii) The relative weight in points or percentages the Contracting Agency will give each factor;

(C) An estimate of the cost of services the Contracting Agency seeks in the procurement;

(D) A sufficiently detailed scope of work to enable a Consultant to prepare a responsive Proposal.

(b) First evaluates each Consultant on the basis of the Consultant’s qualifications to perform the services described in
the solicitation document.

(c) Announces the evaluation scores and rank of each Consultant according to the solicitation criteria. The
Contracting Agency may identify up to three (3) of the top-ranked prospective Consultants as qualified to perform the
services sought and may request a pricing proposal from each. The pricing proposals:

(A) Must include:

(i) A schedule of hourly rates that the Consultant will charge for the work of each individual or each labor classification
that will perform the services sought that is irrevocable for not less than ninety (90) days after the date of the
Proposal; and

(ii) A reasonable estimate of hours that the Consultant will require to perform the services sought.

(B) May include, at the Contracting Agency’s request, additional pricing information that is limited to:

(i) A description of each task proposed by Consultant;

(i) A list of each individual or labor classification that will perform each task, together with the hourly rate that applies
to each individual or labor classification; and

(iii) A list of reimbursable expenses, including travel expenses, that the Consultant expects to incur when providing
the proposed services.

(d) Permits each top-ranked Consultant to withdraw from consideration for award if the Consultants does not wish to
provide a price proposal.

(f) Completes the evaluation and selects a Consultant from among the identified top-ranked Consultants, giving not
more than fifteen (15) percent weight to each Consultant’s price proposal.

(4) If Contracting Agency does not cancel the RFP after it reviews and ranks each Consultant, Contracting Agency
will begin negotiating a Contract with the highest ranked Consultant. Contracting Agency shall direct negotiations
toward obtaining written agreement on:

(a) The Consultant's scope of services, performance obligations and performance schedule;

(b) Payment methodology, Consultant’s rates and number of hours, and a maximum amount payable to the
Consultant for the Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying
Services or Related Services required under the Contract that is fair and reasonable to the Contracting Agency as
determined solely by the Contracting Agency, taking into account the value, scope, complexity and nature of the
Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or
Related Services; and

40



(c) Any other provisions the Contracting Agency believes to be in the Contracting Agency's best interest to negotiate.
(5) The Contracting Agency shall, either orally or in writing, formally terminate negotiations with the highest ranked
Consultant, if the Contracting Agency and Consultant are unable for any reason to reach agreement on a Contract
within a reasonable amount of time. The Contracting Agency may thereafter negotiate with the second ranked
Consultant, and if necessary, with the third ranked Consultant, in accordance with Section (4) of this rule, and as
limited by Section (3) of this rule to the identified top-ranked Consultants, if price was an evaluation criteria, until
negotiations result in a Contract. If negotiations with any of the Consultants do not result in a Contract within a
reasonable amount of time, the Contracting Agency may end the particular informal solicitation and thereafter may
proceed with a new informal solicitation under this rule or proceed with a formal solicitation under Rule 137-048-0220
(Formal Selection Procedure).

(6) The Contracting Agency shall terminate the informal selection procedure and proceed with the formal selection
procedure under Rule 137-048-0220 if the scope of the anticipated Contract is revised during negotiations so that the
Estimated Fee will exceed $250,000.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279C.105
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.110

137-048-0220

Formal Selection Procedure

(1) Contracting Agency shall use the formal selection procedure described in this rule to select Consultants if the
Consultants cannot be selected under either 137-048-0200 (Direct Appointment Procedure) or under 137-048-0210
(Informal Selection Procedure). The formal selection procedure described in this rule may otherwise be used at
Contracting Agency's discretion.

(2) When using the formal selection procedure Contracting Agency shall obtain Contracts through public
advertisement of Requests for Proposals, or Requests for Qualifications followed by Requests for Proposals.

(a) Except as provided in subsection (b) of this section, Contracting Agency shall advertise each RFP and RFQ at
least once in at least one newspaper of general circulation in the area where the Project is located and in as many
other issues and publications as desired by Contracting Agency to achieve adequate competition. Other issues and
publications may include, but are not limited to, local newspapers, trade journals, and publications targeted to reach
the minority, women and emerging small business enterprise audiences.

(A) Contracting Agency shall publish the advertisement within a reasonable time before the deadline for the Proposal
submission or response to the RFQ or RFP, but in any event no fewer than fourteen (14) calendar days before the
closing date set forth in the RFQ or RFP.

(B) Contracting Agency shall include a brief description of the following items in the advertisement:

(i) The Project;

(ii) A description of the Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land
Surveying Services or Related Services the Contracting Agency seeks;

(iii) How and where Consultants may obtain a copy of the RFQ or RFP; and

(iv) The deadline for submitting a Proposal or response to the RFQ or RFP.

(b) In the alternative to advertising in a newspaper as described in subsection (2)(a) of this rule, the Contracting
Agency shall publish each RFP and RFQ by one or more of the electronic methods identified in Rule 137-046-
0110(14). The Contracting Agency shall comply with subsections (2)(a)(A) and (2)(a)(B) of this rule when publishing
advertisements by electronic methods.

(c) In addition to publishing notice under Subsections (a) and (b) of this Section, Contracting Agency may also
choose to send the RFP or RFQ, or notice thereof, directly to qualified Consultants.

(3) Request for Qualifications Procedure. Contracting Agency may use the RFQ procedure to evaluate potential
Consultants and establish a short list of qualified Consultants to whom the Contracting Agency may issue an RFP for
some or all of the Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying
Services or Related Services described in the RFQ.

(a) A Contracting Agency shall include the following, at a minimum, in each RFQ:

(A) A brief description of the Project for which the Contracting Agency is seeking Consultants;

(B) A description of the Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land
Surveying Services or Related Services the Contracting Agency seeks for the Project;

(C) Conditions or limitations, if any, that may constrain or prohibit the selected Consultant's ability to provide
additional services related to the Project, including but not limited to construction services;

(D) The deadline for submitting a response to the RFQ;

(E) A description of required Consultant qualifications for the Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping,
Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or Related Services the Contracting Agency seeks;

(F) The RFQ evaluation criteria, including weights, points or other classifications applicable to each criterion;

(G) A statement whether or not the Contracting Agency will hold a pre-qualification meeting for all interested
Consultants to discuss the Project and the Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation

41



Planning or Land Surveying Services or Related Services described in the RFQ and if a pre-qualification meeting will
be held, the location of the meeting and whether or not attendance is mandatory; and

(H) A Statement that Consultants responding to the RFQ do so solely at their expense, and that the Contracting
Agency is not responsible for any Consultant expenses associated with the RFQ.

(b) A Contracting Agency may not request pricing policies, cost proposals, or other pricing information in the RFQ, but
may request for any or all of the following:

(A) A statement describing Consultants' general qualifications and related performance information;

(B) A description of Consultants' specific qualifications to perform the Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric
Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or Related Services described in the RFQ including
Consultants' committed resources and recent, current and projected workloads;

(C) A list of similar Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying
Services or Related Services and references concerning past performance, including but not limited to price and cost
data from previous projects, quality of work, ability to meet schedules, cost control and contract administration;

(D) A copy of all records, if any, of Consultants' performance under Contracts with any other Contracting Agency;

(E) The number of Consultants' experienced staff committed to perform the Architectural, Engineering,
Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or Related Services described in the
RFQ, including such personnel's specific qualifications and experience and an estimate of the proportion of time that
such personnel would spend on those services;

(F) Consultants' approaches to Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or
Land Surveying Services or Related Services described in the RFQ and design philosophy, if applicable;

(G) Consultants' geographic proximity to and familiarity with the physical location of the Project;

(H) Consultants’ Ownership status and employment practices regarding women, minorities and emerging small
businesses or historically underutilized businesses;

() If the Contracting Agency is selecting a Consultant to provide Related Services, Consultants' pricing policies and
pricing proposals or other pricing information, including the number of hours proposed for the services required,
expenses, hourly rates and overhead;

(J) Consultants' ability to assist Contracting Agency in complying with the solar energy technology requirements of
ORS 279C.527; and

(K) Any other information Contracting Agency deems reasonably necessary to evaluate Consultants' qualifications.
(c) Contracting Agency may use any reasonable screening or evaluation method to establish a short list of qualified
Consultants, including but not limited to, the following:

(A) Requiring Consultants responding to an RFQ to achieve a threshold score before qualifying for placement on the
short list;

(B) Placing a pre-determined number of the highest scoring Consultants on a short list;

(C) Placing on a short list only those Consultants with certain essential qualifications or experience, whose practice is
limited to a particular subject area, or who practice in a particular geographic locale or region, provided that such
factors are material, would not unduly restrict competition, and were announced as dispositive in the RFQ.

(d) No Consultant will be eligible for placement on a Contracting Agency's short list established under subsection
(3)(d) of this rule if Consultant or any of Consultant's principals, partners or associates are members of the
Contracting Agency's RFQ evaluation committee.

(e) Except when the RFQ is cancelled, a Contracting Agency shall provide a copy of the subsequent RFP to each
Consultant on the short list.

(4) Formal Selection of Consultants Through Request for Proposals. Contracting Agency shall use the procedure
described in this Section (4) of this rule when issuing an RFP for a Contract described in Section (1) of this rule.

(a) RFP Required Contents. Contracting Agency using the formal selection procedure shall include at least the
following in each Request for Proposals, whether or not the RFP is preceded by an RFQ:

(A) General background information, including a description of the Project and the specific Architectural, Engineering,
Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or Related Services sought for the
Project, the estimated Project cost, the estimated time period during which the Project is to be completed, and the
estimated time period in which the specific Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation
Planning or Land Surveying Services or Related Services sought will be performed.

(B) The RFP evaluation process and the criteria which will be used to select the most qualified Proposer, including
the weights, points or other classifications applicable to each criterion. If the Contracting Agency does not indicate the
applicable number of points, weights or other classifications, then each criterion is of equal value. Evaluation criteria
may include, but are not limited to, the following:

(i) Proposers' availability and capability to perform the Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping,
Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or Related Services described in the RFP;

(ii) Experience of Proposers' key staff persons in providing similar Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric
Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services, or Related Services on comparable projects;

(iif) The amount and type of resources, and number of experienced staff persons Proposers have committed to
perform the Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying
Services or Related Services described in the RFP;

42



(iv) The recent, current and projected workloads of the staff and resources referenced in subsection (4)(a)(B)(iii),
above;

(v) The proportion of time Proposers estimate that the staff referenced in subsection (4)(a)(B)(iii), above, would spend
on the Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or
Related Services described in the RFP;

(vi) Proposers' demonstrated ability to complete successfully similar Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric
Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or Related Services on time and within budget,
including whether or not there is a record of satisfactory performance;

(vii) References and recommendations from past clients;

(viii) Proposers' performance history in meeting deadlines, submitting accurate estimates, producing high quality
work, meeting financial obligations, price and cost data from previous projects, cost controls and contract
administration;

(ix) Status and quality of any required license or certification;

(x) Proposers' knowledge and understanding of the Project and Architectural, Engineering and Land Surveying
Services or Related Services described in the RFP as shown in Proposers' approaches to staffing and scheduling
needs for the Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying
Services or Related Services and proposed solutions to any perceived design and constructability issues;

(xi) Results from interviews, if conducted;

(xii) Design philosophy, if applicable, and approach to the Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping,
Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or Related Services described in the RFP;

(xiii) If the Contracting Agency complies with the additional requirements of Section (4)(b) of this Rule, or is selecting
a Consultant to provide Related Services, pricing policies and pricing proposals or other pricing information, including
the number of hours proposed for the services required, expenses, hourly rates and overhead; and

(xiv) Any other criteria that the Contracting Agency deems relevant to the Project and the Architectural, Engineering,
Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or Related Services described in the
RFP, including, where the nature and budget of the Project so warrant, a design competition between competing
Proposers. Provided, however, these additional criteria cannot include pricing policies, pricing proposals or other
pricing information, including the number of hours proposed for the services required, expenses, hourly rates and
overhead, when the sole purpose or predominant purpose of the RFP is to obtain Architectural, Engineering,
Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services.

(C) Conditions or limitations, if any, that may constrain or prohibit the selected Consultant's ability to provide
additional services related to the Project, including but not limited to construction services;

(D) Whether interviews are possible and if so, the weight, points or other classifications applicable to the potential
interview;

(E) The date and time Proposals are due, and the delivery location for Proposals;

(F) Reservation of the right to seek clarifications of each Proposal;

(G) Reservation of the right to negotiate a final Contract that is in the best interest of the Contracting Agency;

(H) Reservation of the right to reject any or all Proposals and reservation of the right to cancel the RFP at any time if
doing either would be in the public interest as determined by the Contracting Agency;

(I) A Statement that Proposers responding to the RFP do so solely at their expense, and Contracting Agency is not
responsible for any Proposer expenses associated with the RFP;

(J) A statement directing Proposers to the protest procedures set forth in these division 48 rules;

(K) Special Contract requirements, including but not limited to disadvantaged business enterprise ("DBE"), minority
business enterprise ("MBE"), women business enterprise ("WBE") and emerging small business enterprise ("ESB")
participation goals or good faith efforts with respect to DBE, MBE, WBE and ESB participation, and federal
requirements when federal funds are involved;

(L) A statement whether or not the Contracting Agency will hold a pre-Proposal meeting for all interested Consultants
to discuss the Project and the Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land
Surveying Services or Related Services described in the RFP and if a pre-Proposal meeting will be held, the location
of the meeting and whether or not attendance is mandatory;

(M) A request for any information the Contracting Agency deems reasonably necessary to permit the Contracting
Agency to evaluate, rank and select the most qualified Proposer to perform the Architectural, Engineering,
Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or Related Services described in the
RFP;

(N) Where applicable, a statement requiring design compliance with ORS 279C.527, regarding green energy
technology; and

(O) A sample form of the Contract.

(b) Pricing policies, proposals or other pricing information may be used as part of the Contracting Agency’s screening
and selection process, if Contracting Agency:

(A) States in the RFP:

(i) That the Contracting Agency will screen and select Consultants as provided in ORS 279C.110(5);

(ii) How the Contracting Agency will rank proposals from Consultants, with a specific focus on:

43



1. Which factors the Contracting Agency will consider in evaluating proposals, including pricing policies, proposals, or
other pricing information; and

2. The relative weight in points or percentages the Contracting Agency will give each factor;

(iii) An estimate of the cost of services the Contracting Agency seeks in the procurement;

(iv) A sufficiently detailed scope of work to enable a Consultant to prepare a responsive Proposal.

(B) First evaluates each Consultant on the basis of the Consultant’s qualifications to perform the services described
in the solicitation document.

(C) Announces the evaluation scores and rank of each Consultant according to the solicitation criteria. The
Contracting Agency may identify up to three (3) of the top-ranked prospective Consultants as qualified to perform the
services sought and may request a pricing proposal from each. The pricing proposals:

(i) Must include:

1. A schedule of hourly rates that the Consultant will charge for the work of each individual or each labor classification
that will perform the services sought that is irrevocable for not less than ninety (90) days after the date of the
Proposal; and

2. A reasonable estimate of hours that the Consultant will require to perform the services sought.

(ii) May include, at the Contracting Agency’s request, additional pricing information that is limited to:

1. A description of each task proposed by Consultant;

2. Alist of each individual or labor classification that will perform each task, together with the hourly rate that applies
to each individual or labor classification; and

3. A list of reimbursable expenses, including travel expenses, that the Consultant expects to incur when providing the
proposed services.

(D) Permits each top-ranked Consultant to withdraw from consideration for award if the Consultant does not wish to
provide a price proposal.

(E) Completes the evaluation and selects a Consultant from among the identified top-ranked Consultants, giving not
more than fifteen (15) percent weight to each Consultant’s price proposal.

(c) RFP Evaluation Committee. The Contracting Agency shall either establish a committee or designate an individual
to review, score and rank Proposals according to the evaluation criteria set forth in the RFP. If the RFP has followed
an RFQ, the Contracting Agency may include the same members who served on the RFQ evaluation committee. The
Contracting Agency may appoint to the evaluation committee Contracting Agency employees or employees of other
public agency with experience in Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or
Land Surveying, Related Services, construction services or Public Contracting. At least one member of an evaluation
committee must be a Contracting Agency employee. If the Contracting Agency procedure permits, the Contracting
Agency may include on the evaluation committee private practitioners of architecture, engineering, land surveying or
related professions. If formed, the Contracting Agency shall designate a member of the evaluation committee as the
evaluation committee chairperson.

(d) No Proposer will be eligible for award of the Contract under the RFP if Proposer or any of Proposer's principals,
partners or associates are members of the Contracting Agency's RFP evaluation committee for the Contract;

(e) If the Contracting Agency does not cancel the RFP after completing the scoring and ranking for each Proposer,
the Contracting Agency will begin negotiating a Contract with the highest ranked Proposer. The Contracting Agency
shall direct negotiations toward obtaining written agreement on:

(A) The Consultant's scope of services, performance obligations and performance schedule;

(B) Payment methodology, Consultant’s rates and number hours, and a maximum amount payable to the Consultant
for the Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or
Related Services required under the Contract that is fair and reasonable to the Contracting Agency as determined
solely by the Contracting Agency, taking into account the value, scope, complexity and nature of the Architectural,
Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or Related Services;
and

(C) Any other provisions the Contracting Agency believes to be in the Contracting Agency's best interest to negotiate.
(f) The Contracting Agency shall, either orally or in writing, formally terminate negotiations with the highest ranked
Proposer if the Contracting Agency and Proposer are unable for any reason to reach agreement on a Contract within
a reasonable amount of time. The Contracting Agency may thereafter negotiate with the second ranked Proposer,
and if necessary, with the third ranked Proposer, and so on, in accordance with subsection (4)(e), and as limited by
subsection (4)(b) of this rule to the identified top-ranked Consultants, if price was an evaluation criteria, until
negotiations result in a Contract. If negotiations with any Proposer do not result in a Contract within a reasonable
amount of time, the Contracting Agency may end the particular formal solicitation. Nothing in this rule precludes a
Contracting Agency from proceeding with a new formal solicitation for the same Architectural, Engineering,
Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or Related Services described in the
RFP that failed to result in a Contract.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.110 & ORS 279C.527

44



137-048-0230

Ties Among Proposers

(1) If Contracting Agency is selecting a Consultant on the basis of qualifications alone and determines after the
ranking of Proposers that two or more Proposers are equally qualified, the Contracting Agency may select a
candidate through any process that the Contracting Agency believes will result in the best value for the Contracting
Agency taking into account the scope, complexity and nature of the Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric
Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services. Provided, however, the tie breaking process
established by the Contracting Agency under this Section (1) cannot be based on the Consultant's pricing policies,
pricing proposals or other pricing information, including the number of hours proposed for the services required,
expenses, hourly rates and overhead. The process must be designed to instill public confidence through ethical and
fair dealing, honesty and good faith on the part of the Contracting Agency and Proposers and shall protect the
integrity of the Public Contracting process. Once a tie is broken, the Contracting Agency and the selected Proposer
shall proceed with negotiations under Rules 137-048-0210(4) or 137-048-0220(4)(c), as applicable.

(2) If Contracting Agency is selecting a Consultant on the basis of price alone, or on the basis of price and
qualifications, and determines after the ranking of Proposers that two or more Proposers are identical in terms of
price or are identical in terms of price and qualifications, then the Contracting Agency shall follow the procedure set
forth in Rule 137-046-0300 (Preferences for Oregon Goods and Services), to select the Consultant.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279C.105
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.105 & ORS 279C.110

137-048-0240

Protest Procedures

(1) RFP Protest and Request for Change. Pursuant to ORS 279C.110(8), Consultants may submit a written protest
of anything contained in an RFP and may request a change to any provision, specification or Contract term contained
in an RFP, no later than seven (7) calendar days prior to the date Proposals are due, unless a different deadline is
indicated in the RFP. Each protest and request for change must include the reasons for the protest or request, and
any proposed changes to the RFP provisions, specifications or Contract terms. The Contracting Agency may not
consider any protest or request for change that is submitted after the submission deadline.

(2) Protest of Consultant Selection. Pursuant to ORS 279C.110(8), Consultants may protest Contracting Agency’s
Consultant selection for award, as follows:

(a) Single Award. In the event of an award to a single Proposer, the Contracting Agency shall provide to all Proposers
a copy of the selection notice that the Contracting Agency sent to the highest ranked Proposer. A Proposer who
claims to have been adversely affected or aggrieved by the selection of the highest ranked Proposer may submit a
written protest of the selection to the Contracting Agency no later than seven (7) calendar days after the date of the
selection notice unless a different deadline is indicated in the RFP. A Proposer submitting a protest must claim that
the protesting Proposer is the highest ranked Proposer because the Proposals of all higher ranked Proposers failed
to meet the requirements of the RFP or because the higher ranked Proposers otherwise are not qualified to perform
the Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or
Related Services described in the RFP.

(b) Multiple Award. In the event of an award to more than one Proposer, the Contracting Agency shall provide to all
Proposers copies of the selection notices that the Contracting Agency sent to the highest ranked Proposers. A
Proposer who claims to have been adversely affected or aggrieved by the selection of the highest ranked Proposers
may submit a written protest of the selection to the Contracting Agency no later than seven (7) calendar days after
the date of the selection notices, unless a different deadline is indicated in the RFP. A Proposer submitting a protest
must claim that the protesting Proposer is one of the highest ranked proposers because the Proposals of all higher
ranked Proposers failed to meet the requirements of the RFP, or because a sufficient number of Proposals of higher
ranked Proposers failed to meet the requirements of the RFP. In the alternative, a Proposer submitting a protest must
claim that the Proposals of all higher ranked Proposers, or a sufficient number of higher ranked Proposers, are not
qualified to perform the Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land
Surveying Services or Related Services described in the RFP.

(c) Effect of Protest Submission Deadline. A Contracting Agency may not consider any protest that is submitted after
the submission deadline.

(3) Resolution of Protests. A duly authorized representative of the Contracting Agency shall resolve all timely
submitted protests within a reasonable time following the Contracting Agency's receipt of the protest and once
resolved, shall promptly issue a written decision on the protest to the Proposer who submitted the protest. If the
protest results in a change to the RFP, the Contracting Agency shall revise the RFP accordingly and shall re-
advertise the RFP in accordance with these rules.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279C.105
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065 & 279C.110

45



137-048-0250

Solicitation Cancellation, Delay or Suspension; Rejection of All Proposals or Responses; Consultant
Responsibility for Costs

A Contracting Agency may cancel, delay or suspend a solicitation, RFQ or other preliminary Procurement document,
whether related to a Direct Appointment Procedure (Rule 137-048-0200), the Informal Selection Procedure (Rule
137-048-0210), or the Formal Selection Procedure (Rule 137-048-0220), or reject all Proposals, responses to RFQs,
responses to other preliminary Procurement documents, or any combination of the foregoing, if the Contracting
Agency believes it is in the public interest to do so. In the event of any such cancellation, delay, suspension or
rejection, the Contracting Agency is not liable to any Proposer for any loss or expense caused by or resulting from
any such cancellation, delay, suspension or rejection. Consultants responding to either solicitations, RFQs or other
preliminary Procurement documents are responsible for all costs they may incur in connection with submitting
Proposals, responses to RFQs or responses to other preliminary Procurement documents. In the event of any such
cancellation, Contracting Agency shall return Proposals to Proposers and keep a list of returned Proposals in the
Solicitation file, in accordance with ORS 279C.107.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279C.110

137-048-0260

Two-Tiered Selection Procedure when State Agency is Lead Contracting Agency

(1) If the Contracting Agency requires an Architect, Engineer, Photogrammetrist, Transportation Planner or Land
Surveyor to perform Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land
Surveying Services or Related Services for a public improvement owned and maintained by that Local Contracting
Agency, and a State Agency will serve as the lead Contracting Agency and will enter into Contracts with Architects,
Photogrammetrists, Transportation Planners, Engineers or Land Surveyors for Architectural, Engineering,
Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or Related Services for that public
improvement, the State Contracting Agency shall utilize the two-tiered selection process described below to obtain
these Contracts with Architects, Engineers, Photogrammetrists, Transportation Planners, or Land Surveyors.

(2) Tier One. The State Contracting Agency shall, when feasible, identify no fewer than the three (3) most qualified
Proposers responding to an RFP pursuant to its own rules or, if permitted by state, by these Division 48 rules
applicable selection procedures described in from among Architects, Engineers, Photogrammetrists, Transportation
Planners, or Land Surveyors, and shall notify the Local Contracting Agency of the Architects, Engineers,
Photogrammetrists, Transportation Planners, or Land Surveyors selected.

(3) Tier Two. In accordance with the qualifications-based selection requirements of ORS 279C.110, the Local
Contracting Agency shall either:

(a) Select an Architect, Engineer, Photogrammetrist, Transportation Planner or Land Surveyor from the State
Contracting Agency's list of Proposers to perform the Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping,
Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or Related Services for Local Contracting Agency's public
improvement; or

(b) Select an Architect, Engineer, Photogrammetrist, Transportation Planner or Land Surveyor to perform the
Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or
Related Services for Local Contracting Agency's public improvement through an alternative process adopted by the
Local Contracting Agency, consistent with the provisions of the applicable RFP, if any, and these division 48 rules.
The Local Contracting Agency's alternative process must be described in the applicable RFP, may be structured to
take into account the unique circumstances of the Local Contracting Agency and may include provisions to allow the
Local Contracting Agency to perform its tier two responsibilities efficiently and economically, alone or in cooperation
with other Local Contracting Agencies. The Local Contracting Agency's alternative process may include, but is not
limited to, one or more of the following methods:

(A) A general written direction from the Local Contracting Agency to the State Contracting Agency, prior to the
advertisement of a Procurement or series of Procurements or during the course of the Procurement or series of
Procurements, that the Local Contracting Agency's tier two selection shall be the highest-ranked firm identified by the
State Contracting Agency during the tier one process, and that no further coordination or consultation with the Local
Contracting Agency is required. However, the Local Contracting Agency may provide written notice to the State
Contracting Agency that the Local Contracting Agency's general written direction is not to be applied for a particular
Procurement and describe the process that the Local Contracting Agency will utilize for the particular Procurement. In
order for a written direction from the Local Contracting Agency consistent with this subsection to be effective for a
particular Procurement, it must be received by the State Contracting Agency with adequate time for the State
Contracting Agency to revise the RFP in order for Proposers to be notified of the tier two process to be utilized in the
Procurement. In the event of a multiple award under the terms of the applicable Procurement, the written direction
from the Local Contracting Agency may apply to the highest ranked firms that are selected under the terms of the
Procurement document.

46



(B) An intergovernmental agreement between the Local Contracting Agency and the State Contracting Agency
outlining the alternative process that the Local Contracting Agency has adopted for a Procurement or series of
Procurements.

(C) Where multiple Local Government Agencies are involved in a two-tiered selection procedure, the Local
Government Agencies may name one or more authorized representative(s) to act on behalf of all the Local
Government Agencies, whether the Local Government Agencies are acting collectively or individually, to select the
Architect, Engineer, Photogrammetrist, Transportation Planner or Land Surveyor to perform the Architectural,
Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or Related Services
under the tier two selection process. In the event of a multiple award under the terms of the applicable Procurement,
the authorized representative(s) of the Local Contracting Agencies may act on behalf of the Local Contracting
Agencies to select the highest ranked firms that are required under the terms of the Procurement document, as part
of the tier two selection process.

(4) The State Contracting Agency shall thereafter begin Contract negotiations with the selected Architect, Engineer,
Photogrammetrist, Transportation Planner or Land Surveyor in accordance with the negotiation provisions in Rule
137-048-0200 (Direct Appointment Procedure), 137-048-0210 (Informal Selection Procedure) or 137-048-0220
(Formal Selection Procedure) as applicable.

(5) Nothing in these division 48 rules should be construed to deny or limit a Local Contracting Agency's ability to enter
into a Contract directly with Architects, Engineers, Photogrammetrists, Transportation Planners, or Land Surveyors
pursuant to ORS 279C.125(4), through a selection process established by that Local Contracting Agency.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279C.105
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.110 & ORS 279C.125

137-048-0270

Price Agreements

(1) Contracting Agency may establish Price Agreements for Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping,
Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or Related Services, when the Contracting Agency cannot
determine the precise quantities of those Services which the Contracting Agency will require over a specified time
period.

(2) When establishing Price Agreements under this rule, a Contracting Agency shall select no fewer than three
Consultants, when feasible. The selection procedures for establishing Price Agreements shall be in accordance with
Rule 137-048-0130(1) or 137-048-0130(2), as applicable. Contracting Agency may select a single Consultant, when a
Price Agreement is awarded to obtain services for a specific Project or a closely-related group of Projects.

(3) Solicitation materials and the terms and conditions for a Price Agreement for Architectural, Engineering,
Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or Related Services must:

(a) Include a scope of services, menu of services, a specification for services or a similar description of the nature,
general scope, complexity and purpose of the procurement that will reasonably enable a prospective bidder or
Proposer to decide whether to submit a bid or proposal;

(b) Specify whether the Contracting Agency intends to award a Price Agreement to one Consultant or to multiple
Consultants. If the Contracting Agency will award a Price Agreement to more than one Consultant, the solicitation
document and Price Agreement shall describe the criteria and procedures the Contracting Agency will use to select a
Consultant for each individual work order or task order. Subject to the requirements of ORS 279C.110, the criteria
and procedures to assign work orders or task orders that only involve or predominantly involve Architectural,
Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying services are at the Contracting
Agency's sole discretion. In accordance with Rule 137-048-0130(2) applicable to Related Services procurements, the
selection criteria and procedures may be based solely on the qualifications of the Consultants, solely on pricing
information, or a combination of both qualifications and pricing information. Pricing information requested for Price
Agreements with any Division 48 Consultant may include the number of hours proposed for the services required,
expenses, hourly rates, the number of hours, overhead and other price factors. Work order or task order assignment
procedures under Price Agreements may include direct appointments, subject to the requirements of Rule 137-048-
0200; and

(c) Specify the maximum term for assigning Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation
Planning or Land Surveying Services or Related Services under the Price Agreement.

(4) All Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or
Related Services assigned under a Price Agreement require a written work order or task order issued by the
Contracting Agency. Any work orders or task orders assigned under a Price Agreement must include, at a minimum,
the following:

(a) A clearly defined statement of work and performance schedule for any deliverables;

(b) The payment methodology, Consultant rates and number of hours, and a maximum, not-to-exceed price for the
services required under the work order or task order that is fair and reasonable to the Contracting Agency, as
determined solely by the Contracting Agency, taking into account the value, scope, complexity and nature of the
services; and

47



(c) Language that incorporates all applicable terms and conditions of the Price Agreement into the work order or task
order; and
(d) Any other provisions the Contracting Agency believes to be in the Contracting Agency’s best interest.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279C.105
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065,0RS 279C.110 & ORS 279C.120

POST-SELECTION CONSIDERATIONS

137-048-0300

Prohibited Payment Methodology; Purchase Restrictions

(1) Except as otherwise allowed by law, Contracting Agency shall not enter into any Contract which includes
compensation provisions that expressly provide for payment of:

(a) Consultant's costs under the Contract plus a percentage of those costs; or

(b) A percentage of the Project construction costs or total Project costs.

(2) Except as otherwise allowed by law, Contracting Agency shall not enter into any Contract in which:

(a) The compensation paid under the Contract is solely based on or limited to the Consultant's hourly rates for the
Consultant's personnel working on the Project and reimbursable expenses incurred during the performance of work
on the Project (sometimes referred to as a "time and materials" Contract); and

(b) The Contract does not include a maximum amount payable to the Consultant for the Architectural, Engineering,
Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or Related Services required under
the Contract.

(3) Except in cases of Emergency or in the particular instances noted in the subsections below, Contracting Agency
shall not purchase any building materials, supplies or equipment for any building, structure or facility constructed by
or for Contracting Agency from any Consultant under a Contract with Contracting Agency to perform Architectural,
Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or Related Services,
for the building, structure or facility. This prohibition does not apply if either of the following circumstances exists:
(a) The Consultant is providing Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or
Land Surveying Services or Related Services under a Contract with a Contracting Agency to perform Design-Build
services or Energy Savings Performance Contract services (see Rules 137-049-0670 and 137-049-0680); or

(b) That portion of the Contract relating to the acquisition of building materials, supplies or equipment was awarded to
the Consultant pursuant to applicable law governing the award of such a Contract.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279C.105
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279C.105

137-048-0310

Expired or Terminated Contracts; Reinstatement

(1) If Contracting Agency enters into a Contract for Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping,
Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or Related Services and that Contract subsequently expires or is
terminated, the Contracting Agency may proceed as follows, subject to the requirements of subsection (2) of this rule:
(a) Expired Contracts. If the Contract has expired as the result of Project delay caused by the Contracting Agency or
caused by any other occurrence outside the reasonable control of the Contracting Agency or the Consultant, and if no
more than one year has passed since the Contract expiration date, the Contracting Agency may amend the Contract
to extend the Contract expiration date, revise the description of the Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric
Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or Related Services required under the Contract to
reflect any material alteration of the Project made as a result of the delay, and revise the applicable performance
schedule. Beginning on the effective date of the amendment, the Contracting Agency and the Consultant shall
continue performance under the Contract as amended; or

(b) Terminated Contracts. If Contracting Agency or both parties to the Contract have terminated the Contract for any
reason and if no more than one year has passed since the Contract termination date, then the Contracting Agency
may enter into a new Contract with the same Consultant to perform the remaining Architectural, Engineering and
Land Surveying Services, or Related Services not completed under the original Contract, or to perform any remaining
Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land Surveying Services or
Related Services not completed under the Contract as adjusted to reflect a material alteration of the Project.

(2) The Contracting Agency may proceed under either subsection (1)(a) or subsection (1)(b) of this rule only after
making written findings that amending the existing Contract or entering into a new Contract with the Consultant will:
(a) Promote efficient use of public funds and resources and result in substantial cost savings to the Contracting
Agency;

48



(b) Protect the integrity of the Public Contracting process and the competitive nature of the Procurement process by
not encouraging favoritism or substantially diminishing competition in the award of Contracts; and
(c) Result in a Contract that is still within the scope of the final form of the original Procurement document.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279C.105
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279C.110

137-048-0320

Contract Amendments

(1) A Contracting Agency may amend any Contract if the Contracting Agency, in its sole discretion, determines that
the amendment is within the scope of the Solicitation Document and that the amendment would not materially impact
the field of competition for the Architectural, Engineering, Photogrammetric Mapping, Transportation Planning or Land
Surveying Services or Related Services described in the final form of the original Procurement document. In making
this determination, the Contracting Agency shall consider potential alternative methods of procuring the services
contemplated under the proposed amendment. An amendment would not materially impact the field of competition for
the services described in the Solicitation Document if the Contracting Agency reasonably believes that the number of
Proposers would not significantly increase if the Procurement document were re-issued to include the additional
services.

(2) The Contracting Agency may amend any Contract if the additional services are required by reason of existing or
new laws, rules, regulations or ordinances of federal, state or local agencies, which affect performance of the original
Contract.

(3) All amendments to Contracts must be in writing, must be signed by an authorized representative of the Consultant
and the Contracting Agency and must receive all required approvals before the amendments will be binding on the
Contracting Agency.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279C.105
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279C.110

49



PUBLIC CONTRACTING RULES 2023
DIVISION 49

GENERAL PROVISIONS RELATED TO PUBLIC CONTRACTS FOR CONSTRUCTION SERVICES

137-049-0100

Application

(1) These division 49 rules apply to Public Improvement Contracts as well as Public Contracts for ordinary
construction services that are not Public Improvements. Rules that apply specifically to Public Improvement
Contracts are so identified.

(2) These division 49 rules address matters covered in ORS Chapter 279C (with the exception of
Architectural, Engineering, Land Surveying and Related Services, all of which are addressed in division 48
of the Rules).

(3) These division 49 Rules become effective upon adoption, and apply to the Contracts described in section
(1) above first advertised, but if not advertised then entered into, on or after that date.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065

137-049-0110

Policies

In addition to the general Code policies set forth in ORS 279A.015, the ORS 279C.300 policy on competition
and the ORS 279C.305 policy on least-cost for Public Improvements apply to these division 49 rules.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.300 & ORS 279C.305

137-049-0120

Definitions

(1) “Conduct Disqualification” means a Disqualification pursuant to ORS 279C.440.

(2) “Disqualification” means the preclusion of a Person from contracting with a Contracting Agency for a
period of time in accordance with Rule 137-049-0370. Disqualification may be a Conduct Disqualification or
DBE Disqualification.

(3) “Foreign Contractor” means a Contractor that is not domiciled in or registered to do business in the
State of Oregon. See Rule 137-049-0480.

(4) “Notice” means any of the alternative forms of public announcement of Procurements, as described in
Rule 137-049-0210.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279A.110

137-049-0130

Competitive Bidding Requirement

A Contracting Agency shall solicit Bids for Public Improvement Contracts by Invitation to Bid ("ITB"), except
as otherwise allowed or required by these Rules, or pursuant to ORS 279C.335 on competitive bidding
exceptions and exemptions, 279A.030 on federal law overrides or 279A.100 on affirmative action. Also see
Rules 137-049-0600 to 137-049-0690 regarding the use of Alternative Contracting Methods and the
exemption process.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.335

137-049-0140

Contracts for Construction Other than Public Improvements

(1) Procurement Under ORS Chapter 279B. Pursuant to ORS 279C.320, Public Contracts for construction
services that are not Public Improvement Contracts, other than Emergency Contracts regulated under ORS
279C.335(6) and Rule 137-049-0150, may be procured and amended as general trade services under the
provisions of ORS Chapter 279B and division 47 Rules, rather than under the provisions of ORS Chapter
279C and these division 49 rules.

50



(2) Application of ORS Chapter 279C. Non-procurement provisions of ORS Chapter 279C and these
division 49 rules may still be applicable to the resulting Contracts. See, for example, particular statutes on
Disqualification (ORS 279C.440, 445 and 450); Legal Actions (ORS 279C.460 and 465); Required Contract
Conditions (ORS 279C.505, 515, 520 and 530); Hours of Labor (ORS 279C.540 and 545); Retainage (ORS
279C.550, 560 and 565); Subcontracts (ORS 279C.580); Action on Payment Bonds (ORS 279C.600, 605,
610, 615, 620 and 625); Termination (ORS 279C.650, 650, 660 and 670); and all of the Prevailing Wage
Rates requirements (ORS 279C.800 through 870) for Public Works Contracts.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.320

137-049-0150

Emergency Contracts; Bidding and Bonding Exemptions

(1) Emergency Declaration. A Contracting Agency may declare that Emergency circumstances exist that
require prompt execution of a Public Contract for Emergency construction or repair Work. The declaration
shall be made at an administrative level consistent with the Contracting Agency’s internal policies, by a
written declaration that describes the circumstances creating the Emergency and the anticipated harm from
failure to enter into an Emergency Contract. The Emergency declaration shall thereafter be kept on file as a
public record.

(2) Competition for Contracts. Pursuant to ORS 279C.320(1), Emergency Contracts are regulated under
ORS 279B.080, which provides that, for an emergency procurement of construction services, the
Contracting Agency shall ensure competition that is reasonable and appropriate under the Emergency
circumstances, and may include written requests for Offers, oral requests for Offers or direct appointments
without competition in cases of extreme necessity, in whatever solicitation time periods the Contracting
Agency considers reasonable in responding to the Emergency.

(3) Emergency Contract Scope. Although no dollar limitation applies to Emergency Contracts, the scope
of the Contract must be limited to Work that is necessary and appropriate to remedy the conditions creating
the Emergency as described in the declaration.

(4) Emergency Contract Modification. Emergency Contracts may be modified by change order or
amendment to address the conditions described in the original declaration or an amended declaration that
further describes additional work necessary and appropriate for related Emergency circumstances.

(5) Excusing Bonds. Pursuant to ORS 279C.380(4) and this rule, the Emergency declaration may also
state that the Contracting Agency waives the requirement of furnishing a performance bond and payment
bond for the Emergency Contract. After making such an Emergency declaration the bonding requirements
are excused for the procurement, but this Emergency declaration does not affect the separate Public Works
bond requirement for the benefit of the Bureau of Labor and Industries (BOLI) in enforcing prevailing wage
rate and overtime payment requirements. See Rule 137-049-0815 and BOLI rules at OAR 839-025-0015.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279B.080, ORS 279C.320 & ORS 279C.380

137-049-0160

Intermediate Procurements; Competitive Quotes and Amendments

(1) General. Public Improvement Contracts estimated by the Contracting Agency to cost $25,000 or more,
but not to exceed $100,000 may be Awarded in accordance with this rule.

(2) Selection Criteria. The selection criteria may be limited to price or some combination of price,
experience, specific expertise, availability, project understanding, contractor capacity, responsibility and
similar factors.

(3) Request for Quotes. Contracting Agencies shall utilize written requests for quotes whenever
reasonably practicable. Written request for quotes shall include the selection criteria to be utilized in
selecting a Contractor and, if the criteria are not of equal value, their relative value or ranking. When
requesting quotations orally, prior to requesting the price quote the Contracting Agency shall state any
additional selection criteria and, if the criteria are not of equal value, their relative value. For Public Works
Contracts, oral requests for quotes may be utilized only in the event that Written copies of the prevailing
wage rates are not required by the Bureau of Labor and Industries.

(4) Number of Quotes; Record Required. Contracting Agencies shall seek at least three competitive
quotes, and keep a written record of the sources and amounts of the quotes received. If three quotes are
not reasonably available the Contracting Agency shall make a written record of the effort made to obtain
those quotes.

51



(5) Award. If Awarded, the Contracting Agency shall Award the Contract to the prospective contractor
whose quote will best serve the interests of the Contracting Agency, taking into account the announced
selection criteria. If Award is not made to the Offeror offering the lowest price, the Contracting Agency shall
make a written record of the basis for Award.

(6) Price Increases. Intermediate level Public Improvement Contracts obtained by competitive quotes may
be increased above the original amount of Award by Contracting Agency issuance of a Change to the Work
or Amendment, pursuant to Rule 137-049-0910, within the following limitations:

(a) Up to an aggregate Contract Price increase of 25% over the original Contract amount when a
Contracting Agency’s contracting officer determines that a price increase is warranted for additional
reasonably related Work, and;

(b) Up to an aggregate Contract Price increase of 50% over the original Contract amount, when a
Contracting Agency’s contracting officer determines that a price increase is warranted for additional
reasonably related Work and a Contracting Agency official, board or governing body with administrative or
review authority over the contracting officer approves the increase.

(7) Amendments. Amendments of intermediate level Public Improvement Contracts that exceed the
thresholds stated in section (1) are specifically authorized by the Code, when made in accordance with this
rule and Rule 137-049-0910. Accordingly, such amendments are not considered new procurements and do
not require an exemption from competitive bidding.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.412.

FORMAL PROCUREMENT RULES

137-049-0200

Solicitation Documents; Required Provisions; Assignment or Transfer

(1) Solicitation Document. Pursuant to ORS 279C.365 and this rule, the Solicitation Document shall
include the following:

(a) General Information.

(A) Identification of the Public Improvement project, including the character of the Work, and applicable
plans, Specifications and other Contract documents;

(B) Notice of any pre-Offer conference as follows:

(i) The time, date and location of any pre-Offer conference;

(i) Whether attendance at the conference will be mandatory or voluntary; and

(i) That statements made by the Contracting Agency's representatives at the conference are not binding
upon the Contracting Agency unless confirmed by Written Addendum.

(C) The deadline for submitting mandatory prequalification applications and the class or classes of Work for
which Offerors must be prequalified if prequalification is a requirement;

(D) The name and title of the authorized Contracting Agency Person designated for receipt of Offers and
contact Person (if different);

(E) Instructions and information concerning the form and submission of Offers, including the address of the
office to which Offers must be delivered, any Bid or Proposal security requirements, and any other required
information or special information, e.g., whether Offers may be submitted by facsimile or electronic means
(See Rule 137-049-0300 regarding facsimile Bids or Proposals and Rule 137-049-0310 regarding electronic
Procurement);

(F) The time, date and place of Opening;

(G) The time and date of Closing after which a Contracting Agency will not accept Offers, which time shall
be not less than five Days after the date of the last publication of the advertisement. Although a minimum of
five Days is prescribed, Contracting Agencies are encouraged to use at least a 14 Day Solicitation period
when feasible. If the Contracting Agency is issuing an ITB that may result in a Public Improvement Contract
with a value in excess of $100,000, the Contracting Agency shall designate a time of Closing consistent with
the first-tier subcontractor disclosure requirements of ORS 279C.370(1)(b) and Rule 137-049-0360. For
timing issues relating to Addenda, see Rule 137-049-0250;

(H) The office where the Specifications for the Work may be reviewed;

(I) A statement that each Bidder to an ITB must identify whether the Bidder is a "resident Bidder," as defined
in ORS 279A.120;

(J) If the Contract resulting from a Solicitation will be a Contract for a Public Work subject to ORS 279C.800
to 279C.870 or the Davis-Bacon Act (40 U.S.C. 3141 to 3148), a statement that no Offer will be received or
considered by the Contracting Agency unless the Offer contains a statement by the Offeror as a part of its
Offer that "Contractor agrees to be bound by and will comply with the provisions of ORS 279C.838,
279C.840 or 40 U.S.C. 3141 to 3148.";

52



(K) A statement that the Contracting Agency will not receive or consider an Offer for a Public Improvement
Contract unless the Offeror is registered and in good standing with the Construction Contractors Bd, or is
licensed by the State Landscape Contractors Bd, as specified in Rule 137-049-0230;

(L) Whether a Contractor or a subcontractor under the Contract must be licensed under ORS 468A.720
regarding asbestos abatement projects;

(M) Contractor's certification of nondiscrimination in obtaining required subcontractors in accordance with
ORS 279A.110(4). (See Rule 137-049-0440(3));

(N) How the Contracting Agency will notify Offerors of Addenda and how the Contracting Agency will make
Addenda available (See Rule 137-049-0250); and

(O) When applicable, instructions and forms regarding First-Tier Subcontractor Disclosure requirements, as
set forth in Rule 137-049-0360.

(P) Where applicable, a statement requiring compliance with ORS 279C.527, green energy technology.

(b) Evaluation Process:

(A) A statement that the Contracting Agency may reject any Offer not in compliance with all prescribed
Public Contracting procedures and requirements, including the requirement to demonstrate the Bidder’s
responsibility under ORS 279C.375(3)(b) and may reject for good cause all Offers after finding that doing so
is in the public’s interest;

(B) The anticipated Solicitation schedule, deadlines, protest process and evaluation process, if any;

(C) Evaluation criteria, including the relative value applicable to each criterion, that the Contracting Agency
will use to determine the Responsible Bidder with the lowest Responsive Bid (where Award is based solely
on price) or the Responsible Proposer or Proposers with the best Responsive Proposal or Proposals (where
use of Competitive Proposals is authorized under ORS 279C.335 and Rule 137-049-0620), along with the
process the Contracting Agency will use to determine acceptability of the Work;

(i) If the Solicitation Document is an Invitation to Bid, the Contracting Agency shall set forth any special price
evaluation factors in the Solicitation Document. Examples of such factors include, but are not limited to,
conversion costs, transportation cost, volume weighing, trade-in allowances, cash discounts, depreciation
allowances, cartage penalties, ownership or life-cycle cost formulas. Price evaluation factors need not be
precise predictors of actual future costs; but, to the extent possible, such evaluation factors shall be
objective, reasonable estimates based upon information the Contracting Agency has available concerning
future use;

(ii) If the Solicitation Document is a Request for Proposals, the Contracting Agency shall refer to the
additional requirements of Rule 137-049-0650 and 279C.400 to 279C.410; and

(c) Contract Provisions. The Contracting Agency shall include all Contract terms and conditions, including
warranties, insurance and bonding requirements, that the Contracting Agency considers appropriate for the
Public Improvement project. The Contracting Agency must also include all applicable Contract provisions
required by Oregon law as follows:

(A) Prompt payment to all Persons supplying labor or material; contributions to Industrial Accident Fund;
liens and withholding taxes (ORS 279C.505(1));

(B) Demonstrate that an employee drug testing program is in place (ORS 279C.505(2));

(C) If the Contract calls for demolition Work described in ORS 279C.510(1), a condition requiring the
Contractor to salvage or recycle construction and demolition debris, if feasible and cost-effective;

(D) If the Contract calls for lawn or landscape maintenance, a condition requiring the Contractor to compost
or mulch yard waste material at an approved site, if feasible and cost effective (ORS 279C.510(2);

(E) Payment of claims by public officers (ORS 279C.515(1));

(F) Contractor and first-tier subcontractor liability for late payment on Public Improvement Contracts
pursuant to ORS 279C.515(2), including the rate of interest;

(G) Person's right to file a complaint with the Construction Contractors Bd for all Contracts related to a Public
Improvement Contract (ORS 279C.515(3));

(H) Hours of labor in compliance with ORS 279C.520;

(1) Environmental and natural resources regulations (ORS 279C.525);

(J) Payment for medical care and attention to employees (ORS 279C.530(1));

(K) A Contract provision substantially as follows: "All employers, including Contractor, that employ subject
Workers who Work under this Contract in the State of Oregon shall comply with ORS 656.017 and provide
the required Workers' Compensation coverage, unless such employers are exempt under ORS 656.126.
Contractor shall ensure that each of its subcontractors complies with these requirements.” (ORS
279C.530(2));

(L) Maximum hours, holidays and overtime (ORS 279C.540);

(M) Time limitation on claims for overtime (ORS 279C.545);

(N) Prevailing wage rates (ORS 279C.800 to 279C.870);

(O) BOLI Public Works bond (ORS 279C.830(3);

(P) Retainage (ORS 279C.550 to 279C.570);

(Q) Prompt payment policy, progress payments, rate of interest (ORS 279C.570);

53



(R) Contractor's relations with subcontractors (ORS 279C.580);

(S) Notice of claim (ORS 279C.605);

(T) Contractor's certification of compliance with the Oregon tax laws in accordance with ORS 305.385; and
(V) Contractor's certification that all subcontractors performing Work described in ORS 701.005(2) (i.e.,
construction Work) will be registered with the Construction Contractors Bd or licensed by the State
Landscape Contractors Bd in accordance with ORS 701.035 to 701.055 before the subcontractors
commence Work under the Contract.

(2) Assignment or Transfer Restricted. Unless otherwise provided in the Contract, the Contractor shall
not assign, sell, dispose of, or transfer rights, nor delegate duties under the Contract, either in whole or in
part, without the Contracting Agency's prior Written consent. Unless otherwise agreed by the Contracting
Agency in Writing, such consent shall not relieve the Contractor of any obligations under the Contract. Any
assignee or transferee shall be considered the agent of the Contractor and be bound to abide by all
provisions of the Contract. If the Contracting Agency consents in Writing to an assignment, sale, disposal or
transfer of the Contractor's rights or delegation of Contractor's duties, the Contractor and its surety, if any,
shall remain liable to the Contracting Agency for complete performance of the Contract as if no such
assignment, sale, disposal, transfer or delegation had occurred unless the Contracting Agency otherwise
agrees in Writing.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.110(4), ORS 279A.120, ORS 279C.365, ORS 279C.370, ORS 279C.390,
ORS 279C.505 to 580, ORS 279C.605, ORS 305.385, ORS 468A.720, ORS 701.005 & ORS 701.055

137-049-0210

Notice and Advertising Requirements; Posting

(1) Notice and Distribution Fee. A Contracting Agency may furnish “Notice” as set forth below in
subsections (a) through (c), to a number of Persons sufficient for the purpose of fostering and promoting
competition. The Notice may indicate where, when, how and for how long the Solicitation Document may be
obtained; generally describe the Public Improvement project or Work; and may contain any other
appropriate information. The Contracting Agency may charge a fee or require a deposit for the Solicitation
Document. The Contracting Agency may furnish Notice using any method determined to foster and promote
competition, including:

(a) Mailing Notice of the availability of Solicitation Documents to Persons that have expressed an interest in
the Contracting Agency's Procurements;

(b) Placing Notice on the Contracting Agency’s Electronic Procurement System; or

(c) Placing Notice on the Contracting Agency's Internet Web site.

(2) Advertising. Pursuant to ORS 279C.360 and this rule, a Contracting Agency shall advertise every
Solicitation for competitive Bids or competitive Proposals for a Public Improvement Contract, unless the
exempted the Solicitation is otherwise exempt from the advertisement requirement under these rules or
pursuant to a competitive bidding exemption adopted under ORS 279C.335.

(a) Unless the Contracting Agency publishes by Electronic Advertisement as permitted under subsection
2(b), the Contracting Agency shall publish the advertisement for Offers at least once in at least one
newspaper of general circulation in the area where the Contract is to be performed and in as many
additional issues and publications as the Contracting Agency may determine to be necessary or desirable to
foster and promote competition.

(b) Contracting Agency may publish by Electronic Advertisement if the Contract Review Authority for the
Contracting Agency determines that Electronic Advertisement is likely to be cost effective and, pursuant to
137-049-0310(2), adopts rules authorizing Electronic Advertisement.

(c) In addition to the Contracting Agency's publication required under subsection 2(a) or 2(b), the
Contracting Agency shall also publish an advertisement for Offers in at least one trade newspaper of general
statewide circulation if the Contract is for a Public Improvement with an estimated cost in excess of
$125,000.

(d) All advertisements for Offers shall set forth:

(A) The Public Improvement project;

(B) The office or website where Contract terms, conditions and Specifications may be reviewed,;

(C) The date that Persons must file applications for prequalification under ORS 279C.430, if prequalification
is a requirement, and the class or classes of Work for which Persons must be prequalified;

(D) The scheduled Closing, which shall not be less than five Days after the date of the last publication of the
advertisement;

(E) The name, title and address of the Contracting Agency Person authorized to receive Offers;

(F) The scheduled Opening; and

54



(G) If applicable, that the Contract is for a Public Work subject to ORS 279C.800 to 279C.870 or the Davis-
Bacon Act (40 U.S.C. 3141 to 3148).

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.360 & ORS 200.035

137-049-0220

Prequalification of Offerors

(1) Prequalification. Pursuant to ORS 279C.430 and this rule, two types of prequalification are authorized:
(a) Mandatory Prequalification. A Contracting Agency may require mandatory prequalification of Offerors on
forms prescribed by the Contracting Agency's Contract Review Authority. The Contracting Agency shall
determine prequalification status in accordance with 279C.430. A Contracting Agency must indicate in the
Solicitation Document if it will require mandatory prequalification and establish the time for submitting the
prequalification application. Mandatory prequalification is when a Contracting Agency conditions a Person's
submission of an Offer upon the Person's prequalification. The Contracting Agency shall not consider an
Offer from a Person that is not prequalified if the Contracting Agency required prequalification.

(b) Permissive Prequalification. A Contracting Agency may prequalify a Person for the Contracting Agency's
Solicitation list on forms prescribed by the Contracting Agency's Contract Review Authority, but in
permissive prequalification the Contracting Agency shall not limit distribution of a Solicitation to that list.

(2) Prequalification Presumed. If an Offeror is currently prequalified by either the Oregon Department of
Transportation or the Oregon Department of Administrative Services to perform Contracts, the Offeror shall
be rebuttably presumed qualified to perform similar Work for other Contracting Agencies.

(3) Standards for Prequalification. A Person may prequalify by demonstrating to the Contracting Agency's
satisfaction:

(a) That the Person's financial, material, equipment, facility and personnel resources and expertise, or ability
to obtain such resources and expertise, indicate that the Person is capable of meeting all contractual
responsibilities;

(b) The Person's record of performance;

(c) The Person's record of integrity;

(d) The Person is qualified to contract with the Contracting Agency.

(See, Rule 137-049-0390(2) regarding standards of responsibility.)

(4) Notice of Denial. If a Person fails to prequalify for a mandatory prequalification, the Contracting Agency
shall notify the Person, specify the reasons under section (3) of this rule and inform the Person of the
Person's right to a hearing under ORS 279C.445 and 279C.450.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.430 & ORS 279C.435

137-049-0230

Eligibility to Bid or Propose; Registration or License

(1) Construction Contracts. A Contracting Agency shall not consider a Person's Offer to do Work as a
contractor, as defined in ORS 701.005(2), unless the Person has a current, valid certificate of registration
issued by the Construction Contractors Bd at the time the Offer is made.

(2) Landscape Contracts. A Contracting Agency shall not consider a Person's Offer to do Work as a
landscape contractor as defined in ORS 671.520(2), unless the Person has a current, valid landscape
contractor’s license issued pursuant to ORS 671.560 by the State Landscape Contractors Bd at the time the
offer is made.

(3) Noncomplying Entities. The Contracting Agency shall deem an Offer received from a Person that fails
to comply with this rule nonresponsive and shall reject the Offer as stated in ORS 279C.365(1)(k), unless
contrary to federal law or subject to different timing requirements set by federal funding agencies.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.365, ORS 671.530 & ORS 701.055

137-049-0240

Pre-Offer Conferences

(1) Purpose. A Contracting Agency may hold pre-Offer conferences with prospective Offerors prior to
Closing, to explain the Procurement requirements, obtain information or to conduct site inspections.

(2) Required Attendance. The Contracting Agency may require attendance at the pre-Offer conference as
a condition for making an Offer. Unless otherwise specified in the Solicitation Document, a mandatory
attendance requirement is considered to have been met if, at any time during the mandatory meeting, a
representative of an offering firm is present.

55



(3) Scheduled Time. If a Contracting Agency holds a pre-Offer conference, it shall be held within a
reasonable time after the Solicitation Document has been issued, but sufficiently before the Closing to allow
Offerors to consider information provided at that conference.

(4) Statements Not Binding. Statements made by a Contracting Agency's representative at the pre-Offer
conference do not change the Solicitation Document unless the Contracting Agency confirms such
statements with a Written Addendum to the Solicitation Document.

(5) Contracting Agency Announcement. The Contracting Agency must set forth notice of any pre-Offer
conference in the Solicitation Document in accordance with Rule 137-049-0200(1)(a)(B).

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.365 & ORS 279C.370

137-049-0250

Addenda to Solicitation Documents

(1) Issuance; Receipt. The Contracting Agency may change a Solicitation Document only by Written
Addenda. An Offeror shall provide Written acknowledgement of receipt of all issued Addenda with its Offer,
unless the Contracting Agency otherwise specifies in the Addenda or in the Solicitation Document.

(2) Notice and Distribution. The Contracting Agency shall notify prospective Offerors of Addenda
consistent with the standards of Notice set forth in Rule 137-049-0210(1). The Solicitation Document shall
specify how the Contracting Agency will provide notice of Addenda and how the Contracting Agency will
make the Addenda available (see Rule 137-049-0200(1)(a)(N). For example, "Contracting Agency will not
mail notice of Addenda, but will publish notice of any Addenda on Contracting Agency's Web site. Addenda
may be downloaded off the Contracting Agency's Web site. Offerors should frequently check the
Contracting Agency’s Web site until closing, i.e., at least once weekly until the week of Closing and at least
once daily the week of the Closing,"

(3) Timelines; Extensions. The Contracting Agency shall issue Addenda within a reasonable time to allow
prospective Offerors to consider the Addenda in preparing their Offers. The Contracting Agency may extend
the Closing if the Contracting Agency determines prospective Offerors need additional time to review and
respond to Addenda. Except to the extent required by public interest, the Contracting Agency shall not issue
Addenda less than 72 hours before the Closing unless the Addendum also extends the Closing.

(4) Request for Change or Protest. Unless a different deadline is set forth in the Addendum, an Offeror
may submit a Written request for change or protest to the Addendum, as provided in Rule 137-049-0260, by
the close of the Contracting Agency's next business day after issuance of the Addendum, or up to the last
day allowed to submit a request for change or protest under Rule 137-049-0260, whichever date is later.
The Contracting Agency shall consider only an Offeror's request for change or protest to the Addendum; the
Contracting Agency shall not consider a request for change or protest to matters not added or modified by
the Addendum, unless the Offeror submits the request for change or protest before the deadline for the
Contracting Agency’s receipt of request for change or protests as set forth in Rule 137-049-0260(2) and (3).

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.395 & ORS 279A.065

137-049-0260

Request for Clarification or Change; Solicitation Protests

(1) Clarification. Prior to the deadline for submitting a Written request for change or protest, an Offeror may
request that the Contracting Agency clarify any provision of the Solicitation Document. The Contracting
Agency's clarification to an Offeror, whether orally or in Writing, does not change the Solicitation Document
and is not binding on the Contracting Agency unless the Contracting Agency amends the Solicitation
Document by Addendum.

(2) Request for Change.

(a) Delivery. An Offeror may request in Writing a change to the Specifications or Contract terms and
conditions. Unless otherwise specified in the Solicitation Document, an Offeror must deliver the Written
request for change to the Contracting Agency not less than 10 Days prior to Closing;

(b) Content of Request for Change.

(A) An Offeror's Written request for change shall include a statement of the requested change(s) to the
Contract terms and conditions, including any Specifications, together with the reason for the requested
change.

(B) An Offeror shall mark its request for change as follows:

(i) “Contract Provision Request for Change”; and

(ii) Solicitation Document number (or other identification as specified in the Solicitation Document).

56



(3) Protest.

(a) Delivery. An Offeror may protest Specifications or Contract terms and conditions. Unless otherwise
specified in the Solicitation Document, an Offeror must deliver a Written protest on those matters to the
Contracting Agency not less than 10 Days prior to Closing;

(b) Content of Protest.

(A) An Offeror's Written protest shall include:

(i) A detailed statement of the legal and factual grounds for the protest;

(ii) A description of the resulting prejudice to the Offeror; and

(iii) A statement of the desired changes to the Contract terms and conditions, including any Specifications.
(B) An Offeror shall mark its protest as follows:

(i) “Contract Provision Protest”; and

(i) Solicitation Document number (or other identification as specified in the Solicitation Document)

(4) Contracting Agency Response. The Contracting Agency is not required to consider an Offeror's
request for change or protest after the deadline established for submitting such request or protest. The
Contracting Agency shall provide notice to the applicable Person if it entirely rejects a protest. If the
Contracting Agency agrees with the Person's request or protest, in whole or in part, the Contracting Agency
shall either issue an Addendum reflecting its determination under Rule 137-049-0260 or cancel the
Solicitation under Rule 137-049-0270.

(5) Extension of Closing. If a Contracting Agency receives a Written request for change or protest from an
Offeror in accordance with this rule, the Contracting Agency may extend Closing if the Contracting Agency
determines an extension is necessary to consider the request or protest and issue an Addendum, if any, to
the Solicitation Document.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.345 & ORS 279C.365

137-049-0270

Cancellation of Solicitation Document

(1) Cancellation in the Public Interest. A Contracting Agency may cancel a Solicitation for good cause if
the Contracting Agency finds that cancellation is in the public interest. The Contracting Agency's reasons for
cancellation shall be made part of the Solicitation file.

(2) Notice of Cancellation. If the Contracting Agency cancels a Solicitation prior to Opening, the
Contracting Agency shall provide Notice of cancellation in accordance with Rule 137-049-0210(1). Such
notice of cancellation shall:

(a) Identify the Solicitation;

(b) Briefly explain the reason for cancellation; and

(c) If appropriate, explain that an opportunity will be given to compete on any resolicitation.

(3) Disposition of Offers.

(a) Prior to Offer Opening. If the Contracting Agency cancels a Solicitation prior to Offer Opening, the
Contracting Agency shall return all Offers it received to Offerors unopened, provided the Offeror submitted
its Offer in a hard copy format with a clearly visible return address. If there is no return address on the
envelope, the Contracting Agency shall open the Offer to determine the source and then return it to the
Offeror.

(b) After Offer Opening. If the Contracting Agency rejects all Offers, the Contracting Agency shall retain all
such Offers as part of the Contracting Agency's Solicitation file.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.395

137-049-0280

Offer Submissions

(1) Offer and Acceptance. The Bid or Proposal is the Bidder's or Proposer's offer to enter into a Contract.
(a) In competitive Solicitations, the Offer is always a "Firm Offer," i.e., the Offer shall be held open by the
Offeror for the Contracting Agency’s acceptance for the period specified in Rule 137-049-0410. The
Contracting Agency's Award of the Contract to a Bidder constitutes acceptance of the Offer and binds the
Offeror to the Contract.

(b) Notwithstanding the fact that a competitive Proposal is a “Firm Offer” for the period specified in Rule 137-
049-0410, the Contracting Agency may elect to discuss or negotiate certain contractual provisions, as
identified in these rules or in the Solicitation Document with Proposer. See Rule 137-049-0650 on Requests
for Proposals and Rule 137-049-0290 on Bid or Proposal Security.

(2) Responsive Offer. A Contracting Agency may Award a Contract only to a Responsible Offeror with a
Responsive Offer.

57



(3) Contingent Offers. Except to the extent that an Offeror is authorized to propose certain terms and
conditions pursuant to Rule 137-049-0650, an Offeror shall not make an Offer contingent upon the
Contracting Agency's acceptance of any terms or conditions (including Specifications) other than those
contained in the Solicitation Document.

(4) Offeror's Acknowledgement. By signing and returning the Offer, the Offeror acknowledges it has read
and understands the terms and conditions contained in the Solicitation Document and that it accepts and
agrees to be bound by the terms and conditions of the Solicitation Document. If the Request for Proposals
permits proposal of alternative terms under Rule 137-049-0650, the Offeror's Offer includes the
nonnegotiable terms and conditions and any proposed terms and conditions offered for negotiation upon
and to the extent accepted by the Contracting Agency in Writing.

(5) Instructions. An Offeror shall submit and Sign its Offer in accordance with the Solicitation Document.
An Offeror shall initial and submit any correction or erasure to its Offer prior to the Opening in accordance
with the requirements for submitting an Offer under the Solicitation Document.

(6) Forms. An Offeror shall submit its Offer on the form(s) provided in the Solicitation Document, unless an
Offeror is otherwise instructed in the Solicitation Document.

(7) Documents. An Offeror shall provide the Contracting Agency with all documents and descriptive
literature required under the Solicitation Document.

(8) Facsimile or Electronic Submissions. If the Contracting Agency permits facsimile or electronic Offers
in the Solicitation Document, the Offeror may submit facsimile or electronic Offers in accordance with the
Solicitation Document. The Contracting Agency shall not consider facsimile or electronic Offers unless
authorized by the Solicitation Document.

(9) Product Samples and Descriptive Literature. A Contracting Agency may require Product Samples or
descriptive literature if it is necessary or desirable to evaluate the quality, features or characteristics of the
offered items. The Contracting Agency will dispose of Product Samples, or return or make available for
return Product Samples to the Offeror in accordance with the Solicitation Document.

(10) Identification of Offers

(a) To ensure proper identification and handling, Offers shall be submitted in a sealed envelope
appropriately marked or in the envelope provided by the Contracting Agency, whichever is applicable.

(b) The Contracting Agency is not responsible for Offers submitted in any manner, format or to any delivery
point other than as required in the Solicitation Document.

(11) Receipt of Offers. The Offeror is responsible for ensuring that the Contracting Agency receives its
Offer at the required delivery point prior to the Closing, regardless of the method used to submit or transmit
the Offer.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.365 & ORS 279C.375

137-049-0290

Bid or Proposal Security

(1) Security Amount. If a Contracting Agency requires Bid or Proposal security, it shall be not more than
10% or less than 5% of the Offeror's Bid or Proposal, consisting of the base Bid or Proposal together with all
additive alternates. A Contracting Agency shall not use Bid or Proposal security to discourage competition.
The Contracting Agency shall clearly state any Bid or Proposal security requirements in its Solicitation
Document. The Offeror shall forfeit Bid or Proposal security after Award if the Offeror fails to execute the
Contract and promptly return it with any required Performance Bond, Payment Bond and any required proof
of insurance. See ORS 279C.365(4) and ORS 279C.385.

(2) Requirement for Bid Security (Optional for Proposals). Unless a Contracting Agency has otherwise
exempted a Solicitation or class of Solicitations from Bid security pursuant to ORS 279C.390, the
Contracting Agency shall require Bid security for its Solicitation of Bids for Public Improvements. This
requirement applies only to Public Improvement Contracts with a value, estimated by the Contracting
Agency, of more than $100,000 or, in the case of Contracts for highways, bridges and other transportation
projects, more than $50,000. See ORS 279C.365(5). The Contracting Agency may require Bid security
even if it has exempted a class of Solicitations from Bid security. Contracting Agencies may also require
Proposal security in RFPs. See ORS 279C.400(5).

(3) Form of Bid or Proposal Security. A Contracting Agency may accept only the following forms of Bid or
Proposal security:

(a) A surety bond from a surety company authorized to do business in the State of Oregon;

(b) An irrevocable letter of credit issued by an insured institution as defined in ORS 706.008; or

(c) A cashier's check or Offeror's certified check.

(4) Return of Security. A Contracting Agency shall return or release the Bid or Proposal security of all
unsuccessful Offerors after a Contract has been fully executed and all required bonds and insurance have
been provided, or after all Offers have been rejected. The Contracting Agency may return the Bid or

58



Proposal security of unsuccessful Offerors prior to Award if the return does not prejudice Contract Award
and the security of at least the Bidders with the three lowest Bids, or the Proposers with the three highest
scoring Proposals, is retained pending execution of a Contract.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.365, ORS 279C.385 & ORS 279C.390

137-049-0300

Facsimile Bids and Proposals

(1) Contracting Agency Authorization. A Contracting Agency may authorize Offerors to submit facsimile
Offers. If the Contracting Agency determines that Bid or Proposal security is or will be required, the
Contracting Agency shall not authorize facsimile Offers unless the Contracting Agency has established a
method for receipt of such security. Prior to authorizing the submission of facsimile Offers, the Contracting
Agency shall determine that the Contracting Agency's equipment and personnel are capable of receiving the
size and volume of anticipated Offers within a short period of time. In addition, the Contracting Agency shall
establish administrative procedures and controls:

(a) To receive, identify, record and safeguard facsimile Offers;

(b) To ensure timely delivery of Offers to the location of Opening; and

(c) To preserve the Offers as sealed.

(2) Provisions to be Included in Solicitation Document. In addition to all other requirements, if the
Contracting Agency authorizes a facsimile Offer for Bids or Proposals, the Contracting Agency shall include
in the Solicitation Document (other than in a request for quotes) the following:

(a) A provision substantially in the form of the following: “A ‘facsimile Offer’, as used in this Solicitation
Document, means an Offer, modification of an Offer, or withdrawal of an Offer that is transmitted to and
received by the Contracting Agency via a facsimile machine.”;

(b) A provision substantially in the form of the following: “Offerors may submit facsimile Offers in response to
this Solicitation Document. The entire response must arrive at the place and by the time specified in this
Solicitation Document.”;

(c) A provision that requires Offerors to Sign their facsimile Offers;

(d) A provision substantially in the form of the following: “The Contracting Agency reserves the right to
Award the Contract solely on the basis of the facsimile Offer. However, upon the Contracting Agency's
request the apparent successful Offeror shall promptly submit its complete original Signed Offer.”;

(e) The data and compatibility characteristics of the Contracting Agency's receiving facsimile machine as
follows:

(A) Telephone number; and

(B) Compatibility characteristics, e.g., make and model number, receiving speed, communications protocol;
and

(f) A provision that the Contracting Agency is not responsible for any failure attributable to the transmission
or receipt of the facsimile Offer including, but not limited to the following:

(A) Receipt of garbled or incomplete documents;

(B) Availability or condition of the receiving facsimile machine;

(C) Incompatibility between the sending and receiving facsimile machine;

(D) Delay in transmission or receipt of documents;

(E) Failure of the Offeror to properly identify the Offer documents;

(F) lllegibility of Offer documents; and

(G) Security and confidentiality of data.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.365

137-049-0310

Electronic Procurement

(1) General. Contracting Agencies may utilize Electronic Advertisement of Public Improvement Contracts in
accordance with ORS 279C.360(1) and Rule 137-049-0210(2)(b), provided that advertisement of such
Contracts with an estimated Contract Price in excess of $125,000 must also be published in a trade
newspaper of general statewide circulation, and may post notices of intent to Award electronically as
provided by ORS 279C.410(7).

(2) Alternative Procedures. In the event that a Contracting Agency desires to direct or permit the
submission and receipt of Offers for a Public Improvement Contract by electronic means, as allowed under
ORS 279C.365(1)(d), it shall first promulgate supporting procedures substantially in conformance with Rule
137-047-0330 (Electronic Procurement under ORS Chapter 279B), taking into account ORS Chapter 279C

59



requirements for written bids, opening bids publicly, bid security, first-tier subcontractor disclosure and
inclusion of prevailing wage rates.

(3) Interpretation. Nothing in this rule shall be construed as prohibiting Contracting Agency from making
procurement documents for Public Improvement Contracts available in electronic format as well as in hard
copy when Bids are to be submitted only in hard copy.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.365

137-049-0320

Pre-Closing Modification or Withdrawal of Offers

(1) Modifications. An Offeror may modify its Offer in Writing prior to the Closing. An Offeror shall prepare
and submit any modification to its Offer to the Contracting Agency in accordance with Rule 137-049-0280,
unless otherwise specified in the Solicitation Document. Any modification must include the Offeror's
statement that the modification amends and supersedes the prior Offer. The Offeror shall mark the
submitted modification as follows:

(a) Bid (or Proposal) Modification; and

(b) Solicitation Number (or Other Identification as specified in the Solicitation Document).

(2) Withdrawals

(a) An Offeror may withdraw its Offer by Written notice submitted on the Offeror's letterhead, Signed by an
authorized representative of the Offeror, delivered to the location specified in the Solicitation Document (or
the place of Closing if no location is specified), and received by the Contracting Agency prior to the Closing.
The Offeror or authorized representative of the Offeror may also withdraw its Offer in Person prior to the
Closing, upon presentation of appropriate identification and satisfactory evidence of authority.

(b) The Contracting Agency may release an unopened Offer withdrawn under subsection 2(a) to the Offeror
or its authorized representative, after voiding any date and time stamp mark.

(c) The Offeror shall mark the Written request to withdraw an Offer as follows:

(A) Bid (or Proposal) Withdrawal; and

(B) Solicitation Number (or Other Identification as specified in the Solicitation Document).

(3) Documentation. The Contracting Agency shall include all documents relating to the modification or
withdrawal of Offers in the appropriate Solicitation file.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.360(2), ORS 279C.365, ORS 279C.375 & ORS 279C.395

137-049-0330

Receipt, Opening and Recording of Offers; Confidentiality of Offers

(1) Receipt. A Contracting Agency shall electronically or mechanically time-stamp or hand-mark each Offer
and any modification upon receipt. The Contracting Agency shall not open the Offer or modification upon
receipt, but shall maintain it as confidential and secure until Opening. If the Contracting Agency
inadvertently opens an Offer or a modification prior to the Opening, the Contracting Agency shall return the
Offer or modification to its secure and confidential state until Opening. The Contracting Agency shall
document the resealing for the Procurement file (e.g. "Contracting Agency inadvertently opened the Offer
due to improper identification of the Offer").

(2) Opening and Recording. A Contracting Agency shall publicly open Offers including any modifications
made to the Offer pursuant to Rule 137-049-0320. In the case of Invitations to Bid, to the extent practicable,
the Contracting Agency shall read aloud the name of each Bidder, the Bid price(s), and such other
information as the Contracting Agency considers appropriate. In the case of Requests for Proposals or
voluminous Bids, if the Solicitation Document so provides, the Contracting Agency will not read Offers aloud.
(3) Availability. After Opening, the Contracting Agency shall make Bids available for public inspection, but,
pursuant to ORS 279C.410, Proposals are not subject to disclosure until after notice of intent to award is
issued. In any event, Contracting Agencies may withhold from disclosure those portions of an Offer that the
Offeror designates as trade secrets or as confidential proprietary data in accordance with applicable law.
See ORS 192.501(2); ORS 646.461 to 646.475. To the extent the Contracting Agency determines such
designation is not in accordance with applicable law, the Contracting Agency shall make those portions
available for public inspection. The Offeror shall separate information designated as confidential from other
nonconfidential information at the time of submitting its Offer. Prices, makes, model or catalog numbers of
items offered, scheduled delivery dates, and terms of payment are not confidential, and shall be publicly
available regardless of an Offeror's designation to the contrary.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.365, ORS 279C.375 & ORS 279C.395

60



137-049-0340

Late Bids, Late Withdrawals and Late Modifications

Any Offer received after Closing is late. An Offeror's request for withdrawal or modification of an Offer
received after Closing is late. A Contracting Agency shall not consider late Offers, withdrawals or
modifications except as permitted in Rules 137-049-0350 or 137-049-0390.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.365, ORS 279C.375 & ORS 279C.395

137-049-0350

Mistakes

(1) Generally. To protect the integrity of the competitive Procurement process and to assure fair treatment
of Offerors, a Contracting Agency should carefully consider whether to permit waiver, correction or
withdrawal of Offers for certain mistakes.

(2) Contracting Agency Treatment of Mistakes. A Contracting Agency shall not allow an Offeror to
correct or withdraw an Offer for an error in judgment. If the Contracting Agency discovers certain mistakes
in an Offer after Opening, but before Award of the Contract, the Contracting Agency may take the following
action:

(a) A Contracting Agency may waive, or permit an Offeror to correct, a minor informality. A minor informality
is a matter of form rather than substance that is evident on the face of the Offer, or an insignificant mistake
that can be waived or corrected without prejudice to other Offerors. Examples of minor informalities include
an Offeror's failure to:

(A) Return the correct number of Signed Offers or the correct number of other documents required by the
Solicitation Document;

(B) Sign the Offer in the designated block, provided a Signature appears elsewhere in the Offer, evidencing
an intent to be bound; and

(C) Acknowledge receipt of an Addendum to the Solicitation Document, provided that it is clear on the face
of the Offer that the Offeror received the Addendum and intended to be bound by its terms; or the
Addendum involved did not affect price, quality or delivery.

(b) A Contracting Agency may correct a clerical error if the error is evident on the face of the Offer or other
documents submitted with the Offer, and the Offeror confirms the Contracting Agency's correction in Writing.
A clerical error is an Offeror's error in transcribing its Offer. Examples include typographical mistakes, errors
in extending unit prices, transposition errors, arithmetical errors, instances in which the intended correct unit
or amount is evident by simple arithmetic calculations (for example a missing unit price may be established
by dividing the total price for the units by the quantity of units for that item or a missing, or incorrect total
price for an item may be established by multiplying the unit price by the quantity when those figures are
available in the Offer). In the event of a discrepancy, unit prices shall prevail over extended prices.

(c) A Contracting Agency may permit an Offeror to withdraw an Offer based on one or more clerical errors in
the Offer only if the Offeror shows with objective proof and by clear and convincing evidence:

(A) The nature of the error;

(B) That the error is not a minor informality under this subsection or an error in judgment;

(C) That the error cannot be corrected or waived under subsection (b) of this section;

(D) That the Offeror acted in good faith in submitting an Offer that contained the claimed error and in
claiming that the alleged error in the Offer exists;

(E) That the Offeror acted without gross negligence in submitting an Offer that contained a claimed error;
(F) That the Offeror will suffer substantial detriment if the Contracting Agency does not grant the Offeror
permission to withdraw the Offer;

(G) That the Contracting Agency's or the public's status has not changed so significantly that relief from the
forfeiture will work a substantial hardship on the Contracting Agency or the public it represents; and

(H) That the Offeror promptly gave notice of the claimed error to the Contracting Agency.

(d) The criteria in subsection (2)(c) of this rule shall determine whether a Contracting Agency will permit an
Offeror to withdraw its Offer after Closing. These criteria also shall apply to the question of whether a
Contracting Agency will permit an Offeror to withdraw its Offer without forfeiture of its Bid bond (or other Bid
or Proposal security), or without liability to the Contracting Agency based on the difference between the
amount of the Offeror's Offer and the amount of the Contract actually awarded by the Contracting Agency,
whether by Award to the next lowest Responsive and Responsible Bidder or the best Responsive and
Responsible Proposer, or by resort to a new solicitation.

(3) Rejection for Mistakes. The Contracting Agency shall reject any Offer in which a mistake is evident on
the face of the Offer and the intended correct Offer is not evident or cannot be substantiated from
documents submitted with the Offer.

61



(4) Identification of Mistakes after Award. The procedures and criteria set forth above are Offeror’s only
opportunity to correct mistakes or withdraw Offers because of a mistake. Following Award, an Offeror is
bound by its Offer, and may withdraw its Offer or rescind a Contract entered into pursuant to this division 49
only to the extent permitted by applicable law.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.375 & ORS 279C.395

137-049-0360

First-Tier Subcontractors; Disclosure and Substitution

(1) Required Disclosure. Within two working hours after the Bid Closing on an ITB for a Public
Improvement having a Contract Price anticipated by the Contracting Agency to exceed $100,000, all Bidders
shall submit to the Contracting Agency a disclosure form as described by ORS 279C.370(2), identifying any
first-tier subcontractors (those Entities that would be contracting directly with the prime contractor) that will
be furnishing labor or labor and materials on the Contract, if Awarded, whose subcontract value would be
equal to or greater than:

(a) Five percent of the total Contract Price, but at least $15,000; or

(b) $350,000, regardless of the percentage of the total Contract Price.

(2) Bid Closing, Disclosure Deadline and Bid Opening. For each ITB to which this rule applies, the
Contracting Agency shall:

(a) Set the Bid Closing on a Tuesday, Wednesday or Thursday, and at a time between 2 p.m. and 5 p.m.,
except that these Bid Closing restrictions do not apply to an ITB for maintenance or construction of
highways, bridges or other transportation facilities, and provided that the two-hour disclosure deadline
described by this rule would not then fall on a legal holiday;

(b) Open Bids publicly immediately after the Bid Closing; and

(c) Consider for Contract Award only those Bids for which the required disclosure has been submitted by the
announced deadline on forms prescribed by the Contracting Agency.

(3) Bidder Instructions and Disclosure Form. For the purposes of this rule, a Contracting Agency in its
Solicitation shall:

(a) Prescribe the disclosure form that must be utilized, substantially in the form set forth in ORS
279C.370(2); and

(b) Provide instructions in a notice substantially similar to the following:

“Instructions for First-Tier Subcontractor Disclosure

Bidders are required to disclose information about certain first-tier subcontractors when the contract value
for a Public Improvement is estimated by the Contracting Agency to be greater than $100,000 (see ORS
279C.370). Specifically, when the contract amount of a first-tier subcontractor furnishing labor or labor and
materials would be greater than or equal to: (i) 5% of the project Bid, but at least $15,000, or (ii) $350,000
regardless of the percentage, the Bidder must disclose the following information about that subcontract
either in its Bid submission, or within two hours after Bid Closing:

(1) The subcontractor's name,

(2) The category of Work that the subcontractor would be performing, and

(3) The dollar value of the subcontract.

If the Bidder will not be using any subcontractors that are subject to the above disclosure requirements, the
Bidder is required to indicate "NONE" on the accompanying form.

THE CONTRACTING AGENCY MUST REJECT A BID IF THE BIDDER FAILS TO SUBMIT THE
DISCLOSURE FORM WITH THIS INFORMATION BY THE STATED DEADLINE (see Rule 137-049-0360)."
(4) Submission. A Bidder shall submit the disclosure form required by this rule either in its Bid submission,
or within two Working hours after Bid Closing in the manner specified by the ITB.

(5) Responsiveness. Compliance with the disclosure and submittal requirements of ORS 279C.370 and
this rule is a matter of Responsiveness. Bids that are submitted by Bid Closing, but for which the disclosure
submittal has not been made by the specified deadline, are not Responsive and shall not be considered for
Contract Award.

(6) Contracting Agency Role. Contracting Agencies shall obtain, and make available for public inspection,
the disclosure forms required by ORS 279C.370 and this rule. Contracting Agencies shall also provide
copies of disclosure forms to the Bureau of Labor and Industries as required by ORS 279C.835. Contracting
Agencies are not required to determine the accuracy or completeness of the information provided on
disclosure forms.

(7) Substitution. Substitution of affected first-tier subcontractors shall be made only in accordance with
ORS 279C.585. Contracting Agencies shall accept Written submissions filed under that statute as public
records. Aside from issues involving inadvertent clerical error under ORS 279C.585, Contracting Agencies

62



do not have a statutory role or duty to review, approve or resolve disputes concerning such substitutions.
See ORS 279C.590 regarding complaints to the Construction Contractors Board on improper substitution.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.370, ORS 279C.585, ORS 279C.590 & ORS 279C.835

137-049-0370

Disqualification of Persons

(1) Authority. A Contracting Agency may disqualify a Person from consideration of Award of the
Contracting Agency's Contracts after providing the Person with notice and a reasonable opportunity to be
heard in accordance with sections (2) and (4) of this rule.

(a) Standards for Conduct Disqualification. As provided in ORS 279C.440, a Contracting Agency may
disqualify a Person for:

(A) Conviction for the commission of a criminal offense as an incident in obtaining or attempting to obtain a
public or private contract or subcontract, or in the performance of such contract or subcontract.

(B) Conviction under state or federal statutes of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or
destruction of records, receiving stolen property or any other offense indicating a lack of business integrity or
business honesty that currently, seriously and directly affects the Person's responsibility as a contractor.
(C) Conviction under state or federal antitrust statutes.

(D) Violation of a contract provision that is regarded by the Contracting Agency to be so serious as to justify
Conduct Disqualification. A violation under this subsection 1(a)(D) may include but is not limited to material
failure to perform the terms of a contract or an unsatisfactory performance in accordance with the terms of
the contract. However, a Person's failure to perform or unsatisfactory performance caused by acts beyond
the Person's control is not a basis for Disqualification.

(b) Standards for DBE Disqualification. As provided in ORS 200.065, 200.075 or 279A.110, a Contracting
Agency may disqualify a Person's right to submit an Offer or to participate in a Contract (e.g. subcontractors)
as follows:

(A) For a DBE Disqualification under ORS 200.065, the Contracting Agency may disqualify a Person upon
finding that:

(i) The Person fraudulently obtained or retained or attempted to obtain or retain or aided another Person to
fraudulently obtain or retain or attempt to obtain or retain certification as a disadvantaged business
enterprise, minority-owned business, women-owned business, emerging small business, or a business that
a veteran, as defined by ORS 200.005, owns; or

(ii) The Person knowingly made a false claim that any Person is qualified for certification or is certified under
ORS 200.055 for the purpose of gaining a Contract or subcontract or other benefit; or

(iii) The Person has been disqualified by another Contracting Agency pursuant to ORS 200.065.

(B) For a DBE Disqualification under ORS 200.075, the Contracting Agency may disqualify a Person upon
finding that:

(i) The Person has entered into an agreement representing that a disadvantaged business enterprise,
minority-owned business, women-owned business, emerging small business, or a business that a veteran,
as defined by ORS 200.005, owns, certified under ORS 200.055 (“Certified Enterprise”), will perform or
supply materials under a Public Improvement Contract without the knowledge and consent of the Certified
Enterprise; or

(ii) The Person exercises management and decision-making control over the internal operations, as defined
by ORS 200.075(1)(b), of any Certified Enterprise; or

(iif) The Person uses a Certified Enterprise to perform services under a contract or to provide supplies under
a Public Improvement Contract to meet an established Certified Enterprise goal, and such enterprise does
not perform a commercially useful function, as defined by ORS 200.075(3), in performing its obligations
under the contract.

(iv) If a Person is Disqualified for a DBE Disqualification under ORS 200.075, the affected Contracting
Agency shall not permit such Person to participate in that Contracting Agency’s Contracts.

(C) For a DBE Disqualification under ORS 279A.110, a Contracting Agency may disqualify a Person if the
Contracting Agency finds that the Person discriminated against a disadvantaged business enterprise,
minority-owned business, women-owned business, emerging small business, or a business that a veteran,
as defined by ORS 200.005, owns in awarding a subcontract under a Contract with that Contracting Agency.
(2) Notice of Intent to Disqualify. The Contracting Agency shall notify the Person in Writing of a proposed
Disqualification personally or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested. This notice shall:

(a) State that the Contracting Agency intends to disqualify the Person;

(b) Set forth the reasons for the Disqualification;

(c) Include a statement of the Person's right to a hearing if requested in Writing within the time stated in the
notice and that if the Contracting Agency does not receive the Person's Written request for a hearing within
the time stated, the Person shall have waived its right to a hearing;

63



(d) Include a statement of the authority and jurisdiction under which the hearing will be held;

(e) Include a reference to the particular sections of the statutes and rules involved;

(f) State the proposed Disqualification period; and

(g) State that the Person may be represented by legal counsel.

(3) Hearing. The Contracting Agency shall schedule a hearing upon the Contracting Agency receipt of the
Person's timely hearing request. Within a reasonable time prior to the hearing, the Contracting Agency shall
notify the Person of the time and place of the hearing and provide information on the procedures, right of
representation and other rights related to the conduct of the hearing.

(4) Notice of Disqualification. The Contracting Agency will notify the Person in Writing of its
Disqualification, personally or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested. The notice shall
contain:

(a) The effective date and period of Disqualification;

(b) The grounds for Disqualification; and

(c) A statement of the Person's appeal rights and applicable appeal deadlines. For a Conduct
Disqualification or a DBE Disqualification under ORS 279A.110, the disqualified person must notify the
Contracting Agency in Writing within three business Days after receipt of the Contracting Agency's notice of
Disqualification if the Person intends to appeal the Contracting Agency's decision.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 200.065, ORS 200.075, ORS 279A.110, ORS 279C.440, ORS 279C.445 &
ORS 279C.450

137-049-0380

Bid or Proposal Evaluation Criteria

(1) General. A Public Improvement Contract, if Awarded, shall be Awarded to the Responsible Bidder
submitting the lowest Responsive Bid, or to the Responsible Proposer submitting the best Responsive
Proposal. See Rule 137-049-0390, and Rules for Alternative Contracting Methods at Rules 137-049-0600 to
137-049-0690.

(2) Bid Evaluation Criteria. Invitations to Bid may solicit lump-sum Offers, unit-price Offers or a
combination of the two.

(a) Lump Sum. If the ITB requires a lump-sum Bid, without additive or deductive alternates, or if the
Contracting Agency elects not to award additive or deductive alternates, Bids shall be compared on the
basis of lump-sum prices, or lump-sum base Bid prices, as applicable. If the ITB calls for a lump-sum base
Bid, plus additive or deductive alternates, the total Bid price shall be calculated by adding to or deducting
from the base Bid those alternates selected by the Contracting Agency, for the purpose of comparing Bids.
(b) Unit Price. If the Bid includes unit pricing for estimated quantities, the total Bid price shall be calculated
by multiplying the estimated quantities by the unit prices submitted by the Bidder, and adjusting for any
additive or deductive alternates selected by the Contracting Agency, for the purpose of comparing Bids.
Contracting Agencies shall specify within the Solicitation Document the estimated quantity of the
procurement to be used for determination of the low Bidder. In the event of mathematical discrepancies
between unit price and any extended price calculations submitted by the Bidder, the unit price shall govern.
See Rule 137-049-0350(2)(b).

(3) Proposal Evaluation Criteria. If the Contracting Agency's Contract Review Authority has exempted the
Procurement of a Public Improvement from the competitive bidding requirements of ORS 279C.335(1), and
has directed the Contracting Agency to use an Alternative Contracting Method under ORS 279C.335(4), the
Contracting Agency shall set forth the evaluation criteria in the Solicitation Documents. See Rules 137-049-
0650, 137-049-0650, ORS 279C.335 and 279C.405.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.335

137-049-0390

Offer Evaluation and Award; Determination of Responsibility

(1) General. If Awarded, the Contracting Agency shall Award the Contract to the Responsible Bidder
submitting the lowest, Responsive Bid or the Responsible Proposer or Proposers submitting the best,
Responsive Proposal or Proposals, provided that such Person is not listed by the Construction Contractors
Board as disqualified to hold a Public Improvement Contract, see ORS 279C.375(3)(a), or is ineligible for
Award as a Nonresident (as defined in ORS 279A.120) education service district (ORS 279C.325). The
Contracting Agency may Award by item, groups of items or the entire Offer provided such Award is
consistent with the Solicitation Document and in the public interest. Where Award is based on competitive
Bids, ORS 279C.375(5) permits multiple Contract awards when specified in the ITB.

64



(2) Determination of Responsibility. Offerors are required to demonstrate their ability to perform
satisfactorily under a Contract. Before Awarding a Contract, the Contracting Agency must have information
that indicates that the Offeror meets the standards of responsibility set forth in ORS 279C.375(3)(b). To be
a Responsible Offeror, the Contracting Agency must determine that the Offeror:

(a) Has available the appropriate financial, material, equipment, facility and personnel resources and
expertise, or ability to obtain the resources and expertise, necessary to meet all contractual responsibilities;
(b) Has completed previous contracts of a similar nature with a satisfactory record of performance. A
satisfactory record of performance means that to the extent the costs associated with and time available to
perform a previous contract were within the Offeror’s control, the Offeror stayed within the time and budget
allotted for the procurement and otherwise performed the contract in a satisfactory manner. A Contracting
Agency should carefully scrutinize an Offeror's record of contract performance if the Offeror is or recently
has been materially deficient in contract performance. In reviewing the Offeror's performance, the
Contracting Agency should determine whether the Offeror's deficient performance was expressly excused
under the terms of contract, or whether the Offeror took appropriate corrective action. The Contracting
Agency may review the Offeror's performance on both private and Public Contracts in determining the
Offeror's record of contract performance. The Contracting Agency shall make its basis for determining an
Offeror not Responsible under this paragraph part of the Solicitation file;

(c) Has a satisfactory record of integrity. An Offeror may lack integrity if a Contracting Agency determines
the Offeror demonstrates a lack of business ethics such as violation of state environmental laws or false
certifications made to a Contracting Agency. A Contracting Agency may find an Offeror not Responsible
based on the lack of integrity of any Person having influence or control over the Offeror (such as a key
employee of the Offeror that has the authority to significantly influence the Offeror's performance of the
Contract or a parent company, predecessor or successor Person). The standards for Conduct
Disqualification under Rule 137-049-0370 may be used to determine an Offeror's integrity. A Contracting
Agency may find an Offeror non-responsible based on previous convictions of offenses related to obtaining
or attempting to obtain a contract or subcontract or in connection with the Offeror’s performance of a
contract or subcontract. The Contracting Agency shall make its basis for determining that an Offeror is not
Responsible under this paragraph part of the Solicitation file;

(d) Is legally qualified to contract with the Contracting Agency;

(e) Holds current licenses that businesses or service professionals operating in this state must hold in order
to undertake or perform the Work specified in the Contract;

() Is covered by liability insurance and other insurance in amounts the Contracting Agency requires in the
Solicitation Documents;

(9) Qualifies as a carrier-insured employer or a self-insured employer under ORS 656.407 or has elected
coverage under ORS 656.128;

(h) Has made the disclosure required under ORS 279C.370; and

(i) Has supplied all necessary information in connection with the inquiry concerning responsibility. If the
Offeror fails to promptly supply information requested by the Contracting Agency concerning responsibility,
the Contracting Agency shall base the determination of responsibility upon any available information, or may
find the Offeror not Responsible.

(3) Documenting Agency Determinations. Contracting Agencies shall document their compliance with
ORS 279C.375(3) and the above sections of this rule on a Responsibility Determination Form substantially
as set forth in ORS 279.375(3)(c), and file that form with the Construction Contractors Board within 30 days
after Contract Award.

(4) Contracting Agency Evaluation. The Contracting Agency shall evaluate an Offer only as set forth in
the Solicitation Document and in accordance with applicable law. The Contracting Agency shall not
evaluate an Offer using any other requirement or criterion.

(5) Offeror Submissions.

(a) The Contracting Agency may require an Offeror to submit Product Samples, descriptive literature,
technical data, or other material and may also require any of the following prior to Award:

(A) Demonstration, inspection or testing of a product prior to Award for characteristics such as compatibility,
quality or workmanship;

(B) Examination of such elements as appearance or finish; or

(C) Other examinations to determine whether the product conforms to Specifications.

(b) The Contracting Agency shall evaluate product acceptability only in accordance with the criteria
disclosed in the Solicitation Document to determine that a product is acceptable. The Contracting Agency
shall reject an Offer providing any product that does not meet the Solicitation Document requirements. A
Contracting Agency's rejection of an Offer because it offers nonconforming Work or materials is not
Disqualification and is not appealable under ORS 279C.445.

(6) Evaluation of Bids. The Contracting Agency shall use only objective criteria to evaluate Bids as set
forth in the ITB. The Contracting Agency shall evaluate Bids to determine which Responsible Offeror offers
the lowest Responsive Bid.

65



(a) Nonresident Bidders. In determining the lowest Responsive Bid, the Contracting Agency shall, in
accordance with Rule 137-046-0310, add a percentage increase to the Bid of a nonresident Bidder equal to
the percentage, if any, of the preference given to that Bidder in the state in which the Bidder resides.

(b) Clarifications. In evaluating Bids, a Contracting Agency may seek information from a Bidder only to
clarify the Bidder's Bid. Such clarification shall not vary, contradict or supplement the Bid. A Bidder must
submit Written and Signed clarifications and such clarifications shall become part of the Bidder's Bid.

(c) Negotiation Prohibited. Except as allowed by Rules 137-049-0420(1) and 137-049-0430, the Contracting
Agency shall not negotiate scope of Work or other terms or conditions under an Invitation to Bid process
prior to Award.

(7) Evaluation of Proposals. See Rule 137-049-0650 regarding rules applicable to Requests for
Proposals.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.335, ORS 279C.365, ORS 279C.375 & ORS 279C.395

137-049-0395

Notice of Intent to Award

(1) Notice. At least seven days before the Award of a Public Improvement Contract, unless the Contracting
Agency determines that seven days is impractical and documents its reasons therefore in the procurement
file, the Contracting Agency shall issue to each Bidder (pursuant to ORS 279C.375(2)) and each Proposer
(pursuant to ORS 279C.410(7)), or post, electronically or otherwise, a notice of the Contracting Agency’s
intent to Award the Contract. This requirement does not apply to Award of a small, intermediate (informal
competitive quotes) or emergency Public Improvement Contract awarded under ORS 279C.335(1)(c) or (d)
or (6).

(2) Form and Manner of Posting. The form and manner of posting notice shall conform to customary
practices within the Contracting Agency’s procurement system, and may be made electronically.

(3) Finalizing Award. The Contracting Agency’s Award shall not be final until the later of the following:

(a) Seven Days after the date of the notice, unless the Solicitation Document provided a different period for
protest; or

(b) The Contracting Agency provides a Written response to all timely-filed protests that denies the protest
and affirms the Award.

(4) Prior Notice Impractical. Posting of notice of intent to award shall not be required when the Contracting
Agency determines that it is impractical due to unusual time constraints in making prompt Award for its
immediate procurement needs, documents the Contract file as to the reason for the determination, and
posts notice of that action as soon as reasonably practical.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.375

137-049-0400

Documentation of Award; Availability of Award Decisions

(1) Basis of Award. After Award, the Contracting Agency shall make a record showing the basis for
determining the successful Offeror part of the Contracting Agency's Solicitation file.

(2) Contents of Award Record for Bids. The Contracting Agency's record shall include:

(a) All submitted Bids;

(b) Completed Bid tabulation sheet; and

(c) Written justification for any rejection of lower Bids.

(3) Contents of Award Record for Proposals. Where the use of Requests for Proposals is authorized as
set forth in Rule 137-049-0650, the Contracting Agency's record shall include:

(a) All submitted Proposals.

(b) The completed evaluation of the Proposals;

(c) Written justification for any rejection of higher scoring Proposals or for failing to meet mandatory
requirements of the Request for Proposal; and

(d) If the Contracting Agency permitted negotiations in accordance with Rule 137-049-0650, the Contracting
Agency's completed evaluation of the initial Proposals and the Contracting Agency's completed evaluation of
final Proposals.

(4) Contract Document. The Contracting Agency shall deliver a fully executed copy of the final Contract to
the successful Offeror.

(5) Bid Tabulations and Award Summaries. Upon request of any Person the Contracting Agency shall
provide tabulations of Awarded Bids or evaluation summaries of Proposals for a nominal charge which may
be payable in advance. Requests must contain the Solicitation Document number and, if requested, be
accompanied by a self-addressed, stamped envelope. Contracting Agencies may also provide tabulations

66



of Bids and Proposals Awarded on designated Web sites or on the Contracting Agency’s Electronic
Procurement System.

(6) Availability of Solicitation Files. The Contracting Agency shall make completed Solicitation files
available for public review at the Contracting Agency.

(7) Copies from Solicitation Files. Any Person may obtain copies of material from Solicitation files upon
payment of a reasonable copying charge.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.365 & ORS 279C.375

137-049-0410

Time for Contracting Agency Acceptance; Extension

(1) Time for Offer Acceptance. An Offeror's Bid, or Proposal submitted as a Firm Offer (see Rule 137-049-
0280), is irrevocable, valid and binding on the Offeror for not less than 30 Days from Closing unless
otherwise specified in the Solicitation Document.

(2) Extension of Acceptance Time. A Contracting Agency may request, orally or in Writing, that Offerors
extend, in Writing, the time during which the Contracting Agency may consider and accept their Offer(s). If
an Offeror agrees to such extension, the Offer shall continue as a Firm Offer, irrevocable, valid and binding
on the Offeror for the agreed-upon extension period.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.375

137-049-0420

Negotiation With Bidders Prohibited

(1) Bids. Except as permitted by ORS 279C.340 and Rule 137-049-0430 when all bids exceed the cost
estimate, a Contracting Agency shall not negotiate with any Bidder prior to Contract Award. After Award of
the Contract, the Contracting Agency and Contractor may modify the Contract only by change order or
amendment to the Contract in accordance with Rule 137-049-0910.

(2) Requests for Proposals. A Contracting Agency may conduct discussions or negotiations with
Proposers only in accordance with the requirements of Rule 137-049-0650.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.340 & ORS 279C.375

137-049-0430

Negotiation When Bids Exceed Cost Estimate

(1) Generally. In accordance with ORS 279C.340, if all Responsive Bids from Responsible Bidders on a
competitively Bid Project exceed the Contracting Agency's Cost Estimate, prior to Contract Award the
Contracting Agency may negotiate Value Engineering and Other Options with the Responsible Bidder
submitting the lowest, Responsive Bid in an attempt to bring the Project within the Contracting Agency's
Cost Estimate. The subcontractor disclosure and substitution requirements of Rule 137-049-0360 do not
apply to negotiations under this rule.

(2) Definitions. The following definitions apply to this administrative rule:

(a) “Cost Estimate” means the Contracting Agency's most recent pre-Bid, good faith assessment of
anticipated Contract costs, consisting either of an estimate of an architect, engineer or other qualified
professional, or confidential cost calculation Worksheets, where available, and otherwise consisting of
formal planning or budgetary documents.

(b) “Other Options” means those items generally considered appropriate for negotiation in the RFP
process, relating to the details of Contract performance as specified in Rule 137-049-0650, but excluding
any material requirements previously announced in the Solicitation process that would likely affect the field
of competition.

(c) “Project” means a Public Improvement.

(d) “value Engineering” means the identification of alternative methods, materials or systems which provide
for comparable function at reduced initial or life-time cost. It includes proposed changes to the plans,
Specifications, or other Contract requirements which may be made, consistent with industry practice, under
the original Contract by mutual agreement in order to take advantage of potential cost savings without
impairing the essential functions or characteristics of the Public Improvement. Cost savings include those
resulting from life cycle costing, which may either increase or decrease absolute costs over varying time
periods.

67



(3) Rejection of Bids. In determining whether all Responsive Bids from Responsible Bidders exceed the
Cost Estimate, only those Bids that have been formally rejected, or Bids from Bidders who have been
formally disqualified by the Contracting Agency, shall be excluded from consideration.

(4) Scope of Negotiations. Contracting Agencies shall not proceed with Contract Award if the scope of the
Project is significantly changed from the original Bid. The scope is considered to have been significantly
changed if the pool of competition would likely have been affected by the change; that is, if other Bidders
would have been expected by the Contracting Agency to participate in the bidding process had the change
been made during the Solicitation process rather than during negotiation. This rule shall not be construed to
prohibit resolicitation of trade subcontracts.

(5) Discontinuing Negotiations. The Contracting Agency may discontinue negotiations at any time, and
shall do so if it appears to the Contracting Agency that the apparent low Bidder is not negotiating in good
faith or fails to share cost and pricing information upon request. Failure to rebid any portion of the project, or
to obtain subcontractor pricing information upon request, shall be considered a lack of good faith.

(6) Limitation. Negotiations may be undertaken only with the lowest Responsive, Responsible Bidder
pursuant to ORS 279C.340. That statute does not provide any additional authority to further negotiate with
Bidders next in line for Contract Award.

(7) Public Records. To the extent that a Bidder's records used in Contract negotiations under ORS
279C.340 are public records, they are exempt from disclosure until after the negotiated Contract has been
awarded or the negotiation process has been terminated, at which time they are subject to disclosure
pursuant to the provisions of the Oregon Public Records Law, ORS 192.410 to 192.505.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279C.340 & ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.340

137-049-0440

Rejection of Offers

(1) Rejection of an Offer.

(a) A Contracting Agency may reject any Offer upon finding that to accept the Offer may impair the integrity
of the Procurement process or that rejecting the Offer is in the public interest.

(b) The Contracting Agency shall reject an Offer upon the Contracting Agency's finding that the Offer:

(A) Is contingent upon the Contracting Agency's acceptance of terms and conditions (including
Specifications) that differ from the Solicitation Document;

(B) Takes exception to terms and conditions (including Specifications);

(C) Attempts to prevent public disclosure of matters in contravention of the terms and conditions of
Solicitation Document or in contravention of applicable law;

(D) Offers Work or goods that fail to meet the Specifications of the Solicitation Document;

(E) Is late;

(F) Is not in substantial compliance with the Solicitation Documents;

(G) Is not in substantial compliance with all prescribed public Solicitation procedures.

(c) The Contracting Agency shall reject an Offer upon the Contracting Agency's finding that the Offeror:

(A) Has not been prequalified under ORS 279C.430 and the Contracting Agency required mandatory
prequalification;

(B) Has been Disqualified;

(C) Has been declared ineligible under ORS 279C.860 by the Commissioner of Bureau of Labor and
Industries and the Contract is for a Public Work;

(D) Is listed as not qualified by the Construction Contractors Bd, if the Contract is for a Public Improvement;
(E) Has not met the requirements of ORS 279A.105 if required by the Solicitation Document;

(F) Has not submitted properly executed Bid or Proposal security as required by the Solicitation Document;
(G) Has failed to provide the certification required under section 3 of this rule;

(H) Is not Responsible. See Rule 137-049-0390(2) regarding Contracting Agency determination that the
Offeror has met statutory standards of responsibility.

(2) Form of Business. For purposes of this rule, the Contracting Agency may investigate any Person
submitting an Offer. The investigation may include that Person's officers, Directors, owners, affiliates, or any
other Person acquiring ownership of the Person to determine application of this rule or to apply the
Disqualification provisions of ORS 279C.440 to 279C.450 and Rule 137-049-0370.

(3) Certification of Non-Discrimination. The Offeror shall certify and deliver to the Contracting Agency
Written certification, as part of the Offer that the Offeror has not discriminated and will not discriminate
against any disadvantaged business enterprise, minority-owned business, women-owned business,
emerging small business, or business that a veteran, as defined by ORS 200.005, owns in obtaining any
required subcontracts. Failure to do so shall be grounds for disqualification.

68



(4) Notice. Contracting Agency need not provide an Offeror with any notice in the event that its Offer is
rejected. However, Contracting Agency will provide all Offerors with a Notice of Intent to Award, as required,
pursuant to Rule 137-049-0395.

(5) Rejection of all Offers. A Contracting Agency may reject all Offers for good cause upon the Contracting
Agency's Written finding it is in the public interest to do so. The Contracting Agency shall notify all Offerors
of the rejection of all Offers, along with the good cause justification and finding.

(6) Criteria for Rejection of All Offers. The Contracting Agency may reject all Offers upon a Written
finding that:

(a) The content of or an error in the Solicitation Document, or the Solicitation process unnecessarily
restricted competition for the Contract;

(b) The price, quality or performance presented by the Offerors is too costly or of insufficient quality to justify
acceptance of the Offer;

(c) Misconduct, error, or ambiguous or misleading provisions in the Solicitation Document threaten the
fairness and integrity of the competitive process;

(d) Causes other than legitimate market forces threaten the integrity of the competitive Procurement
process. These causes include, but are not limited to, those that tend to limit competition such as
restrictions on competition, collusion, corruption, unlawful anti-competitive conduct and inadvertent or
intentional errors in the Solicitation Document;

(e) The Contracting Agency cancels the Solicitation in accordance with Rule 137-049-0270; or

(f) Any other circumstance indicating that Awarding the Contract would not be in the public interest.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.105, ORS 279A.110, ORS 279C.375, ORS 279C.380 & ORS 279C.395,

137-049-0450

Protest of Contractor Selection, Contract Award

(1) Purpose. An adversely affected or aggrieved Offeror must exhaust all avenues of administrative review
and relief before seeking judicial review of the Contracting Agency's Contractor selection or Contract Award
decision. These administrative remedies apply to all public contracts awarded by Contracting Agency,
including those awarded pursuant to an intermediate procurement.

(2) Notice of Competitive Range. Unless otherwise provided in the RFP, under Rule 137-049-0650, the
Contracting Agency shall provide Written notice to all Proposers of the Contracting Agency's determination
of the Proposers included in the Competitive Range. The Contracting Agency's notice of the Proposers
included in the Competitive Range shall not be final until the later of the following:

(a) Seven (7) Days after the date of the notice, unless otherwise provided therein; or

(b) Until the Contracting Agency provides a Written response to all timely-filed protests that denies the
protest and affirms the notice of the Proposers included in the Competitive Range.

(3) Notice of Intent to Award. The Contracting Agency shall provide Written notice to all Offerors of the
Contracting Agency's intent to Award the Contract, as provided in Rule 137-049-0395.

(4) Right to Protest Award.

(a) To protest an Award, an adversely affected or aggrieved Offeror must submit to the Contracting Agency
a Written protest within seven (7) Days after issuance of the notice of intent to Award the Contract, or Award
of a Contract, whichever occurs first, unless a different protest period is provided under the Solicitation
Document.

(b) The Offeror's protest must be in Writing and must specify the grounds upon which the protest is based.
(c) An Offeror is adversely affected or aggrieved only if the Offeror is eligible for Award of the Contract as
the Responsible Bidder submitting the lowest Responsive Bid or the Responsible Proposer submitting the
best Responsive Proposal and is next in line for Award, i.e., the protesting Offeror must claim that all lower
Bidders or higher-scored Proposers are ineligible for Award:

(A) Because their Offers were nonresponsive; or

(B) The Contracting Agency committed a substantial violation of a provision in the Solicitation Document or
of an applicable Procurement statute or administrative rule, and the protesting Offeror was unfairly evaluated
and would have, but for such substantial violation, been the Responsible Bidder offering the lowest Bid or
the Responsible Proposer offering the highest-ranked Proposal.

(d) The Contracting Agency shall not consider a protest submitted after the time period established in this
rule or such different period as may be provided in the Solicitation Document. A Proposer may not protest a
Contracting Agency’s decision not to increase the size of the Competitive Range above the size of the
Competitive Range set forth in the RFP.

(5) Right to Protest Competitive Range.

(a) An adversely affected or aggrieved Proposer may submit to the Contracting Agency a Written protest of
the Contracting Agency's decision to exclude the Proposer from the Competitive Range within seven Days

69



after issuance of the notice of the Competitive Range, unless a different protest period is provided under the
Solicitation Document. (See procedural requirements for the use of RFPs at Rule 137-049-0650.)

(b) The Proposer's protest shall be in Writing and must specify the grounds upon which the protest is based.
(c) A Proposer is adversely affected only if the Proposer is responsible and submitted a Responsive
Proposal and is eligible for inclusion in the Competitive Range, i.e., the protesting Proposer must claim it is
eligible for inclusion in the Competitive Range if all ineligible higher-scoring Proposers are removed from
consideration, and that those ineligible Proposers are ineligible for inclusion in the Competitive Range
because:

(A) Their Proposals were not responsive; or

(B) The Contracting Agency committed a substantial violation of a provision in the RFP or of an applicable
Procurement statute or administrative rule, and the protesting Proposer was unfairly evaluated and would
have, but for such substantial violation, been included in the Competitive Range.

(d) The Contracting Agency shall not consider a protest submitted after the time period established in this
rule or such different period as may be provided in the Solicitation Document. A Proposer may not protest a
Contracting Agency's decision not to increase the size of the Competitive Range above the size of the
Competitive Range set forth in the RFP.

(6) Authority to Resolve Protests. The head of the Contracting Agency, or such Person's designee, may
settle or resolve a Written protest submitted in accordance with the requirements of this rule.

(7) Decision. If a protest is not settled, the head of the Contracting Agency, or such Person's designee,
shall promptly issue a Written decision on the protest. Judicial review of this decision will be available if
provided by statute.

(8) Award. The successful Offeror shall promptly execute the Contract after the Award is final. The
Contracting Agency shall execute the Contract only after it has obtained all applicable required documents
and approvals.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.375, ORS 279C.380, ORS 279C.385 & ORS 279C.460

137-049-0460

Performance and Payment Security; Waiver

(1) Public Improvement Contracts. Unless the required performance bond is waived under ORS
279C.380(1)(a), excused in cases of emergency under ORS 279C.380(4), or unless the Contracting
Agency's Contract Review Authority exempts a Contract or classes of contracts from the required
performance bond and payment bond pursuant to ORS 279C.390, the Contractor shall execute and deliver
to the Contracting Agency a performance bond and a payment bond each in a sum equal to the Contract
Price for all Public Improvement Contracts. This requirement applies only to Public Improvement Contracts
with a value, estimated by the Contracting Agency, of more than $100,000 or, in the case of Contracts for
highways, bridges and other transportation projects, more than $50,000. See ORS 279C.380(5). Under
ORS 279C.390(3)(b) the Director of the Oregon Department of Transportation may reduce the performance
bond amount for contracts financed from the proceeds of bonds issued under ORS 367.620(3)(a). Also see
Rule 137-049-0815 and BOLI rules at OAR 839-025-0015 regarding the separate requirement for a Public
Works bond.

(2) Other Construction Contracts. A Contracting Agency may require performance security for other
construction Contracts that are not Public Improvement Contracts. Such requirements shall be expressly
set forth in the Solicitation Document.

(3) Requirement for Surety Bond. The Contracting Agency shall accept only a performance bond
furnished by a surety company authorized to do business in Oregon unless otherwise specified in the
Solicitation Document (i.e., the Contracting Agency may accept a cashier's check or certified check in lieu or
all or a portion of the required performance bond if specified in the Solicitation Document). The payment
bond must be furnished by a surety company authorized to do business in Oregon, and in an amount equal
to the full Contract Price.

(4) Time for Submission. The apparent successful Offeror must promptly furnish the required performance
security upon the Contracting Agency's request. If the Offeror fails to furnish the performance security as
requested, the Contracting Agency may reject the Offer and Award the Contract to the Responsible Bidder
with the next lowest Responsive Bid or the Responsible Proposer with the next highest-scoring Responsive
Proposal, and, at the Contracting Agency's discretion, the Offeror shall forfeit its Bid or Proposal security.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.375, ORS 279C.380 & ORS 279C.390

70



137-049-0470

Substitute Contractor

If the Contractor provided a performance bond, the Contracting Agency, in its sole discretion, may afford the
Contractor's surety the opportunity to provide a substitute contractor to complete performance of the
Contract. A substitute contractor shall perform all remaining Contract Work and comply with all terms and
conditions of the Contract, including the provisions of the performance bond and the payment bond. Such
substitute performance does not involve the Award of a new Contract and shall not be subject to the
competitive Procurement provisions of ORS Chapter 279C.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.365, ORS 279C.370, ORS 279C.375, ORS 279C.380 & ORS 279C.390

137-049-0490

Foreign Contractor

If the Contract Price exceeds $10,000 and the Contractor is a Foreign Contractor, the Contractor shall
promptly report to the Oregon Department of Revenue on forms provided by the Department of Revenue,
the Contract Price, terms of payment, Contract duration and such other information as the Department of
Revenue may require before final payment can be made on the Contract. A copy of the report shall be
forwarded to the Contracting Agency. The Contracting Agency Awarding the Contract shall satisfy itself that
the above requirements have been complied with before it issues final payment on the Contract.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.120

ALTERNATIVE CONTRACTING METHODS

137-049-0600

Purpose

Rules 137-049-0600 to 137-049-0690 are intended to provide guidance to Contracting Agencies regarding
the use of Alternative Contracting Methods for Public Improvement Contracts, as may be directed by a
Contracting Agency's Contract Review Authority under ORS 279C.335. Alternative Contracting Methods
include, but are not limited to, Design-Build, Energy Savings Performance Contract (ESPC) and
Construction Manager/General Contractor (CM/GC) forms of contracting. To the extent any such Alternative
Contracting Methods (with the exception of CM/GC) are utilized within the competitive bidding process set
forth at ORS 279C.335(1), Rules 137-049-0600 to 137-049-0690 are advisory only and need not be
followed.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279C.335, ORS 279A.065 & ORS 351.086
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.335, ORS 279C.337, ORS 279A.065 & ORS 351.086

137-049-0610

Definitions for Alternative Contracting Methods

The following definitions shall apply to these 137-049-0600 to 137-049-0690 rules, unless the context
requires otherwise:

(1) “Alternative Contracting Methods” means innovative Procurement techniques for procuring or
performing Public Improvement Contracts, utilizing processes other than the traditional method of Design-
Bid-Build (with Award based solely on price, in which a final design is issued with formal Bid documents,
construction services are obtained by sealed Bid Awarded to the lowest Responsive, Responsible Bidder,
and the project is built in accordance with those documents). In industry practice, such methods commonly
include variations of Design-Build contracting and CM/GC forms of contracting, which are specifically
addressed in these 137-049-0600 to 137-049-0690 rules, as well as other developing techniques such as
general "performance contracting” and "cost plus time" contracting (as more particularly described in
ORS 279C.332(3)(b)(D)(iii)(1)) and “qualifications plus project approach” contracting (as more particularly
described in ORS 279C.332(3)(b)(D)(iii)(11)). Procedural requirements are identified under these 137-049-
0600 to 137-049-0690 rules, when a Contracting Agency uses an Alternative Contracting Method in a
procurement that requires an exemption from competitive bidding under ORS 279C.335(2) or in an ESPC
procurement that is excepted from competitive bidding under ORS 279.335(1).

(2) “Construction Manager/General Contractor (or "CM/GC")” has the meaning set forth in ORS
279C.332(2).

71



(3) “Construction Manager/General Contractor Method (or “CM/GC Method)” means the Alternative
Method which involves a Contracting Agency’s selection of a CM/GC to perform CM/GC Services for a
project or projects.

(4) “Construction Manager/General Contractor Services (or CM/GC Services”)” has the meaning set
forth in ORS 279C.332(3).

(5) “Design-Build” means a form of Procurement that results in a Public Improvement Contract in which the
construction Contractor also provides or obtains specified design services, participates on the project team
with the Contracting Agency, and manages both design and construction. In this form of Contract, a single
Person provides the Contracting Agency with all of the Personal Services and construction Work necessary
to both design and construct the project.

(6) “Guaranteed Maximum Price (or "GMP")” has the meaning set forth in ORS 279C.332(4), pertaining to
procurements for CM/GC Services. For Alternative Contracting Methods other than the CM/GC Method,
“Guaranteed Maximum Price” (or “GMP”) means the total maximum price provided to the Contracting
Agency by the Contractor and accepted by the Contracting Agency that includes all reimbursable costs and
fees for completion of the Contract Work and any particularly identified contingency amounts, as defined by
the Public Improvement Contract.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.332, ORS 279C.335 & ORS 279A.065

137-049-0620

Use of Alternative Contracting Methods

(1) Competitive Bidding Exemptions. ORS Chapter 279C requires a competitive bidding process for
Public Improvement Contracts unless a statutory exception applies, a class of Contracts has been exempted
or an individual Contract has been exempted in accordance with ORS 279C.335 and any applicable
Contracting Agency rules. Use of Alternative Contracting Methods may be directed by a Contracting
Agency's Contract Review Authority as an exception to the prescribed Public Contracting practices in
Oregon, and their use must be justified in accordance with the Code and these 137-049-0600 to 137-049-
0690 rules. See Rule 137-049-0630 regarding required Findings and restrictions on class exemptions.
Contracting Agency’s Contract Review Authority has duly adopted class exemptions for the use of Requests
for Proposals (RFP) and ESPC forms of contracting and authorized Contracting Agency to approve use of
these alternative solicitation and contracting methods in accordance with Rules 137-049-0600 to 137-049-
0690, as applicable.

(2) Post-Project Evaluation. Per ORS 279C.355 the Contracting Agency shall prepare a formal post-
project evaluation of Public Improvement projects in excess of $100,000 for which the competitive bidding
process was not used. The purpose of this evaluation is to determine whether it was actually in the
Contracting Agency's best interest to use an Alternative Contracting Method. The evaluation must be
delivered to the Contracting Agency’s Contract Review Authority within 30 Days of the date the Contracting
Agency "accepts” the Public Improvement project, as defined in the Contract. In the absence of such
definition, acceptance of the Project occurs on the later of the date of final payment or the date of final
completion of the Work. The evaluation shall address:

(a) Financial information, consisting of cost estimates, any Guaranteed Maximum Price, changes and actual
costs;

(b) A narrative description of successes and failures during design, engineering and construction; and

(c) An objective assessment of the use of the Alternative Contracting Method as compared to the exemption
Findings.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279C.335 & ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.335, ORS 279A.065, ORS 279C.355 & ORS 351.086

137-049-0630

Findings, Notice and Hearing

(1) “Cost Savings” and Other Substantial Benefits Factors. When Findings are required under ORS
279C.335(2)(b) to exempt a Contract or class of Contracts from the competitive bidding requirements, the
"substantial cost savings and other substantial benefits" criterion at 279C.335(2)(b) requires consideration of
the type, cost and amount of the Contract and, to the extent applicable, the other factors set forth in
279C.335(2)(b). If a particular factor has no application whatsoever to the particular Public Improvement
Contract or class of Public Improvement Contracts, the local contract review board need not consider nor
address that factor.

(2) Required Information. The statutory definition of “Findings” at ORS 279C.330(2), which applies to
exemptions from competitive bidding under ORS 279C.335, means the justification for a Contracting

72



Agency’s conclusion regarding the factors listed in both ORS 279C.335(2)(a) and either 279C.335(2)(b) or
279C.335(2)(c).

(3) Addressing Cost Savings. Accordingly, when the Contract or class of Contracts under consideration
for an exemption contemplates the use of Alternative Contracting Methods, the "substantial cost savings and
other substantial benefits" requirement may be addressed by a combination of:

(a) Specified Findings that address the factors and other information specifically identified by statute,
including, but not limited to, an analysis or reasonable forecast of present and future cost savings and other
substantial benefits; and

(b) Additional Findings that address industry practices, surveys, trends, past experiences, evaluations of
completed projects required by ORS 279C.355 and related information regarding the expected benefits and
drawbacks of particular Alternative Contracting Methods. To the extent practicable, such Findings shall
relate back to the specific characteristics of the project or projects at issue in the exemption request.

(c) As an alternative to the "substantial cost savings and other substantial benefits" requirement in ORS
279C.335(2)(b), if an Alternative Contracting Method has not been previously used, Contracting Agency may
make a Finding that identifies the project as a "pilot project” under ORS 279C.335(2)(c).

(4) Favoritism and Competition. The criteria at ORS 279C.335(2)(a) that the exemption “is unlikely to
encourage favoritism" or "substantially diminish competition" may be addressed for Alternative Contracting
Methods by specifying: (a) the manner in which an RFP process will be utilized; (b) that the Procurement will
be formally advertised with public notice and disclosure of the planned Alternative Contracting Method; (c)
that competition will be encouraged; and (d) that Award will be made based upon identified selection criteria
and an opportunity to protest that Award provided.

(5) Class Exemptions. In making the findings supporting a class exemption the Contracting Agency shall
clearly identify the “class” with respect to its defining characteristics, pursuant to the requirements of ORS
279.335(3). Those characteristics shall include some combination of Project descriptions or locations, time
periods, contract values, method of procurement, or other factors that distinguish the limited and related
class of Projects from a Contracting Agency’s overall construction program. The Contracting Agency may
not identify a class solely by funding source, such as a particular bond fund, or by the method of
procurement, but shall identify the class using characteristics that reasonably relate to the exemption criteria
of ORS 279C.335(2).

(6) Public Hearing. Before final adoption of Findings exempting a Public Improvement Contract or class of
Contracts from the requirement of competitive bidding, a Contracting Agency shall give notice and may hold
a public hearing as required by ORS 279C.335(5). The hearing shall be for the purpose of receiving public
comment on the Contracting Agency's draft Findings.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.335 & ORS 279A.065

137-049-0640

General Alternative Contracting Procedures

(1) Proposal Evaluation. Factors in addition to price may be considered in the selection process, but only
as set forth in the RFP. Proposal evaluation shall be as objective as possible. Evaluation factors need not
be precise predictors of future costs and performance, but to the extent possible such evaluation factors
shall:

(a) Be reasonable estimates based on information available to the Contracting Agency;

(b) Treat all Proposals equitably; and

(c) Recognize that public policy requires that Public Improvements be constructed at the least overall cost to
the Contracting Agency. See ORS 279C.305.

(2) Evaluation Factors.

(a) In basic negotiated construction contracting, where the only reason for an RFP is to consider factors
other than price, those factors may consist of firm and personnel experience on similar projects, adequacy of
equipment and physical plant, sources of supply, availability of key personnel, financial capacity, past
performance, safety records, project understanding, proposed methods of construction, proposed milestone
dates, references, service, and related matters that affect cost or quality.

(b) In CM/GC contracting, in addition to (a) above, those factors may also include any factors required by
ORS 279C.337 and OAR 137-049-0690.

(c) In Design-Build contracting, in addition to (a) and (b) above, those factors may also include design
professional qualifications, specialized experience, preliminary design submittals, technical merit, design-
builder team experience and related matters that affect cost or quality.

(3) Contract Negotiations. Contract terms may be negotiated to the extent allowed by the RFP and Rules
137-049-0600 to 137-049-0690, provided that the general Work scope remains the same and that the field
of competition does not change as a result of material changes to the requirements stated in the Solicitation
Document. See Rule 137-049-0650. Terms that may be negotiated consist of details of Contract

73



performance, methods of construction, timing, assignment of risk in specified areas, fee, and other matters
that could affect the cost or quality of the Work. For the CM/GC Method, terms that may be negotiated also
include the specific scope of pre-construction services, the GC Work, any Early Work and other construction
Work to be performed by the CM/GC, and any other terms that the Contracting Agency has identified as
being subject to negotiation, consistent with the requirements of OAR 137-049-0690. In ESPC contracting,
terms that may be negotiated also include the scope of preliminary design of ECMs to be evaluated by the
parties during the Technical Energy Audit phase of the Work, the scope of Personal Services and Work to
be performed by the ESCO during the Project Development Plan phase of the Work, the detailed provisions
of the Energy Savings Guarantee to be provided by the ESCO and scope of Work, methodologies and
compensation terms and conditions during the design and construction phase and M & V phase of the Work,
consistent with the requirements of Rule 137-049-0680.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279C.335 & ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.335, ORS 279A.065 & ORS 351.086

137-049-0650

Requests for Proposals (RFP)

(1) Generally.

(a) Contracting Agency may utilize the following RFP process for public improvement contracts to allow
flexibility in both proposal evaluation and contract negotiation, subject to ORS 279C.400 to 279C.410, Rules
137-049-0200 to 137-049-0480, and 137-049-0640 to 137-049-0660, unless other applicable statutes or
rules control a Contracting Agency’s use of competitive proposals for public improvement contracts.

(b) Contracting Agency may issue a request for information, a request for interest, a request for
qualifications or other preliminary documents to obtain information useful in the preparation or distribution of
a Request for Proposals. ORS 279C.410(9).

(2) Solicitation Documents. In addition to the Solicitation Document requirements of Rule 137-049-0200,
Public Improvement Contract Requests for Proposals shall include:

(a) Whether Contracting Agency reserves the right to Award to and Contract with more than one Proposer.
(b) All evaluation factors that will be considered by the Contracting Agency when evaluating the proposals,
including the relative importance of price and any other evaluation factors. Evaluation factors may include,
but are not limited to, such considerations as price or cost, quality of a product or service, past performance,
management, capability, personnel qualification, prior experience, compatibility, reliability, operating
efficiency, expansion potential, experience of key personnel, adequacy of equipment or physical plant,
financial wherewithal, sources of supply, references and warranty provisions.

(c) The method of contractor selection, which may include, but is not limited to, Award without negotiation,
negotiation with the highest ranked Proposer, competitive negotiations, multiple-tiered competition designed
to either identify a class of Proposers that fall within a competitive range or to otherwise eliminate from
consideration a class of lower ranked Proposers, or any combination of these methods;

(d) All required contractual terms and conditions. The Request for Proposals also may: (i) identify those
contractual terms or conditions that Contracting Agency reserves, in the Request for Proposals, for
negotiation with Proposers; (ii) request that Proposers propose contractual terms and conditions that relate
to subject matter reasonably identified in the Request for Proposals; and (iii) contain or incorporate the form
and content of the contract that the Contracting Agency will accept, or suggested contract terms and
conditions that nevertheless may be the subject of negotiations with Proposers.

(3) Evaluation of Proposals.

(a) Evaluation. The Contracting Agency shall evaluate Proposals only in accordance with criteria set forth in
the RFP and applicable law. The Contracting Agency shall evaluate Proposals to determine the
Responsible Proposer or Proposers submitting the best Responsive Proposal or Proposals.

(A) Clarifications. In evaluating Proposals, a Contracting Agency may seek information from a Proposer to
clarify the Proposer's Proposal. A Proposer must submit Written and Signed clarifications and such
clarifications shall become part of the Proposer's Proposal.

(B) Limited Negotiation. If the Contracting Agency did not permit negotiation in its Request for Proposals,
the Contracting Agency may, nonetheless, negotiate with the highest-ranked Proposer, but may then only
negotiate the:

(i) Statement of Work; and

(ii) Contract Price as it is affected by negotiating the statement of Work.

(iii) The process outlined in subsections (5)(b) and (6) of this rule do not apply to this limited negotiation.

(b) Discussions; Negotiations. The Contracting Agency shall evaluate Proposals and, if applicable, establish
the Competitive Range, before conducting discussions or negotiations in accordance with this rule.

(A) If the Solicitation Document provided that discussions or negotiations may occur at Contracting Agency's
discretion, the Contracting Agency may forego discussions and negotiations and evaluate all Proposals in
accordance with this rule.

74



(B) If the Contracting Agency proceeds with discussions or negotiations, the Contracting Agency may
establish a negotiation committee which may include members with legal, technical or negotiating expertise.
(c) Cancellation/Rejection. Cancellation of the Solicitation or rejection of proposals shall be in accordance
with ORS 279C.395.

(4) Competitive Range; Protest; Award.

(a) Determining Competitive Range.

(A) If the Contracting Agency does not cancel the Solicitation, after the Opening the Contracting Agency will
evaluate all Proposals in accordance with the evaluation criteria set forth in the Request for Proposals and
rank the Proposers in the Competitive Range.

(B) The Contracting Agency may increase the number of Proposers in the Competitive Range if the
Contracting Agency's evaluation of Proposals establishes a natural break in the scores of Proposers
indicating that a number of Proposers greater than the initial Competitive Range are closely competitive, or
have a reasonable chance of being determined the best Proposer after the Contracting Agency's evaluation
of revised Proposals submitted in accordance with the process described in this rule.

(b) Notice/Protests. Notice of Competitive Range and Award, and associated protest rights will be as
established in Rule 137-049-0450.

(c) After the protest period provided in accordance with Rule 137-049-0450 expires, or after the Contracting
Agency has provided a final response to any protest, whichever date is later, the Contracting Agency may
commence final Contract negotiations with the highest-ranked Proposer in the Competitive Range; or
engage in discussions with Proposers in the Competitive Range and accept revised Proposals from them,
and, following such discussions and receipt and evaluation of revised Proposals, conduct negotiations with
the Proposers in the Competitive Range.

(5) Discussions; Revised Proposals. If the Contracting Agency chooses to enter into discussions with
and receive revised Proposals from the Proposers in the Competitive Range, the Contracting Agency shall
proceed as follows:

(a) Initiating Discussions. The Contracting Agency shall initiate oral or Written discussions with all of the
Proposers in the Competitive Range regarding their Proposals with respect to the provisions of the RFP that
the Contracting Agency identified in the RFP as the subject of discussions. The Contracting Agency may
conduct discussions for the following purposes:

(A) Informing Proposers of deficiencies in their initial Proposals;

(B) Notifying Proposers of parts of their Proposals for which the Contracting Agency would like additional
information; and

(C) Otherwise allowing Proposers to develop revised Proposals that will allow the Contracting Agency to
obtain the best Proposal based on the requirements and evaluation criteria set forth in the Request for
Proposals.

(b) Conducting Discussions. The Contracting Agency may conduct discussions with each Proposer in the
Competitive Range necessary to fulfill the purposes of this section, but need not conduct the same amount
of discussions with each Proposer. The Contracting Agency may terminate discussions with any Proposer
in the Competitive Range at any time. However, the Contracting Agency shall offer all Proposers in the
Competitive Range the opportunity to discuss their Proposals with Contracting Agency before the
Contracting Agency notifies Proposers of the date and time pursuant to this section that revised Proposals
will be due.

(A) In conducting discussions, the Contracting Agency:

(i) Shall treat all Proposers fairly and shall not favor any Proposer over another;

(i) Shall not discuss other Proposers' Proposals;

(iif) Shall not suggest specific revisions that a Proposer should make to its Proposal, and shall not otherwise
direct the Proposer to make any specific revisions to its Proposal.

(B) At any time during the time allowed for discussions, the Contracting Agency may:

(i) Continue discussions with a particular Proposer;

(i) Terminate discussions with a particular Proposer and continue discussions with other Proposers in the
Competitive Range; or

(iif) Conclude discussions with all remaining Proposers in the Competitive Range and provide notice to the
Proposers in the Competitive Range to submit revised Proposals.

(c) Revised Proposals. If the Contracting Agency does not cancel the Solicitation at the conclusion of the
Contracting Agency's discussions with all remaining Proposers in the Competitive Range, the Contracting
Agency shall give all remaining Proposers in the Competitive Range notice of the date and time by which
they must submit revised Proposals. This notice constitutes the Contracting Agency's termination of
discussions, and Proposers must submit revised Proposals by the date and time set forth in the Contracting
Agency's notice.

(A) Upon receipt of the revised Proposals, the Contracting Agency shall score the revised Proposals based
upon the evaluation criteria set forth in the Request for Proposals, and rank the revised Proposals based on
the Contracting Agency's scoring.

75



(B) The Contracting Agency may conduct discussions with and accept only one revised Proposal from each
Proposer in the Competitive Range unless otherwise set forth in the Request for Proposals.

(d) Intent to Award; Protest. Written notice of intent to Award and associated protest rights are as
established in Rule 137-049-0450. After the protest period expires, or after the Contracting Agency has
provided a final response to any protest, whichever date is later, the Contracting Agency may commence
final Contract negotiations.

(6) Negotiations.

(a) Initiating Negotiations. The Contracting Agency may determine to commence negotiations with the
highest-ranked Proposer in the Competitive Range following the:

(A) Initial determination of the Competitive Range; or

(B) Conclusion of discussions with all Proposers in the Competitive Range and evaluation of revised
Proposals.

(b) Conducting Negotiations.

(A) Scope. The Contracting Agency may negotiate:

(i) The statement of Work;

(ii) The Contract Price as it is affected by negotiating the statement of Work; and

(iii) Any other terms and conditions reasonably related to those authorized for negotiation in the Request for
Proposals.

(c) Terminating Negotiations. The Contracting Agency may terminate negotiations with any Proposer at any
time, if the Contracting Agency reasonably believes that:

(A) The Proposer is not discussing or negotiating in good faith; or

(B) Further discussions or negotiations with the Proposer will not result in the parties agreeing to the terms
and conditions of a final Contract in a timely manner.

(d) Continuing Negotiations. If the Contracting Agency terminates negotiations with a Proposer, the
Contracting Agency may then commence negotiations with the next highest scoring Proposer in the
Competitive Range, and continue the process described in this rule until the Contracting Agency has either:
(A) Determined to Award the Contract to the Proposer with whom it is currently negotiating; or

(B) Completed at least one round of negotiations with all Proposers in the Competitive Range.

(7) Post Project Evaluation. For projects over $100,000, Contracting Agency shall complete a post project
evaluation in compliance with ORS 279C.355 and Rule 137-049-0620(3).

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.400 to ORS 279C.410

137-049-0660

RFP Pricing Mechanisms

(1) A Request for Proposals may result in a lump sum Contract Price, as in the case of competitive bidding.
Alternatively, a cost reimbursement Contract with a GMP or some other maximum price specified in the
Contract may be negotiated.

(2) Economic incentives or disincentives may be included to reflect stated Contracting Agency purposes
related to time of completion, safety or other Public Contracting objectives, including total least cost
mechanisms such as life cycle costing.

(3) A Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) may be used as the pricing mechanism for CM/GC where a total
Contract Price is provided in the design phase in order to assist the Contracting Agency in determining
whether the project scope is within the Contracting Agency's budget, and allowing for design changes during
preliminary design rather than after final design Work has been completed.

(a) If this collaborative process is successful, the Contractor shall propose a final GMP, which may be
accepted by the Contracting Agency and included within the Contract.

(b) If this collaborative process is not successful, and no mutually agreeable resolution on GMP can be
achieved with the Contractor, then the Contracting Agency shall terminate the Contract. The public
Contracting Agency may then proceed to negotiate a new Contract (and GMP) with the firm that was next
ranked in the original selection process, or employ other means for continuing the project under ORS
Chapter 279C.

(4) When cost reimbursement Contracts are utilized, regardless of whether a GMP is included, the
Contracting Agency shall provide for audit controls that will effectively verify rates and ensure that costs are
reasonable, allowable and properly allocated.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.335

76



137-049-0670

Design-Build Contracts

(1) General. The Design-Build form of contracting, as defined in Rule 137-049-0610(3), has technical
complexities that are not readily apparent. Contracting Agencies shall use this contracting method only with
the assistance of knowledgeable staff or consultants who are experienced in its use. In order to use the
Design-Build process, the Contracting Agency must be able to reasonably anticipate the following types of
benefits:

(a) Obtaining, through a Design-Build team, engineering design, plan preparation, value engineering,
construction engineering, construction, quality control and required documentation as a fully integrated
function with a single point of responsibility;

(b) Integrating value engineering suggestions into the design phase, as the construction Contractor joins the
project team early with design responsibilities under a team approach, with the potential of reducing
Contract changes;

(c) Reducing the risk of design flaws, misunderstandings and conflicts inherent in construction Contractors
building from designs in which they have had no opportunity for input, with the potential of reducing Contract
claims;

(d) Shortening project time as construction activity (early submittals, mobilization, subcontracting and
advance Work) commences prior to completion of a "Biddable" design, or where a design solution is still
required (as in complex or phased projects); or

(e) Obtaining innovative design solutions through the collaboration of the Contractor and design team, which
would not otherwise be possible if the Contractor had not yet been selected.

(2) Authority. Contracting Agencies shall utilize the Design-Build form of contracting only in accordance
with the requirements of these 137-049-0600 to 137-049-0690 rules. See particularly Rule 137-049-0620 on
"Use of Alternative Contracting Methods" and Rule 137-049-0680 pertaining to ESPCs.

(3) Selection. Design-Build selection criteria may include those factors set forth above in Rule 137-049-
0640(2)(a), (b) and (c).

(4) QBS Inapplicable. Because the value of construction services predominates the Design-Build form of
contracting, the qualifications based selection (QBS) process mandated by ORS 279C.110 for State
Contracting Agencies in obtaining certain consultant services is not applicable.

(5) Licensing. If a Design-Build Contractor is not an Oregon licensed design professional, the Contracting
Agency shall require that the Design-Build Contractor disclose in its Written Offer that it is not an Oregon
licensed design professional, and identify the Oregon licensed design professional(s) who will provide
design services. See ORS 671.030(5) regarding the offer of architectural services, and ORS 672.060(11)
regarding the offer of engineering services that are appurtenant to construction services.

(6) Performance Security. ORS 279C.380(1)(a) provides that for Design-Build Contracts the surety's
obligation on performance bonds, or the Bidder's obligation on cashier's or certified checks accepted in lieu
thereof, includes the preparation and completion of design and related professional services specified in the
Contract. This additional obligation, beyond performance of construction services, extends only to the
provision of professional services and related design revisions, corrective Work and associated costs prior to
final completion of the Contract (or for such longer time as may be defined in the Contract). The obligation
is not intended to be a substitute for professional liability insurance, and does not include errors and
omissions or latent defects coverage.

(7) Contract Requirements. Contracting Agencies shall conform their Design-Build contracting practices to
the following requirements:

(a) Design Services. The level or type of design services required must be clearly defined within the
Procurement documents and Contract, along with a description of the level or type of design services
previously performed for the project. The services to be performed shall be clearly delineated as either
design Specifications or performance standards, and performance measurements must be identified.

(b) Professional Liability. The Contract shall clearly identify the liability of design professionals with respect
to the Design-Build Contractor and the Contracting Agency, as well as requirements for professional liability
insurance.

(c) Risk Allocation. The Contract shall clearly identify the extent to which the Contracting Agency requires
an express indemnification from the Design-Build Contractor for any failure to perform, including
professional errors and omissions, design warranties, construction operations and faulty Work claims.

(d) Warranties. The Contract shall clearly identify any express warranties made to the Contracting Agency
regarding characteristics or capabilities of the completed project (regardless of whether errors occur as the
result of improper design, construction, or both), including any warranty that a design will be produced that
meets the stated project performance and budget guidelines.

(e) Incentives. The Contract shall clearly identify any economic incentives and disincentives, the specific
criteria that apply and their relationship to other financial elements of the Contract.

77



(f) Honoraria. If allowed by the RFP, honoraria or stipends may be provided for early design submittals from
qualified finalists during the Solicitation process on the basis that the Contracting Agency is benefited from
such deliverables.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279C.335 & ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.335, ORS 279A.065, ORS 279C.110 & ORS 351.086

137-049-0680

Energy Savings Performance Contracts (ESPC)

(1) Generally. These 137-049-0600 to 137-049-0690 rules include a limited, efficient method for
Contracting Agency to enter into ESPCs outside the competitive bidding requirements of ORS 279C.334.
See ORS 279C.335(1)(f). If a Contracting Agency chooses not to utilize the ESPC Procurement method
provided for by these 137-049-0600 to 137-049-0690 rules, the Contracting Agency may still enter into an
ESPC by complying with the competitive bidding exemption process set forth in ORS 279C.335, or by
otherwise complying with the Procurement requirements applicable to any Contracting Agency not subject to
all the requirements of ORS 279C.335.

(2) ESPC Contracting Method. The ESPC form of contracting, as defined at Rule 137-049-0610(6), has
unique technical complexities associated with the determination of what ECMs are feasible for the
Contracting Agency, as well as the additional technical complexities associated with a Design-Build
Contract. Contracting Agencies shall only utilize the ESPC contracting method with the assistance of
knowledgeable staff or consultants who are experienced in its use. In order to utilize the ESPC contracting
process, the Contracting Agency must be able to reasonably anticipate one or more of the following types of
benefits:

(a) Obtaining, through an ESCO, the following types of integrated Personal Services and Work: facility
profiling, energy baseline studies, ECMs. Technical Energy Audits, project development planning,
engineering design, plan preparation, cost estimating, life cycle costing, construction administration, project
management, construction, quality control, operations and maintenance staff training, commissioning
services, Measurement and Verification (M & V) services and required documentation as a fully integrated
function with a single point of responsibility;

(b) Obtaining through an ESCO, an Energy Savings Guarantee;

(c) Integrating the Technical Energy Audit phase and Project Development Plan phase into the design and
construction phase of Work on the project;

(d) Reducing the risk of design flaws, misunderstandings and conflicts inherent in the construction process,
through the integration of ESPC Personal Services and Work;

(e) Obtaining innovative design solutions through the collaboration of the members of the ESCO integrated
ESPC team;

(f) Integrating cost-effective Energy Conservation Measures (ECMs) into an existing building or structure, so
that the ECMs pay for themselves through savings realized over the useful life of the ECMs;

(9) preliminary design, development, implementation and an Energy Savings Guarantee of ECMs into an
existing building or structure that is being performed under a separate remodeling Contract; and

(h) Satisfying local energy efficiency design criteria or requirements.

(3) Authority. Contracting Agency may utilize the ESPC form of contracting only in accordance with the
requirements of these 137-049-0600 to 137-049-0690 rules.

(4) No Findings Required. A Contracting Agency is only required to comply with the ESPC contracting
procedures set forth in these 137-049-0600 to 137-049-0690 rules in order for the ESPC to be exempt from
the competitive bidding process of ORS 279C.335. No Findings are required for an ESPC to be exempt
from the competitive bidding process for Public Improvement Contracts pursuant to ORS 279C.335, unless
the Contracting Agency is subject to the requirements of ORS 279C.335 and chooses not to comply with the
ESPC contracting procedures set forth in 137-049-0600 to 137-049-0690 of these rules.

(5) Selection. ESPC contracts may be directly awarded or solicited via an informal or formal RFP process.
ESPC selection criteria may include those factors set forth above in Rule 137-049-0640(2)(a), (b), and (c).
Since the Energy Savings Guarantee is such a fundamental component in the ESPC contracting process,
prior to award, potential awardees must identity any Person providing (directly or indirectly) any Energy
Savings Guarantee that may be offered by the successful ESCO during the course of the performance of the
ESPC, along with any financial statements and related information pertaining to any such Person.

(6) @QBS Inapplicable. Because the value of construction Work predominates in the ESPC method of
contracting, the qualifications based selection (QBS) process mandated by ORS 279C.110 for State
Contracting Agencies in obtaining certain consultant services is not applicable.

(7) Licensing. If the ESCO is not an Oregon licensed design professional, the Contracting Agency shall
require that the ESCO disclose in the ESPC that it is not an Oregon licensed design professional, and
identify the Oregon licensed design professional(s) who will provide design services. See ORS 671.030(5)

78



regarding the offer of architectural services, and ORS 672.060(11) regarding the offer of engineering
services that are appurtenant to construction Work.

(8) Performance Security. At the point in the ESPC when the parties enter into a binding Contract that
constitutes a Design-Build Contract, the ESCO must provide a performance bond and a payment bond,
each for 100% of the full Contract Price, including the construction Work and design and related Personal
Services specified in the ESPC Design-Build Contract, pursuant to ORS 279C.380(1)(a). For ESPC Design-
Build Contracts, these “design and related services” include conventional design services, commissioning
services, training services for the Contracting Agency’s operations and maintenance staff, and any similar
Personal Services provided by the ESCO’s Energy Savings Guarantee are not included in these
279C.380(1)(a) “design and related services.” Nevertheless, a Contracting Agency may require that the
ESCO provide performance security for M & V services and any Personal Services or Work associated with
the ESCO’s Energy Savings Guarantee, if the Contracting Agency so provides in the RFP.

(9) Contracting Requirements. Contracting Agencies shall conform their ESPC contracting practices to
the following requirements:

(a) General ESPC Contracting Practices. An ESPC involves a multi-phase project, which includes the
following contractual elements:

(A) A contractual structure which includes general Contract terms describing the relationship of the parties,
the various phases of the Work, the contractual terms governing the Technical Energy Audit for the project,
the contractual terms governing the final design and construction of the project, the contractual terms
governing the performance of the M & V services for the project, and the detailed provisions of the ESCO’s
Energy Savings Guarantee for the project.

(B) The various phases of the ESCO’s Work will include the following:

(i) The Technical Energy Audit phase of the Work;

(ii) The Project Development Plan phase of the Work;

(iii) A third phase of the Work that constitutes a Design-Build Contract, during which the ESCO completes
any plans and Specifications required to implement the ECMs that have been agreed to by the parties to the
ESPC, and the ESCO performs all construction, commissioning, construction administration and related
Personal Services or Work to actually construct the project; and

(iv) A final phase of the Work, whereby the ESCO, independently or in cooperation with an independent
consultant hired by the Contracting Agency, performs M & V services to ensure that the Energy Savings
Guarantee identified by the ESCO in the earlier phases of the Work and agreed to by the parties has
actually been achieved.

(b) Design-Build Contracting Requirements in ESPCs. At the point in the ESPC when the parties enter into
a binding Contract that constitutes a Design-Build Contract, the Contracting Agency shall conform its
Design-Build contracting practices to the Design-Build contracting requirements set forth in Rule 137-040-
0560(7) above.

(c) Pricing Alternatives. The Contracting Agency may utilize one of the following pricing alternatives in an
ESPC:

(A) A fixed price for each phase of the Personal Services and Work to be provided by the ESCO;

(B) A cost reimbursement pricing mechanism, which a maximum not-to-exceed price or a GMP; or

(C) A combination of a fixed fee for certain components of the Personal Services to be performed, a cost
reimbursement pricing mechanism for the construction Work to be performed with a GMP, a single or annual
fixed fee for M & V services to be performed for an identified period after final completion of the construction
Work, and a single or annual Energy Savings Guarantee fixed fee payable for an identified time period after
final completion of the construction Work that is conditioned on certain energy savings being achieved at the
facility by the ECMs that have been implemented by the ESCO during the project (in the event an annual M
& V services fee and annual Energy Savings Guarantee fee is utilized by the parties, the parties may
provide in the Design-Build Contract that, at the sole option of the Contracting Agency, the ESCO’'s M & V
services may be terminated prior to the completion of the M & V/Energy Savings Guarantee period and the
Contracting Agency’s future obligation to pay the M & V services fee and Energy Savings Guarantee fee will
likewise be terminated, under terms agreed to by the parties).

(d) Permitted ESPC Scope of Work. The scope of Work under the ESPC is restricted to implementation and
installation of ECMs, as well as other Work on building systems or building components that are directly
related to the ECMs, and that, as an integrated unit, will pay for themselves over the useful life of the ECMs
installed. The permitted scope of Work for ESPCs resulting from a solicitation under these 137-049-0600 to
137-049-0690 rules does not include maintenance services for the project facility.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279C.335 & ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.335, ORS 279A.065, ORS 279C.110 & ORS 351.086

79



137-049-0690

Construction Manager/General Contractor (CM/GC)

Contracting Agency shall use a Construction Manager/General Contractor (CM/GC) form of contracting, as
defined in Rule 137-049-0610(3), only in accordance with ORS 279C.337 and OAR 137-049-0690.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 297C.335, ORS 279C.337 & ORS 279C.380(2)

CONTRACT PROVISIONS

137-049-0800

Required Contract Clauses

Contracting Agencies shall include in all formal Solicitations for Public Improvement Contracts all of the ORS
Chapter 279C required Contract clauses, as set forth in the checklist contained in Rule 137-049-0200(1)(c)
regarding Solicitation Documents. The following series of rules provide further guidance regarding particular
Public Contract provisions.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 297C.505 to ORS 279C.545 & ORS 279C.800 to 279C.870

137-049-0810

Waiver of Delay Damages Against Public Policy

Contracting Agencies shall not place any provision in a Public Improvement Contract purporting to waive,
release, or extinguish the rights of a Contractor to damages resulting from a Contracting Agency's
unreasonable delay in performing the Contract. However, Contract provisions requiring notice of delay,
providing for alternative dispute resolution such as arbitration (where allowable) or mediation, providing
other procedures for settling contract disputes, or providing for reasonable liquidated damages, are
permissible.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.315

137-049-0815

BOLI Public Works Bond

Pursuant to ORS 279C.830(3), the specifications for every Public Works Contract shall contain a provision
stating that the Contractor and every subcontractor must have a Public Works bond filed with the
Construction Contractors Board before starting Work on the project, unless otherwise exempt. This bond is
in addition to performance bond and payment bond requirements. See BOLI rule at OAR 839-025-0015.

Stat. Auth. ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.830

137-049-0820

Retainage

(1) Withholding of Retainage. Except to the extent a Contracting Agency's enabling laws require
otherwise, a Contracting Agency shall not retain an amount in excess of five percent of the Contract Price
for Work completed. If the Contractor has performed at least 50 percent of the Contract Work and is
progressing satisfactorily, upon the Contractor's submission of Written application containing the surety's
Written approval, the Contracting Agency may, in its discretion, reduce or eliminate retainage on any
remaining progress payments. The Contracting Agency shall respond in Writing to all such applications
within a reasonable time. When the Contract Work is 97-1/2 percent completed, the Contracting Agency
may, at its discretion and without application by the Contractor, reduce the retained amount to 100 percent
of the value of the remaining unperformed Contract Work. A Contracting Agency may at any time reinstate
retainage. Retainage shall be included in the final payment of the Contract Price.

(2) Form of Retainage. Unless a Contracting Agency that reserves an amount as retainage finds in writing
that accepting a bond, security, or other instrument described in part (a) or (b) of this section poses an
extraordinary risk that is not typically associated with the bond, security, or instrument, the Contracting
Agency, in lieu of withholding moneys from payment, shall accept from the Contractor:

(a) Bonds, securities or other instruments that are deposited and accepted as provided in subsection (4)(a)
of this rule; or

(b) A surety bond deposited as provided in subsection (4)(b) of this rule.

80



(3) Deposit in interest-bearing accounts. Either upon election of the Contractor pursuant to ORS
279C.560(5) or as required when the Contract Price exceeds $500,000 pursuant to ORS 279C.570(2), a
Contracting Agency shall deposit cash retainage in an interest-bearing account in a bank, savings bank,
trust company, or savings association, or interest-bearing escrow account pursuant to ORS 279C.570(2).
Earnings on such an account shall accrue to the Contractor from the date the Contractor’s related payment
request is fully approved by the Contracting Agency, until the date the retainage is paid to the Contractor.
For purposes of this Section, a payment of retainage is deemed to be “paid” by a Contracting Agency when
the payment is transmitted to the Contractor or otherwise applied against an obligation of the Contractor
under the Contract.

(4) Alternatives to cash retainage. In lieu of cash retainage to be held by a Contracting Agency, the
Contractor may substitute one of the following:

(a) Deposit of bonds, securities or other instruments:

(A) The Contractor may deposit bonds, securities or other instruments with the Contracting Agency or in any
bank or trust company to be held for the benefit of the Contracting Agency. If the Contracting Agency
accepts the deposit, the Contracting Agency shall reduce the cash retainage by an amount equal to the
value of the bonds and securities, and reimburse the excess to the Contractor.

(B) Bonds, securities or other instruments deposited or acquired in lieu of cash retainage must be of a
character approved by the Oregon Department of Administrative Services, which may include, without
limitation:

(i) Bills, certificates, notes or bonds of the United States.

(i) Other obligations of the United States or agencies of the United States.

(iii) Obligations of a corporation wholly owned by the Federal Government.

(iv) Indebtedness of the Federal National Mortgage Association.

(v) General obligation bonds of the State of Oregon or a political subdivision of the State of Oregon.

(vii) Irrevocable letters of credit issued by an insured institution, as defined in ORS 706.008.

(C) Upon the Contracting Agency's determination that all requirements for the protection of the Contracting
Agency's interests have been fulfilled, it shall release to the Contractor all bonds and securities deposited in
lieu of retainage.

(b) Deposit of surety bond. A Contracting Agency, at its discretion, may allow the Contractor to deposit a
surety bond in a form acceptable to the Contracting Agency in lieu of all or a portion of funds retained or to
be retained. A Contractor depositing such a bond shall accept surety bonds from its subcontractors and
suppliers in lieu of retainage. In such cases, retainage shall be reduced by an amount equal to the value of
the bond, and the excess shall be reimbursed.

(5) Recovery of Costs. Pursuant to ORS 279C.560(3), a Contracting Agency may reduce the final
payment to recover from the Contractor all additional costs incurred as a result of Contractor’s election to:
(i) submit an alternative to cash retainage pursuant to section (4) of this rule; or (ii) to deposit cash retainage
in an interest-bearing account pursuant to section (3) of this rule for Contracts not in excess of $500,000 by
reducing the final payment.

(6) Additional Retainage When Certified Payroll Statements Not Filed. Pursuant to ORS 279C.845(7), if
a Contractor is required to file certified payroll statements and fails to do so, the Contracting Agency shall
retain 25 percent of any amount earned by the Contractor on a Public Works Contract until the Contractor
has filed such statements with the Contracting Agency. The Contracting Agency shall pay the Contractor
the amount retained under this provision within 14 days after the Contractor files the certified statements,
regardless of whether a subcontractor has filed such statements (but see ORS 279C.845(1) regarding the
requirement for both contractors and subcontractors to file certified statements with the Contracting Agency).
See BOLI rule at OAR 839-025-0010.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065 & ORS 279C.845
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.560, ORS 279C.570 & ORS 701.420

137-049-0830

Contractor Progress Payments

(1) Request for progress payments. Each month the Contractor shall submit to the Contracting Agency its
Written request for a progress payment based upon an estimated percentage of Contract completion. At the
Contracting Agency's discretion, this request may also include the value of material to be incorporated in the
completed Work that has been delivered to the premises and appropriately stored. The sum of these
estimates is referred to as the "value of completed Work." With these estimates as a base, the Contracting
Agency will make a progress payment to the Contractor, which shall be equal to: (i) the value of completed
Work; (ii) less those amounts that have been previously paid; (iii) less other amounts that may be deductible
or owing and due to the Contracting Agency for any cause; and (iv) less the appropriate amount of
retainage.

81



(2) Progress payments do not mean acceptance of Work. Progress payments shall not be construed as
an acceptance or approval of any part of the Work, and shall not relieve the Contractor of responsibility for
defective workmanship or material.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.570

137-049-0840

Interest

(1) Prompt payment policy. A Contracting Agency shall pay promptly all payments due and owing to the
Contractor on Contracts for Public Improvements.

(2) Interest on progress payments. Late payment interest shall begin to accrue on payments due and
owing on the earlier of 30 Days after receipt of invoice or 15 Days after Contracting Agency approval of
payment (the "Progress Payment Due Date"). The interest rate shall equal three times the discount rate on
90-day commercial paper in effect on the Progress Payment Due Date at the Federal Reserve Bank in the
Federal Reserve district that includes Oregon, up to a maximum rate of 30 percent.

(3) Interest on final payment. Final payment on the Contract Price, including retainage, shall be due and
owing no later than 30 Days after Contract completion and acceptance of the Work. Late-payment interest
on such final payment shall thereafter accrue at the rate of one and one-half percent per month until paid.
(4) Settlement or judgment interest. In the event of a dispute as to compensation due a Contractor for
Work performed, upon settlement or judgment in favor of the Contractor, interest on the amount of the
settlement or judgment shall be added to, and not made part of, the settlement or judgment. Such interest,
at the discount rate on 90-day commercial paper in effect at the Federal Reserve Bank in the Federal
Reserve District that includes Oregon, shall accrue from the later of the Progress Payment Due Date, or
thirty Days after the Contractor submitted a claim for payment to the Contracting Agency in Writing or
otherwise in accordance with the Contract requirements.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.570

137-049-0850

Final Inspection

(1) Notification of Completion; inspection. The Contractor shall notify the Contracting Agency in Writing
when the Contractor considers the Contract Work completed. Within 15 Days of receiving Contractor's
notice, the Contracting Agency will inspect the project and project records, and will either accept the Work or
notify the Contractor of remaining Work to be performed.

(2) Acknowledgment of acceptance. When the Contracting Agency finds that all Work required under the
Contract has been completed satisfactorily, the Contracting Agency shall acknowledge acceptance of the
Work in Writing.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.570(8)

137-049-0860

Public Works Contracts

(1) Generally. ORS 279C.800 to 279C.870 regulates Public Works Contracts, as defined in 279C.800(6),
and requirements for payment of prevailing wage rates. Also see administrative rules of the Bureau of Labor
and Industries (BOLI) at OAR Chapter 839.

(2) Required Contract Conditions. As detailed in the above statutes and rules, every Public Works
Contract must contain the following provisions:

(a) Contracting Agency authority to pay certain unpaid claims and charge such amounts to Contractors, as
set forth in ORS 279C.515(1).

(b) Maximum hours of labor and overtime, as set forth in ORS 279C.520(1).

(c) Employer notice to employees of hours and days that employees may be required to work, as set forth in
ORS 279C.520(2).

(d) Contractor required payments for certain services related to sickness or injury, as set forth in ORS
279C.530.

(e) A requirement for payment of prevailing rate of wage, as set forth in ORS 279C.830(1). If both state and
federal prevailing rates of wage apply, the contract and every subcontract must provide that all workers must
be paid the higher of the applicable state or federal prevailing rate of wage.

(f) A requirement for filing a public works bond by contractor and every subcontractor, as set forth in ORS
279C.830(2).

82



(3) Requirements for Specifications. The Specifications for every Public Works Contract, consisting of the
procurement package (such as the project manual, Bid or Proposal booklets, request for quotes or similar
procurement Specifications), must contain the following provisions:

(a) The state prevailing rate of wage, and, if applicable, the federal prevailing rate of wage, as required by
ORS 279C.830(1)(a):

(A) Physically contained within or attached to hard copies of procurement Specifications;

(B) Included by a statement incorporating the applicable wage rate publication into the Specifications by
reference, in compliance with OAR 839-025-0020; or,

(C) When the rates are available electronically or by Internet access, the rates may be incorporated into the
Specifications by referring to the rates and providing adequate information on how to access them in
compliance with OAR 839-025-0020.

(b) If both state and federal prevailing rates of wage apply, a requirement that the contractor shall pay the
higher of the applicable state or federal prevailing rate of wage to all workers. See BOLI rules at OAR 839-
025-0020 and 0035.

(c) A requirement for filing a public works bond by contractor and every subcontractor, as set forth in ORS
279C.830(2).

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.800 — ORS 279C.870

137-049-0870

Specifications; Brand Name Products

(1) Generally. The Contracting Agency's Solicitation Document shall not expressly or implicitly require any
product by brand name or mark, nor shall it require the product of any particular manufacturer or seller,
except pursuant to an exemption granted under ORS 279C.345(2).

(2) Equivalents. A Contracting Agency may identify products by brand names so long as the following
language: "approved equal”; "or equal”; "approved equivalent" or "equivalent," or similar language is
included in the Solicitation Document. The Contracting Agency shall determine, in its sole discretion,
whether an Offeror's alternate product is "equal” or "equivalent."

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.345

137-049-0880

Records Maintenance; Right to Audit Records

(1) Records Maintenance; Access. Contractors and subcontractors shall maintain all fiscal records
relating to Contracts in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP"). In addition,
Contractors and subcontractors shall maintain all other records necessary to clearly document (i) their
performance; and (ii) any claims arising from or relating to their performance under a Public Contract.
Contractors and subcontractors shall make all records pertaining to their performance and any claims under
a Contract (the books, fiscal records and all other records, hereafter referred to as "Records") accessible to
the Contracting Agency at reasonable times and places, whether or not litigation has been filed as to such
claims.

(2) Inspection and Audit. A Contracting Agency may, at reasonable times and places, have access to and
an opportunity to inspect, examine, copy, and audit the Records of any Person that has submitted cost or
pricing data according to the terms of a Contract to the extent that the Records relate to such cost or pricing
data. If the Person must provide cost or pricing data under a Contract, the Person shall maintain such
Records that relate to the cost or pricing data for 3 years from the date of final payment under the Contract,
unless a shorter period is otherwise authorized in Writing.

(3) Records Inspection; Contract Audit. The Contracting Agency, and its authorized representatives,
shall be entitled to inspect, examine, copy, and audit any Contractor's or subcontractor's Records, as
provided in section 1 of this rule. The Contractor and subcontractor shall maintain the Records and keep the
Records accessible and available at reasonable times and places for a minimum period of 3 years from the
date of final payment under the Contract or subcontract, as applicable, or until the conclusion of any audit,
controversy or litigation arising out of or related to the Contract, whichever date is later, unless a shorter
period is otherwise authorized in Writing.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.030, ORS 279C.375, ORS 279C.380 & ORS 279C.440

83



137-049-0890

Contracting Agency Payment for Unpaid Labor or Supplies

(1) Contract incomplete. If the Contract is still in force, the Contracting Agency may, in accordance with
ORS 279C.515(1), pay a valid claim to the Person furnishing the labor or services, and charge the amount
against payments due or to become due to the Contractor under the Contract. If a Contracting Agency
chooses to make such a payment as provided in ORS 279C.515(1), the Contractor and the Contractor's
surety shall not be relieved from liability for unpaid claims.

(2) Contract completed. If the Contract has been completed and all funds disbursed to the prime
Contractor, all claims shall be referred to the Contractor's surety for resolution. The Contracting Agency
shall not make payments to subcontractors or suppliers for Work already paid for by the Contracting Agency.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.515

137-049-0900

Contract Suspension; Termination Procedures

(1) Suspension of Work. In the event a Contracting Agency suspends performance of Work for any reason
considered by the Contracting Agency to be in the public interest other than a labor dispute, the Contractor
shall be entitled to a reasonable extension of Contract time, and to reasonable compensation for all costs,
including a reasonable allowance for related overhead, incurred by the Contractor as a result of the
suspension.

(2) Termination of Contract by mutual agreement for reasons other than default.

(a) Reasons for termination. The parties may agree to terminate the Contract or a divisible portion thereof if:
(A) The Contracting Agency suspends Work under the Contract for any reason considered to be in the
public interest (other than a labor dispute, or any judicial proceeding relating to the Work filed to resolve a
labor dispute); and

(B) Circumstances or conditions are such that it is impracticable within a reasonable time to proceed with a
substantial portion of the Work.

(b) Payment. When a Contract, or any divisible portion thereof, is terminated pursuant to this section (2), the
Contracting Agency shall pay the Contractor a reasonable amount of compensation for preparatory Work
completed, and for costs and expenses arising out of termination. The Contracting Agency shall also pay for
all Work completed, based on the Contract Price. Unless the Work completed is subject to unit or itemized
pricing under the Contract, payment shall be calculated based on percent of Contract completed. No claim
for loss of anticipated profits will be allowed.

(3) Public interest termination by Contracting Agency. A Contracting Agency may include in its
Contracts terms detailing the circumstances under which the Contractor shall be entitled to compensation as
a matter of right in the event the Contracting Agency unilaterally terminates the Contract for any reason
considered by the Contracting Agency to be in the public interest.

(4) Responsibility for completed Work. Termination of the Contract or a divisible portion thereof pursuant
to this rule shall not relieve either the Contractor or its surety of liability for claims arising out of the Work
performed.

(5) Remedies cumulative. The Contracting Agency may, at its discretion, avail itself of any or all rights or
remedies set forth in these rules, in the Contract, or available at law or in equity.

(6) Application of this rule does not apply to suspension of the work or termination of the Contract as a result
of Contractor’s violation of any provision of law or Contract term.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279C.650, ORS 279C.655, ORS 279C.660, ORS 279C.665 & ORS 279C.670

137-049-0910

Changes to the Work and Contract Amendments

(1) Definitions for Rule. As used in this rule:

(a) “Amendment” means a Written modification to the terms and conditions of a Public Improvement
Contract, other than by Changes to the Work, within the general scope of the original Procurement that
requires mutual agreement between the Contracting Agency and the Contractor.

(b) “Changes to the Work” means a mutually agreed upon change order, or a construction change directive
or other Written order issued by the Contracting Agency or its authorized representatives to the Contractor
requiring a change in the Work within the general scope of a Public Improvement Contract and issued under
its changes provisions in administering the Contract and, if applicable, adjusting the Contract Price or
contract time for the changed work.

(2) Changes Provisions. Changes to the Work are anticipated in construction and, accordingly,
Contracting Agencies shall include changes provisions in all Public Improvement Contracts that detail the

84



scope of the changes clause, provide pricing mechanisms, authorize the Contracting Agency or its
authorized representatives to issue Changes to the Work and provide a procedure for addressing Contractor
claims for additional time or compensation. When Changes to the Work are agreed to or issued consistent
with the Contract's changes provisions they are not considered to be new Procurements and an exemption
from competitive bidding is not required for their issuance by Contracting Agencies.

(3) Change Order Authority. Contracting Agencies may establish internal limitations and delegations for
authorizing Changes to the Work, including dollar limitations. Dollar limitations on Changes to the Work are
not set by these Rules, but such changes are limited by the above definition of that term.

(4) Contract Amendments. Contract Amendments within the general scope of the original Procurement
are not considered to be new Procurements and an exemption from competitive bidding is not required in
order to add components or phases of Work reasonably related to the work described in the Solicitation
Document. Amendments to a Public Improvement Contract may be made only when:

(a) They are within the general scope of the original Procurement;

(b) The field of competition and Contractor selection would not likely have been affected by the Contract
modification. Factors to be considered in making that determination include similarities in Work, project site,
relative dollar values, differences in risk allocation and whether the original Procurement was accomplished
through competitive bidding, competitive Proposals, competitive quotes, sole source or Emergency contract;
(c) In the case of a Contract obtained under an Alternative Contracting Method, any additional Work was
specified or reasonably implied within the findings supporting the competitive bidding exemption; and

(d) The Amendment is made consistent with applicable legal requirements.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 279A.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 279A.065, ORS 279C.335 & ORS 279C.400(1)

85



PUBLIC CONTRACTING RULES - 2023

CLASS EXEMPTIONS

E-1 Purpose and Statutory Authority

These rules establish classes of public contracts which are exempt from the formal competitive solicitation
requirements of the Public Contracting Code. These exemptions may be used by Contracting Agency without
additional findings of fact except as otherwise set forth herein. These exemptions are in addition to all contracting
exemptions as set forth in the Code and Contracting Agency’s Public Contracting Rules, Divisions 46, 47, 48, and 49.
Additional contracts or classes of contracts may be expressly exempted from competitive solicitation requirements by
ordinance or resolution of Contracting Agency pursuant to Contracting Agency Rules and ORS 279B.085 or
279C.335.

E-2 Advertising Contracts

Contracting Agency may purchase advertising without a competitive process, regardless of dollar value and including
that intended for the purpose of giving public or legal notice.

E-3 Equipment Repair and Overhaul

Contracting Agency may enter into a public contract for the purchase of services, equipment or supplies for
maintenance, repair or conversion of existing equipment, if required for efficient utilization of such equipment.

E-4 Contracts for Price Regulated Iltems

Contracting Agency may, regardless of dollar value and without competitive bidding, contract for the direct purchase
of goods or services where the rate or price for the goods or services being purchased is established by federal,
state, or local regulatory authority.

E-5 Copyrighted Materials

Contracting Agency may, without competitive bidding and regardless of dollar amount, purchase copyrighted
materials if there is only one supplier available within a reasonable purchase area for such goods. Examples of
copyrighted materials covered by this exemption may include, but are not necessarily limited to, new books,
periodicals, workbooks, curriculum materials, reference materials, audio and visual media, and non-mass-marketed
software.

E-6 Investment Contracts

Contracting Agency may, without competitive bidding, and regardless of dollar amount, contract for the purpose of the
investment of public funds or the borrowing of funds by Contracting Agency when such investment or borrowing is
contracted pursuant to duly enacted statute, ordinance, charter, or Constitution.

E-7 Requirements Contracts

Q) For purposes of this rule, “Requirements Contract” means a contract whereby the Contracting Agency has
agreed to purchase as much of an identified Good or Service at a predetermined price as it requires to meet an
anticipated need. Contracting Agency may enter into requirements contracts whereby it is agreed to purchase goods
or services for an anticipated need at particular prices, provided the original contract is let by a competitive
procurement process.

86



2) Purchase may also be made at prices established by a requirement contract or other agreement between
another public body and a contractor, if the requirement contract was established by a competitive procurement
process.

3) The term of any requirement contract, including renewals, shall not exceed five years.

E-8 Office Copier Purchases

Q) Contracting Agency may enter into multiple requirements contracts for either the purchase, rental or lease of
office copying equipment. Except for this multiple award exemption, such contracts shall otherwise conform to the
requirements of Public Contracting Rule E-7.

) In exercising this exemption, Contracting Agency shall fully consider the operating capabilities, limitations
and cost of each brand or model and select the brand which will produce the best combination of performance and
cost per copy for each application.

E-9 Manufacturer Direct Supplies

Contracting Agency may purchase goods directly from a manufacturer without a competitive solicitation process if a
large volume purchase is required and the cost from the manufacturer is the same or less than the cost the
manufacturer charges to its distributor(s). Procurements of this type are made on a contract-by-contract basis, and
are not requirements contracts.

E-10 Gasoline, Diesel Fuel, Heating Oil, Lubricants and Asphalt

Contracting Agency is exempt from formal competitive procurement requirements for the purchase of gasoline, diesel
fuel, heating oil, lubricants and asphalts if Contracting Agency conducts an intermediate procurement and Contracting
Agency awards the Contract to the Offeror offering the least expensive goods, and retains written justification for the
purchase made.

E-11 Hazardous Material Removal; Oil Cleanup

Contracting Agency may enter into public contracts without competitive bidding, regardless of dollar amount, when
ordered to clean up oil or hazardous waste pursuant to the authority granted the Department of Environmental Quality
(DEQ) under ORS Chapter 466, and such DEQ order necessitates the prompt establishment and performance of the
contract in order to comply with the statutes regarding spill or release of oil or hazardous material that have created
an emergency condition. Comprehensive cleanup rules are set forth at OAR 340-122-205 to 340-122-360. In
exercising its authority under this exemption Contracting Agency shall:

(@) To the extent reasonable under the circumstances, encourage competition by attempting to make
informal solicitations or to obtain informal quotes from potential suppliers of goods or services;

(b) Make written findings describing the circumstances requiring cleanup or a copy of the DEQ order
ordering such cleanup;

(c) Record the measures taken under subsection (a) of this section to encourage competition, the
amount of the quotes or proposals obtained, if any, and the reason for selecting the contractor selected.
E-12 Insurance, Employee Benefit

Contracting Agency may purchase employee benefit insurance without a competitive solicitation process, regardless
of dollar amount.

87



E-13 Medical and Laboratory Supplies

Contracting Agency is not required to purchase the following specified laboratory and medical supplies on the basis
of a single award to the lowest responsible bidder, but instead may purchase different brands of the same item by
awarding contracts, after competitive bidding, to the lowest responsible bidder for each brand. The laboratory and
medical supplies affected by this rule include, but are not limited to:

Q) Drugs, biologicals, blood fractions, and blood components;

2) Intravenous solutions and associated supplies for administration;
3) Microbiologicals, biochemicals, and diagnostic reagents;

4) Surgical dressings;

(5) Heart valves;

(6) E.E.G., E.K.G., electrodes, charts, and associated supplies;

©) Sterilizing wraps;

(8) Catheters, medical tubes, and associated supplies;

9) Surgical and orthopedic instruments;

(20) Hearing aids;

(11) Pacemakers;

(12) Dental supplies;

(13) Laboratory small package chemicals;
(14) Biology supplies; and

(15) Therapeutic or cosmetic implants.

E-14 Concession Agreements

Q) A concession agreement is a contract that authorizes and requires a private entity or individual to promote or
sell, for its own business purposes, specified types of goods or services from a site within a building or upon land
owned or controlled by Contracting Agency, and under which the concessionaire makes payments to Contracting
Agency based, in whole or in part, on the concessionaire’s sales revenues. The term “concession agreement” does
not include an agreement which is merely a flat-fee or per-foot rental, lease, license, permit, or other arrangement for
the use of public property.

2) Concession agreements are not required to be competitively bid. However, when it is in Contracting
Agency’s best interests to do so and in Contracting Agency'’s sole discretion, Contracting Agency may obtain
competitive proposals for concession agreements using the procedures described in ORS 279B.060.

USED PERSONAL PROPERTY

E-15 Used Personal Property, Purchase of

Q) Subject to the provisions of this rule, Contracting Agency may purchase used property or equipment without
competitive bidding and without obtaining competitive quotes, if it has determined that the purchase will be unlikely to
encourage favoritism or substantially diminish competition, and will either result in cost savings to Contracting Agency
or the public, or otherwise promote the public interest in a manner that could not be realized by a formal competitive
solicitation process.

88



2) "Used personal property or equipment” is property or equipment which has been placed in its intended use
by a previous owner or user for a period of time recognized in the relevant trade or industry as qualifying the personal
property or equipment as "used," at the time of Contracting Agency purchase. "Used personal property or equipment”
generally does not include property or equipment if Contracting Agency was the previous user, whether under a
lease, as part of a demonstration, trial or pilot project, or similar arrangement.

?3) For purchases of used personal property or equipment, Contracting Agency shall, where feasible, obtain
three competitive quotes, unless Contracting Agency has determined and documented that a purchase without
obtaining competitive quotes will be unlikely to encourage favoritism or substantially diminish competition and will
either result in substantial cost savings to Contracting Agency or the public, or otherwise promote public interest in a
manner that could not be realized by a formal competitive solicitation process.

E-16 Surplus Personal Property, Disposition of

(1) Contracting Agency may dispose of surplus personal property by any means determined to be in the best
interest of Contracting Agency, including but not limited to: transfer to other departments; donation to other
government agencies, or non-profit organizations; negotiated or advertised sale; trade; auction; liquidation through
commercially recognized third party liquidator; or destruction.

2) Unless transfer or donation is otherwise exempt from public contracting, prior to surplusing property,
Contracting Agency must find that the chosen disposition will substantially promote the public interest in a manner
that could not practicably be realized by a competitive solicitation process and either that the disposition will result in
a cost savings to Agency or will probably result in a higher net return than if the property were sold by a competitive
solicitation process.

?3) All items of personal property having a residual value of more than $10,000 are subject to prior authorization
of the Contract Review Authority.

PERSONAL SERVICES

E-17 Personal Services for Other than Architect, Engineer, Photogrammetrist, Transportation Planner,
and Land Surveying Services

Q) Either the following procedures or those set forth in Contracting Agency’s Public Contracting Rules, Division
47, will be used to retain the services of independent contractors, other than architects, engineers, land surveyors, or
other professionals otherwise exempt from these Rules or the Code.

) Nothing in this section shall apply to the employment of regular Contracting Agency employees unless
otherwise approved by the Contract Review Authority or its designee, or personal service contract.

3) Unless otherwise approved by Contracting Agency, personal service contracts shall require the contractor to
defend, indemnify, and hold harmless Contracting Agency, its officers, agents and employees from and against any
and all claims or demands for damages of any kind arising out of or connected in any way with the contractor’s
performance thereunder and shall include a waiver of contractor’s right to indemnification and defense under the
Oregon Tort Claims Act.

4) Unless otherwise approved by Contracting Agency, all personal service contracts shall contain a provision
requiring the person or entity providing the service to obtain and maintain liability insurance coverage in at least
Contracting Agency’s tort liability limits, naming Contracting Agency as an additional named insured during the life of
the contract.

(5) All personal service contracts shall contain all contract provisions mandated by State law. These provisions
may be incorporated in the personal service contract by reference to State law, unless State law provides otherwise.
Contracting Agency’s Attorney’s Office will prepare model contract provisions for use in Contracting Agency personal
service contracts.

89



(6) The following procedure shall be observed in the selection of personal service contractors:

@) For personal service contracts involving an anticipated fee of $25,000 or less per annum,
Contracting Agency may negotiate a contract for such services with any qualified contractor it selects.

(b) For personal service contracts involving an anticipated fee of more than $25,000 per annum,
Contracting Agency shall solicit at least three (3) prospective contractors who shall appear to have at least minimum
qualifications for the proposed assignment, notify each prospective contractor in reasonable detail of the proposed
assignment, and determine the prospective contractor’s interest and ability to perform the proposed assignment.

(c) Contracting Agency may arrange for any or all interested prospective contractors to be interviewed
for the assignment by an appropriate Contracting Agency employee or by an interview committee.

(d) Following a review of the qualifications and interview, where conducted, of the interested
prospective contractors, Contracting Agency may select the prospective contractor, and shall prepare a personal
service contract.

) The above provisions regarding selection procedures do not apply to extensions, amendments,
modifications or supplements to executed personal service contracts.

(8) Criteria to be considered in the evaluation and selection of a personal service contractor may include, but is
not limited to:

(@) Total cost of services to Contracting Agency.

(b) Specialized experience in the type of work to be performed.

(c) Capacity and capability to perform the work, including any specialized services within the time

limitations for the work.

(d) Educational and professional record, including past record of performance on contracts with
governmental agencies and private parties with respect to cost control, quality of work, ability to meet schedules, and
contract administration, where applicable.

(e) Availability to perform the assignment and familiarity with the area in which the specific work is
located, including knowledge of design or techniques peculiar to it, where applicable.

) Any other factors relevant to the particular contract.
9) The selection procedures described in this section may be waived by Contracting Agency, in its discretion,
where an emergency exists that could not have been reasonably foreseen which requires such prompt execution of a
contract to remedy the situation that there is not sufficient time to permit utilization of these selection procedures.

(10) Contracting Agency or its designee is authorized to sign all personal service contracts, unless otherwise
established by Contracting Agency policy.

(112) Nothing contained in this section shall preclude Contracting Agency from complying with provisions of
Federal or State law that require Contracting Agency to utilize a different selection or contracting procedure.
E-18 Liability Insurance Contracts

Contracts for insurance where either the annual or aggregate premium exceeds $25,000 must be let using one of the
following procedures:

Q) Agent of Record: Contracting Agency may appoint a licensed insurance agent (“agent of record”) to perform
insurance services in connection with more than one insurance contract. Among the services to be provided is the
securing of competitive proposals from insurance carriers for all coverages for which the agent of record is given
responsibility.

90



(@ Prior to the selection of an agent of record, Contracting Agency shall make reasonable efforts to
inform known insurance agents in the competitive market area that it is considering such a selection. Such efforts
may include one or more of the following methods: direct mailed notice, publishing notice in a newspaper of general
circulation, or posting notice on Contracting Agency’s website. Any such notice shall generally describe the nature of
the insurance that the Contracting Agency will require.

(b) Any appointment period shall not exceed five years. Agents may serve more than one appointment
period. Agents must qualify for appointment prior to each period as if each appointment period were the first.

(c) In selecting an agent of record, Contracting Agency shall select the agent(s) most likely to perform
the most cost-effective services.

) Specific Proposals for Insurance Contracts: Contracting Agency may solicit proposals from licensed
insurance agents or licensed insurers for the purpose of acquiring specific insurance contracts subject to the following
conditions:

(@) Contracting Agency shall make reasonable efforts to inform known insurance agents or insurers in
the competitive market area of the subject matter of the contract, and to solicit proposals for providing the services
required in connection with the contract. Such efforts may include one or more of the following methods: direct
mailed notice, publishing notice in a newspaper of general circulation, or posting notice on Contracting Agency’s
website.

(b) Contracting Agency shall select an agent or insurer on the basis of the most competitive offer
considering coverage, premium cost, and service to be provided.

91



@M'! ﬂ |L|D|! City Hall, PO Box 708, Garibaldi, OR 97118
. Office: (503) 322-3327 | Fax: (503) 322-3737

Oregors Autherdtic Fistirng \(itlage City Email: city@ci.garibaldi.or.us
AGENDA ITEM

TO: Mayor and City Council

FROM: Jake Boone, City Manager

SUBJECT: Ordinance Allowing for Adoption of Public Contracting Rules, Exemptions and

Staff Spending Delegations by Resolution; and Repealing City Municipal Code
Chapter 3.10, Public Contracts
DATE: 15 January 2025
BACKGROUND
The attached Ordinance would allow for the adoption and modification of Public Contracting
Rules by Resolution instead of the more cumbersome Ordinance process. This would include
exemptions to the Public Contracting Rules as well as limits on spending for staff members before

requiring Council preapproval. This should help streamline and “future-proof” the City’s financial
processes.

This is the second step in a three-step process.
RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends that Council, by motion, adopt Ordinance 336.
COST

None.

o
J&e Boone, City Manager




CITY OF GARIBALDI

ORDINANCE NO. 336

AN ORDINANCE ALLOWING FOR ADOPTION OF PUBLIC CONTRACTING RULES,
EXEMPTIONS AND STAFF SPENDING DELEGATIONS BY RESOLUTION; AND
REPEALING CITY MUNICIPAL CODE CHAPTER 3.10, PUBLIC CONTRACTS

WHEREAS, in 2005, the Council by Ordinance 281 adopted public contracting
rules and delegated contracting powers, as codified in Garibaldi Municipal (GMC)
Chapter 3.10, Public Contracts; and

WHEREAS, GMC 3.10.030 rejects the Oregon Public Contracting Rules to the
extent that the rules conflict with the rules set forth in its Code, which the City expressly
authorizes to take precedence over the Oregon Model Rules; and

WHEREAS, ORS 279A.065(5)(b) requires the City to review all legislative
changes to determine whether the City should modify its rules to ensure statutory
compliance; and

WHEREAS, the Oregon legislature’s most recent amendments to Oregon’s
Public Contracting Code went into effect on January 1, 2024; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to its Charter authority and ORS 279A.065, the City
Council has determined to repeal GMC 3.10, and replace it with authorization to adopt
and update City public contracting rules and staff spending authorities by resolution, in
order to facilitate future amendments.

THE CITY OF GARIBALDI ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1. Garibaldi Municipal Code Chapter 3.10, Public Contracts, and all
other previously adopted ordinances, resolutions and enactments establishing public
contracting rules for the City of Garibaldi and spending authority for City staff are hereby
repealed.

Section 2. City of Garibaldi public contracting rules, including City staff
purchasing and contracting authority, will be hereafter be adopted by Council resolution.

Section 3. Severability. In the event any section or subsection of this
Ordinance is finally adjudged to be legally unenforceable, then such judgment shall only
invalidate that section or subsection, and all remaining sections and subsections shall
remain in full legal force and effect.

Ordinance No. Page 1 of 2



Section 4. Effective Date. This Ordinance will become effective 30 days after
adoption.

PASSED by the City Council and APPROVED by the Mayor the __ day of
, 2024.

Katie Findling, Mayor

ATTEST:

Jake Boone, City Manager

F:\1Clients\Muni\Garibaldi, City of\General-Administration\2023 Public Contracting Rules\ORD - Adopting Rules by Resolution CHCkad 100824.docx

Ordinance No. Page 2 of 2



@M'! ﬂ |L|D|! City Hall, PO Box 708, Garibaldi, OR 97118
. Office: (503) 322-3327 | Fax: (503) 322-3737

Oregors Autherdtic Fistirng \(itlage City Email: city@ci.garibaldi.or.us
AGENDA ITEM

TO: Mayor and City Council

FROM: Jake Boone, City Manager

SUBJECT: Resolution Establishing Purchasing Authority and Spending Limits for City of
Garibaldi Staff

DATE: 15 January 2025

BACKGROUND

This Resolution would put purchasing authority and limits in place for City staff; specifically
designating $25,000 in contracting authority for the City Manager or the City Manager’s
designee. Entering into any contract in an amount above that limit would be authorized only in
cases of emergency and/or after preapproval by the Council.

RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends that Council, by motion, adopt Resolution 2025-03.

COST

None.

L

Ja‘@Boone, City Manager




RESOLUTION NO. 2025-03

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING PURCHASING AUTHORITY AND SPENDING
LIMITS FOR THE CITY OF GARIBALDI STAFF

WHEREAS, the City of Garibaldi (City) has adopted Resolution No. 2025-02,
establishing Public Contracting Rules for the City; and

WHEREAS, Resolution No. 2025-02 and the rules adopted thereunder define the term
“Contracting Agency” as the City Council and any person authorized by the Council to
conduct procurements on the City’s behalf; and

WHEREAS, the City’s daily operations require staff to initiate procurements for public

contracts, including those for goods, services, and public improvements, as well for as
non-public contracts, such as grant agreements and real property leases, in the most

efficient manner; and

WHEREAS, it is in the City’s best interest for staff to be able to award certain contracts
in an efficient and cost-effective manner, while retaining ultimate fiscal responsibility to
the City Council; and

WHEREAS, the City Council, by this resolution, wishes to delegate some Contracting
Agency authority to the City Manager and establish spending limits therefore.

NOW, THEREFORE, the City Council hereby resolves as follows:

Section 1: Definitions. For the purposes of this resolution and the related policies,
rules, and procedures, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

A. “‘Emergency” means circumstances that (1) could not have been
reasonably foreseen; (2) create a substantial risk of loss, damage or
interruption of services or a substantial threat to property, public health,
welfare or safety; and (3) require prompt execution of a contract to remedy
the condition.

B. “‘Procurement” means the act of purchasing, leasing, renting or otherwise
acquiring interests in real property, goods and services, or construction
labor and materials. Procurement includes each function and procedure
undertaken or required to be undertaken by the City to enter into,
administer, and obtain performance under a City Contract pursuant to the
City’s Public Contracting Rules or state law.

Section 2: City Manager Authority. Subject to Council budgeted items and
amounts, the City Manager, or the City Manager’s designee, is authorized to:

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-03 PAGE 1



A. Enter into City contracts in amounts not exceeding $25,000.
Contracts over this delegated spending limit require additional authorization from
the City Council.

B. Enter into contracts in an Emergency in amounts not exceeding
$50,000. The City Manager must inform the Council of all executed Emergency
Contracts at the Council’s next regularly scheduled meeting.

C. Enter into contracts or issue permits for local concessions and
street vendors pursuant to applicable City policy, where the annual amount to be
paid to or by the City is not expected to exceed $25,000 per year.

D. Recommend that the City Council approve or disapprove contract
awards, change orders, and amendments in amounts over the thresholds set
herein.

E. Consistent with Resolution No. 2025-02 and the City’s Public
Contracting Rules, create and amend solicitation materials, contracts, and forms,
procedures, and administrative policies for all City Procurements.

Section 3. Contracts with Employees. Purchases of goods from City employees
shall require the prior written authorization of the City Manager or the City Manager’s
designee. Provision of services by City employees shall be in accordance with the City
Personnel Policies and other applicable law.

Section 4. Repeal. All previously adopted Council action, including but not limited
to resolutions, motions, orders or policies, which establish spending authority for the
City Manager and City staff are hereby repealed to the extent inconsistent with the
Council’s spending authority delegation adopted herein.

Section 5. Effective Date. This Resolution shall take effect upon the effective date
of Ordinance No. 336.

APPROVED by the Garibaldi City Council this day of ,2024.

Katie Findling, Mayor
ATTEST:

Jake Boone, City Manager

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-03 PAGE 2



@M'! ﬂ |L|D|! City Hall, PO Box 708, Garibaldi, OR 97118
. Office: (503) 322-3327 | Fax: (503) 322-3737

Oregors Autherdtic Fistirng \(itlage City Email: city@ci.garibaldi.or.us
AGENDA ITEM

TO: Mayor and City Council

FROM: Jake Boone, City Manager

SUBJECT: Oregon Savings Growth Plan Authorization

DATE: 15 January 2025

BACKGROUND

The Oregon Savings Growth Plan is a voluntary 457(b) deferred compensation plan available
through the state of Oregon for public employees. For Garibaldi’s employees to take advantage
of this plan, the City must pass a resolution declaring its participation.

The fund is administered by the State of Oregon, and there is no cost to cities to participate.
Doing so, however, will add to the suite of benefits the City offers its employees, and is expected
to help support employee retention.

RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends that Council, by motion, adopt Resolution 2025-04.

COST

None.

p7 S

Jﬁa Boone, City Manager




CITY OF GARIBALDI
RESOLUTION 2025-04

A RESOLUTION FOR INCLUSION UNDER THE STATE OF OREGON DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN

WHEREAS, employee recruitment and retention are of paramount importance to the operations of the City; and

WHEREAS, the State of Oregon offers the Oregon Savings Growth Plan as a voluntary 457(b) deferred
compensation plan for public employees; and

WHEREAS, participation in the plan is available without cost for the City of Garibaldi,

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GARIBALDI RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1. The City Council of the City of Garibaldi, pursuant to the provisions of Oregon Revised Statutes
(ORS) 243.474, which provides in part that:

“A local government that establishes a deferred compensation plan may invest all or part of the plan’s
assets through the deferred compensation investment program established by the Oregon Investment
Council (OIC) under ORS 243.421/

Hereby determines to be included in the State of Oregon Deferred Compensation Investment Program,
also known as the Oregon Savings Growth Plan, established by the OIC under ORS 243.421 and
administered by the Public Employees Retirement Board according to ORS 243.435 for its eligible
personnel.

Be it further resolved that the proper officers are herewith authorized and directed to take all actions
and make such reductions and submit such deferrals as are required by the Public Employees
Retirement Board of the State of Oregon pursuant to ORS 243.478 (1), and

Be it further resolved that Employer agrees to be bound by the terms and conditions of the contracts
between the State, its investment providers and record keeping company, and the “Plan Document” as
identified in ORS 243.401 to 243.507 and TPA services as amended from time to time. Specifically,
without limitation, Employer agrees to appoint its governing body as Trustee of its Plan, as required by
Section 457(g) of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC), 26 USC 457(g)(2). The Employer certifies it is an
“eligible employer” under IRC Section 457(e)(1) and has received a copy of the Plan Document and TPA
Services.

Be it further resolved that Employer shall submit a certified copy of this resolution and “Notification
Memo” to the State of Oregon, Public Employees Retirement System (PERS) as the Plan Administrator.

Be it further resolved that the Governing Body and Employer, recognize the PERS Board’s
responsibility for maintaining the integrity of the Plan and hereby agree to cooperate fully with the Plan
Administrator in accordance with procedures established by PERS, including without limitation in
processing requests for withdrawal in case of an unforeseeable emergency as defined in IRC Sec.
457(b)(5) and Treasury Regulations 1.457-2(h)(4) and (5).



PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL AND APPROVED BY THE MAYOR, this 21 day of January, 2025.

Kathryn Findling, Mayor
ATTEST:

Jake Boone, City Manager



RESOLUTION FOR INCLUSION UNDER THE STATE OF %
OREGON DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN oreGon

SAVINGS GROWTH PLAN

LOCAL GOVERNMENT PROGRAM

The City Council (Governing Body) of City of Garibaldi

(Employer), pursuant to the provisions of Oregon Revised

Statutes (ORS) 243.474, which provides in part that:

"A local government that establishes a deferred compensation plan may invest all or part of the plan’s assets through the
deferred compensation investment program established by the Oregon Investment Council (OIC) under ORS 243.421,"

Hereby determines to be included in the State of Oregon Deferred Compensation Investment Program, also known as
the Oregon Savings Growth Plan, established by the OIC under ORS 243.421 and administered by the Public Employees
Retirement Board according to ORS 243.435 for its eligible personnel.

Be it further resolved that the proper officers are herewith authorized and directed to take all actions and make such
reductions and submit such deferrals as are required by the Public Employees Retirement Board of the State of Oregon
pursuant to ORS 243.478 (1), and

Be it further resolved that Employer agrees to be bound by the terms and conditions of the contracts between the State, its
investment providers and record keeping company, and the “Plan Document” as identified in ORS 243.401 to 243.507 and
TPA services as amended from time to time. Specifically, without limitation, Employer agrees to appoint its governing body

as Trustee of its Plan, as required by Section 457(g) of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC), 26 USC 457(g)(2). The Employer
certifies it is an “eligible employer” under IRC Section 457(e)(1) and has received a copy of the Plan Document and

TPA Services.

Be it further resolved that Employer shall submit a certified copy of this resolution and “Notification Memo” to the State of
Oregon, Public Employees Retirement System (PERS) as the Plan Administrator.

Be it further resolved that the Governing Body and Employer, recognize the PERS Board'’s responsibility for maintaining
the integrity of the Plan and hereby agree to cooperate fully with the Plan Administrator in accordance with procedures
established by PERS, including without limitation in processing requests for withdrawal in case of an unforeseeable
emergency as defined in IRC Sec. 457(b)(5) and Treasury Regulations 1.457-2(h)(4) and (5).

DESIGNATION OF AGENT

The person in the following position is hereby designated as the agent in matters pertaining to the State of Oregon Deferred
Compensation Investment Program.

Title Finance Officer

Agent Becca Harth
Address 107 6th Street / P.O. Box 708 Garibaldi, OR 97118

Phone Number (503) 322-3327

E-mail address P€cca.harth@garibaldi.gov
Office Hours 8:30-3:30

Payroll Agent ~_Becca Harth

Payroll E-mail address

Phone Number

Fax Number
SL3

800 Summer Street N.E., Suite 200, Salem, OR 97310 / (503)603-7632 / growyourtomorrow.com/employers 3060315.G.P WLT250003360




CERTIFICATION

| hereby certify that the foregoing resolution is a true, correct and complete copy of the resolution duly and regularly passed

by the Garibaldi City Council

(Governing Body) of City of Garibaldi

(Employer Name) of Tillamook

(County) on the 21st

day of January

and that this resolution has not been repealed or amended, and is now in full force and effect.

Dated this _21st day of January

2025

X

Mayor

Governing Body Authorized Signature

Title

Mailing Address

NOTIFICATION MEMO

Employer Name

Daytime Phone

City of Garibaldi (503) 322-3327

Address County
107 6th Street / P.O. Box 708 Garibaldi, OR 97118 Tillamook

City, State, Zip Federal Identification Number
Garibaldi, OR 97118 936002167

Number of Employees

12

PERS Employer Number

Employer Representative (Name)
Becca Harth

PAYROLL DATA

1. Deferral will be submitted by ACH. Back-up documentation containing the participants’ demographic information and
deferral amounts must be included.

2. Normal payday (i.e., every Thursday, every other Friday, etc): Last working day of the month
a) Attach payday schedule for a calendar year
b) Number of employees on this pay mode:

3. Participants are able to indicate upon enrollment whether deferral amount shall be indicated in dollar amount or
as percentage of salary per pay period.

4. The initial and amended payroll reduction authorization, forms and Letters of Transmittal should be sent to:

Name Title

Becca Harth

Finance Officer

5.

Payroll Reduction Listing that will be sent prior to each pay day should be sent to:

Name
Becca Harth

Title
Finance Officer

800 Summer Street N.E., Suite 200, Salem, OR 97310 / (503) 603-7632 / growyourtomorrow.com/employers i .
Print Form Clear Fields



(%)

PLAN TRUST —- DECLARATION oreGon

SAVINGS GROWTH PLAN

Local Government Entity

ARTICLE | - PURPOSE

Employer, which is a local government entity in Oregon and an “eligible employer” under Section 457(e)(1) of the Internal
Revenue Code (IRC), 26 USC 457(e)(1), desires to establish an “eligible deferred compensation plan” (“the Plan”), as defined
in Section 457(b) of the Internal Revenue Code, for employees performing services for Employer (“Employer” or “Plan
Sponsor”). Employer is the Plan Administrator, and its governing body is the Plan Trustee. The Plan is a “local government
deferred compensation plan” as defined in ORS 243.401(9) that is administered by the Public Employees Retirement System.
A Third Party Administrator (TPA) may be contracted to offer administrative services.

ARTICLE Il - ACCOUNTS HELD IN TRUST

All amounts of compensation deferred under the Plan, all property and rights purchased with such amounts and all
income attributable to such amounts, property, or rights shall be held in trust for the exclusive benefit of Participants
and their beneficiaries.

ARTICLE Il - INVESTMENT

Employer shall offer a diversified investment program(s) for employees participating (“Participants”) in the Plan. All or any
portion of each Participant’s Account may be, but shall not be required to be, invested by Employer in the options designated
by Participant. Employer shall have absolute and uncontrolled discretion with respect to the option or options, in which the
Account as defined in Article IV, shall be invested.

ARTICLE IV - DEFERRAL
The compensation that a Participant would otherwise receive for the pay period shall be reduced by the amount specified
by the Participant enrollment form, or through instructions communicated via the PERS/OSGP website, telephone, or
other approved method(s) prescribed by the Deferred Compensation Office. The amount of the reduction shall be
contributed to Participant’s Deferred Compensation Account (the “Account”).

ARTICLE V - CHANGE IN AMOUNT OF DEFERRAL

The amount of compensation to be deferred under the Plan may be increased or decreased at any time in accordance with
Plan procedures. Any such revision shall be effective for any calendar month by salary reduction only if an agreement providing
for the deferral has been entered into before the first day of the month in which the compensation is paid or made available.

ARTICLE VI - MAXIMUM DEFERRAL

Except as provided in Article XIV, the following limitations shall apply: In no event shall the amount deferred for any
Participant’s taxable year exceed the lesser of (i) the certain amount specified by the Internal Revenue Service
or (i) 100 percent of Participant’s includible compensation for the taxable year for services performed for Employer.

ARTICLE VII - TIMING OF DEFERRAL

Compensation may be deferred for any calendar month by salary reduction only if an agreement providing for the
deferral has been entered into before the first day of the month in which the compensation is paid or made available.

S

800 Summer Street N.E., Suite 200, Salem, OR 97310 / (503)603-7632 / growyourtomorrow.com/employers 3060312.G.P WLT250003359

L3




ARTICLE VIIl - EMPLOYER’S OBLIGATION; FEES AND CHARGES

Employer’s sole obligation to the Participant at any time shall be equal to the value of the Account at such time. The
Participant’s Account shall be reduced by any charges or fees incurred in liquidating any investment in which the Account
is invested, including any interest penalty for early withdrawal of amounts deposited in any financial institution. In addition,
the Plan may charge each Participant an annual administrative fee of up to two (2) percent of the Account.

Loan: If employer chooses to participate in the Plan’s loan program, participants may be eligible to borrow funds from their
OSGP account.

ARTICLE IX - NON-ASSIGNMENT

Except as required by the terms of a domestic relations order as defined in IRS Private Letter Ruling 9145010, July 31, 1991,
the Internal Revenue Code, as may be amended, and Plan provisions, Participant may not assign, anticipate, alienate, sell,
transfer, pledge, or in any way encumber any of the rights Participant may have in the Employer’s 457 Plan, as may be
amended. Employer shall reject and refuse to honor any such purported action with respect to such rights. The interest of
Participant or any beneficiary designated by Participant in Participant’s Account or in any obligation established by this
Plan-Trust Declaration shall not be subject to the claims of Participant’s creditors or to legal process on behalf of
Participant’s creditors or be liable for the debts of any beneficiary.

ARTICLE X - AVAILABILITY OF DEFERRED FUNDS

In no event will any amount payable under this Plan be paid or made available to Participant before the Participant incurs a
Severance from Employment or is approved for an Unforeseeable Emergency or De Minimis distribution which are defined
below. In no event may a Participant’s Beneficiary or alternate payee under a QDRO receive a De Minimis distribution or a
distribution for an Unforeseeable Emergency.

Severance from Employment shall be determined in the manner prescribed by the Internal Revenue Service. For purposes

of this Plan, Participant will have a Severance from Employment on ceasing to render services for the Plan Sponsor, including
services as a temporary employee. If a Participant returns to work with the Plan Sponsor, the Participant is no longer eligible
for distributions except as otherwise expressly allowed under the Plan and the Internal Revenue Code. “Unforeseeable
Emergency shall mean severe financial hardship to Participant resulting from a sudden and unexpected illness or accident

of Participant or of Participant’s dependent (as defined in Section 152(a) of the Internal Revenue Code), loss of Participant’s
property due to casualty, or other similar extraordinary and unforeseeable circumstances arising as a result of events beyond
Participant’s control. The circumstances that will constitute an Unforeseeable Emergency will depend upon the facts of

each case, but in any case, payment may not be made to the extent that such hardship is or may be relieved: (i) through
reimbursement of compensation by insurance or otherwise, (ii) by liquidation of Participant’s assets, to the extent the
liquidation would not itself cause severe financial hardship, or (iii) by cessation of deferrals under the Plan.”

De Minimis Distribution. If a Participant’s account has less than $5,000 and the Participant has not contributed to the
Plan for a minimum of two years, the Participant may request that the account balance be distributed to the Participant.
A Participant may elect this option only once.

Unforeseeable Emergency. Upon the occurrence of an Unforeseeable Emergency, as defined above, Participant may
request an Unforeseeable Emergency Withdrawal in a manner prescribed on a form supplied by the Deferred Compensation
Office. If the Deferred Compensation manager, or the manager’s designee, approves the request, a distribution will be
made in an amount consistent with the terms of this Plan and Agreement and reasonably needed to satisfy the emergency need.

Loan. If employer chooses to participate in the Loan Program, participants may be eligible to borrow funds from their OSGP
account.

Distribution After Severance from Employment. Upon Participant’s Severance from Employment, as defined above,
Employer shall direct the record keeper to pay Participant the value of Participant’s Account in the manner specified in
Avrticle XIL.

800 Summer Street N.E., Suite 200, Salem, OR 97310 / (503) 603-7632 / growyourtomorrow.com/employers




ARTICLE XI - PAYMENT UNDER THE PLAN

(a) Upon Participant’s Severance from Employment, as defined in Article X, Employer shall authorize
payment to the Participant in accordance with Plan procedures; or

(b) Upon the occurrence of an Unforeseeable Emergency, as defined in Article X. Participant may submit an
Unforeseen Emergency Withdrawal Request on a form supplied by the Employer or TPA. The request, if
approved, will be for only the amount of payment as is consistent with the terms of this Plan document
and reasonably needed to satisfy the emergency need.

ARTICLE XII - DISTRIBUTIONS

The distribution form, which must be completed by a Participant upon severance of employment when the Participant
requests a distribution from the Plan, provides for the time and manner in which the value of the Participant’s Account is

to be paid following Severance from Employment. The Participant may make or change an election regarding the manner
in which payments are to be made by completing and executing the “Manner of Payment” portion of the distribution form
and delivering by mail or in person to the OSGP office at least 30 days before the payment commencement date. The
“Payment Commencement Date” portion and the “Manner of Payment” portion of the distribution form shall become
effective when executed by both Participant and Employer. The payment commencement date must be at least 30 days after
the termination date. If the Participant turned 70%2 in 2019 or earlier and still has a balance in the Plan, they are required to
take a Required Minimum Distribution (RMD) by April 1st of the calendar year following the calendar year in which they
reached 70%. Beginning in 2020 or later, if the Participant has a balance in the Plan, they are required to take a Required
Minimum Distribution (RMD) by April 1st of the calendar year following the calendar year in which they reach 72, or when
they separate from service, whichever is later. The manner of payment selected must satisfy the requirements of Section
401(a)(9) of the Internal Revenue Code. If a Participant fails to elect a payment commencement date by the required
beginning date as defined in OAR 459-050-0080, payments shall be made in accordance with IRC 401(a)(9). Account
balances of less than $1,000 shall be distributed as a lump sum within one year after the termination date.

ARTICLE XIlI - DISTRIBUTION TO BENEFICIARIES

If the Participant dies after having begun to receive distributions, the distribution of benefits must continue to the designated
beneficiary at least as rapidly as under the schedule of payments elected by Participant. If Participant dies before having begun
to receive distributions, Participant’s entire Account must be distributed by December 31 of the calendar year that contains
the fifth anniversary of Participant’s death, unless the designated beneficiary elects within 60 days after the date the Deferred
Compensation Office is notified of the Participant’s death to have one of the following special rules apply:

(a) IF THE BENEFICIARY IS PARTICIPANT’S SURVIVING SPOUSE: If the beneficiary is a surviving spouse,
distributions must begin no later than December 31 of the year in which the Participant would have reached
age 72, or the year that contains the first anniversary of the Participant’s death, whichever is later. The entire
account must be paid over a period that does not exceed the surviving spouse’s life expectancy.

(b) IF THE BENEFICIARY IS A PERSON OTHER THAN THE SURVIVING SPOUSE: If the beneficiary was
designated by the Participant, distributions must begin no later than December 31 of the year that contains
the first anniversary of Participant’s death. The entire Account must be paid over a period which does not
exceed the beneficiary’s life expectancy.

(c) IF THE BENEFICIARY WAS NOT DESIGNATED BY THE PARTICIPANT: As defined in section 401(a)(9) of the
Internal Revenue Code, the Participant’s entire interest must be distributed to the Estate.

800 Summer Street N.E., Suite 200, Salem, OR 97310 / (503) 603-7632 / growyourtomorrow.com/employers




ARTICLE X1V - CATCH-UP ELECTION

Participants nearing normal retirement age may make up some or all of any deferrals they did not make during previous
years of eligibility. For purposes of this Article, “normal retirement age” shall have the meaning given to that term under
the retirement system of the plan sponsor. A Participant may elect to make additional catch-up contributions using either
of the options listed below. These options may not be exercised simultaneously.

(a) The earliest a Participant may exercise this catch-up option is three years before the Participant
reaches normal retirement age. Within one to three years prior to the Participant’s normal retirement,
the Participant may make additional contributions, such that the sum of normal contributions and
catch-up contributions does not exceed the lesser of:

(i) twice the dollar amount in effect under Internal Revenue Code section 457(b)(2)(A)
or

(i) the sum of the maximum contribution level available to the employee plus so much
of the maximum contribution level as was not previously used.

(b) A Participant who has attained age fifty (50) before the close of the pay year may defer an amount in
addition to the maximum contribution level, not to exceed the lesser of:
(i) the dollar amount stated by the Internal Revenue Service; or
(i) compensation as defined in IRC 415(c) less any other elective deferrals for the year.

ARTICLE XV - PLAN-TO-PLAN TRANSFERS OUT OF THE PLAN

If Participant has a Severance from Employment under this Plan, and becomes employed by another Employer that sponsors
a plan that accepts eligible rollover distributions under the Internal Revenue Code, including but not limited to an “eligible
deferred compensation plan” under Section 457, Participant may request a transfer of his or her Account to the new
Employer’s plan. Such a transfer is subject to the terms and conditions of the plan receiving the funds.

ARTICLE XVI - ACCEPTANCE OF DEFERRALS FROM ANOTHER PLAN

Compensation deferred by a Participant pursuant to another eligible plan, including but not limited to plans established
under sections 401(k) and 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code, IRAs, and a governmental employer’s “eligible deferred
compensation plan” within the meaning of Section 457 of the Internal Revenue Code, may be accepted by this Plan. Such
amounts shall be credited to the Participant’s Account established pursuant to this Plan-Trust Declaration and shall be subject
to all the terms and provisions of the Plan, Oregon Revised Statutes, and the Oregon Administrative Rules, as they may be
amended from time to time.

ARTICLE XVII - REVOCATION

Participant may revoke participation in the Plan by providing telephonic instructions, by issuing instructions via the
PERS/OSGP Internet site, or any other method that is in accordance with Plan procedures. Any revocation shall be effective
only for compensation earned after the last day of the calendar month in which the revocation is submitted. Revocation of
participation in the Plan will not accelerate payment of amounts deferred. Payment will occur only upon the occurrence of
one of the specific events detailed in this Plan document.

800 Summer Street N.E., Suite 200, Salem, OR 97310 / (503) 603-7632 / growyourtomorrow.com/employers




ARTICLE XVIIl - DOMESTIC RELATIONS ORDER

The Plan will comply with domestic relation orders as defined in IRS Private Letter Ruling 9145010, July 31, 1991, and as
required under Plan provisions, Oregon law, the Internal Revenue Code, rules and regulations, as they may be amended
from time to time.

ARTICLE XIX - COMPLIANCE WITH INTERNAL REVENUE CODE SECTION 457

This Plan document is intended to comply with and to be administered in a manner consistent with Section 457 of the
Internal Revenue Code. The provisions of this Plan documents shall be interpreted in accordance with this intent. If requested
by the Employer, the Participant agrees to cooperate in correcting any inconsistency in the administration of the Plan and
Agreement under Section 457 of the Internal Revenue Code. The Plan shall be administered in accordance with Oregon law,
the Internal Revenue Code, and applicable rules and regulations, as they may be amended from time to time.

ARTICLE XX - AMENDMENT OF PLAN-TRUST DECLARATION

Subject to the requirements of ORS 243.474 through 243.478, the Employer may amend this Plan-Trust Declaration at any
time and without the consent of any other person. Any amendment must be in writing, and may be required if necessary to
maintain compliance with Oregon law, the Internal Revenue Code, rules and regulations, as they may be amended from time
to time. However, any amendment that would diminish the protection of Article Il, “Account Held in Trust” is absolutely void.

NOW THEREFORE, in recognition of the premises recited above, and in consideration of the provisions stated by this
Plan-Trust Declaration, and intending to be legally bound by this written Plan-Trust Declaration, the Employer as the Plan
Administrator and the Plan-Trustee signed below.

Employer’s Signature (Do not print) Plan Trustee’s Signature (Do not print)
Printed Name Printed Name

Title Title

Date Date

800 Summer Street N.E., Suite 200, Salem, OR 97310 / (503) 603-7632 / growyourtomorrow.com/employers




@M'! g |L|D|! City Hall, PO Box 708, Garibaldi, OR 97118
. Office: (503) 322-3327 | Fax: (503) 322-3737

Oregors Autherdtic Fistirng \(itlage City Email: city@ci.garibaldi.or.us
AGENDA ITEM

TO: Mayor and City Council

FROM: Jake Boone, City Manager

SUBJECT: Facilities Tour, Goal-Setting, and Council Rules Worksession Setting

DATE: 15 January 2025

BACKGROUND

With the installation of the 2025 Garibaldi City Council, there are a number of steps to take in
preparation for the new year, and it would be useful to schedule three of them at this time.

Firstis a Facilities Tour worksession. Council members will be taken to see City-owned assets and
infrastructure, and will have the opportunity to ask questions of City staff.

Second is a Goal-Setting worksession, in which Council members will discuss both short and long
term goals as a roadmap for the City of Garibaldi going forward.

Third is a Council Rules worksession, in which Council member will discuss the way they intend
to interact with each other, with staff, and with the public during the coming year.

None of these worksessions will include public comment or final decisions; both of those will
happen at a subsequent formal Council meeting.

RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends that Council schedule a Facilities tour worksession, a Goal-Setting
worksession, and a Council Rules worksession.

COST
Staff time only.

7 S

Aﬁe Boone, City Manager




@M'! ﬂ |L|D|! City Hall, PO Box 708, Garibaldi, OR 97118
. Office: (503) 322-3327 | Fax: (503) 322-3737

Oregors Autherdtic Fistirng \(itlage City Email: city@ci.garibaldi.or.us
AGENDA ITEM

TO: Mayor and City Council

FROM: Jake Boone, City Manager

SUBJECT: Municipal League Conferences

DATE: 15 January 2025

BACKGROUND

Each year, the League of Oregon Cities (LOC) and National League of Cities (NLC) present
conferences across the state and across the country. The educational and networking
opportunities available at these conferences can prove extremely valuable for local government
leaders.

This year’s conference schedule is:
e LOC City Day at the Capital: Salem, OR, January 28
e NLC Congressional City Conference: Washington, D.C., March 10-12
e LOC Local Government Spring Conference: North Bend, OR, May 1-2
e LOC Annual Conference: Portland, OR, October 2-4
e NLC City Summit: Tampa Bay, FL, November 13-16

RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends that Council decide, by motion, who, if anyone, will attend each conference
and the financial role the City will play.

COST

Potential registration, travel, accommodation, and meal costs for attendees.

Z

ﬁe Boone, City Manager




GARIBALDI Ofice (508) 325597 | P (308 322 737

Oregords Autherdtic Fistirg Vitlage Citv email: citv@ci.qaribaldi.or.us

PUBLIC SAFETY REPORT
Monday, January 21, 2025 - 5:30 P.M.

Garibaldi City Council Meeting-01/21/25
Deputy Terrance Watters
Tillamook County Sheriff’s Office

Please continue to watch for suspicious people/activities in your neighborhoods and around local
businesses. Call 911 for emergencies, and 503-815-1911 to report non-emergent incidents.

Please feel free to request a home check or business check if you plan on leaving town for an extended
amount of time or even if it’s just a day or two. These forms are available under the business forms and
documents tab on the city website. We do our best to rotate around town for unprompted after-hours
business checks, but if you would like a more focused check, feel free to reach out.

If you have security cameras, Tillamook County Sheriff's Office would like to encourage you to register
the location and capabilities of your camera with our office. Security cameras are one of the best methods
used for apprehending criminals and convicting suspects. Many Tillamook County residents and business
owners currently operate security camera systems at their homes and/or businesses. As crimes occur
nearby, they may not always be aware that their system captured information that could help solve a
crime. In turn, Law Enforcement Officers might not be aware of this vital information.

The Tillamook County Sheriff's Office is looking for your help in forming a community partnership. This
partnership will allow residents and businesses with security cameras on their property to register them with
the Tillamook County Sheriff's Office. Citizens and business owners will be able to provide information to
local Law Enforcement to create a Community - Law Enforcement partnership and help create a safer
community.

Participation in the S.C.A.N. (Security Cameras Assisting Neighbors) program is free and completely
voluntary. All registered information will be kept confidential, unless subject to disclosure by a Court
Order, and any information provided will be viewed by Law Enforcement personnel for criminal
investigative purposes only. Visit the Tillamook County Sheriff’s Office website to register.

Exercise caution when recreating around bodies of water.

For updates on happenings locally, and in the county, check the Sheriff’s Office Facebook page.



@M'! g |L|D|! City Hall, PO Box 708, Garibaldi, OR 97118
. Office: (503) 322-3327 | Fax: (503) 322-3737

Oregors Autherdtic Fistirng \(itlage City Email: city@ci.garibaldi.or.us

DEPARTMENTAL REPORT
TO: Mayor and City Council
FROM: Nick Theoharis, Public Works Superintendent
SUBJECT: December Public Works Report
DATE: January 14, 2025

REPORT

Water: All required testing and reporting for the month has been successfully
completed, ensuring compliance with all relevant regulations. Joe has transitioned
into handling most of the water system responsibilities, demonstrating excellent
capability in managing these duties. This month, we successfully installed a new
water service for the Oregon Coast Science Railroad's water tower, which will
support their operational needs. Our team is currently concentrating on leak
detection and system maintenance to enhance the reliability and efficiency of our
water distribution network.

PFAS Update: In December, we conducted a set of PFAS samples which initially
returned as non-detect. However, due to inadequate sample handling, the field
blanks were found to be outside the acceptable pH range. This discrepancy has
rendered the sample set non-compliant with QA/QC standards. To rectify this
issue, I personally collected the final set of samples, which are now at the lab. We
are committed to ensuring the accuracy and reliability of our testing processes.

Wastewater Facilities Plan: The review and correction process of the Wastewater
Facilities Plan has been completed. This comprehensive document is critical for
the future development and management of our wastewater facilities. I finalized
the document and returned it to Civil West Engineering for their review and final
composition.

Wastewater: All monthly reports and testing related to our wastewater
management have been completed in adherence to regulatory standards. December
presented significant challenges due to heavy rainfall, which resulted in an average

flow of 0.481 million gallons per day (MGD) and a peak flow of 1.047 MGD on
December 27th. To accommodate the increased testing requirements mandated by



DEQ, we have procured a secondary incubator. This acquisition will facilitate the
expanded testing protocol and ensure that we meet all regulatory obligations
efficiently.

Streets: Our street maintenance efforts have been focused on addressing potholes
across the city, improving road safety and driving conditions. We have effectively
utilized grindings from the recent ODOT project to gravel Fir Avenue, enhancing
its surface quality. Additionally, we are undertaking improvements in drainage and
stormwater management systems as weather conditions permit. These efforts are
crucial for mitigating flood risks and maintaining the integrity of our road
infrastructure.

Facilities Tour: Preparations are in full swing for the upcoming facilities tour, an
event aimed at providing the Council with an in-depth understanding of our
operations. We are cleaning and organizing our facilities to ensure comprehensive
and informative experience. This tour will offer insight into the processes involved
in our wastewater and water treatment systems, highlighting our commitment to
operational excellence and transparency.

* Questions?

Nick Theoharis, Public Works Superintendent

The City of Garibaldi is an equal opportunity employer and provider



@M'! g |L|D|! City Hall, PO Box 708, Garibaldi, OR 97118
. Office: (503) 322-3327 | Fax: (503) 322-3737

Oregords Authertic Fishing (itlage City Email: city@ci.garibaldi.or.us
DEPARTMENTAL REPORT
TO: Mayor and City Council
FROM: Jay Marugg/ Fire Chief
SUBIJECT: December 2024 Fire Report
DATE: 01/14/2025
REPORT
e Activity -

We finished the year with 1260 call hours, 3,480 training hours and 160 boat
training hours for the year of 2024. There was a slight uptick in EMS assist
and first response calls for us. Call volume overall is more than 2023 but
slightly less in 2024.

We are looking forward to conducting two live fire training events soon. One
has already been completed. This was the live fire of the RV the city acquired.
This scenario gave the firefighters valuable safety training with vehicle fires.
Valuable vehicle construction pertaining to recreational vehicles was
discovered. Burdens Towing CO. aided in towing the vehicle as well as Averal
recycling. Before the vehicle fire, all fluids were drained from the vehicle as
well as any explosive pressure cylinders removed.

The second live fire training is a potential house in the Barview area. We are
working with the homeowner on the NFPA process.

The annual firefighter’s awards banquet was held on January 12t at the Old
Mill. We were thankful for council members who were able to attend. Also
in attendance were a few former members of the fire department. And of
course, the current fire department members and family. We were able to
be honored to have members of the Rockaway Beach Fire Department to
help with incident coverage during the event. Good food and fun were had
by all. This year’s awards went to Tom Porter as Rookie of the year, Reuben
Monge as Firefighter of the year, Cory Perkins as Fire Officer of the year and



lastly, Tom Porter as most inspirational of the year.

With the historic fires in California, we have sent our type three engine down
to help. Both Blake and firefighter Ryan Boos went attached to the Lincoln
County task force. The first night they stayed in Williams, just North of
Sacramento. Then proceeded to the apparatus check in. California has strict
guidelines on fire apparatus. Our engine passed with flying colors. Other
engines were not so lucky. Some had to replace tires, brakes, “U” joints...etc.
After inspection, they proceeded south to Malibu beach where they spent
the night there. The next morning, they we attached to the Palisades fire. In
California, they work the firefighters 24 hours on, 24 hours off.

They have put the task force in a secure, empty business complex that has
A/C. They are being very well taken care of, fed regularly and kept hydrated.
Beyond helping our neighbors to the south, this deployment will bring
significant money to the fire department. The rest of the crew here in
Garibaldi is holding fort down while they are gone.

e Division: Special Operations/ Training Division Chief Paulsen and
Battalion Chief Perkins

Monthly Summary:

A minor mechanical issue on Chief 33 truck has been detected, it has to
do with the DEF sensor. This issue is being looked into with a
mechanic’s help as well as advice from the Ford garage.

Division Needs:
New Gas monitor on Engine 31. New life safety ropes

EMS Division report; By Letty Buchanan

Head: Letty Buchanan

Monthly Summary of calls:

New state protocols are being reviewed and instructed as EMS continues to evolve.
More to come.
We conducted a CPR class to citizens on the 29" of December.

The City of Garibaldi is an equal opportunity employer and provider



Division Needs:

Things we will be needing in the coming years budget:

1.

W

PN

We will be needing a narc box (lock box) for new paramedicine level
medications.

. Fluid warmer for IV solutions (that we can currently give out our EMS

level) for hypothermic patients.

We will need new paramedic level supplies (larger supply budget)

We will be able to provide a higher level of care calls to our area, so
increased training and possible increased level of response to calls in the
future.

Start planning for ALS meds and supplies we will need in Jan 2025.
Zoll Monitor and equipment

New AED’s

New Lucas 3

Plans for the vear:

Free CPR hands only training for the public

Free Stop the bleed training for the public.

Continuing education for the community and events
Continue Narcan Training and give away free to public

Respectfully,

Jay Marugg
Fire Chief
Garibaldi Fire Department

The City of Garibaldi is an equal opportunity employer and provider



Tillamook County

P |
o~ TILLAMOOK COUNTY LIBRARY
; MEMBER OF THE OCEANBOOKS NETWORK _
GARIBALDI BRANCH , 1716 Third Street
107 6th Street, Garibaldi, OR 97118 Tillamook, Oregon 97141
Land of Cheess, Trees amd Ocegn Broezs Telephone (503) B42-4792

Fax (503) 815-8194
TDD Nonwoice Oregon Relay Service

012125 GARIBALDI BRANCH LIBRARY REPORT TO COUNCIL

Greetings Council and Community Members,
| would like to share the following with City Council and Community Members:

« Aswe begin the new year, I'm reminded how grateful | am for our community. This past
year we welcomed over 5,000 visitors to our small branch library. It is such a pleasure to
be able to provide library services to everyone who enters here.

o Last week, we hosted our first Teen Book Club. Next month, Teen Book Club is scheduled
for Wednesday, February 19, 4:15pm.

o Today, we held our monthly book club meeting. The book discussed was Unsheltered by
Barbara Kingsolver. Next month’s fitle is Island Beneath the Sea by Isabel Allende. Drop
ins are always welcome. Next month's meeting is scheduled for Tuesday, February 18,
2:00pm.

e In addition, we have Community Chess the third Saturday of every month. Come play
for fun or get on the chess ladder for friendly competition!

« Are you interested in seeing other programming brought to Garibaldiz Let us know.
We'd love to hear your interests and ideas.

Respectfully submitted,
June Ekborg

Library Assistant I
Garibaldi Branch Library

AN BEQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYER



	20250121 Agenda.pdf
	20201019 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING - FOR APPROVAL.pdf
	20240520 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES.pdf
	20241216 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES.pdf
	Dec 2024 Check Register.pdf
	Memo - G1 - Election of Council Officers
	Memo - G2 - Authorization of Check Signers
	G2 - RES 2025-01 check signers
	Memo - G3 - Planning Commission Update
	Memo - G4 - R-Sanitary Rate Adjustment
	EXH - G4 - R-Sanitary Rate Adjustment
	Memo - H1 - Resolution Opting Out of the Attorney General's Model Public Contracting Rules
	H1 - RES - City Resolution Opting Out of AG Model
	EXH A - Findings in Support of Resolution Adopting Rules
	EXH B - 2023 Public Contracting Rules
	Memo - I1 - Ordinance Allowing for Adoption of Public Contracting Rules
	I1 - ORD - Adopting Rules by Resolution
	Memo - I2 - Resolution Establishing Purchasing Authority
	I2 - RES - Spending Authority
	Memo - I3 - Oregon Savings Growth Plan Authorization
	I3 - RES 2025-04 Oregon Savings Growth Plan
	OSGP Resolution for Inclusion - 3060315.G.P
	3060315.G.P_250003360_Pg1
	OSGP Resolution Percentage.pdf
	3060315.G.P_250003360_Pg2


	OSGP Plan Trust Declaration - 3060312.G.P
	3060312.G.P_250003359_Pg1
	3060312.G.P_250003359_Pg2
	3060312.G.P_250003359_Pg3
	3060312.G.P_250003359_Pg4
	3060312.G.P_250003359_Pg5

	Memo - I4 I5 I6 - Facilities Tour, Goal-Setting, and Council Rules Scheduling
	Memo - I7 - Municipal League Conferences
	Garibaldi Public Safety Report January 2025
	January 25 PW Staff
	Fire report January 2025
	012125 library report

	governing body: City Council
	name: City of Garibaldi
	employer: 
	title: Finance Officer
	agent: Becca Harth
	address 2: 
	d#: 503-322-3327
	email: becca.harth@garibaldi.gov
	office hours: 8:30-3:30
	alternate agent: Becca Harth
	d#1: 
	Phone: 
	Fax#: 
	body: Garibaldi City Council
	name2: City of Garibaldi
	employer name: Tillamook
	day: 21st
	month: January
	day2: 21st
	month 2: January
	year: 2025
	title1: Mayor
	mail address: 
	er name: City of Garibaldi
	d#2: 503-322-3327
	address: 107 6th Street / P.O. Box 708 Garibaldi, OR 97118
	county: Tillamook
	city: Garibaldi, OR 97118
	FIN: 936002167
	#E: 12
	pers#: 
	last name: Becca Harth
	pay: Last working day of the month
	emp #: 
	name1: Becca Harth
	title 1: Finance Officer
	name 2: Becca Harth
	title 2: Finance Officer
	Print Form1: 
	Reset: 


